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Summary and Questions for Respondents 
 

 

Why Is the FASB Issuing This Proposed Accounting 
Standards Update (Update)? 

 
The FASB added a project to its agenda to improve the current net asset 
classification requirements and the information presented in financial statements 
and notes about a not-for-profit entity’s liquidity, financial performance, and cash 
flows. The FASB’s Not-for-Profit Advisory Committee (NAC) and other 
stakeholders indicated that existing standards for financial statements of not-for- 
profit entities (NFPs) are sound but could be improved to provide better information 
to donors, creditors, and other users of financial statements. 

 

The proposed amendments are intended to address several issues about the 
current financial reporting for NFPs, which, among others, include the following: 

 

1. Complexities about the use of the currently required three classes of net 
assets that focus on the absence or presence of donor-imposed 
restrictions and whether those restrictions are temporary or permanent. 
Deficiencies in the utility of information provided to donors, creditors, and 
others in assessing an entity’s liquidity caused by potential 
misunderstandings and confusion about how restrictions or limits 
imposed by donors, laws, contracts, and governing boards affect an 
entity’s liquidity, classes of net assets, performance, and related 
terminology, particularly the term unrestricted net assets. 

2. Inconsistencies in the reporting (or lack of reporting) of intermediate 
measures of operations in the statement of activities, including 
inconsistencies between that reporting and the reporting of operating 
cash flows in the statement of cash flows. Those inconsistencies cause 
difficulties in communicating and assessing an entity’s financial 
performance. 

3. Inconsistencies in the type of information provided about expenses of the 
period—for example, some, but not all, NFPs provide information about 
operating expenses by both function and nature. 

4. Misunderstandings about and opportunities to enhance the utility of the 

statement of cash flows, particularly about the reporting of operating cash 
flows. 
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Who Would Be Affected by the Amendments in This 
Proposed Update? 

 
The amendments in this proposed Update would affect NFPs. Those entities 
generally receive significant contributed resources and operate to further a public 
purpose rather than to achieve a profit objective, and their stakeholders, unlike 
those of business entities, generally do not have ownership interests. NFPs 
typically include charities, foundations, private colleges and universities, 
nongovernmental health care providers, cultural institutions, religious 
organizations, and trade associations, among others. They generally do not 
include investor-owned entities or entities that provide dividends, lower costs, or 
other economic benefits directly and proportionately to their owners, members, or 
participants, such as mutual insurance entities, credit unions, farm and rural 
electric cooperatives, and employee benefit plans. 

 

What Are the Main Provisions? 
 

The amendments in this proposed Update would change several of the 
requirements for financial statements and notes in Topic 958, Not-for-Profit 
Entities, as well as certain requirements in Topic 954, Health Care Entities. Certain 
amendments would add new requirements or replace existing requirements, and 
others would remove existing requirements or provide greater flexibility in 
complying with the requirements. The main provisions would require an NFP to do 
the following: 

 

1. Present on the face of the statement of financial position amounts for two 
classes of net assets at the end of the period, rather than for the currently 
required three classes. That is, an NFP would report amounts for net 
assets with donor restrictions and net assets without donor restrictions, 
as well as the currently required amount for total net assets. 

2. Present on the face of the statement of activities the amount of the 
change in each of the two classes of net assets (noted in item 1) rather 
than that of the currently required three classes. An NFP would continue 
to report the currently required amount of the change in total net assets 
for the period. 

3. Present on the face of the statement of activities two additional amounts 
(subtotals) of the operating activities that are associated with changes in 
net assets without donor restrictions. Those subtotals are described in 
items 3(a) and 3(b) and would reflect operating activities for the period, 
which would be distinguished from other activities on the basis of whether 

the resource inflows and outflows are from or directed at carrying out an 
NFP’s purpose for existence and available for current-period operating 
activities. The subtotals are the following: 
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a. The first subtotal includes operating revenues, support, expenses, 
gains, and losses that are without donor-imposed restrictions and is 
before internal transfers. 

b. The  second  subtotal  includes  the  effects  of  internal  transfers 
resulting from governing board designations, appropriations, and 
similar actions that place (or remove) self-imposed limits on the use 
of resources that make them unavailable (or available) for current- 
period operating activities. 

4. Present on the face of the statement of cash flows the net amount for 
operating cash flows using the direct method of reporting. 

5. Classify certain cash flows differently than how they are classified under 

current guidance, as follows: 
a. Classify as operating cash flows (rather than as investing cash 

flows)—those cash flows resulting from (1) purchases of long-lived 
assets, (2) contributions restricted to acquire long-lived assets, and 
(3) sales of long-lived assets. 

b. Classify as financing cash flows (rather than as operating cash 
flows)—those cash flows resulting from payments of interest on 
borrowings, including cash management activities. 

c. Classify as investing cash flows (rather than as operating cash 
flows)—those cash flows resulting from receipts of interest and 
dividends on loans and investments other than those made for 
programmatic purposes. 

6. Provide enhanced disclosures about the following: 
a. Governing board designations, appropriations, and similar transfers 

that result in the addition or removal of self-imposed limits on the use 
of resources without donor-imposed restrictions. Those disclosures 

would include a description of the purpose, amounts, and types of 
transfers (for example, those done because of standing board 
policies, as one-time decisions, or for other reasons) and qualitative 
and quantitative information about any period-end balances of board 
designations of net assets without donor restrictions. 

b. Composition of net assets with donor restrictions at the end of the 
period and how the restrictions affect the use of resources. 

c. Management  of  liquidity  and  quantitative  information  as  of  the 
reporting date about financial assets available to meet near-term 

demands  for  cash,  including  demands  resulting  from  near-term 
financial liabilities. 

d. Expenses, including amounts for operating expenses by both their 
nature and function. That information could be provided on the face 

of the statement of activities, as a separate statement, or in notes to 
financial statements. 

e. Method(s)  used  to  allocate  costs  among  program  and  support 
functions. 

f. Underwater    endowment    funds,    which    are    donor-restricted 
endowment funds for which the fair value of the fund is less than 



4  

 

 
 

either the original gift amount or the amount required to be 
maintained by the donor or law. In addition to disclosing the currently 
required aggregate amount by which funds are underwater, an NFP 
would be required to disclose the aggregate of the original gift 
amounts (or level required by donor or law) for such funds and any 
governing board policies or decisions to spend or not spend from 
such funds. In addition, an NFP would classify the amount by which 
the endowment is underwater in net assets with donor restrictions 
rather than in the current unrestricted net asset category. 

7. Use   the   placed-in-service   approach   for   reporting   expirations   of 
restrictions on gifts of cash or other assets to be used to acquire or 
construct a long-lived asset, thus eliminating the option to release the 
donor-imposed restriction over the estimated useful life of the acquired 
asset. 

8. Report investment income net of external and direct internal investment 

expenses. 
 

The main provisions would eliminate current requirements for an NFP to (1) 
present separately amounts for temporarily restricted net assets and permanently 
restricted net assets, (2) present separately the transactions and other changes in 
each of those classes of net assets, and (3) present cash flows provided by 
operating activities using the indirect method of reporting. Also, unlike current 
requirements for NFPs that elect to provide an intermediate measure of operations, 
the required operating measures could, but need not be, presented on the same 
page as the change in net assets without donor restrictions. In addition, the 
performance indicator currently required of business-oriented health care NFPs 
would no longer be required. Similarly, voluntary health and welfare organizations 
would no longer be required to provide a statement of functional expenses; rather, 
like other NFPs, they could provide such information about expenses on the face 
of the statement of activities, as a separate statement, or in notes to financial 
statements. Finally, an NFP would no longer be required to separately disclose the 
amount of investment expenses (other than the amount of internal direct costs of 
salaries and benefits). 

 
How Would the Main Provisions Differ from Current 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) and 
Why Would They Be an Improvement? 

 
Each of the main provisions noted above would change current GAAP, and the 
Board expects that each will (a) improve the usefulness of information provided to 
donors, creditors, and other users of an NFP’s financial statements, (b) reduce 
complexities or costs for preparers or users of financial statements, or (c) both 
improve usefulness and reduce complexities or costs. Some provisions would 
make greater improvements than others, and the Board believes that the overall 
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expected benefits of the improvements justify the perceived costs that they may 
impose. 

 

Eliminating the distinction between resources with permanent restrictions and 
those with temporary restrictions from the face of financial statements would 
reduce complexity. Enhanced disclosure in notes to financial statements would 
provide useful information about the nature, amounts, and effects of the various 
types of donor-imposed restrictions, which often include limits on the purposes for 
which the resources can be used as well as the time frame for their use. Simplifying 
the face of financial statements together with enhancing disclosures in notes would 
continue to provide relevant but more useful information about an entity’s 
resources and changes in those resources that would be helpful to donors, 
creditors, and others in assessing an NFP’s: 

 

1. Liquidity and financial flexibility, including its ability to meet obligations 
and its needs for external financing 

2. Financial performance during the period 

3. Service efforts and ability to continue providing services 
4. Execution of its stewardship responsibilities and other aspects of its 

management’s performance. 
 

The currently required distinction between permanent restrictions and temporary 
restrictions has become blurred by changes in state laws that diminished its 
relevance and rendered that distinction less useful on the face of financial 
statements. Reducing the number of classes of net assets that must be reported 
on the face of financial statements, especially the statement of activities, also can 
reduce complexity, enhance understandability, and promote greater use of 
multiperiod comparative financial statements that would provide donors, creditors, 
and other stakeholders with information useful in identifying and assessing key 
trends. 

 

Requiring an NFP to present more standardized intermediate measures of 
operations in the statement of activities would be helpful in communicating the 
NFP’s financial performance. The proposed measures, the operating excess 
(deficit) both before and after transfers, should result in greater comparability of 
information across the NFP sector, especially within industries. Those proposed 
measures also allow an NFP to show creditors, donors, and others how the NFP 
is managed by reflecting a measure (subtotal) before and after discretely 
presented internal (self-imposed) constraints placed on resources by governing 
board actions and the removal of such constraints. 

 

Requiring an NFP to present operating cash flows using the direct method would 
increase the understandability of information and its usefulness to creditors, 
donors, and other users of NFP financial statements. Moreover, no longer requiring 
an NFP to present those cash flows using the indirect (reconciliation) method 
would eliminate the costs to provide and explain information that often is found to 
be confusing and misunderstood by some users of NFP financial statements. 
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Reclassifying items reported in a cash flow statement (see item 5 of the main 
provisions) to better align them with this Update’s proposed notion that operating 
activities reported in the statement of activities should be based on whether 
“resource inflows and outflows are from or directed at carrying out an NFP’s 
purpose for existence” would increase understandability and help communicate 
financial performance. 

 

Requiring enhanced disclosures of information (see item 6 of the main provisions) 
would improve the decision usefulness of information helpful in assessing the 
following: 

 

1. The effects that limits on the use of resources imposed by an NFP’s 
governing board and its donors may have on an NFP’s liquidity, financial 
flexibility, and allocation of resources 

2. The methods by which an NFP manages its liquidity to meet near-term 
demands for cash 

3. The types of resources used and how they are allocated in carrying out 

an NFP’s operating activities 
4. The effects, if any, of accounting policies and methods used for allocating 

costs among an NFP’s program and supporting activities 
5. The  effects,  if  any,  of  underwater  endowment  funds  on  an  NFP’s 

spending policies and its financial flexibility. 
 

Requiring an NFP to use the placed-in-service approach for reporting expirations 
of restrictions on gifts of cash or other assets to be used to acquire or construct a 
long-lived asset (eliminating the option to release the donor-imposed restriction 
over the estimated useful life of the acquired asset) would improve comparability 
and, therefore, the usefulness of the proposed intermediate measures of 
operations before and after transfers, as well as the measures for changes in the 
classes of net assets with and without donor restrictions. 

 

Requiring an NFP to report investment income net of external and direct internal 
investment expenses would provide a more comparable measure of investment 
returns across all NFPs, regardless of whether their investment activities (1) are 
managed by internal staff, outside investment managers, volunteers, or a 
combination, or (2) employ the use of mutual funds, hedge funds, or other vehicles 
for which management fees are embedded in the investment return of the vehicle. 

 

When Would the Amendments Be Effective? 
 

The amendments in this proposed Update would be applied on a retrospective 
basis. Application to interim financial statements would not be required in the initial 
year of application, but information for those interim periods would be restated if 
reported with annual financial statements for that year. The year that the final 
Update is first applied, an NFP would disclose the nature of any reclassifications 
or restatements and their effects, if any, on changes in the net asset classes for 
each year presented. The effective date, and whether it should be the same for all 
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NFPs, as well as whether early adoption would be permitted, will be determined 
by the Board after considering stakeholders’ feedback on this proposed Update. 

 

How Do the Proposed Provisions Compare with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)? 

 
There are no specific NFP accounting and reporting standards in IFRS. Therefore, 
the proposed amendments are not expected to create or eliminate any differences 
between GAAP and IFRS. 

 

Questions for Respondents 
 

The Board invites individuals and organizations to comment on all matters in this 
proposed Update, particularly on the issues and questions below. Comments are 
requested from those who agree with the proposed guidance as well as from those 
who disagree. Comments are most helpful if they identify and clearly explain the 
issue or question to which they relate. Those who disagree with the proposed 
guidance are asked to describe their suggested alternatives (including ways to 
increase the expected benefits, minimize complexities, or reduce costs) supported 
by specific reasoning. The paragraph references are to the discussion of the 
Board’s considerations and reasons for its decisions. 

 

Statement of Financial Position and Liquidity 
 

Question 1: Do you agree that the disclosures about the nature of donor-imposed 

restrictions and their effects on liquidity in notes to financial statements would help 
ensure that necessary information is not lost by combining the temporarily and 
permanently restricted classes of net assets into one donor restricted category for 
purposes of presentation in the statement of financial position (balance sheet)? If 
not, please identify the information lost and why it is necessary. (See paragraphs 
BC22–BC23 and BC27–BC32.) 

 

Question 2: Do you agree that the aggregated amount by which endowment funds 
are underwater should be classified within net assets with donor restrictions rather 
than net assets without donor restrictions? If not, why? (See paragraph BC24.) 

 

Question 3: Do you agree that disclosures describing the NFP’s policy on 

spending from underwater endowment funds, together with the aggregated original 
gift amount or the amount that is required to be maintained by donor or by law, 
would provide creditors, donors, and other users with information useful in 
assessing an NFP’s liquidity and potential constraints on its ability to provide 
services without imposing undue costs? Why or why not? (See paragraph BC32.) 
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Question 4: Do you agree that providing information in notes to financial 

statements about financial assets and liabilities and limits on the use of those 
assets is an effective way to clearly communicate information useful in assessing 
an NFP’s liquidity and how it manages liquidity without imposing undue costs? If 
not, why, and what alternative(s) would you suggest? (See paragraphs BC27– 
BC31.) 

 

Question 5: Most business-oriented health care NFPs are required to present a 

classified balance sheet. Continuing care retirement communities and other NFPs 
may choose to sequence their assets and liabilities according to their nearness to 
cash as an alternative to using a classified balance sheet. As a result of the 
proposed requirement to provide enhanced disclosures of information useful in 
assessing liquidity, would there no longer be a need to hold business-oriented 
health care NFPs to the more stringent standard for their balance sheets? If not, 
why? 

 

Statement of Activities, Including Financial Performance 
 

Question 6: Do you agree that requiring intermediate measures of operations 

would provide users of NFP financial statements with more relevant and 
comparable information for purposes of (a) assessing whether the activities of a 
period have drawn upon, or have contributed to, past or future periods and (b) 
understanding the relationship of resources used in operations of a period to 
resource inflows available to fund those operations? Do you also agree that 
classifying and aggregating information in that way would not require major system 
changes? If not, why? (See paragraphs BC38–BC47.) 

 

Question 7: Do you agree that intermediate measures of operations should 

include only those (a) resource inflows and outflows that are from or directed at 
carrying out an NFP’s purpose for existence and (b) resources that are available 

for current-period operating activities before and after the effects of internal 
governing board appropriations, designations, and similar actions? If not, why? 
(See paragraphs BC48–BC74.) 

 

Question 8: Do you agree that all internal transfers (governing board 

appropriations, designations, and similar actions that make resources unavailable 
or available for operations of the current period) should be reflected on the 
statement of activities immediately after an intermediate measure of operations 
before transfers and immediately before an intermediate measure of operations 
after transfers? If not all internal transfers, on what basis would you distinguish 
between those transfers that should and should not be reflected and how would 
you make that distinction operable? Do you also agree that reflecting those internal 
decisions (or lack of them) on the face of the statement rather than in notes will 
help an NFP communicate how its operations are managed without adding undue 
complexities? Why or why not? (See paragraphs BC46–BC47 and BC67–BC74.) 
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Question 9: Do you agree that to promote comparability, the Board should 

eliminate one of the two optional methods for reporting expirations of donor 
restrictions on gifts of cash or other assets to be used to acquire or construct long- 
lived assets? Do you also agree that requiring the expiration of those donor 
restrictions on the basis of the placed-in-service approach rather than the current 
option to present a release from restriction over the useful life of the acquired long- 
lived asset is most consistent with the underlying notions of the intermediate 
measures of operations? If not, why? (See paragraph BC66.) 

 

Question 10: Do you agree that gifts of, or for, property, plant, and equipment 

(long-lived assets) should be considered operating revenue and support when 
received (or when placed in service in the case of a gift to acquire a long-lived 
asset)? Do you also agree that because the long-lived asset is not immediately 
fully available to be utilized in the current period, an NFP should be required to 
present a transfer from operating activities to other activities for the amount of the 
gifted asset or portion of the asset funded by restricted gifts? If not, why? (See 
paragraphs BC72–BC74.) 

 

Question 11: Do you agree that the addition of required intermediate measures of 

operations for all NFPs would make unnecessary the need for NFP business- 
oriented health care entities to also present their currently required performance 
indicator? Why or why not? (See paragraph BC99.) 

 

Question 12: Do you think the flexibility currently allowed by GAAP to present a 

statement of activities as either a single statement or two articulating statements 
and to use either a single-column or a multicolumn format should be retained or 
narrowed? If narrowed, why and in what ways? 

 

Question 13: Do you agree that reporting operating expenses by both their 

function and nature together with an analysis of all expenses (other than netted 
investment expenses) provides relevant and useful information in assessing how 
an NFP uses its resources and, thus, should be required? Why or why not? (See 
paragraphs BC87–BC93.) 

 

Question 14: Do you agree that requiring investment income to be reported net of 

external and direct internal investment expenses will increase comparability and 
avoid imposing undue costs to obtain information about all investment fees (for 
example, embedded fees of hedge funds, mutual funds, and funds of funds)? If 
not, why? (See paragraph BC100.) 

 

Question 15: Do you agree that the disclosure of the amount of all investment 

expenses is unnecessary but that disclosure of internal salaries and benefits that 
are netted against investment return is of sufficient relevance, not too costly to 
obtain, and thus should be required? Why or why not? (See paragraph BC101.) 

 

Question 16: Do you agree that interest expense, whether incurred on short-term 

or long-term borrowing, and fees and related expenses incurred for access to lines 

of credit and similar cash management and treasury activities are not directed at 
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carrying out an NFP’s purposes and, thus, should not be classified as operating 
activities? If not, why? (See paragraphs BC59–BC60.) 

 
Question 17: Do you agree with the following implementation guidance: 

 
a. Equity transfers between NFPs that are under common control and are 

eliminated in a parent entity’s consolidated financial statements and 
equity transactions between financially interrelated entities should be 
presented within operating activities unless they are not available for 
current-period use in carrying out the purpose for the reporting entity’s 
existence? If not, why? (See paragraph BC62(a).) 

b. Immediate writeoffs of goodwill generally should be presented within 
operating activities? If not, why? (See paragraph BC62(b).) 

c. Immediate  writeoffs  of  acquisitions  of  noncapitalized  items  for  a 
permanent collection should be presented within the operating activity 
section if acquired with net assets without donor restrictions? If not, why? 
(See paragraph BC62(c).) 

 

Statement of Cash Flows, Including Financial Performance 
 

Question 18: Do you agree that the direct method of presenting operating cash 

flows is more understandable and useful than the indirect method? Do you also 
agree that the expected benefits of presenting operating cash flows in that way 
would justify the one-time and ongoing costs that may be incurred to implement 
that method of reporting? If not, please explain why and suggest an alternative that 
might increase the benefits or reduce any operational concerns or costs. (See 
paragraphs BC75–BC80.) 

 

Question 19: Does the indirect method’s reconciliation of cash flows from 

operations to the total change in net assets provide any particular type of 
necessary information that would be lost if, as proposed, that method is no longer 
required? If so, please identify the potentially omitted information and explain why 
it is useful and whether it should be provided through disclosure rather than 
requiring use of the indirect method. If you suggest that requiring the indirect 
method is necessary, would you require that the amount for cash flows from 
operations be reconciled to the amount of the (a) change in net assets, (b) change 
in net assets without donor restrictions, or (c) proposed intermediate measure of 
operations before or after transfers? Why? (See paragraphs BC75–BC80.) 

 

Question 20: Do you agree that although operating activities is defined differently 

for the statement of cash flows than for the statement of activities, more closely 
aligning line items presented in the statement of cash flows with the proposed 
operating classification for the statement of activities will increase 
understandability even though that reporting would be somewhat different from 
current requirements for business entities? If you believe that operating items in 
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the two financial statements would not be sufficiently aligned, please indicate how 
their alignment might be further improved. (See paragraphs BC81–BC86.) 

 

Effective Date 
 

Question 21: Are there any particular proposed amendments in this Update that 

would require a longer period to implement than other amendments? If so, please 
explain. 

 

Question 22: Are there reasons for any particular size or type of NFP to need a 

longer time frame to implement the proposed amendments in this Update? If so, 
please explain. 

 

Public Roundtable Meetings 
 

The Board plans to hold public roundtable meetings on this proposed Update. The 
purpose of roundtable meetings is to listen to the views of, and obtain information 
from, interested stakeholders about this proposed Update. The Board plans to 
seek participants for the meetings that represent a wide variety of stakeholders, 
including users, preparers, auditors, and others to ensure that broad input is 
received. 

 

One set of roundtable meetings, to be held at the FASB offices in Norwalk, 
Connecticut, is tentatively planned for Monday, September 21, 2015. The other set 
of roundtable meetings, to be held on the West Coast (specific location is still being 
determined), is tentatively planned for Tuesday, October 6, 2015. Any individual or 
organization desiring to participate must notify the FASB by sending an email to 
director@fasb.org and submitting its comments on the proposed Update in writing 
by the comment deadline. Roundtable meetings can accommodate a limited 
number of participants. Depending on the number of responses received, the 
Board may not be able to accommodate all requests to participate. 

mailto:director@fasb.org
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Amendments to the 
FASB Accounting Standards Codification®

 
 

 

Summary of Proposed Amendments to the Accounting 
Standards Codification 

 
1. The following table provides a summary of the proposed amendments to the 
Accounting Standards Codification. 

 

 
Codification Topics 
and Subtopics 

 
Description of Changes 

 

Master Glossary 
 

  Added the following terms: financing cash flows 
of a not-for-profit entity, investing cash flows of 
a not-for-profit entity, net assets with donor 
restrictions, net assets without donor 
restrictions, operating cash flows of a not-for- 
profit entity, operating excess (deficit) of a not- 
for-profit entity after transfers, operating excess 
(deficit) of a not-for-profit entity before 

transfers, programmatic investing, underwater 
endowment fund 

  Superseded the following terms: performance 
indicator, permanent endowment, permanent 
restriction, permanently restricted net assets, 
temporarily restricted net assets, temporary 
restriction, unrestricted net assets, unrestricted 
support 

  Amended the following terms: board- 
designated endowment fund, designated net 
assets, donor-imposed restriction, donor- 
restricted endowment fund, economic interest, 

endowment fund, financing activities, functional 
classification, funds functioning as endowment, 
investing activities, management and general 

activities, natural expense classification, net 
assets, operating activities, reclassification, 
restricted support 
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Codification Topics 
and Subtopics 

 
Description of Changes 

 

Not-for-Profit Entities 
—Financially 
Interrelated Entities 

 

(958-20) 

 

 Amended terminology for new classes of net 
assets 

 Amended guidance to report equity 
transactions generally as an operating activity 

 Amended implementation guidance to explain 
the difference between equity transfers and 
equity transactions, as previously included in 

Topic 954, Health Care Entities 
 

Split-Interest 
Agreements 

 

(958-30) 

 

 Amended terminology for new classes of net 
assets 

 Amended general and illustrative guidance on 
classification of contributions received from 
split-interest agreements as either an operating 
activity or a nonoperating activity on the 
statement of activities on the basis of whether 
donor restrictions exist 

 Amended guidance to require classification of 
changes in the value of split-interest 

agreements as either an operating activity or a 
nonoperating activity 

 

Presentation of 

Financial Statements 
 

(958-205) 

 

 Amended terminology for new classes of net 
assets 

 Amended guidance to require operating and 
nonoperating classification on the statement of 
activities 

 Amended guidance to report equity transfers 
generally as an operating activity 

 Amended guidance to require use of the direct 
method for presenting operating cash flows in 

the statement of cash flows and to no longer 
require presentation of the indirect method 
reconciliation 

 Added guidance for all not-for-profit entities to 
require that all expenses be reported in one 
location, with all operating expenses reported 

by both nature and function and nonoperating 
expenses reported by nature while not 

requiring nor precluding presentation by 
function 
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Codification Topics 
and Subtopics 

 
Description of Changes 

  Removed guidance that required voluntary 
health and welfare organizations to present a 
statement of functional expenses 

 Amended guidance to update reporting of 
endowment funds in accordance with Uniform 
Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act 
(UPMIFA) and trust law, if applicable, in 

addition to amending guidance for reporting 
and disclosing information about underwater 
endowment funds 

 Removed guidance on reporting of endowment 
funds in accordance with Uniform Management 
of Institutional Funds Act (UMIFA) 

 Amended illustrative guidance for a statement 
of activities, balance sheet, cash flow 
statement, and example notes of a generic not- 
for-profit entity to reflect various changes to 
presentation and disclosure requirements, 
including a new note illustrating the required 

disclosure of quantitative and qualitative 
information useful in assessing a not-for-profit 
entity’s liquidity position 

 Added illustrative guidance, intended to be 
nonprescriptive, to present industry-specific 
statements of activities for a private foundation, 

a business-oriented health care entity, and a 
university 

 Amended illustrative guidance and disclosures 
on reporting of endowment funds in 
accordance with UPMIFA 

 Removed multiple examples that illustrated 
superseded net asset classifications used for 
donor-restricted endowment funds 

 

Balance Sheet 
 

(958-210) 

 

 Amended terminology for new classes of net 
assets 

 Added guidance to require disclosure of 
quantitative and qualitative information useful in 
assessing a not-for-profit entity’s liquidity 
position 
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Codification Topics 
and Subtopics 

 
Description of Changes 

  Added guidance to require disclosure of 
amounts and purposes of board designations 
of net assets without donor restrictions 

 

Income Statement 
 

(958-225) 

 

 Amended terminology for new classes of net 
assets 

 Amended guidance to require classification of 
operating and nonoperating items on the 
statement of activities 

 Added guidance to require presentation of (a) 
the operating excess (deficit) of a not-for-profit 
entity before transfers and (b) the operating 
excess (deficit) of a not-for-profit entity after 
transfers 

 Added guidance to prescribe presentation 
requirements for use of governing board 
designations, appropriations, and similar 

transfers 

 Added implementation guidance for 
classification, in operating or nonoperating 
activities, of transactions and events related to 

long-lived assets, writeoffs of collection items 
not capitalized, writeoffs of goodwill resulting 
from an acquisition, and equity transfers 

 Amended guidance to not preclude use of 
additional classification on a statement of 
activities beyond the required operating and 
nonoperating classification 

 Removed guidance that required an entity to 
report an intermediate measure of operations, if 
presented, on the same statement that also 
reports the change in net assets without donor 
restrictions 

 Amended guidance to require reporting of 
investment expenses netted against and 

reported in the same net asset category as the 
related investment return 

 Removed guidance that required disclosure of 
netted investment expenses 

 Added guidance to require disclosure of 
internal salaries and benefits that have been 
netted against investment return 
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Codification Topics 
and Subtopics 

 
Description of Changes 

  Added guidance for all not-for-profit entities to 
require that all expenses be reported in one 
location, with all operating expenses reported 

by both nature and function and nonoperating 
expenses reported by nature while not 
requiring nor precluding presentation by 
function 

 Added guidance to require disclosure of a 
qualitative description of methods used to 
allocate costs among program and support 
functions 

 

Statement of Cash 
Flows 

 

(958-230) 

 

 Added guidance to require the direct method 
for presenting operating cash flows 

 Added guidance to require not-for-profit entity 
classifications that are different from business 
entities for reporting certain activities as 
operating, investing, or financing cash flows 

 Amended guidance to no longer require the 
indirect method for presenting operating cash 
flows and added guidance so that the indirect 
method, if presented, results in the same net 
amount as the direct method with certain 

activities that would be classified differently 
than they are for business entities 

 Added guidance for the supplemental schedule 
of noncash investing and financing activities, so 

that it still includes certain transactions that 
may significantly affect future cash flows (for 
example, donations of long-lived assets and 

collections), even if those would be classified 
as operating cash flows 

 

Receivables 
 

(958-310) 

 

 Amended terminology for new classes of net 
assets 
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Codification Topics 
and Subtopics 

 
Description of Changes 

 

Investments—Debt 
and Equity Securities 

 

(958-320) 

 

 Amended terminology for new classes of net 
assets 

 Added guidance to require that returns from 
programmatic investing be reported as an 
operating activity in the statement of activities 

 Added guidance to require that investment 
returns, other than from programmatic 
investing, be reported as a nonoperating 
activity in the statement of activities 

 Amended guidance to reflect the new 
requirement to report investment returns net of 
related investment expenses 

 Amended guidance to require that investment 
returns appropriated for spending be presented 
in accordance with the presentation 
requirements for board designations, 
appropriations, and similar transfers 

 Added illustrative guidance for an example note 
that, although not prescriptive, integrates the 
disclosure of the aggregate carrying amount of 

investments by major types with the fair value 
level hierarchy disclosure requirements 

 

Investments—Other 
(958-325) 

 

 Amended terminology for new classes of net 
assets 

 

Intangibles— 

Goodwill and Other 
 

(958-350) 

 

 Added guidance for reporting of goodwill 
impairment as an operating activity if the 
related acquisition is to carry out the not-for- 
profit entity’s mission 

 

Property, Plant, and 
Equipment 

 

(958-360) 

 

 Amended terminology for new classes of net 
assets 

 Added guidance to require reclassification of 
contributions (of long-lived assets or cash to 

acquire or construct them) within the operating 
activity section of the statement of activities 
when a long-lived asset is placed in service 
unless additional donor restrictions exist that 
extend beyond when the asset is placed in 
service 
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Codification Topics 
and Subtopics 

 
Description of Changes 

  Added guidance to prescribe presentation in 
the statement of activities as an operating 
activity for (1) contributions of long-lived assets 

or cash to acquire or construct long-lived 
assets and (2) the writeoff of acquired 
collection items not capitalized 

 Removed guidance that allowed a not-for-profit 
entity to imply a time restriction on donated 
long-lived assets received without donor 
stipulations 

 

Revenue Recognition 
 

(958-605) 

 

 Amended terminology for new classes of net 
assets 

 Amended guidance to require that changes in 
the fair value of net assets held in trust by 

others be reported as a nonoperating activity 
and to require classification in the net asset 
categories based on whether purpose or time 
restrictions exist 

 Amended illustrative guidance for treatment of 
contributions of long-lived assets and cross- 
referenced to Subtopic 958-360 

 

Compensation— 
Retirement Benefits 

 

(958-715) 

 

 Amended terminology for new classes of net 
assets 

 Added guidance to require that changes in net 
assets without donor restrictions from  pension 

and postretirement benefit plans, which have 
not yet been reclassified as components of net 
periodic costs, be reported as a nonoperating 
activity 

 Amended guidance that presented an 
intermediate measure of operations as an 
optional reportable measure 

 

Other Expenses 
 

(958-720) 

 

 Added guidance for all not-for-profit entities to 
require that all expenses be reported in one 
location, with all operating expenses reported 
by both nature and function and nonoperating 
expenses reported by nature while not 
requiring nor precluding presentation by 
function 
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Codification Topics 
and Subtopics 

 
Description of Changes 

  Removed guidance that required that voluntary 
health and welfare organizations present a 
statement of functional expenses 

 Added guidance to illustrate types of activities 
that would be deemed to be direct conduct or 
supervision of program and support functions 
and, thus, would be allocated to those 

functions, instead of management and general 
activities 

 Added illustrative note on the methods used to 
allocate costs among program and support 
functions 

 

Business 
Combinations 

 

(958-805) 

 

 Amended terminology for new classes of net 
assets 

 Amended guidance to report cash flows from 
acquisition of an entity that furthers the mission 
of the not-for-profit entity as an operating cash 
flow 

 Amended guidance for mergers of public not- 
for-profit entities to require disclosures of both 
the pro forma operating excess before transfers 
and the pro forma operating excess after 
transfers, similar to what was previously 
included in Topic 954 for the performance 
indicator 

 

Consolidation 
 

(958-810) 

 

 Amended terminology for new classes of net 
assets 

 Amended guidance to report equity transfers 
generally as an operating activity 

 Amended guidance for disclosures related to 
noncontrolling interests to incorporate the 
operating excess before transfers and the 
operating excess after transfers 

 

Topic 954, Health 
Care Entities 

 

 Amended terminology for new classes of net 
assets 

 Removed guidance that prescribed expiration 
of restrictions when long-lived assets are 
placed in service now that the requirement is 
no longer specific to health care entities 
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Codification Topics 
and Subtopics 

 
Description of Changes 

  Removed guidance that required business- 
oriented health care entities to present a 
performance indicator and referred to guidance 

for all not-for-profit entities in Subtopic 958-225 
to report an operating excess before and after 
transfers 

 Removed guidance that required business- 
oriented health care entities to disclose their 
tax-exempt status 

 Removed guidance for other related items that 
affected the presentation of performance 
indicator 

Topic 230 

[Conforming 

Amendments] 

 

 Added cross-reference to guidance in Subtopic 
958-230 for prescribed reporting requirements 
that differ for not-for-profit entities 

Topic 250 

[Conforming 
Amendments] 

 

 Amended guidance to require disclosure of the 
effect of an accounting change for both the 
operating excess before transfers and the 
operating excess after transfers, similar to what 
was previously required for the performance 
indicator 

Topic 310 

[Conforming 
Amendments] 

 

 Removed reference to performance indicator 

Topic 320 

[Conforming 
Amendments] 

 

 Removed reference to performance indicator 

Topic 325 

[Conforming 
Amendments] 

 

 Added cross-reference to Subtopic 958-225 for 
presentation of operating activities 

 

Topic 360 
 

 Added cross-reference to Subtopic 958-225 to 
include the impairment loss and gain or loss on 
sale of long-lived assets within the operating 
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Codification Topics 
and Subtopics 

 
Description of Changes 

[Conforming 
Amendments] 

excess (deficit) of a not-for-profit entity before 
transfers 

Topic 810 

[Conforming 
Amendments] 

 

 Amended terminology for new classes of net 
assets 

Topic 815 

[Conforming 
Amendments] 

 

 Removed reference to performance indicator 

Topic 825 

[Conforming 
Amendments] 

 

 Amended terminology for new classes of net 
assets 

 Removed reference to performance indicator 

 Added cross-reference to Subtopic 958-225 for 
presentation of operating activities 
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Introduction 
 

2.    The Accounting Standards Codification is amended as described in 
paragraphs 3–80. In some cases, to put the change in context, not only are the 
amended paragraphs shown but also the preceding and following paragraphs. 
Terms from the Master Glossary are in bold type. Added text is underlined, and 

deleted text is struck out. 
 

Amendments to Master Glossary 
 

3.      Add the following Master Glossary terms, with a link to transition paragraph 
958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 

Financing Cash Flows of a Not-for-Profit Entity 
 

Financing cash flows of a not-for-profit entity include borrowing cash from lenders 
and repaying amounts borrowed, including paying interest on borrowed amounts; 
receiving cash from donors that must be used for long-term investing purposes; 
and obtaining cash from investors and providing them with a return on, and a return 
of, their investment. 

 

Investing Cash Flows of a Not-for-Profit Entity 
 

Investing cash flows of a not-for-profit entity (NFP) include lending cash to third 
parties and collecting amounts lent; acquiring and disposing of debt instruments, 
equity instruments, or other investment assets (including real estate) for the 
principal purpose of generating investment returns; and collecting interest and 
dividends on those loans, debt and equity instruments, and other investment 
assets. Investing cash flows exclude program-related loans and investments and 
similar programmatic investing activities with stakeholders and beneficiaries that 

are directed at carrying out an NFP’s purpose for existence (rather than primarily 
to generate investment returns). 

 

Net Assets with Donor Restrictions 
 

The part of net assets of a not-for-profit entity that is subject to donor-imposed 
restrictions. 

 

Net Assets without Donor Restrictions 
 

The part of net assets of a not-for-profit entity that is not subject to donor-imposed 
restrictions. 

 

Operating Cash Flows of a Not-for-Profit Entity 
 

Operating cash flows of a not-for-profit entity (NFP) include all cash flows that are 
not defined as investing cash flows or financing cash flows of an NFP. Operating 
cash flows generally involve the receipts and uses of cash that result from or are 
directed at carrying out an NFP’s purpose for existence (its productive efforts). 
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Operating Excess (Deficit) of a Not-for-Profit Entity after Transfers 
 

A measure of a not-for-profit entity’s (NFP’s) operations that results from 
aggregating (a) revenues, expenses, gains, and losses of the period that are from 
or directed at carrying out an NFP’s purpose for existence and are available for 
use in the current period, (b) donor-restricted support that became available in the 
period for carrying out the NFP’s purpose for existence, and (c) the effects of 
internal actions resulting from governing board designations, appropriations, and 
similar transfers that make resources unavailable or available for carrying out an 
NFP’s current-period purposes. 

 

Operating Excess (Deficit) of a Not-for-Profit Entity before Transfers 
 

A measure of a not-for-profit entity’s (NFP’s) operations that results from 
aggregating (a) revenues, expenses, gains, and losses of the period that are from 
or directed at carrying out an NFP’s purpose for existence and are available for 
use in the current period and (b) donor-restricted support that became available in 
the period for carrying out the NFP’s purpose for existence. 

 

Programmatic Investing 
 

The activity of making loans or other investments that are directed at carrying out 
the not-for-profit entity’s purpose for existence rather than investing in the general 
production of income or appreciation of the asset (total return investing). 

 

Underwater Endowment Fund 
 

A donor-restricted endowment fund for which the fair value of the fund at the 

reporting date is less than either the original gift amount or the amount required to 
be maintained by the donor or by law that extends donor restrictions. 

 

4.     Supersede the following Master Glossary terms, with a link to transition 
paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 

Performance Indicator 
 

A performance indicator reports results of operations. A performance indicator and 
the income from continuing operations reported by for-profit health care entities 
generally are consistent, except for transactions that clearly are not applicable to 
one kind of entity (for example, for-profit health care entities typically would not 
receive contributions, and not-for-profit health care entities would not award stock 
compensation). That is, a performance indicator is analogous to income from 
continuing operations of a for-profit entity. 
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Permanent Endowment 
 

An endowment fund established to provide a permanent source of income. See 
Endowment Fund. 

 

Permanent Restriction 
 

A donor-imposed restriction that stipulates that resources be maintained 
permanently but permits the not-for-profit entity (NFP) to use up or expend part or 
all of the income or other economic benefits derived from the donated assets. 

 

Permanently Restricted Net Assets 
 

The part of the net assets of a not-for-profit entity (NFP) resulting from the 
following: 

 

a.    Contributions and other inflows of assets whose use by the NFP is limited 
by donor-imposed stipulations that neither expire by passage of time nor 
can be fulfilled or otherwise removed by actions of the NFP 

b.    Other asset enhancements and diminishments subject to the same kinds 
of stipulations 

c.    Reclassifications from or to other classes of net assets as a consequence 
of donor-imposed stipulations. 

 

Temporarily Restricted Net Assets 
 

The part of the net assets of a not-for-profit entity (NFP) resulting from the 
following: 

 

a.    Contributions and other inflows of assets whose use by the NFP is limited 
by donor-imposed stipulations that either expire by passage of time or 
can be fulfilled and removed by actions of the NFP pursuant to those 
stipulations  

b.    Other asset enhancements and diminishments subject to the same kinds 
of stipulations  

c.    Reclassification from or to other classes of net assets as a consequence 

of donor-imposed stipulations, their expiration by passage of time, or their 
fulfillment  and  removal  by  actions  of  the  NFP  pursuant  to  those 
stipulations.  

 

Temporary Restriction 
 

A donor-imposed restriction that permits the donee to use up or expend the 
donated assets as specified and that is satisfied either by the passage of time or 
by actions of the donee. 
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Unrestricted Net Assets 
 

The part of net assets of a not-for-profit entity (NFP) that is neither permanently 
restricted nor temporarily restricted by donor-imposed stipulations. The only limits 
on the use of unrestricted net assets are the broad limits resulting from the 
following: 

 

a.    The nature of the NFP 
b.    The environment in which the NFP operates 

c.    The purposes specified in the NFP’s articles of incorporation or bylaws 
d.    Limits resulting from contractual agreements with suppliers, creditors, 

and others entered into by the NFP in the course of its business. 
 

Unrestricted net assets generally result from revenues from providing services, 
producing and delivering goods, receiving unrestricted contributions, and receiving 
dividends or interest from investing in income-producing assets, less expenses 
incurred in providing services, producing and delivering goods, raising 
contributions, and performing administrative functions. 

 

Unrestricted Support 
 

Revenues or gains from contributions that are not restricted by donors. See 
Restricted Support. 

 

5.      Amend  the  following  Master  Glossary  terms,  with  a  link  to  transition 

paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 
 

Board-Designated Endowment Fund 
 

An endowment fund created by a not-for-profit entity’s (NFP’s) governing board by 
designating a portion of its net assets without donor restrictionsunrestricted net 

assets to be invested to provide income for a long but not necessarily specified 
unspecified period (sometimes called funds functioning as endowment or quasi- 
endowment funds). See Endowment Fund. 

 

Board-Designated Net Assets 
 

Net assets without donor restrictionsUnrestricted net assets subject to self- 

imposed limits by action of the governing board. Board-designatedDesignated net 
assets may be earmarked for future programs, investment, contingencies, 
purchase or construction of fixed assets, or other uses. 

 

Donor-Imposed Restriction 
 

A donor stipulation that specifies a use for a contributed asset that is more specific 
than broad limits resulting from the following: 

 

a. The nature of the not-for-profit entity (NFP) 
b. The environment in which it operates 
c. The  purposes  specified  in  its  articles  of  incorporation  or  bylaws  or 

comparable documents for an unincorporated association. 
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A donor-imposed restriction on an NFP’s use of the asset contributed may be 
temporary or permanent. Some donor-imposed restrictions impose limits that are 
permanent, for example, stipulating that resources be invested in perpetuity (not 
used up).Some donors impose restrictions that are temporary in natureOthers are 
temporary, for example, stipulating that resources may be used only after a 
specified date, for particular programs or services, or to acquire buildings andor 
equipment. Other donors impose restrictions that are perpetual, for example, 
stipulating that resources be invested in perpetuity. Laws may extend those limits 
to investment returns from and other enhancements (diminishments) of those 
resources, thus extending donor-imposed restrictions. 

 

Donor-Restricted Endowment Fund 
 

An endowment fund that is created by a donor stipulation requiring investment of 
the gift in perpetuity or for a specified term. Some donors or laws may require that 
a portion of income, gains, or both be added to the gift and invested subject to 
similar restrictions. The term does not include a Board-Designated Endowment 
Fund. See Endowment Fund. 

 

Donor-Restricted Support 
 

Donor-restricted revenues or gains from contributions that increase  net assets 
with donor restrictions.either temporarily restricted net assets or permanently 
restricted net assets. See Unrestricted Support. 

 

Economic Interest 
 

A not-for-profit entity’s (NFP’s) interest in another entity that exists if any of the 
following criteria are met: 

 

a.    The other entity holds or utilizes significant resources that must be used 
for the unrestricted or restricted  purposes of the NFP, either directly or 
indirectly by producing income or providing services. 

b. The NFP is responsible for the liabilities of the other entity. 
 

See paragraph 958-810-55-6 for examples of economic interests. 
 

Endowment Fund 
 

An established fund of cash, securities, or other assets to provide income for the 
maintenance of a not-for-profit entity (NFP). The use of the assets of the fund may 
be with or without donor-imposed restrictions.permanently restricted, temporarily 
restricted, or unrestricted. Endowment funds generally are established by donor- 
restricted gifts and bequests to provide either of the following: 

 

a.    A permanent endowment, which is to provide a permanent a  source of 
income in perpetuity or 

b.    A term endowment, which is to provide income for a specified period. See 
donor-restricted endowment fund. 
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Alternatively, an NFP’s governing board may earmark a portion of its  net assets 
without donor restrictionsunrestricted net assets as a Board-Designated 
Endowment Fund. See funds functioning as endowment. 

 

Financing Activities 
 

Financing activities include obtaining resources from owners and providing them 
with a return on, and a return of, their investment; receiving restricted resources 
that by donor stipulation must be used for long-term purposes; borrowing money 
and repaying amounts borrowed, or otherwise settling the obligation; and obtaining 
and paying for other resources obtained from creditors on long-term credit. See 
financing cash flows of a not-for-profit entity. 

 

Functional Expense Classification 
 

A method of grouping expenses according to the purpose for which costs are 
incurred. The primary functional classifications of a not-for-profit entity are program 
services and supporting activities. 

 

Funds Functioning as Endowment 
 

Net assets without donor restrictionsUnrestricted net assets designated by an 

entity’s governing board, rather than restricted by a donor or other outside agency, 
to  be  invested  to  provide  income  for  generally   a  long  but  not  necessarily 
specifiedunspecified period. A board-designated endowment, which results from 
an internal designation, is not donor-restricted and is classified as net assets 
without donor restrictionsunrestricted net assets. The governing board has the 
right to decide at any time to expend the principal of such funds. (Sometimes 
referred to as quasi-endowment funds.) 

 

Investing Activities 
 

Investing activities include making and collecting loans and acquiring and 
disposing of debt or equity instruments and property, plant, and equipment and 
other productive assets, that is, assets held for or used in the production of goods 
or services by the entity (other than materials that are part of the entity’s inventory). 
Investing activities exclude acquiring and disposing of certain loans or other debt 
or equity instruments that are acquired specifically for resale, as discussed in 
paragraphs 230-10-45-12 and 230-10-45-21. See investing cash flows of a not- 
for-profit entity. 

 

Management and General Activities 
 

Supporting activitiesActivities that are not identifiable with a single program, one 
or more program, fundraising, fundraising activity, or membership-development 
activitiesactivity but that are indispensable to the conduct of those activities and to 
an entity’s existence. 
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Natural Expense Classification 
 

A method of grouping expenses according to the kinds of economic benefits 
received in incurring those expenses. Examples of natural expense classifications 
include salaries and wages, employee benefits, professional services,  supplies, 
rent, and  utilities, depreciation, property taxes, and excise taxes. 

 

Net Assets 
 

The excess or deficiency of assets over liabilities of a not-for-profit entity (NFP), 
which is classifieddivided into threetwo mutually exclusive classes according to the 
existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. See  net assets with donor 
restrictions and net assets without donor restrictions.unrestricted net 
assets, temporarily restricted net assets, and permanently restricted net 
assets. 

 

Operating Activities 
 

Operating activities include all transactions and other events that are not defined 
as investing or financing activities (see paragraphs 230-10-45-12 through 45-15). 
Operating activities generally involve producing and delivering goods and 
providing services. Cash flows from operating activities are generally the cash 
effects of transactions and other events that enter into the determination of net 
income. See operating cash flows of a not-for-profit entity. 

 

Reclassification of Net Assets 
 

Simultaneous increase of one class of net assets and decrease of another,another. 
Reclassifications of net assets usually as a result from a donor-imposed restriction 
being satisfied or otherwise lapsing of the release or lapsing of restrictions. 

 

Amendments to Subtopic 958-10 
 

6.      Add paragraph 958-10-65-1 and its related heading, as follows: 

 
> Transition Related to Accounting Standards Update No. 201X-XX, Not-for- 
Profit Entities (Topic 958) and Health Care Entities (Topic 954): 

Presentation of Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Entities 
 

958-10-65-1 The following represents the transition and effective date information 
related to Accounting Standards Update No. 201X-XX, Not-for-Profit Entities 
(Topic 958) and Health Care Entities (Topic 954): Presentation of Financial 
Statements of Not-for-Profit Entities: 

 

a.   The pending content that links to this paragraph shall be effective for 
annual periods beginning after [date to be inserted after exposure], and 
interim periods beginning after [date to be inserted after exposure]. 

b.    The pending content that links to this paragraph shall be applied on a 
retrospective basis. Application to interim financial statements would not 
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be required in the initial year of application, but information for those 
interim periods shall be presented in accordance with the pending content 
that links to this paragraph if reported within annual financial statements 
for that year. 

c.    In the year that the pending content that links to this paragraph is first 
applied, NFPs shall disclose the nature of any reclassifications or 
restatements and their effects, if any, on changes in the net asset classes 

for each year presented. 
 

Amendments to Subtopic 958-20 
 

7.    Amend paragraphs 958-20-45-1 through 45-2, with a link to transition 

paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Not-for-Profit Entities—Financially Interrelated Entities 

 
Other Presentation Matters 

 
> Equity Transactions 

 
958-20-45-1 A recipient entity shall report an equity transaction onas a separate 

line item in its statement of activities as an operating activity, unless the transferred 
resources are donor-restricted or otherwise not for current-period use in carrying 
out the entity’s purpose for existence. 

 

958-20-45-2  If aA resource provider specifies an affiliate as a beneficiary, it  shall 

report an equity transaction as a separate line  on a separate line within operating 
activities in its statement of activities if it specifies an affiliate as beneficiary, unless 

the transferred resources are not for current-period use in carrying out the NFP’s 
purpose for existence. See paragraph 958-20-25-4 for the conditions that 
determine if a transfer is an equity transaction. 

 

8.      Add paragraph 958-20-55-2B and amend paragraphs 958-20-55-5 through 
55-6, 958-20-55-10 through 55-13, and 958-20-55-16 through 55-17, with a link to 
transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Implementation Guidance and Illustrations 

 
> Implementation Guidance 

 
958-20-55-2B An equity transaction differs from an equity transfer in that an 

equity transaction, as described in paragraph 958-20-25-4, involves a financially 
interrelated party either as a third party in a transfer from an entity to one of its 
affiliates or as a counterparty in a transfer from an entity to itself. In addition, an 

https://asc.fasb.org/glossarysection%26trid%3D6242149%26id%3DSL6244156-165455
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL6244167-165455%26objid%3D6491040
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equity transaction, unlike an equity transfer, is reciprocal; the NFPhealth care entity 
or its affiliate named as the beneficiary receives an ongoing economic interest in 
the assets held by the recipient entity. [Content amended as shown and moved 
from paragraph 954-225-55-1] 

 
> Illustrations 

 
> > Example 1: Gift of Nonfinancial Assets to a Financially Interrelated 
Entity 

 
958-20-55-3 This Example illustrates the guidance in paragraphs 958-20-15-2 and 

958-20-25-1 through 958-20-25-2. 
 

958-20-55-4 Corporation sends dental supplies to University Foundation to be 

used by students in University’s dental clinic. University Foundation’s bylaws state 
that it is organized for the purpose of stimulating voluntary financial support from 
alumni and other donors for the benefit of University, especially for addressing the 
long-term academic priorities of University. As with most gifts it receives, University 
Foundation can choose the timing of the distribution to University and can place 
additional limitations on the distribution if those limitations are consistent with 
Corporation’s restrictions. University does not control University Foundation. 

 

958-20-55-5 University Foundation recognizes the fair value of the dental supplies 
(nonfinancial assets) as an increase in assets and as contribution revenue that 
increases  net assets with donor restrictionstemporarily restricted net assets 
because donor-imposed restrictions exist and University and University 

Foundation are financially interrelated entities (see paragraph 958-20-25-1). 
University can influence the financial and operating decisions of University 
Foundation because the bylaws of University Foundation limit its activities to those 
that benefit University (see paragraph 958-20-15-2(a)). University has an ongoing 
economic interest in the net assets of University Foundation because the results 
of University Foundation’s activities accrue to the benefit of University (see 
paragraph 958-20-15-2(b)). When University Foundation distributes the dental 
supplies to University, it reduces its assets and recognizes an expense and the 
expiration of the restriction. 

 

958-20-55-6 Periodically, in conjunction with preparing its financial statements, 

University recognizes the change in its interest in the net assets of University 
Foundation, which would include the gift of nonfinancial assets received by the 
foundation (see paragraph 958-20-25-2). Because payments from University 
Foundation are due in future periods, the increase (or decrease) in University’s 
interest would be classified as a change in  net assets with donor restrictions to 

reflect the time restrictiontemporarily restricted net assets unless donors placed 
permanent restrictions on their gifts. When the dental supplies and other assets 
are distributed to it, University would recognize the assets received and decrease 
its interest in the net assets of University Foundation. 
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958-20-55-7 If, instead, University controlled University Foundation, University 

would be able to access at will any assets held by University Foundation. Implying 
a time restriction on the gifts held by University Foundation would be inappropriate. 
When recognizing the change in its interest in University Foundation, University 
would report the resulting net assets in the same net asset classifications as 
University Foundation. 

 
> > Example 2: Cash Gift to a Recipient Entity that Supports Three Affiliated 
NFPs 

 
958-20-55-8 This Example illustrates the guidance in paragraphs 958-20-15-2 and 

958-20-25-1 through 25-2. 
 

958-20-55-9 Corporation transfers cash to Healthcare Foundation and requests 

that Healthcare Foundation use the gift to provide healthcare benefits to the 
community. Healthcare Foundation’s bylaws state that it is organized for the 
purpose of stimulating voluntary financial support from donors for the benefit of 
Hospital, Nursing Home, and Walk-in Clinic, all of which are located in the 
community. Hospital, Nursing Home, Walk-in Clinic, and Healthcare Foundation 
are affiliates that are controlled by Healthcare System. 

 

958-20-55-10 Healthcare Foundation would recognize cash and {add glossary 
link}contribution{add glossary link} revenue that increases  net assets without 
donor restrictionsunrestricted net assets because Corporation did not specify 

a beneficiary for its gift. Healthcare Foundation can choose how to distribute the 
gift among the three affiliates (see paragraphs 958-605-55-76 through 55-77). 

 

958-20-55-11 Periodically, in conjunction with preparing their financial statements, 

Hospital, Nursing Home, and Walk-in Clinic recognize the changes in their 
interests in the net assets of Healthcare Foundation (see paragraph 958-20-25-2). 
When measuring its interest in Healthcare Foundation, each affiliate would include 

only the net assets of Healthcare Foundation that are restricted to that affiliate’s 
use. None of them would include in their individual interest the net assets resulting 
from the gift received from Corporation because Healthcare Foundation can 
choose how to distribute the gift among the three affiliates. Healthcare 
SystemSystem’s financial statements  would include the net assets resulting from 
the gift received from Corporation, as well as other changes in the net assets of 
Healthcare Foundation, in its interest in the net assets of the foundation. (An 
interest in the net assets of an affiliate would be eliminated if that affiliate were 
included in the consolidated financial statements of the interest holder.) 

 

958-20-55-12 If Healthcare Foundation, Hospital, Nursing Home, and Walk-in 

Clinic entered into an agreement that specified how unrestricted gifts without donor 
restrictions to Healthcare Foundation should be divided, each affiliate would also 
include its share of Healthcare Foundation’s net assets without donor 
restrictions,unrestricted net assets, computed in accordance with that 

agreement, when it measured its interest in Healthcare Foundation. Similarly, if 
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Healthcare System directed that unrestricted gifts without donor restrictions to 
Healthcare Foundation be distributed to the three affiliates in accordance with a 
specified formula, each affiliate would include its share of net assets without donor 
restrictionsunrestricted net assets, computed in accordance with that formula, 
when it measured its interest in Healthcare Foundation. 

 

958-20-55-13 If Corporation had specified that its gift be used for the benefit of 

Walk-in Clinic rather than giving without restriction, Healthcare Foundation would 
recognize {add glossary link}contribution{add glossary link} revenue that 
increases net assets with donor restrictionstemporarily restricted net assets 

because Hospital, Nursing Home, Walk-in Clinic, and Healthcare Foundation are 
financially interrelated entities (see paragraph 958-20-15-2). Their relationship 
meets both requirements of paragraph 958-20-25-1. Hospital, Nursing Home, and 
Walk-in Clinic can influence the financial and operating decisions of Healthcare 
Foundation because all four NFPs are under common control and the bylaws of 
Healthcare Foundation limit its activities to support of its three affiliates (see 
paragraph 958-20-15-2(a)). Hospital, Nursing Home, and Walk-in Clinic each have 
an ongoing economic interest in the net assets of Healthcare Foundation because 
their rights to the assets held by Healthcare Foundation are residual rights in an 
ongoing relationship (see paragraph 958-20-15-2(b)). Walk-in Clinic would include 
the net assets resulting from the gift received from Corporation in its interest in the 
net assets of Healthcare Foundation. 

 
> > Example 3: Cash Gift to a Foundation That Supports Two Unaffiliated 
NFPs 

 
958-20-55-14 This Example illustrates the guidance in paragraphs 958-20-15-2 

and 958-20-25-1 through 25-2. 
 

958-20-55-15 Individual transfers cash to Arts Foundation and specifies that the 

money be used to support the expenses of the ballet. Arts Foundation’s bylaws 
state that it is organized for the purpose of stimulating voluntary financial support 
from donors for the benefit of Community Ballet and Community Theater. At the 
time Arts Foundation was created, the three NFPs entered into an agreement that 
specifies that if a donor does not specify the NFP to which the gift should be 
transferred, the gift will be split equally between Community Ballet and Community 
Theater. The agreement also specifies that representatives from the three NFPs 
will meet annually and determine campaign priorities for the next year and the 
costs of operating Arts Foundation will be equally split between Community Ballet 
and Community Theater. Arts Foundation is not controlled by Community Ballet, 
Community Theater, or Individual. 

 

958-20-55-16 Arts Foundation would report assets and {add glossary 
link}contribution{add glossary link} revenue that increases net assets with 
donor restrictionstemporarily restricted net assets because donor-imposed 
restrictions  exist  and Community  Ballet and Arts  Foundation  are  financially 
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interrelated entities (see paragraph 958-20-25-1). Community Ballet has the ability 
to influence the operating and financial decisions of Arts Foundation because the 
agreement allows Community Ballet to participate in the policymaking processes 
of Arts Foundation (see paragraph 958-20-15-2(a)). The agreement also 
establishes Community Ballet’s rights as residual rights because it specifies how 
the revenues and expenses of Arts Foundation will be shared (see paragraph 958- 
20-15-2(b)). When Arts Foundation distributes assets to Community Ballet, it 
reduces its assets and recognizes an expense. 

 

958-20-55-17 Periodically, in conjunction with preparing their financial statements, 

Community Ballet and Community Theater recognize the changes in their interests 
in the net assets of Arts Foundation (see paragraph 958-20-25-2). Community 
Ballet would include the net assets resulting from the gift received from Individual 
in its interest in the net assets of Arts Foundation because Individual specified that 
the gift be used to support the ballet and Arts Foundation’s bylaws limit it to 
supporting Community Ballet. Community Ballet would also include in its interest 
all other gifts restricted to its benefit and its share of  net assets without donor 
restrictions because of the agreement among the three organizations that gifts to 

Arts Foundation that are not restricted be split equally between Community Ballet 
and Community Theaterunrestricted net assets. Because payments from Arts 
Foundation are due in future periods, the increase (or decrease) in Community 
Ballet’s interest would be classified as a change in   net assets with donor 
restrictions to reflect the time restrictiontemporarily restricted net assets unless 

donors placed permanent restrictions on their gifts (see paragraph 958-20-25-2). 
When assets are distributed to Community Ballet, it recognizes the assets received 
and decreases its interest in the net assets of Arts Foundation. 

 

Amendments to Subtopic 958-30 
 

9.      Amend paragraphs 958-30-45-1 through 45-5 and its related heading and 
paragraph 958-30-45-7, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Not-for-Profit Entities—Split-Interest Agreements 

 
Other Presentation Matters 

 
> Classification of Net Assets 

 
> > Upon Recognition 

 
958-30-45-1 Contribution revenues recognized under {add glossary link}split- 
interest agreements{add glossary link} shall be classified as increases in  net 
assets with donor restrictionstemporarily restricted net assets unless the 
donor gives the not-for-profit entity (NFP) the immediate right to use, without 
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restrictions, the assets it receives, in which case the contribution shall be classified 
as an increase in net assets without donor restrictions.either of the following 

conditions exist: 
 

a. Subparagraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X-XX. 
The donor has permanently restricted the not-for-profit entity’ s 
(NFP’s) 
use of its interest (lead or remainder) in the assets. If the donor has 
permanently restricted the NFP’s use of its interest, the contribution shall 
be classified as an increase in permanently restricted net assets. 

b. Subparagraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X-XX. 
The donor gives the NFP the immediate right to use without restrictions 
the assets it receives. If the NFP has the immediate right to use its interest 
without restrictions, the contribution shall be classified as an increase in 
unrestricted net assets. 

 

958-30-45-2 Under many charitable gift annuity agreements, the assets received 

from the donor are held by the NFP as part of its general assets and are available 
for its unrestrictedgeneral use. The {add glossary link}contribution{add glossary 
link} portion of a charitable gift annuity agreement shall be recognized as 
unrestricted supportrevenue without donor restrictions if both of the following 

criteria are met: 
 

a. The donor does not restrict the use of the assets contributed to the NFP. 
b. Neither the agreement nor state law requireslaws and regulations require 

the  assets  received  by  the  NFP  to  be  invested  until  the  income 
beneficiary’s death. Additional annuity reserves required by state laws, 
as described in paragraph 958-30-50-2, do not create donor restrictions. 

 

If either of those criteria isare not met, the contribution shall be classified as 
restricteddonor-restricted support that increases net assets with donor 
restrictions and shall be reclassified as net assets without donor restrictions 
when donor-imposed restrictions temporary restrictions or legal requirements 

are satisfied. 

 
> > Upon Subsequent Measurement 

 
958-30-45-3 During the term of the agreement, transactions and events that are 

recognized as changes in the value of split-interest agreements in a statement of 
activities shall be classified as temporarily restricted, permanently restricted, or 
unrestricted net assets,net assets with donor restrictions or net assets without 
donor restrictions depending on the classification used when the {add glossary 
link}contribution{add glossary link} revenue was recognized initially. 

 

958-30-45-4 Amounts shall be reclassified from net assets with donor 
restrictionstemporarily  restricted  net  assets  to   net  assets  without  donor 
restrictionsunrestricted net assets as distributions are received by the NFP under 
the terms of the split-interest agreement unless those assets are otherwise 
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temporarilyfurther restricted by the donor. In that case, they shall be reclassified to 
net assets without donor restrictionsunrestricted net assets when the restrictions 
expire. 

 

> > At Derecognition 
 

958-30-45-5 If assets previously distributed to the NFP become available for its 
unrestrictedgeneral use upon termination of the agreement,split-interest 
agreement, a reclassification of net assets shall be made from net assets with 
donor restrictions to net assets without donor restrictions but shall not be 

subsequently remeasuredappropriate amounts shall be reclassified from 
temporarily restricted to unrestricted net assets. 

 

> Presentation in the Statement of Financial Position 

 
958-30-45-6 Assets and liabilities recognized under split-interest agreements shall 

be reported separately from other assets and liabilities in a statement of financial 
position if not disclosed in the related notes. 

 
> Presentation in the Statement of Activities 

 
958-30-45-7 {add glossary link}Contribution{add glossary link} revenue and 

changes in the value of split-interest agreements recognized under such 
agreements shall be reported as separate line items in a statement of activities if 
not disclosed in the related notes. Paragraph 958-225-45-6 states that the 
classification of {remove glossary link}contributions{remove glossary link} 

received as revenues or gains depends on whether the transactions are part of the 
NFP’s ongoing major or central activities (revenues), or are peripheral or incidental 
to the NFP (gains). Contribution revenue and changes in the value of split-interest 
agreements also shall be classified as an operating activity or a nonoperating 
activity in the statement of activities depending on whether the revenue and 
support are available for current-period operations. See Section 958-225-45 for 
additional guidance. 

 

10.  Amend paragraphs 958-30-50-2 through 50-3, with a link to transition 
paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Disclosure 

 
958-30-50-1 The notes to financial statements shall include all of the following 
disclosures related to split-interest agreements: 

 

a. A description of the general terms of existing split-interest agreements 
b. Assets and liabilities recognized under split-interest agreements, if not 

reported separately from other assets and liabilities in a statement of 
financial position 
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c. The basis used (for example, cost, lower of cost or fair value, fair value) 

for recognized assets 
d. The discount rates and actuarial assumptions used, if present value 

techniques are used in reporting the assets and liabilities related to split- 
interest agreements 

e. Contribution  revenue  recognized  under  such  agreements,  if  not 
reported as a separate line item in a statement of activities 

f. Changes  in  the value of split-interest agreements  recognized,  if not 
reported as a separate line item in a statement of activities 

g. The  disclosures  required  by  the  Fair  Value  Option  Subsections  of 
Subtopic 825-10, if a not-for-profit entity (NFP) elects the fair value 

option pursuant to paragraph 958-30-35-2(b) or 958-30-35-2(c) 
h. The disclosures required by paragraphs 820-10-50-1 through 50-2 and 

820-10-50-2B through 50-2E in the format described in paragraph 820- 

10-50-8,  if  the  assets  and  liabilities  of  split-interest  agreements  are 
measured  at  fair  value  on  a  recurring  basis  in  periods  after  initial 
recognition. 

 

958-30-50-2 Additional annuity reserves may be required by the laws of the state 

where the NFP not-for-profit entity (NFP) is located or by the state where the donor 
resides. Legally mandated reserves shall be disclosed in the notes to financial 
statements. If state law imposes other limitations on the NFP, such as limitations 
on the manner in which some net assets are invested, those limitations also shall 
be disclosed in the notes to financial statements. 

 

958-30-50-3 In addition, some NFPs voluntarily set aside additional reserves as a 

cushion  againstfor  unexpected  actuarial  losses.  Voluntary  reserves  shall  be 
included as part of net assets without donor restrictionsunrestricted net 
assets, but may be disclosed as a separate component of board-designated net 
assets, such as board-designated unrestricted net assetson the face of the 

statement of financial position (see paragraph 958-210-55-3). If not provided on 
the face of the statement, the reserves set aside by the NFP’s governing board 
shall be disclosed in the notes in accordance with paragraph 958-210-50-3 to 
disclose information about the amounts and purposes of board designations of net 
assets without donor restrictions. 

 

11.  Amend paragraphs 958-30-55-4  and 958-30-55-30 and  supersede 
paragraph 958-30-55-5, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 
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Implementation Guidance and Illustrations 
 

958-30-55-1 This Section, which is an integral part of the requirements of this 
Subtopic, provides general guidance to be used in the recognition of split-interest 
agreements, particularly those with embedded derivatives. 

 
> Illustrations 

 
> > Example 1: Charitable Remainder Annuity Trust 

 
958-30-55-2 This Example illustrates the guidance in Sections 958-30-25 and 958- 

30-30 for initial recognition and measurement of a charitable remainder annuity 
trust. 

 

958-30-55-3 Not-for-Profit Entity A (NFP A) receives $100,000 in cash from a 

donor under a charitable remainder annuity trust agreement designating NFP A as 
the trustee and charitable remainder beneficiary—a donee. The terms of the trust 

agreement require that NFP A, as trustee, invest the trust assets and pay $5,000 
each year to an annuitant (an income beneficiary specified by the donor) for the 
remainder of the annuitant’s life. Upon death of the annuitant, NFP A may use its 
remainder interest for any purpose consistent with its mission. 

 

958-30-55-4 NFP A, as a donee, would recognize the contribution received as 

revenue in the period the trust is established. The transfer is partially an exchange 
transaction—an agreement for annuity payments to a beneficiary over time—and 
partially a contribution. The contribution received by NFP A is the unconditional 
right to receive the remainder interest of the annuity trust. The amount of the 
contribution received by NFP A is the fair value of the trust assets ($100,000 cash 

transferred) less the fair value of the estimated annuity payments (which is the 
present value of $5,000 to be paid annually over the expected life of the annuitant 
if present value techniques are used to measure fair value). Because NFP A must 
invest the underlying donated assets until the annuitant’s death, the revenue 
recognized for this type of contribution—temporarily restricted supportdonor- 
restricted support—should be distinguished from revenues from gifts that are 
reported in the net assets without donor restrictions categoryeither unrestricted 

or permanently restricted (see paragraph 958-605-45-3). The death of the 
annuitant determines when the required annuity payments cease and when the 
trust expires and effectively removes all restrictions on the net assets of NFP A, 
unless the agreement contains other donor restrictions that must be met (see 
paragraph 958-30-45-5). 

 

958-30-55-5  Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X-XX.If 

the terms of this agreement had specified that upon death of the annuitant NFP A 
is to use its remainder interest to establish a permanent endowment, the revenue 

would be recognized as permanently restricted support rather than temporarily 
restricted support. 
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> > Example 3: Sample Journal Entries 

 
958-30-55-30 This Example provides the following journal entries related to the 

guidance in Sections 958-30-25, 958-30-35, and 958-30-40. 

 
 

 
Assets Held by a Third Party 

Charitable lead trust 

Charitable remainder trust 

Assets Held by the NFP 

Charitable lead trust 

 
Charitable remainder trust 

Charitable gift annuity 

Creation of the Agreement 

Debit  Credit  Credit 

 
Beneficial interest in lead trust  Contribution  revenue 

(a) 

Beneficial interest in remainder trust  Contribution  revenue 
(a) 

Contribution  revenue 
(a)

 

Assets held in charitable lead trust  Liability for amounts held for others  Contribution  revenue 
(a)

 

 
Assets held in charitable remainder trust       Liability under trust agreement  Contribution  revenue 

(a)
 

Assets  Annuity payment liability  Contribution  revenue 
(a)

 

 
Pooled income fund 

 
Assets of pooled income fund  Discount for future interest (Deferred 

revenue) 

 
Contribution  revenue 

(a)
 

 
Investment Income and Changes in the Fair Value of Assets Held Under the Agreement 

(b)
 

Debit  Credit 

Assets Held by a Third Party 

Charitable lead trust 

Charitable remainder trust 

Assets Held by the NFP 

Charitable lead trust 

Charitable remainder trust 

Charitable gift annuity 

Pooled income fund 

 
No entry  No entry 

No entry  No entry 

 
Assets held in charitable lead trust  Liability for amounts held for others 

Assets held in charitable remainder trust  Liability under trust agreement 

Assets  Investment return 
(c)

 

Assets of pooled income fund  Liability to life beneficiary 
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Assets Held by a Third Party 

Charitable  lead trust 

Charitable  remainder  trust 

Assets Held by the NFP 

Charitable  lead trust 

Charitable  remainder  trust 

Charitable  gift annuity 

Pooled income fund 

Distribution to Holder of Lead Interest 

Debit  Credit 

 
Cash  Beneficial  interest in lead trust 

No entry  No entry 

 
Cash  Assets held in charitable  lead trust 

Liability under trust agreement  Assets held in charitable  remainder  trust 

Annuity payment liability  Cash 

Liability to life beneficiary  Assets of pooled income fund 

 

 
Reclassification of Amounts  Distributed to Holder of Lead Interest When All Restrictions Are Met 

Debit  Credit 

Assets Held by a Third Party 

Charitable  lead trust 

 
Temporarily restricted net assetsNet 

assets with donor restrictions-- 

Reclassifications out 

 
Unrestricted net assetsNet  assets without 

donor restrictions-- 

Reclassifications in 

Charitable  remainder  trust 

Assets Held by the NFP 

Not applicable  Not applicable 

Charitable  lead trust Temporarily restricted net assetsNet 

assets with donor restrictions-- 

Reclassifications out 

Unrestricted net assetsNet  assets without 

donor restrictions-- 

Reclassifications in 

Charitable  remainder  trust 

Charitable  gift annuity 

Pooled income fund 

Not applicable                                                       Not applicable 

Not applicable                                                       Not applicable 

Not applicable                                                       Not applicable 

 

[Because the remainder of this paragraph is unchanged, it is not shown 
here.] 

 
Amendments to Subtopic 958-205 

 
12.   Amend paragraphs 958-205-05-5 through 05-6A and 958-205-05-8 through 
05-10, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Not-for-Profit Entities—Presentation of Financial Statements 

 
Overview and Background 

 
> A Complete Set of Financial Statements 

 
958-205-05-5 General-purpose external financial statements provided by an NFP 

include a statement of financial position, a statement of activities, and a statement 
of cash flows.In addition, voluntary health and welfare entities provide a statement 
of functional expenses, which is useful in associating expenses with service efforts 
and accomplishments of NFPs. Individual financial statements provide different 
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information, and the information each statement provides generally complements 
information in other financial statements. 

 

958-205-05-6 General-purpose financial statements classify and report net assets 
in three two groups—net assets with donor restrictions and net assets without 
donor restrictionspermanently restricted, temporarily restricted, and 
unrestricted—based on the existence or absence of {add glossary link}donor- 
imposed restrictions{add glossary link}and the nature of those restrictions. 

 

958-205-05-6A The guidance in the Not-for-Profit Entities Topic uses certain 

statement titles and the terms net assets without donor restrictions and net assets 
with donor restrictionspermanently restricted, temporarily restricted, and 
unrestricted net assets. Other titles and other labels may also be used, as 
illustrated inpursuant to paragraphs 958-205-55-2 and 958-210-55-3. 

 

958-205-05-7 The Not-for-Profit Entities Topic does not use the terms fund balance 

or changes in fund balances because in current practice those terms are 
commonly used to refer to individual groups of assets and related liabilities rather 
than to an entity’s net assets or changes in net assets taken as a whole. While 
reporting by fund groups is not a necessary part of external financial reporting, 
paragraph 958-205-45-3 does not preclude providing disaggregated information 
by fund groups. 

 
> Reporting Endowment Funds 

 
958-205-05-8 Laws concerning use of net appreciation of endowment funds that 

are donor-restricted may vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. For example, some 
jurisdictions follow trust law, and others most jurisdictions follow an enacted 
versionversions of either the Uniform Management of Institutional Funds Act or the 
Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act of 2006 (including 
interpretations of the lawthose laws issued by state Attorneys General) and some 
jurisdictions follow trust law. 

 

958-205-05-9 Because donor stipulations and laws vary, NFPs must assess the 

relevant facts and circumstances for their endowment gifts and their relevant laws 
to determine the classification of endowment funds within the NFP financial 
reporting model (see paragraph 958-205-45-2), including whether net 
appreciationsome or all of the investment return on endowments is available for 
spendingor is permanently restricted. A donor-imposed restriction that limits the 
use of some or all of the investment return of endowment funds would require 
that those returns be classified as net assets with donor restrictions. 

 

958-205-05-10 Subsection 4(a) of the Uniform Prudent Management of 

Institutional Funds Act of 2006 provides that, unless stated otherwise in the gift 
instrument, the assets in an endowment fund are donor-restricted assets until 
appropriated for expenditure by the institution. For related guidance, see 
paragraphs 958-205-45-13 through 45-13F.paragraph 958-205-45-31. 
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13.   Amend paragraphs 958-205-45-1 through 45-2, 958-205-45-4, 958-205-45- 
6 and its related heading, and 958-205-45-9 through 45-13, add paragraphs 958- 
205-45-13A through 45-13J, and supersede paragraphs 958-205-45-14 through 

45-19 and 958-205-45-21 through 45-35 and their related headings, with a link to 
transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Other Presentation Matters 

 
958-205-45-1 This Subtopic specifies certain basic information to be reported in 
financial statements of not-for-profit entities (NFPs). The requirements generally 

are no more stringent than requirements for business entities. The degree of 
aggregation and order of presentation of items of assets and liabilities in 
statements of financial position or of items of revenues and expenses in 
statements of activities of NFPs, although not specified, generally should be similar 
to those required or permitted for business entities. Particular formats for a 
statement of financial position, a statement of activities, or a statement of cash 
flows, are neither prescribed nor prohibited in part because similar prescriptions 
and proscriptions do not exist for business entities. 

 

958-205-45-2 The usefulness of information provided by financial statements of 

NFPs can be vastly improved if certain basic information is classified in 
comparable ways. All  NFPs shall do all of the following: 

 

a. Report assets and liabilities in reasonably homogeneous groups and 
sequence or classify them in ways that provide relevant information about 
their interrelationships, liquidity, and financial flexibility. 

b. Classify  and   report  net  assets  in  threetwo  groups—permanently 
restricted, temporarily restricted, and unrestrictednet assets with donor 
restrictions and net assets without donor restrictions—based on the 
existence or absence of {add glossary link}donor-imposed 
restrictions{add glossary link}and the nature of those restrictions. 

Information about the nature and amount of restrictions imposed by 
donors on the use of contributed assets, including their potential effects 
on specific assets and on liabilities or classes of net assets, shall be 
disclosed in accordance with paragraph 958-210-50-3, because it is 
helpful in assessing the financial flexibility of an NFP. 

c. Aggregate  items  of  revenues,  expenses,  gains,  and  losses  into 
reasonably homogeneous groups and classify and report them as 
increases or decreases in net assets with donor restrictions or net assets 
without donor restrictionspermanently restricted, temporarily restricted, or 
unrestricted net assets. 

cc.  Classify and report all items of revenues, expenses, gains, losses, and 
other changes in net assets on the statement of activities either inside or 
outside the operating section of the statement of activities. The operating 
section would report all changes in resources (net assets) that result from 
or are directed at carrying out an NFP’s purpose for existence (mission 
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dimension) and are  available for current-period  activities (availability 
dimension). See paragraph 958-225-45-8A. 

d. Classify  and  report  cash  receipts  and  cash  payments  as  investing, 

financing, or operating cash flowsresulting from investing, financing, or 
operating activities. 

 

958-205-45-3 Reporting by fund groups is not a necessary part of external financial 

reporting; however, this Subtopic does not preclude providing disaggregated 
information by fund groups. 

 
> Complete Set of Financial Statements 

 
958-205-45-4 A complete set of financial statements of an NFP shall include a 

statement of financial position as of the end of the reporting period, a statement of 
activities and a statement of cash flows for the reporting period, and accompanying 
notes to financial statements. In addition, a voluntary health and welfare entity 

shall provide a statement of functional expenses. 
 

958-205-45-5 A set of financial statements shall include, either in the body of 

financial statements or in the accompanying notes, that information required by 
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) that do not specifically exempt 
NFPs and required by applicable specialized accounting and reporting principles 
and practices. 

 
> Statement of Functional Expenses  Reporting of Expenses by Nature and 

Function 
 

958-205-45-6  A statement of functional expenses Reporting expenses by nature 

and function is useful in associating expenses with service efforts and 
accomplishments of NFPs. All NFPs Voluntary health and welfare entities shall 
report information about all expenses in one location—on the face of the statement 
of activities, as a schedule in the notes to financial statements, or in a separate 
financial statement. Operating expenses shall be presented by their functional 
classes (functional expense classification), such as major classes of program 
services and supporting activities, as well as information about expenses by 
their natural classification (natural expense classification), such as salaries, 

rent, electricity, interest expense, depreciation, awards and grants to others, and 
professional fees. Nonoperating expenses (for example, interest and other 
financing expenses) are neither required to be nor precluded from being reported 
by function. fees, in a matrix format in a separate financial statement—the 
statement of functional expenses. Pursuant to paragraph 958-720-45-16, other 
NFPs are encouraged but not required to provide information about expenses by 
their natural classification. To the extent that expenses are reported by other than 
their natural classification (such as salaries included in cost of goods sold or facility 
rental costs of special events reported as direct benefits to donors), they shall be 
reported  by  their  natural  classification  in  the  functional  expense  analysisif  a 



44 

 

 

 
 

statement of functional expenses is presented. For example, salaries, wages, and 
fringe benefits that are included as part of the cost of goods sold on the statement 
of activities shall be included with other salaries, wages, and fringe benefits in the 
statement of functional expensesanalysis. External and direct internal investment 
expenses that have been netted against investment return need not be included in 
the functional expense analysis. However, an NFP shall disclose the amount of 
internal salaries and benefits related to those investment activities, if any, that have 
been netted against investment return. See paragraph 958-205-55-21 for an 
example that illustrates the reporting of expenses by nature and function. In 
addition, expenses that are netted against investment revenues shall be reported 
by their functional classification on the statement of functional expenses (if the 

NFP presents that statement). 
 

> Expirations of Donor-Imposed Restrictions 

 
958-205-45-9 An NFP shall recognize the expiration of a donor-imposed 
restriction on a contribution in the period in which the restriction expires. A 

restriction expires when the stipulated time has elapsed, when the stipulated 
purpose for which the resource was restricted has been fulfilled, or both. If two or 
more  temporarydonor-imposed   restrictions  that  are  temporary  in  nature  are 
imposed on a contribution, the effect of the expiration of those restrictions shall be 
recognized in the period in which the last remaining restriction has expired. 

 

958-205-45-10 For example, a gift of a term endowment that is to be invested for 
five years shall be recognized as  donor-restricted supportrestricted support 

(revenue or gain) in the period it is received. In Year 5, when that term endowment 
becomes  unrestrictedis  no  longer  donor-restricted,  a   reclassification  of  net 
assetsreclassification shall be reported as an operating activity in the statement 
of    activities     to    reflect    the    decrease    in     net    assets    with    donor 
restrictionstemporarily restricted net assets and the increase in  net assets 
without donor restrictionsunrestricted net assets. Thus, the related effects of 

that time-restricted gift shall be reported outside of operations in the period of 
receipt as well asand as an operating activity through a reclassification of net 
assets in the period in which the nature of the restriction changesexpires. 

 

958-205-45-11 If an expense is incurred for a purpose for which both  net assets 
without donor restrictionsunrestricted and net assets with donor 
restrictionstemporarily restricted net assets are available, a {add glossary 
link}donor-imposed restriction{add glossary link} is fulfilled to the extent of the 

expense incurred unless the expense is for a purpose that is directly attributable 
to another specific external source of revenue. For example, an expense does not 
fulfill an existing donor restriction if that expense is incurred for a purpose that is 
directly attributable to and reimbursed by a sponsored exchange agreement or a 
conditional award from a government agency, private foundation, or others. 
Temporarily restricted net assets with time restrictions are not available to support 
expenses until the time restrictions have expired. Explicit time restrictions, such as 
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those discussed in paragraph 958-205-45-10, and implied time restrictions, such 
as those discussed in paragraphs 958-605-45-5 and 958-205-45-13D, make net 
assets unavailable to support expenses until the time restrictions have expired. 

 

958-205-45-12  Time restrictions implied on gifts of long-lived assets pursuant to 

paragraph 958-605-45-6 expire as the economic benefits of the acquired assets 
are used up; that is, over their estimated useful lives. In the absence of donor 
stipulations specifying how long donated assets must be used or an NFP’s policy 
of implying time restrictions,Unless donor stipulations limit the use of the assets 
for a period of time or a particular purpose, donor restrictions on long-lived assets, 
if any, or cash to acquire long-lived assets expireare considered to have expired 
when the assets are placed in service. 

 
> Reporting Endowment Funds 

 
958-205-45-13 Endowment funds can be either with donor restrictions or without 
donor restrictions. Those without donor restrictions are referred to as board- 
designated endowment funds (sometimes called funds functioning as 
endowment or quasi-endowment funds). A board-designated endowment fund 
is created when a governing board designates or earmarks a portion of its net 
assets without donor restrictions to be invested, generally for a long but 

possibly unspecified period of time. Endowment funds with donor restrictions are 
referred to as donor-restricted endowment funds. A donor-restricted 

endowment fund results from a gift with a stipulation that those resources be 
invested either for a long, specified period of time or in perpetuity.A donor’s 
stipulation that requires a gift to be invested in perpetuity or for a specified term 
creates a donor-restricted endowment fund. Alternatively, an NFP’s governing 
board may earmark a portion of its unrestricted net assets as a board-designated 
endowment (sometimes called funds functioning as endowment or quasi- 
endowment funds) to be invested to provide income for a long but unspecified 

period. 
 

958-205-45-13A In accordance with paragraph 958-210-45-1, an NFP shall report 

the net assets of an endowment fund in a statement of financial position within the 
following two classes of net assets on the basis of the existence or absence of 
donor-imposed restrictions: 

 

a.  Net assets with donor restrictions. For example, a permanent 

endowment and a term endowment would be classified as net assets with 
donor restrictions. In rare circumstances, an NFP may not be able to fully 
expend donor-restricted contributions in the near term, and, therefore, the 
governing board may consider long-term investment of those donor- 
restricted resources. 

b.    Net  assets  without  donor  restrictions.  For  example,  a  board- 
designated endowment fund, which results from an internal designation 
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of net assets without donor restrictions, would be classified as net assets 
without donor restrictions. 

 

958-205-45-13B When classifying a donor-restricted endowment fund, 

consideration shall be given to both the donor’s explicit stipulations and applicable 
laws that extend donor restrictions. Investment return generally is considered free 
of donor restrictions unless its use is limited by a donor-imposed restriction or 
by law. In the United States, most donor-restricted endowment funds are subject 

to an enacted version of the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds 
Act of 2006 (UPMIFA) that extends a donor’s restriction to use of the funds, 

including the investment return, until appropriated for expenditure by the governing 
board. Thus, if a donor or law imposes a restriction on the investment return, those 
returns shall be reported within net assets with donor restrictions until 

appropriated for expenditure. Conversely, for an endowment fund that is created 
by a governing board from net assets without donor restrictions (board- 
designated endowment fund), that original fund and all investment returns are 

free of donor restrictions and shall be reported in the net assets without donor 
restrictions. 

 

958-205-45-13C Paragraphs 958-205-45-13D through 45-13F provide guidance 
for classification of net assets of donor-restricted endowment funds for NFPs 
that follow an enacted version of UPMIFA. 

 

958-205-45-13D Donor-restricted endowment funds generally result from a 

donor’s stipulation or by extension of a donor restriction imposed through UPMIFA 
that limits an NFP’s use of net assets of an endowment fund. The original gifted 
amount, any additional gifts to that fund, and any resulting investment returns shall 
initially be classified as net assets with donor restrictions. Therefore, unless stated 
otherwise in the gift instrument, the assets in an endowment fund are donor- 
restricted assets until appropriated for expenditure by the NFP’s governing board. 

 

958-205-45-13E The amount of net assets with donor restrictions is reduced by 
appropriations for expenditure from the donor-restricted endowment fund. Upon 

appropriation for expenditure, the time restriction expires to the extent of the 
amount appropriated and, in the absence of any purpose restrictions on the use of 
the appropriated returns, results in a reclassification of net assets of that amount 
from net assets with donor restrictions to net assets without donor restrictions. 

However, if a restricted purpose also exists, the reclassification of net assets shall 
not occur until that purpose restriction also has been met, in accordance with 
paragraph 958-205-45-9. 

 

958-205-45-13F In the absence of interpretation of the phrase appropriated for 

expenditure in subsection 4(a) of the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional 
Funds Act of 2006 UPMIFA (see paragraph 958-205-05-10) by legal or regulatory 
authorities (for example, court decisions or interpretations by state attorneys 
general), for purposes of the guidance in this Subtopic, appropriation for 
expenditure is deemed to occur upon approval for expenditure, unless approval is 
for a future period, in which case appropriation is deemed to occur when that period 
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is reached. Approval for expenditure may occur through different means within and 
across NFPs. For example, expenditures could be approved as part of a formal, 
annual budget. Expenditures also could be approved during the year as 
unexpected needs arise (such as for emergency relief efforts). Upon appropriation 
for expenditure, the time restriction expires to the extent of the amount 
appropriated and, in the absence of any purpose restrictions, results in a 
reclassification of that amount to unrestricted net assets. If the fund is also subject 
to a purpose restriction, the reclassification of the appropriated amount to 
unrestricted net assets shall not occur until that purpose restriction also has been 
met, in accordance with the guidance beginning in paragraph 958-205-45-9. 
[Content amended as shown and moved from paragraph 958-205-45-31] 

 

958-205-45-13G For donor-restricted endowment funds that are subject to trust 

law, it generally is understood that at least the amount of the original gift(s) and 
any gains or net appreciation of the fund is not considered to be available for 
expenditure. Generally, interest, dividends, rents, or other forms of ordinary 
income are available for spending and are classified as net assets without donor 
restrictions unless a purpose or other donor restriction exists on use of the 

investment income. 
 

958-205-45-13H If a donor-restricted endowment fund is an underwater 
endowment fund, the accumulated losses shall be included together with that 

fund in the donor-restricted net asset class. An NFP shall disclose the required 
information in accordance with paragraph 958-205-50-2. 

 

958-205-45-13I See Note E of Example 1 (paragraph 958-205-55-21) for an 

illustrative disclosure about endowment funds and investment management. 
 

958-205-45-13J See Example 1 (paragraph 958-205-55-2) for an illustration of a 
statement of activities, showing support from both a donor-restricted endowment 
fund and a board-designated endowment fund, along with a balance sheet, 

statement of cash flows, and example notes for an NFP. 
 

958-205-45-14 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X-XX. 
When classifying an endowment fund, each source—original gift, gains and 

losses, and interest and dividends—must be evaluated separately. Each source is 
unrestricted unless its use is temporarily or permanently restricted by explicit donor 
stipulations or by law. Thus, an endowment fund that is created by a governing 
board from unrestricted net assets is classified as unrestricted because all three 
sources are free of donor restrictions. If an endowment fund is created by a donor, 
the donor may have placed different restrictions on each of the three sources. 
Generally, classification of the original gifts and the income earned by endowments 
is straightforward because usually donors explicitly state any time or purpose 
restrictions on those two sources. Determining how to classify gains on 
endowments may not be as easy because agreements with donors often are silent 
on how gains should be used and whether losses must be restored immediately 
from future gains, or not at all. See paragraphs 958-205-45-16 through 45-21. 
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> > Net Assets of an Endowment Fund 
 

958-205-45-15 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.Pursuant to paragraph 958-210-45-1, an NFP shall report the net assets of an 
endowment fund in a statement of financial position within the three classes of net 
assets based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions: 

 

a.   Permanently restricted net assets. For example, the portion of a 
permanent endowment that must be maintained permanently—not 

used up, expended, or otherwise exhausted—is classified as 
permanently restricted net assets. 

b.   Temporarily restricted net assets. For example, the portion of a term 
endowment that must be maintained for a specified term is classified as 
temporarily restricted net assets. 

c.    Unrestricted net assets. For example, a board-designated endowment 
fund, which results from an internal designation on unrestricted net 
assets, is not donor restricted and is classified as unrestricted net assets. 

 

958-205-45-15A  Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.  Paragraphs 958-205-45-16 through 45-27 provide guidance for classification 
of net assets of donor-restricted endowment funds. In addition, see paragraphs 
958-205-45-28 through 45-32 for guidance on classification of donor-restricted 

endowment funds in states with law based on the Uniform Prudent Management 
of Institutional Funds Act of 2006 or paragraphs 958-205-45-33 through 45-36 in 
states with law based on trust law or the Uniform Management of Institutional 
Funds Act of 1972. 

 

> > Net Appreciation (Net Gains) of Endowment Funds 
 

958-205-45-16 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.Restricted net assets result only from a donor’s stipulation that limits an NFP’s 
use of net assets or from a law that extends the donor’s stipulation to 
enhancements (including holding gains) and diminishments of those net assets. 

 

958-205-45-17 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.Thus, unless gains and losses are temporarily or permanently restricted by a 
donor’s explicit stipulation or by a law that extends a donor’s restriction to them, 
gains and losses on investments of a donor-restricted endowment fund are 
changes in unrestricted net assets. 

 

958-205-45-18 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.For example, if a donor stipulates that net gains be added to the principal of its 
gift until that endowed gift plus accumulated gains increases to a specified dollar 
level, the gains are permanently restricted. Similarly, if a donor states that a 
specific investment security must be held in perpetuity, the gains and losses on 
that security are subject to that same permanent restriction unless the donor 

specifies otherwise. However, if a donor allows the NFP to choose suitable 
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investments, the gains are not permanently restricted unless the donor or the law 
requires that an amount be retained permanently. Instead, those gains are 
unrestricted if the investment income is unrestricted or are temporarily restricted if 
the investment income is temporarily restricted by the donor. 

 

958-205-45-19 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.If net gains are available for use by the NFP, those gains are not permanently 
restricted and classifying those gains as permanently restricted would be 
misleading. 

 

958-205-45-20 Paragraph not used. 
 

958-205-45-21 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.If the governing board determines that the relevant law requires the NFP to 
retain permanently some portion of gains on investment assets of endowment 
funds, that amount shall be reported as an increase in permanently restricted net 
assets. 

 

958-205-45-21A  Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.If an NFP is subject to a law or regulation that its governing board interprets as 
requiring the maintenance of purchasing power for donor-restricted endowment 
funds, then the NFP shall periodically adjust the amount in permanently restricted 
net assets to reflect that interpretation. Under those circumstances, an NFP shall 
use the inflation (deflation) index (or indexes) that it deems most relevant for 
adjusting the permanently restricted net assets of the funds (for example, the 
Consumer Price Index or the Higher Education Price Index). [Content amended 
and moved to paragraph 958-205-50-1C] 

 
> > Losses of an Endowment Fund 

 

958-205-45-22 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.In the absence of donor stipulations or law to the contrary, losses on the 
investments of a donor-restricted endowment fund shall reduce temporarily 
restricted net assets to the extent that donor-imposed temporary restrictions on net 
appreciation of the fund have not been met before the loss occurs. Any remaining 
loss shall reduce unrestricted net assets. 

 

958-205-45-23 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.The classification of losses on investments of an endowment fund created by 
a board designation of unrestricted funds is straightforward; the losses are 
classified as reductions in unrestricted net assets because all sources of that 
endowment fund—original amount, gains and losses, and interest and dividends— 
are free of donor restrictions. 

 

958-205-45-24 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.If losses reduce the assets of a donor-restricted endowment fund below the 
level required by the donor stipulations or law, gains that restore the fair value of 
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the assets of the endowment fund to the required level shall be classified as 
increases in unrestricted net assets. 

 

958-205-45-25 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.See Example 2 (paragraph 958-205-55-22) for a four-year illustration showing 
the contributions, investment income, and investment gains and losses of a 

donor-restricted endowment fund. 
 

958-205-45-26 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.See Note E of Example 1 (paragraph 958-205-55-21) for an encouraged 

disclosure about endowment funds and investment management. 
 

958-205-45-27 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.See Example 1 (paragraph 958-320-55-4) for an illustration of a statement of 
activities and example notes for an NFP that separates investment return into 
operating and nonoperating amounts based on a spending-rate or total return 

policy for managing its endowment funds. 

 
> > > Classification of Donor-Restricted Endowment Funds Subject to 

UPMIFA 

 
958-205-45-28 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.An NFP that is subject to an enacted version of the Uniform Prudent 
Management of Institutional Funds Act of 2006 (UPMIFA) shall classify a portion 

of a donor-restricted endowment fund of perpetual duration as permanently 
restricted net assets. The amount classified as permanently restricted shall be 
either: 

 

a.    The amount of the fund that must be retained permanently in accordance 
with explicit donor stipulations (see paragraphs 958-605-45-3 through 
45-4) 

b.    The amount of the fund that, in the absence of explicit donor stipulations, 

the NFP’s governing board determines must be retained (preserved) 
permanently consistent with the relevant law (see paragraph 958-205-45- 
21). 

 

For implementation guidance on understanding legal requirements, see paragraph 

958-205-55-1. 
 

958-205-45-29 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.Consistent with the guidance in paragraphs 958-205-45-17 through 45-18 and 
paragraph 958-205-45-22, the portion of a donor-restricted endowment fund that 
is classified as permanently restricted net assets is not reduced by losses on the 
investments of the fund, except to the extent required by the donor, including 
losses related to specific investments that the donor requires the NFP to hold in 
perpetuity. Likewise, the amount of permanently restricted net assets is not 
reduced by an NFP’s appropriations from the fund. 
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958-205-45-30 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.For each donor-restricted endowment fund for which the restriction described 
in subsection 4(a) of the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act 
of 2006 applies (see paragraph 958-205-05-10), an NFP shall classify the portion 
of the fund that is not classified as permanently restricted net assets as temporarily 
restricted net assets (time restricted) until appropriated for expenditure by the NFP. 

 

958-205-45-31 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.In the absence of interpretation of the phrase appropriated for expenditure in 

subsection 4(a) of the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act of 
2006 (see paragraph 958-205-05-10) by legal or regulatory authorities (for 
example,  court  decisions  or  interpretations  by  state  attorneys  general),  for 
purposes of the guidance in this Subtopic, appropriation for expenditure is deemed 
to occur upon approval for expenditure, unless approval is for a future period, in 
which case appropriation is deemed to occur when that period is reached. 
Approval for expenditure may occur through different means within and across 

NFPs. For example, expenditures could be approved as part of a formal, annual 
budget. Expenditures also could be approved during the year as unexpected 
needs arise (such as for emergency relief efforts). Upon appropriation for 
expenditure, the time restriction expires to the extent of the amount appropriated 
and, in the absence of any purpose restrictions, results in a reclassification of that 
amount to unrestricted net assets. If the fund is also subject to a purpose 
restriction, the reclassification of the appropriated amount to unrestricted net 
assets shall not occur until that purpose restriction also has been met, in 
accordance with the guidance beginning in paragraph 958-205-45-9. [Content 
amended and moved to paragraph 958-205-45-13F] 

 
> > > > Initial Application 

 

958-205-45-32 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.In initially applying the guidance in this Subtopic to a donor-restricted 
endowment fund in existence when an enacted version of the Uniform Prudent 
Management of Institutional Funds Act of 2006 is first effective: 

 

a.    The NFP shall report any resulting net asset reclassification in a separate 
line item within the NFP’s statement of activities for that period, outside 
the performance indicator or other intermediate measure of operations, if 
one is presented. 

b.  Any amounts within a donor-restricted endowment fund that were 
previously considered available to meet a purpose restriction under the 

guidance in paragraph 958-205-45-11, but that have never been 
appropriated for expenditure, shall, like other unappropriated amounts in 
that fund, be considered unavailable until appropriated, and, therefore, 
the purpose restriction previously considered fulfilled shall be considered 

reinstated. 
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> > Classification of Donor-Restricted Endowment Funds Subject to Trust 

Law or to Uniform Management Institutional Funds Act of 1972 
 

958-205-45-33 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.In states that have enacted a version of the Uniform Management of 
Institutional Funds Act of 1972 (UMIFA) or states whose relevant law is based on 

trust law, it is generally understood that at least the amount of the original gift(s) 
and any required accumulations is not expendable, although the value of the 
investments purchased may occasionally fall below that amount. Future 
appreciation of the investments generally restores the value to the required level. 
In states that have enacted its provisions, the Uniform Management of Institutional 
Funds Act of 1972 describes “historic dollar value” as the amount that is not 
expendable. 

 

958-205-45-34 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.In the absence of a law or a donor’s explicit or clear implicit permanent 
restriction, net appreciation shall be reported as unrestricted if the endowment’s 
income is unrestricted or temporarily restricted if the endowment’s income is 
temporarily restricted by the donor. Decisions about when to spend resources 
generally do not bear on the issue, which is whether the resources are available 
for spending. A restriction expires when an expense is incurred for the restricted 
purpose, regardless of whether an amount is appropriated. 

 

958-205-45-35 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.Legal limitations may require the governing board to act to appropriate net 
appreciation for expenditure under a statutorily prescribed standard of ordinary 
business care and prudence. Reference to a standard of ordinary business care 
and prudence does not extend a donor-imposed restriction to the net appreciation 
on investments of a donor restricted endowment fund. A requirement to exercise 
ordinary business care and prudence is not a limitation that is more specific than 
the broad limits of the environment in which charitable and other NFPs operate. 
Thus, a legal limitation that requires that a governing board exercise ordinary 
business care and prudence when appropriating net appreciation is not the 
equivalent of a law that extends a donor-imposed restriction and, therefore, by 
itself, does not result in classification of net appreciation as donor-restricted, either 
permanently or temporarily. 

 

14.   Amend paragraphs 958-205-50-1B through 50-2 and 958-205-50-4, add 
paragraph 958-205-50-1C, and supersede paragraph 958-205-50-2A, with a link 
to transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Disclosure 

 
> Nature of the Not-for-Profit Entity’s Activities 
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958-205-50-1 The financial statements shall provide a description of the nature of 
the not-for-profit entity’s (NFP’s) activities, including a description of each of its 

major classes of programs. If not provided in the notes to financial statements, the 
description can be presented on the statement of activities (for example, using 
column headings). 

 
> Reporting Endowment Funds 

 
958-205-50-1A An NFP shall disclose information to enable users of financial 

statements to understand all of the following about its endowment funds (both 

donor restricted and board designated): 
 

a. Net asset classification 
b. Net asset composition 
c. Changes in net asset composition 
d. Spending policies 
e. Related investment policies. 

 

958-205-50-1B At a minimum, an NFP shall disclose all of the following information 

for each period for which it presents financial statements: 
 

a. A description of the governing board’s interpretation of the law or laws 
that underlie the NFP’s net asset classification of donor-restricted 
endowment funds, including its interpretation on the ability to spend from 
underwater endowment funds. 

b. A description of the NFP’s policy or policies for the appropriation of 
endowment assets for expenditure (its endowment spending policy or 
policies), including its policy to either reduce expenditure or not spend 
from underwater endowment funds, if any, and if this policy was followed. 

c. A description of the NFP’s endowment investment policies, including all 
of the following: 
1. Return objectives and risk parameters 

2. How return objectives relate to the NFP’s endowment spending 
policy or policies 

3. The strategies employed for achieving return objectives. 
d. The composition of the NFP’s endowment by net asset class at the end 

of the period, in total and by type of endowment fund, showing {add 
glossary link}donor-restricted endowment funds{add glossary link} 
separately from {add glossary link}board-designated endowment 
funds{add glossary link}. 

e. A  reconciliation  of  the  beginning  and  ending  balance  of  the  NFP’s 
endowment, in total and by net asset class, including, at a minimum, all 
of the following line items that apply: 
1. Investment return, netseparated into both of the following: 

i.  Investment income (for example, interest, dividends, rents) 
ii.    Net appreciation or depreciation of investments. 
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2. {add glossary link}Contributions{add glossary link} 

3. Amounts appropriated for expenditure 
4. Reclassification of net assets Reclassifications 

5. Other changes. 
 

958-205-50-1C If an NFP is subject to a donor restriction or applicable lawslaw or 

regulation that its governing board interprets as requiring the maintenance of 
purchasing power for {add glossary link}donor-restricted endowment funds{add 
glossary link}, then the NFP shall periodically adjust the disclosure  amount that 

is required to be maintained either by the donor or by lawin permanently restricted 
net assets to reflect that interpretation to maintain the purchasing power of the 
endowment fund in perpetuity. Under those circumstances, an NFP shall use the 
inflation (deflation) index (or indexes) that it deems most relevant for adjusting that 
amountthe permanently restricted net assets of the funds (for example, the 
Consumer Price Index or the Higher Education Price Index). [Content amended 
as shown and moved from paragraph 958-205-45-21A] 

 

958-205-50-2 For each period for which a statement of financial position is 

presented, an NFP shall disclose each of the following, in the aggregate, for all 
underwater endowment funds:the aggregate amount of the deficiencies for all 
donor-restricted endowment funds for which the fair value of the assets at the 

reporting date is less than the level required by donor stipulations or law. 
 

a.    The fair value of the underwater endowment funds 
b.    The  original  endowment  gift  amount  or  level  required  by  donor 

stipulations or by law that extends donor restrictions 

c.    The aggregate of the amount of the deficiencies of each of the underwater 
endowment funds ((a) less (b)). 

 

958-205-50-2A  Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.Example 3 (see paragraph 958-205-55-31) and Example 4 (see paragraph 
958-205-55-52) illustrate the application of the disclosure requirements in 
paragraphs 958-205-50-1A through 50-2. 

 

> Ratio of Fundraising Expenses to Amounts Raised 

 
958-205-50-3 If an NFP discloses in its financial statements a ratio of fundraising 

expenses to amounts raised, it also shall disclose how it computes that ratio. 

 
> Comparative Financial Statements 

 
958-205-50-4 If the prior year’s financial information is summarized and does not 

include the minimum information required by the Not-for-Profit Entities Topic (for 
example, if the statement of activities does not present revenues, expenses, gains, 
and losses by net asset class), the nature of the prior-year information shall be 

described by the use of appropriate titles on the face of the financial statements 
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and in a note to financial statements (see paragraph 958-205-45-8). See Example 
3 (paragraph 958-205-55-31) for an illustration of this disclosure requirement. 

 

15.   Amend paragraphs 958-205-55-1 through 55-2, 958-205-55-5 through 55-7, 
958-205-55-9 through 55-13, 958-205-55-18 through 55-19, 958-205-55-21, 958- 
205-55-32, 958-205-55-36 through 55-39, 958-205-55-41, 958-205-55-47, 958- 
205-55-49 through 55-50, and 958-205-55-52, add paragraphs 958-205-55-21A 
through 55-21G, and supersede paragraphs 958-205-55-14 through 55-17, 958- 

205-55-20, 958-205-55-22 through 55-30 and their related heading, 958-205-55- 
33 through 55-35, 958-205-55-40, 958-205-55-42 through 55-46, 958-205-55-48, 
and 958-205-55-53, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Implementation Guidance and Illustrations 

 
> Implementation Guidance 

 
> > Understanding Legal Requirements 

 
958-205-55-1 This paragraph provides implementation guidance on the 

application of paragraphs 958-205-45-13C through 45-13F.paragraph 958-205- 
45-28. How an enacted version of theEnacted versions of the Uniform Prudent 
Management of Institutional Funds Act of 2006 vary across jurisdictions, so an 
NFP  would  have  to  assess  the  specific  law  applicable  to  its  ope rations  for 
guidancewill be interpreted and enforced in a particular state will become clearer 
with the passage of time. Because the legislation is newly enacted, no case law 
currently exists for its interpretation. In the meantime, an NFP could look to other 
sources. Other sources that may be helpful in that assessment could include, such 

as the discussion that occurred in the legislative committees leading to the law 
adopted in a particular state, announcements from the state attorney general, a 
consensus of learned lawyers in the state, or similar information, to help the NFP 
understand what the law requires. In the absence of new legislation, clarifying court 
decisions, additional guidance issued by the state attorney general, or similar 

developments, the governing board’s interpretation of the relevant law shall be 
consistent from year to year. 

 
> Illustrations 

 
958-205-55-1A This Section, which is an integral part of the requirements of this 

Subtopic, provides general guidance to be used in the presentation of a full set of 
financial statements, including certain notes to the financial statements,statement 
of financial position by a not-for-profit entity (NFP). 
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> > Example 1: Illustrative Financial Statements 

 
958-205-55-2 This Example provides illustrations of a statementstatements of 

financial position, statementstatements of activities, and statementsstatement of 
cash flows, and notes to the financial statements for Not-for-Profit Entity A. The 
terms statement of financial position and statement of activities indicate the content 

and purpose of the respective statements and serve as possible titles for those 
statements. Other appropriately descriptive titles may also be used. Similarly, a 
statement of functional expenses, which is not illustrated in this Example, might 
have another appropriately descriptive title. For example, a statement reporting 
financial position could be called a balance sheet. Current practice and the 
statement’s purpose suggest, however, that a statement of cash flows only be titled 
statement of cash flows. These illustrations are intended as examples only; they 
present only a few of the permissible formats. Other formats or levels of detail may 
be appropriate for certain circumstances. For example, the schedule of expenses 
by nature and function is illustrated in the notes to the financial statements but also 
may be presented on the face of the statement of activities or as a separate 
statement.  Not-for-profit entities (NFPs) are encouraged to provide information in 
ways that are most relevant and understandable to donors, creditors, and other 
external users of financial statements. NFPs generallyThis Subtopic encourages 
an NFP to provide comparative financial statements; however, for simplicity, the 
illustrative statementstatements of activities and statementstatements of cash 
flows provide information for a single period. 

 

958-205-55-3 The illustrations also include certain notes to financial statements 

for matters discussed in Subtopics 958-210, 958-225, and 958-230. The illustrative 
notes are not intended to illustrate compliance with all generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP) and specialized accounting and reporting principles 
and practices. 

 

958-205-55-4 Shading is used to highlight certain basic totals that must be 

reported in financial statements to comply with the provisions of Subtopics 958- 
210, 958-225, and 958-230. Together they require not only reporting those certain 

basic totals but also reporting components of those aggregates; for example, they 
require reporting information about the gross amounts of items of revenues and 
expenses and cash receipts and payments. 

 

958-205-55-5 The following facts and transactions are reflected in the illustrative 

financial statements in Example 1. The transactions are presented by class of net 
assets to facilitate locating their effects in the statements and notes. The 
transactions   in   (a)   through   (hhh)(h)   affect    net   assets   without   donor 
restrictionsunrestricted net assets. The transactions in (i) through (l)(n), (s), and 
(t) affect  net assets with donor restrictionstemporarily restricted net assets. 
The transactions in (m) through (n) affect permanently restricted net assets. The 

transactions in (o) through (t)(r) and (v) affect more than one class of net assets. 
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a. Not-for-Profit Entity A invested cash in excess of daily requirements in 
short-term investment instruments. Interest earned on these investments 
totaled $850, which is included in the net investment return on the 
statement of activities. The governing board haspreviously designated a 
portion of net assets without donor restrictions unrestricted net assets for 
long-term investment (quasi-endowment). Those assets earned $3,828, 
comprising $2,000 of dividends, interest, and rents and $1,828 of realized 
and unrealized net gains. The entity’s governing board also appropriated 
$2,000 of accumulated earnings from the quasi-endowment to current 
operations. 

b. Not-for-Profit Entity A received unrestricted  contributions without donor 

restrictions of the following: cash, $5,120; recognizable contributed 
services, $300; other consumable assets, $1,410; equipment, $140; and 
unconditional promises to give to support activities of 19X120X1, 

$1,020. The equipment was placed into service during the period (rather 
than monetizing the asset) and, thus, was transferred out of operations in 
the statement of activities. 

c. Equipment with an original cost of $660 and accumulated depreciation of 

$330 was destroyed in a fire. Insurance proceeds of $250 were received. 
The equipment was originally purchased with unrestricted assets with no 
associated donor restrictions. 

d. All conditions of a prior year’s grant of $650 were substantially met. The 
grant proceeds were originally recorded as a refundable advance. 

e. Not-for-Profit  Entity  A  made  a  payment  of  $425  on  its  prior  year 
unconditional grant to an unrelated agency. 

f. Not-for-Profit Entity A repaid $1,140 of its notes payable. Interest of $32 
was incurred and paid on these notes. 

g. Not-for-Profit Entity A repaid $1,000 of its long-term debt. Interest of $350 
was incurred and paid on the debt. 

h. Depreciation amounted to $3,200. 
hh.  Not-for-Profit Entity A sold equipment that was fully depreciated for $200. 

hhh.Not-for-Profit  Entity  A’s  financial  assets  consist  of  cash  and  cash 
equivalents, short-term investments, accounts and interest receivable, 

contributions receivable, and long-term investments. Of $193,413 of 
donor-restricted net assets, contributions receivable of $1,000 are without 
purpose restrictions and are due within 60 days. Thus, the remaining 

$192,413 is the amount unavailable within 60 days because of 
contractual or donor-imposed restrictions. In addition, amounts made 
unavailable by the governing board include $34,628 of board-designated 
long-term investments. The $1,300 liquidity reserve, created in a prior 

year when the governing board designated net assets without donor 
restrictions, is not included as a reconciliation item in NFP A’s liquidity 
footnote because the intention of the designation is to support liquidity 
needs.  Financial  liabilities  due  within  60  days  consist  of  $1,570  of 

accounts payable, $175 of grants payable, and $100 of annuity obligation 
payments. 
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i. Not-for-Profit Entity A received temporarily restricted  contributions with 
donor restrictions as follows. 

 

 
Restricted to:  Cash 

Consumable 

Assets 

Promises 

to Give 

Program purposes $  2,170  $ 960 $920 990 

Use in future periods                               740                                         1,000 930 

Acquisition of land, buildings, 

and equipment                                        770                                              1,380 
 

j. In addition, a donor transferred cash of $200 to set up an annuity trust 

having a related annuity obligation with a present value of $100. Upon the 
death of the beneficiary, the remaining interest will be used for a donor- 
stipulatedrestricted purpose. 

k. In addition, a donor contributed cash of $70 to create a term endowment. 

At the end of 15 years the endowment assets can be used to support Not- 
for-Profit Entity A’s operations. 

l.     Not-for-Profit Entity A made payments of $145 to beneficiaries of annuity 
trust agreements. 

m.   A donor contributed a paid-up life insurance policy with a cash surrender 
value of $80. Upon the death of the insured, the death benefit must be 
used   to   create   a   donor-restricted   endowment   fundpermanent 
endowment. There was no change in the cash surrender value between 

the date of the gift and the end of the fiscal year. 
n.    A donor contributed cash of $200 to create a donor-restricted endowment 

fundpermanent endowment fund. The income is restricted to use for 
Program A activities. 

o. Not-for-Profit Entity A collected promises to give of $3,055: $980 of 

amounts for unrestrictedgeneral purposes, $610 of amounts restricted to 
future periods, $1,025 of amounts restricted to program purposes, and 
$440 of amounts for acquisition of land, buildings, and equipment. 

p. Not-for-Profit  Entity  A  utilized  all  of  the  $1,410  consumable  assets 
contributed for unrestrictedgeneral purposes, and $350 of the $960 
consumable assets contributed for program purposes. 

q. A trust annuitant died and the $400 remainder interest became available 
for the unrestrictedgeneral use of Not-for-Profit Entity A. Management 
decided to invest the remainder interest in short-term investments. The 
actuarial gain on death of the annuitant is included in the actuarial loss 
on annuity obligations. 

r. Not-for-Profit Entity A acquired and placed in service $1,500 of equipment 
for Program A; net assets with donor restrictionstemporarily restricted net 
assets were available at the time the equipment was purchased. Because 
$1,500 of equipment was placed in service, rather than monetized, the 
full amount was subsequently transferred out of operations in the 
statement of activities. 
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s. Net investment return of $19,972 was earned from the pooled donor- 
restricted endowment. Additionally, $300 was earned from separately 
invested donor-restricted endowment funds. The original endowment gift 
amount as adjusted to the level required by donor stipulations or by law 
that extends donor restrictions was $22,337.The net gain, unrealized and 
realized, on unrestricted net assets designated by the governing board 
for long-term investment of $3,800 was recognized. The net gain, 
unrealized and realized, on permanent endowments and the 
unappropriated net appreciation of those endowments of $12,000 was 
recognized. The governing board has interpreted the law in its jurisdiction 
as requiring preservation of purchasing power. The governing board has 
selected the Consumer Price Index as the measure of changes in 
purchasing power. The Consumer Price Index has changed by 3.5 
percent over the year. The index-adjusted original gift amount of the 
endowment at the end of the previous year was $132,000. 

t. Not-for-Profit Entity A reinvested the yield of $120 on a donor-restricted 
endowment fundpermanent endowment that requires income to be added 
to the original gift until the fund’s value is $2,500. 

u.    Not-for-Profit  Entity  A’s  governing  board  appropriated  for  current 
operations $7,500 of net assets with donor restrictions from the donor- 
restricted endowment fund. The full amount appropriated was 
subsequently released from restrictions because it was spent in 
accordance with donor stipulations. 

v.    Not-for-Profit Entity A follows an enacted version of UPMIFA. 
 

> > > Statement of Financial Position 

 
958-205-55-6 The following illustrates the requirements of Subtopic 958-210. 

Comparative statements of financial position are provided to facilitate 

understanding of the statement of activities and the statement of cash flows. 
 

958-205-55-7 A statement of financial position that sequences assets and liabilities 
based on their relative liquidity is presented. For instance, cash and cash 

equivalents of permanentdonor-restricted endowment funds held temporarily until 
suitable long-term investment opportunities are identified are included in the 
classification long-term investments. Similarly, cash and {add glossary 
link}contributions receivable{add glossary link} restricted by donors to 

investment in land, buildings, and equipment are not included with the line items 
cash and cash equivalents or contributions receivable. Rather, those items are 
reported as assets restricted to investment in land, buildings, and equipment and 
are sequenced closer to land, buildings, and equipment. (Pursuant to paragraph 
958-210-50-3, the kind of asset is required to be described in the notes to financial 
statements because its nature is not clear from the description on the face of the 

statement of financial position. That note is not illustrated in this Example.) Assets 
and liabilities also may be arrayed by their relationship to net asset classes, 
classified as current and noncurrent, or arranged in other ways. 
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958-205-55-8  For  an  alternative  presentation  of  the  net  asset  section  of  a 

statement of financial position, see Example 1 (paragraph 958-210-55-3). 
 

958-205-55-9 The following illustrates a statement of financial position for Not-for- 

Profit Entity A. 
 

Not-for-Profit Entity A Statements 

of Financial Position June 30, 

20X119X1 and 20X019X0 

(in thousands) 
 

Assets: 20X119X1 20X019X0 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,575 75 $ 4,960 460 
Accounts and interest receivable 2,130 1,670 
Inventories and prepaid expenses 610 1,000 
Contributions receivable 3,025 2,700 
Short-term investments 1,400 1,000 
Assets restricted to investment in land, buildings, and equipment 5,210 4,560 
Land, buildings, and equipment 61,700 63,590 
Long-term investments 218,070   203,500   

Total assets $ 296,720 292,220 $ 282,980 278,480 
Liabilities and net assets:   

Accounts payable $ 2,570 $ 1,050 
Refundable advance  650 
Grants payable 875 1,300 
Notes payable  1,140 
Annuity obligations 1,685 1,700 
Long-term debt 5,500   6,500   

Total liabilities 
 

Net assets: 

10,630 12,340 

 

Without donor restrictions (Note DDD)Unrestricted 92,677 115,228 73,619 103,670 
With donor restrictionsTemporarily restricted (Note B) 193,413 24,342 197,021 25,470 
Permanently restricted (Note C)   142,020   137,000 

Total net assets 286,090 281,590 270,640 266,140 
Total liabilities and net assets $ 296,720 292,220 $ 282,980 278,480 

 

Note: See paragraph 958-205-55-21 for the notes to financial statements. 

 
> > > Statement of Activities 

 

958-205-55-10 The following illustrates the requirements of Subtopic 958-225. 

ThreeVarious  statement  of  activities   formats  of  statements  of  activitiesand 
industries are presented. To facilitate comparison of the formats, the same level of 
aggregation is used in each of the statements of activities. The statement of 
activities presented in Example 1 is intended to represent a generic charity and 
follows the basic fact pattern in paragraph 958-205-55-5. Additional statements of 
activities (private foundation, business-oriented health care entity, and university) 
are illustrated in Examples 1A, 1B, and 1C. Each of the examples is meant to 
illustrate how particular industry-specific events and transactions could be 
presented. An NFP can present its statement of activities in a variety of ways; 
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therefore, an NFP that identifies with one of the four industries presented is not 
required to present its statement of activities in the format illustrated. This guidance 
provides flexibility to present information in a number of ways as long as the 
requirements are met.  Each format has certain advantages, as follows: 

 

a. Format A reports information in a single column. ThatThe single-column 
format most easily accommodates presentation of multiyear comparative 
information. 

b. Format B reports the same information inThe columnar (or multicolumn) 

format withpresents a column for each class of net assets and adds an 
optional total column. Use of a total column is optional. That format makes 
evident that the effects of expirations on donor restrictions result in 
reclassification of net assetsreclassifications between classes of net 

assets. It also accommodates presentation of aggregated information 
about {add glossary link}contributions{add glossary link} and 

investment income return for the entity as a whole. However, care is 
needed for labels and headings to ensure they clearly communicate all 
columns and subtotals. For example, the operating excess (deficit) of 
a not-for-profit entity before transfers and the operating excess 
(deficit) of a not-for-profit entity after transfers would not be presented 

as subtotals in the net assets with donor restrictions column. 
c. Format C reports information in two statements with  A two-statement 

format presents summaryoperating amounts from a statement of 
revenues, expenses, and other changes in  net assets without donor 
restrictionsunrestricted net assets (Part 1 of 2) articulating withand a 

statement of changes in net assets (Part 2 of 2). Alternative formats for 
the statement of changes in net assets—a single-columnsingle column 
and a multicolumn or columnar—are illustrated. The two-statement 
approach  of  Format  C  format   focuses  attention  first   on  changes  in 
unrestricted net assetsthe operating excess. That format may be 
preferred  by  membership  organizations  and  other   NFPs  that  view 
transactions and events, including the operatingtheir operating activities 
as  excluding   receipts  of  donor-restricted  revenues  and  gains  from 
contributions and investment income, as incidental or insignificant to their 
daily operations. 

 

958-205-55-11  The  three  illustrative  statements  of  activities  show  items  of 
operating  revenues and gains first, then expenses, then losses;  reclassification 
of net assetsreclassifications, which must be shown separately, isare reported 

with operating  revenues and gains. Those items could be arranged in other ways 
and other subtotals may be included. For example, the operating items may be 
sequenced using either of the following sequences: 

 

a. Revenues,  expenses,  gains  and  losses,  and  reclassification  of  net 
assetsreclassifications shown last 
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b. Certain revenues, less directly related expenses, followed by a subtotal, 
then other revenues, other expenses, gains and losses, and 
reclassification of net assetsreclassifications. 

c.   Expenses followed by operating revenues, gains, and losses and the 
reclassifications of net assets. 

 

Although theThe illustrative statementsstatement of activities reportreports 
expenses by function, expenses may be reported by natural classification in the 
statements with functional classification disclosed in the notes. Note F reports 

expenses by nature and function in one location as required by paragraph 958- 
205-45-6. 

 

958-205-55-12 The following provide additional illustrations of statements of 

activities: 
 

a. Subparagraph  superseded  by  Accounting  Standards  Update  201X- 
XX.Example 1 (see paragraph 958-225-55-5) provides an illustration that 
shows how items may be sequenced to distinguish between operating 
and nonoperating activities or to make other distinctions, if desired. 

b. Example 2 in Subtopic 958-225 (see paragraph 958-225-55-7) illustrates 
the display of an appropriately labeled subtotal for change in a class of 
net assets before the effects of a discontinued operation. 

c. Example 3 in Subtopic 958-225 (see paragraph 958-225-55-8) provides 
three possible methods of displaying fundraising efforts in the revenue 
section of the statement of activities if an NFP acts as an agent, trustee, 
or intermediary in raising resources for another. 

d. Example 1 in Subtopic 958-320  (see paragraph 958-320-55-4) provides 
an illustration of an NFP that presents (1) net investment return, (2) 
appropriation of funds from the quasi-endowment, and (3) appropriation 
of funds from a donor-restricted endowment fund in which the 

restrictions have been met during the periodseparates investment return 
into operating and nonoperating amounts based on a spending-rate or 
total return policy for managing its endowment funds. 

 

958-205-55-13 A multicolumn or columnar illustrative statement of activities is 

below.Format A is as follows. 
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Contributions $  8,640 
Fees   5,400 
Income on long-term investments (Note E)   5,600 
Other investment income (Note E)   850 
Net unrealized and realized gains on long-term investments (Note E)   8,228 
Other   150   

Total unrestricted revenues and gains $     28,868 

Net assets released from restrictions (Note D):  
Satisfaction of program restrictions   11,990 
Satisfaction of equipment acquisition restrictions   1,500 
Expiration of time restrictions      1,250  

Total net assets released from restrictions      14,740  
Total unrestricted revenues, gains, and other support      43,608  

 

Program A 
 

  13,100 
Program B   8,540 
Program C   5,760 
Management and general   2,420 
Fund raising      2,150  

Total expenses (Note F)   31,970 
Fire loss   80   

Total expenses and losses   32,050 
  Increase in unrestricted net assets   11,558 

 
Changes in temporarily restricted net assets: 

Contributions 

 

 
  8,110 

Income on long-term investments (Note E)   2,580 
Net unrealized and realized gains on long-term investments (Note E)   2,952 
Actuarial loss on annuity obligations   (30) 
Net assets released from restrictions (Note D)   (14,740) 
  Decrease in temporarily restricted net assets   (1,128) 

 
Changes in permanently restricted net assets: 

Contributions 

 

 
  280 

Income on long-term investments (Note E)   120 
Net unrealized and realized gains on long-term investments (Note E)   4,620 

Increase in permanently restricted net assets   5,020 
Increase in net assets   15,450 

 
Net assets at beginning of year 

 
         266,140  

Net assets at end of year $   281,590 
 
Note: See paragraph 958-205-55-21 for the notes to financial statements. 

 

 

 
 
 

Not-for-Profit Entity A 

 Statement of Activities 

 Year Ended June 30, 19X1 

 (in thousands) 

Changes in unrestricted net assets: 

Revenues and gains: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Expenses and losses: 
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[For ease of readability, the illustration is not underlined as new text.] 
 

Not-for-Profit Entity A 

Statement of Activities 

Year Ended June 30, 20X1 

(in thousands) 

 

 
 

Revenues and gains: 

 
Without Donor 

Restrictions 

 
With 

Donor 

Restrictions Total 

Contributions $ 8,640 $ 8,390 $  17,030 

Fees 

Other 

Gains 

Total revenues and gains without donor restrictions 
 

Net assets released from restrictions (Note D): 

Satisfaction of program restrictions 

Satisfaction of equipment acquisition restrictions 

Expiration of time restrictions 

Appropriation from donor endowment 

Total net assets released from restrictions 

Total revenues, gains, and other support without donor restrictions 

Expenses and losses: 

Program A 

Program B 

Program C 

Management and general 

Fundraising 

Total expenses 

Fire loss 

Total expenses and losses 
 

Operating excess, before transfers 
 

Board designations, appropriations, and similar transfers to/(from) operations: 

Investment returns appropriated from quasi-endowment 

Transfer of gifted equipment 

 
Transfer of equipment acquired with donor-restricted funds and placed in service 

 
Operating excess, after transfers 

 
Nonoperating changes: 

Investment return, net (Note E) 

Interest expense 

Actuarial loss on annuity obligations 
 

Board designations, appropriations, and similar transfers to/(from) nonoperations: 

Investment returns appropriated for current operations from quasi-endowment 

Transfer of gifted equipment 

Transfer of equipment acquired with donor-restricted funds and placed in service 

Increase (decrease) in net assets 

Net assets at beginning of year 

5,200 5,200 

150 150 

  200     200   

14,190 22,580 

 
21,990 (21,990) - 

1,500 (1,500) - 

1,250 (1,250) - 

  7,500   (7,500) - 

  32,240   

  46,430   

 
13,100 13,100 

8,540 8,540 

5,760 5,760 

2,038 2,038 

  2,150           2,150   

31,588 31,588 

  80     80 
  

31,668 31,668 
 

14,762 

 
2,000 2,000 

(140)  (140) 

 
(1,500) (1,500) 

 
15,122 

 
4,678 20,272 24,950 

(382)      (382) 

(30) (30) 
- 

 
(2,000) (2,000) 

140 140 

1,500 1,500 

19,058 (3,608) 15,450 
 
  73,619          197,021            270,640   

Net assets at end of year $ 92,677 $ 193,413 $286,090 

 
 

958-205-55-14  Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.Format B is as follows. 
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Not-for-Profit Entity A 

 Statement of Activities 

 Year Ended June 30, 19X1 

 (in thousands) 

 
 

 
Revenues, gains, and other support: 

 
Unrestricted 

Temporarily 

Restricted 

Permanently 

Restricted  Total 

Contributions $  8,640 $  8,110 $  280 $      17,030 

Fees 

Income on long-term investments (Note E) 

  5,400    5,400 

  5,600  2,580    120    8,300 

Other investment income (Note E) 

Net unrealized and realized gains on long-term  

  850   850 

investments (Note E) 

Other 

Net assets released from restrictions (Note D): 

  8,228  2,952    4,620    15,800 

  150    150 

Satisfaction of program restrictions 

Satisfaction of equipment acquisition restrictions 

  11,990 

  1,500 

  (11,990) 

  (1,500) 

Expiration of time restrictions   1,250         (1,250)                

Total revenues, gains, and other support   43,608         (1,098)         5,020           47,530  
 

Expenses and losses: 

Program A 

Program B 

Program C 

Management and general 

 
  13,100 

  8,540 

  5,760 

  2,420 

 
  13,100 

  8,540 

  5,760 

  2,420 

Fund raising   2,150                     2,150  

Total expenses (Note F) 

Fire loss 

  31,970 

  80 

  31,970 

  80 

Actuarial loss on annuity obligations      30             30   

Total expenses and losses 

Change in net assets 

  32,050 

  11,558 

  30 

  (1,128) 

 
  5,020 

  32,080 

  15,450 

Net assets at beginning of year   103,670         25,470         137,000                266,140  

Net assets at end of year $       115,228 $  24,342 $       142,020 $    281,590 

 
Note: See paragraph 958-205-55-21 for the notes to financial statements. 

 

958-205-55-15  Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.Format C, Part 1 of 2 is as follows. 
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Not-for-Profit Entity A 

 Statement of Unrestricted Revenues, Expenses, and 

 Other Changes in Unrestricted Net Assets 

 Year Ended June 30, 19X1 

 (in thousands) 
 

Unrestricted revenues and gains: 

Contributions $  8,640 
Fees   5,400 
Income on long-term investments (Note E)   5,600 
Other investment income (Note E)   850 
Net unrealized and realized gains on long-term investments (Note E)   8,228 
Other   150 

Total unrestricted revenues and gains   28,868 
Net assets released from restrictions (Note D):  

Satisfaction of program restrictions   11,990 
Satisfaction of equipment acquisition restrictions   1,500 
Expiration of time restrictions   1,250 

Total net assets released from restrictions   14,740 
Total unrestricted revenues, gains, and other support      43,608  

Expenses and losses:  
Program A   13,100 
Program B   8,540 
Program C   5,760 
Management and general   2,420 
Fund raising   2,150 

Total expenses (Note F)   31,970 
Fire loss   80 

Total unrestricted expenses and losses   32,050 
Increase in unrestricted net assets $     11,558 

 
Note: See paragraph 958-205-55-21 for the notes to financial statements. 

 
958-205-55-16  Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.Format C, Part 2 of 2 is as follows. 
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Not-for-Profit Entity A 

 Statement of Changes in Net Assets 

 Year Ended June 30, 19X1 

 (in thousands) 
 

Unrestricted net assets: 

Total unrestricted revenues and gains $     28,868 
Net assets released from restrictions (Note D)   14,740 
Total unrestricted expenses and losses   (32,050) 
  Increase in unrestricted net assets   11,558 

 

Temporarily restricted net assets: 

Contributions   8,110 
Income on long-term investments (Note E)   2,580 
Net unrealized and realized gains on long-term investments (Note E)   2,952 
Actuarial loss on annuity obligations   (30) 
Net assets released from restrictions (Note D)   (14,740) 
  Decrease in temporarily restricted net assets   (1,128) 

 

Permanently restricted net assets: 
Contributions   280 
Income on long-term investments (Note E)   120 
Net unrealized and realized gains on long-term investments (Note E)   4,620 

Increase in permanently restricted net assets   5,020 
Increase in net assets   15,450 
Net assets at beginning of year          266,140  
Net assets at end of year $   281,590 
 
Note: See paragraph 958-205-55-21 for the notes to financial statements. 

 

 

958-205-55-17  Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.Format C, Part 2 of 2 (Alternate) is as follows. 
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Not-for-Profit Entity A 

 Statement  of Changes in Net Assets 

 Year Ended June 30, 19X1 

 (in thousands) 
 

  
Unrestricted 

 Temporarily 

Restricted 
 Permanently 

Restricted 
  

Total 
Revenues, gains, and other support: 

Unrestricted  revenues, gains, and other support 

Restricted revenues, gains, and other support: 

 
$       28,868 

      
$   28,868 

Contributions   $  8,110  $  280         8,390 
Income on long-term  investments  (Note E) 

Net unrealized and realized gains on long-term      2,580    120         2,700 

investments  (Note E) 
    2,952    4,620         7,572 

Net assets released from restrictions  (Note D)   14,740         (14,740)     
Total revenues, gains and other support     43,608        (1,098)    5,020          47,530  

Expenses  and losses: 

Unrestricted  expenses  and losses  
  32,050       

     32,050 
Actuarial loss on annuity obligations     30      30 

Total expenses  and losses   32,050    30         32,080 
Change in net assets   11,558    (1,128)    5,020       15,450 
Net assets at beginning of year        103,670    25,470         137,000     266,140 
Net assets at end of year $     115,228  $       24,342  $     142,020  $ 281,590 

 

Note: See paragraph 958-205-55-21 for the notes to financial statements. 

 
 

> > > Statement of Cash Flows 

 
958-205-55-18 The following illustrates the requirements of Subtopic 958-230. 

StatementsThe statement of cash flows areis illustrated using both  the direct and 
indirect methodsmethod of reporting each category of cash flows: operating, 
investing, and financingcash flow from operating activities. 

 

958-205-55-19 The direct method is as follows. 
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Investment in endowment   200 
Investment in term endowment   70 
Investment in plant   1,210 
Investment subject to annuity agreements   200 
   1,680 
er financing activities: 
Interest and dividends restricted for reinvestment 

 
  300 

Payments of annuity obligations   (145) 
Payments on notes payable   (1,140) 
Payments on long-term debt   (1,000) 
   (1,985) 

 

 

 
 

Not-for-Profit Entity A 
 Statement of Cash Flows 
 Year Ended June 30, 19X1 

 (in thousands) 
 

Cash flows from operating activities: 

Cash received from service recipients $     5,220 
Cash received from contributors   8,030 
Cash collected on contributions receivable   2,615 
Interest and dividends received   8,570 
Miscellaneous receipts   150 
Interest paid   (382) 
Cash paid to employees and suppliers      (23,808) 
Grants paid   (425) 

Net cash used by operating activities   (30) 
 

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Insurance proceeds from fire loss on building   250 
Purchase of equipment   (1,500) 
Proceeds from sale of investments       76,100 
Purchase of investments      (74,900) 

Net cash used by investing activities   (50) 
 

Cash flows from financing activities: 
Proceeds from contributions restricted for: 

 

 
 
 

Oth 

 
 
 
 

 Net cash used by financing activities    (305) 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 

  (385) 

  460 
$  75 

 
Reconciliation of change in net assets to net cash used by operating activities: 

 Change in net assets  $   15,450  

Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash used by operating 

Depreciation   3,200 
Fire loss   80 
Actuarial loss on annuity obligations   30 
Increase in accounts and interest receivable   (460) 
Decrease in inventories and prepaid expenses   390 
Increase in contributions receivable   (325) 
Increase in accounts payable   1,520 
Decrease in refundable advance   (650) 
Decrease in grants payable   (425) 
Contributions restricted for long-term investment   (2,740) 
Interest and dividends restricted for long-term investment   (300) 
Net unrealized and realized gains on long-term investments      (15,800) 

Net cash used by operating activities $  (30) 
Supplemental data for noncash investing and financing activities: 

Gifts of equipment 
Gift of paid-up life insurance, cash surrender value 

$  140 

  80 
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 Net cash used by financing activities  (2,197) 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 

(385) 

4,960 
$  4,575 

 

 

 
 

[For ease of readability, the illustration is not underlined as new text.] 
 

Not-for-Profit Entity A 

Statement of Cash Flows 

Year Ended June 30, 20X1 

(in thousands) 

 
Cash flows from operating activities: 

Cash received from service recipients 
 
$  5,220 

 

Cash received from contributors, restricted for investment in land, buildings, 

equipment 
 

1,210 
Cash received from contributors, other 10,645 
Proceeds on sale of equipment 200 
Insurance proceeds from fire loss on building 250 
Miscellaneous receipts 150 
Cash paid to employees and retirees (13,400) 
Cash paid to suppliers (5,858) 
Grants paid (5,175) 
Purchase of equipment   (1,500) 

Net cash used by operating activities (8,258) 
 

Cash flows from investing activities: 

Interest and dividends received  

8,870 
Proceeds from sale of investments 76,100 
Purchase of investments (74,900) 

Net cash provided by investing activities 10,070 
 

Cash flows from financing activities: 

Proceeds from contributions restricted for: 

Investment in endowment  

200 
Investment in term endowment 70 
Investment subject to annuity agreements 200 

Payments of annuity obligations (145) 
Payments of interest (382) 
Payments on notes payable (1,140) 
Payments on long-term debt   (1,000) 

 

 
 
 
 

Supplemental data for noncash operating, investing, and financing activities: 

Gifts of equipment 

Gift of paid-up life insurance, cash surrender value 

 

$  140 

80 
 

958-205-55-20  Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.The indirect method is as follows. 
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Not-for-Profit Entity A 

 Statement of Cash Flows 

 Year Ended June 30, 19X1 

 
 
 
 
 
 

$   15,450 

 (in thousands) 
 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Change in net assets 
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash used by operating activities: 

Depreciation 
 

  3,200 
Fire loss   80 
Actuarial loss on annuity obligations   30 
Increase in accounts and interest receivable   (460) 
Decrease in inventories and prepaid expenses   390 
Increase in contributions receivable   (325) 
Increase in accounts payable   1,520 
Decrease in refundable advance   (650) 
Decrease in grants payable   (425) 
Contributions restricted for long-term investment        (2,740) 
Interest and dividends restricted for long-term investment   (300) 
Net unrealized and realized gains long-term investments      (15,800) 

Net cash used by operating activities   (30) 
Cash flows from investing activities: 

Insurance proceeds from fire loss on building 
 

  250 
Purchase of equipment        (1,500) 
Proceeds from sale of investments       76,100 
Purchase of investments      (74,900) 

Net cash used by investing activities   (50) 
Cash flows from financing activities: 

Proceeds from contributions restricted for: 

Investment in endowment 

 
 

  200 
Investment in term endowment   70 
Investment in plant   1,210 
Investment subject to annuity agreements   200   

     1,680  
 

Interest and dividends restricted for reinvestment 
 

  300 
Payments of annuity obligations   (145) 
Payments on notes payable        (1,140) 
Payments on long-term debt          (1,000) 

        (1,985) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Other financing activities: 

 

 
 
 
 

 Net cash used by financing activities    (305) 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 

  (385) 

  460 
$  75 

Supplemental data: 

Noncash investing and financing activities: 

Gifts of equipment 

Gift of paid-up life insurance, cash surrender value 

Interest paid 

 
 
$  140 

       80 

     382 
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> > > Notes to Financial Statements 

 
958-205-55-21 The following are illustrative notes to financial statements. 

Illustrative Note A provides policy disclosures required by paragraph 958 -605-50- 
2 that bear on the illustrated statements. Notes B and C provideNote B provides 
information required by paragraph 958-210-45-9. Note DD provides information 
required by paragraph 958-225-45-10B. Note G provides information required by 
paragraph 958-720-45-15.  Notes D through F provide information that NFPs are 
encouraged to disclose.Note D and Note E provide information that is useful to 
users but is not explicitly required. Additional endowment disclosure requirements 
are illustrated in Example 3 included in this Section.However, paragraph 958-720- 
45-15 requires voluntary health and welfare entities to provide the information in 
Note F in a statement of functional expenses. All amounts are in thousands. 

 

Note A 
 

Not-for-Profit Entity A reports gifts of cash and other assets as restricted support 

if they are received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. 
When a donor restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or 
purpose restriction is accomplished, temporarily restricted net assets are 
reclassified to unrestricted net assets and reported in the statement of activities as 
net assets released from restrictions. 

 

Not-for-Profit Entity A reports gifts of land, buildings, and equipment as unrestricted 
support unless explicit donor stipulations specify how the donated assets must be 
used. Gifts of long-lived assets with explicit restrictions that specify how the assets 
are to be used and gifts of cash or other assets that must be used to acquire long- 
lived assets are reported as restricted support. Absent explicit donor stipulations 
about how long those long-lived assets must be maintained, Not-for-Profit Entity A 
reports expirations of donor restrictions when the donated or acquired long-lived 
assets are placed in service. 

 

Note B 
 

Net assets with donor restrictionsTemporarily restricted net assets are 
restrictedavailable for the following purposes or periods. 
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Program A activities: 

Purchase of equipment $  3,060 
Research   4,256 
Educational seminars and publications   1,520 

Program B activities: 
Disaster relief   2,240 
Educational seminars and publications   2,158 

Program C activities: general   2,968 
Buildings and equipment   2,150 
Annuity trust agreements   2,850 
For periods after June 30, 19X1     3,140  

 $   24,342 
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Program A activities 27,524 
Program B activities 13,662 
Program C activities 13,662 
Any activities of the organization   105,793   

 174,382 

 

 

 
 

[For ease of readability, the illustration is not underlined as new text.] 
 

 
Subject to expenditure for specified purpose: 

Program A activities: 

Purchase of equipment $  1,530 
Research 2,128 
Educational seminars and publications 760 

Program B activities: 
Disaster relief 1,120 
Educational seminars and publications 1,079 

Program C activities: general 1,484 
Buildings and equipment 1,075 
Annuity trust agreements for research   1,425   

 10,601 

Subject to the passage of time: 

For periods after June 30, 20X1 

 
3,140 

 
Subject to NFP spending policy and appropriation: 

Investment in perpetuity (including amounts above original gift amount of $22,337), 

the income from which is expendable to support: 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Subject to appropriation and expenditure when a specified event occurs: 

Endowment requiring income to be added to original gift until fund's value is 

$2,500 

Paid-up life insurance policy that will provide proceeds upon death of insured for 

an endowment to support general activities 

 

 
2,210 

 
  80   

2,290 
 

Not subject to appropriation or expenditure: 

Land required to be used as a recreation area 

Total net assets with donor restrictions 

 

 
  3,000   

$   193,413 

 
Note C 

 

Permanently restricted net assets are restricted to the following. 
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Investment in perpetuity, the income from which is expendable to  

support: 

Program A activities $   27,524 

Program B activities    13,662 

Program C activities    13,662 

Any activities of the organization     81,972  

    136,820 
 

Endowment requiring income to be added to original 

gift until fund's value is $2,500 

 
  2,210 

 

Paid-up life insurance policy that will provide  

proceeds upon death of insured for an endowment  

to support general activities 

Land required to be used as a recreation area 

 
 
 

  80 

    3,000  

$ 142,020 
 

 

Note D 
 

Net assets were released from donor restrictions by incurring expenses satisfying 
the restricted purposes or by occurrence of the passage of time or  other events 
specified by donors. 
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Purpose restrictions accomplished: 

Program A expenses 
 

$5,800 $15,800 
Program B expenses 4,600 
Program C expenses 1,590 
 
Program A equipment acquired and placed in 

11,990 21,990 

service 

 
Time restrictions expired: 

  1,500   

Passage of specified time 
 

850 
Death of annuity beneficiary   400   

 1,250 

Release of appropriated endowment returns without  

purpose restrictions 

 

 
  7,500 

Total restrictions released $14,740 $32,240 
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Note DD 
 

The governing board of Not-for-Profit Entity A has several standing board policies 
that affect the presentation of board designations, appropriations, and other similar 
transfers on the statement of activities. Bequests without donor restrictions are 
designated for long-term investment (quasi-endowment); however, no bequests 
were received during 20X1. Occasionally the governing board designates a portion 
of its net assets without donor restrictions for its liquidity reserve; however, no 
amounts were added to the liquidity reserve during 20X1. Annually, the governing 
board appropriates portions of the quasi-endowment and donor-restricted 
endowments for current-period operations. During 20X1, a total of $9,500 was 
appropriated  and used, consisting of  $2,000 from the  quasi-endowment and 
$7,500 from donor-restricted endowments. Not-for-Profit Entity A placed $1,640 of 
equipment into service during the year, which was funded with $1,500 of donor- 
restricted funds that is shown as a release from restrictions, as well as $140 of 
donated equipment. Both of these amounts are included in board designations, 
appropriations, and similar transfers on the statement of activities. 

 

Note DDD 
 

Not-for-Profit Entity A’s governing board has designated net assets without donor 
restrictions for the following purposes as of June 30, 20X1. 

 

Quasi-endowment $  34,628 

Liquidity reserve 1,300 

Total $  35,928 
 

 

Note E 
 

Investments are carried at fair value, and realized and unrealized gains and losses 
are reflected in the statement of activities. Not-for-Profit Entity A invests cash in 
excess of daily requirements in short-term investments. At June 30, 20X119X1, 
$1,400 was invested short term, and during the year short-term investments 
earned $850. Most long-term investments are held in two investment pools. Pool 
A is for permanent donor-restricted endowments and the unappropriated net 
appreciation of those endowments. Pool B is for amounts designated by the board 
of trustees for long-term investment. Annuity trusts, term endowments, and certain 
permanent   donor-restricted  endowments  are  separately  invested.  Long-term 
investment activity is reflected in the following table. 
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Pool A Pool B Other Total 

Investments at beginning of year 

Gifts available for investment: 

$ 164,000 $ 32,800 $   6,700 $ 203,500 

Gifts creating permanent endowment 200 80 280 

Gifts creating term endowments 70 70 

Gifts creating annuity trusts 200 200 

Amount withdrawn at death of annuitant 

Investment returns (net of expenses of $375): 

(400) (400) 

Dividends, interest, and rents    6,000    2,000    300         8,300 

Realized and unrealized gains   12,000        3,800                  15,800  

Total return on investmentsInvestment return, net 

Amounts appropriated for current operations 

19,972 18,000  3,828 5,800  300 24,100 

(7,500)  (2,000)   (9,500) 

Annuity trust income for current and future payments      (180)       (180) 

Investments at end of year $176,672 $174,700  $34,628 $36,600 $   6,770 $ 218,070 

 
The participation in the pools and ownership of the other investments at June 30, 

20X119X1 is shown in the following table. 
 
 

 Pool A  Pool B  Other  Total 
Permanently restricted net assets $    136,820    $      2,200  $    139,020 
Temporarily restricted net assets   10,752      4,570    15,322 
Unrestricted net assets   27,128     $    36,600         63,728  

 $    174,700  $    36,600  $      6,770  $    218,070 
 

Pool A  Pool B  Other  Total 
 

Net assets with donor restrictions $   176,672    $     6,770  $   183,442 
Net assets without donor restrictions 

    $   34,628      34,628 
 $   176,672  $   34,628  $  6,770  $   218,070 

 

The board of trustees has interpreted state law as requiring the preservation of the 
purchasing power (real value) of the permanent endowment funds unless explicit 
donor stipulations specify how net appreciation must be used. To meet that 
objective, Not-for-Profit Entity A’s endowment management policies require that 
net appreciation be retained permanently in an amount necessary to adjust the 
historic dollar value of original endowment gifts by the change in the Consumer 
Price Index. After maintaining the real value of the permanent endowment funds, 
any remainder of total return is available for appropriation. In 19X1, the total return 
on Pool A was $18,000 (10.6 percent), of which $4,620 was retained permanently 
to preserve the real value of the original gifts. The remaining $13,380 was available 
for appropriation by the board of trustees. State law allowsLaws and regulations 
allow the board to appropriate so much of net appreciation as is prudent 
considering Not-for-Profit Entity A’s long- and short-term needs, present and 
anticipated financial requirements, expected total return on its investments, price 
level trends, and general economic conditions. Under Not-for-Profit Entity A’s 
endowment spending policy, 5 percent of the average of the fair value at the end 
of the previous 3 years is appropriated, which was $7,500 for the year ended June 
30, 20X119X1. 
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Note F 
 

Expenses incurred were as follows.The table below presents operating expenses 
by both their nature and function for fiscal year 20X1. Internal salaries and benefits 
that have been netted against investment returns amount to $375 and are 
excluded from the salaries and benefits information presented below. 

 

 
  Program  Management  Fund  

 Total  A  B  C  and General  Raising 
 
Salaries, wages, and benefits 

 
$    15,115  

 
$      7,400  

 
$   3,900  

 
$   1,725  

 
$  1,130  

 
$      960 

Grants to other organizations   4,750    2,075    750       1,925     Supplies  and travel   3,155    865       1,000    490    240          560 
Services  and professional fees   2,840    160       1,490    600    200          390 
Office and occupancy   2,528    1,160    600    450    218          100 
Depreciation   3,200    1,440    800    570    250          140 
Interest   382          382   

Total expenses $    31,970  $    13,100  $   8,540  $   5,760  $  2,420  $   2,150 
 
 

[For ease of readability, the illustration is not underlined as new text.] 

 
Program Activities  Supporting Activities 

 

 
A   

B   
C   

Programs  
Management 

and General  
Fund- 

Raising   
Supporting  

Operating 

Expenses  
Nonoperating 

Expenses  Total 

Expenses 
 
Salaries  and benefits  

$  7,400   
$3,900   

$  1,725   
$  13,025   

$  1,130   
$   960   

$       2,090   
$   15,115   

$  -   
$  15,115 

Grants  to other organizations 2,075 
 

750 
 

1,925 
 

4,750 
       

4,750 
   

4,750 
Supplies  and travel 865 

 
1,000 

 
490 

 
2,355 

 
240 

 
560 

 
800 

 
3,155 

   
3,155 

Services  and professional fees 160 
 

1,490 
 

600 
 

2,250 
 

200 
 

390 
 

590 
 

2,840 
   

2,840 
Office and occupancy 1,160 

 
600 

 
450 

 
2,210 

 
218 

 
100 

 
318 

 
2,528 

   
2,528 

Depreciation 1,440 
 

800 
 

570 
 

2,810 
 

250 
 

140 
 

390 
 

3,200 
   

3,200 
Interest 

                
382 

 
382 

Total expenses $13,100  $8,540  $  5,760  $  27,400  $  2,038  $2,150  $       4,188  $   31,588  $  382  $  31,970 
 
 

The financial statements report certain categories of expenses that are attributable 
to more than one program or supporting function. Therefore, these expenses 
require allocation on a reasonable basis that is consistently applied. The expenses 
that are allocated include depreciation and office and occupancy, which are both 
allocated on a square footage basis, as well as salaries and benefits, which are 
allocated on the basis of time and effort studies. 

 

Note G 
 

NFP A utilizes a 60-day time horizon to assess its immediate liquidity needs. This 
period of time was established based on management’s review of the typical life 
cycle of converting its financial assets to cash and typical payments of its trade 
payables. The entity invests cash in excess of daily requirements in short-term 
investments. 
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Occasionally the Board designates a portion of any operating surplus to its liquidity 
reserve. As of June 30, 20X1, the liquidity reserve was $1,300. This is a governing 
board-designated fund with the objective of setting funds aside to be drawn upon 
in the event of financial distress or an immediate liquidity need resulting from 
events outside the typical life cycle of converting financial assets to cash or settling 
financial liabilities. In the event of an unanticipated liquidity need, NFP A also could 
draw upon $10,000 of available lines of credit (as further discussed in Note XX) or 
the quasi-endowment fund. The following reflects NFP A’s financial assets, 
amounts not available within its 60-day time horizon for managing liquidity, 
amounts set aside for long-term investing that could be drawn upon, and financial 
liabilities due within 60 days. 

 

[For ease of readability, the illustration is not underlined as new text.] 
 

Financial assets 

Less: 
 

Contractual or donor-imposed restrictions making assets unavailable 

within 60 days 

Quasi-endowment fund 

$  229,200 

 
 
 

(192,413) 

  (34,628) 
 

Financial assets available within 60 days  2,159 

 
Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities due within 60 days    1,845 

Net financial assets in excess of financial liabilities, within 60 days $  314 

 

 
> > Examples 1A– 1C: Illustrative Guidance for Statements of Activities  
for 
Particular Types of NFPs 

 

958-205-55-21A Included below are illustrative statements of activities for 

particular types of NFPs: a private foundation, a university, and a business- 
oriented health care entity. The Examples are meant to show how particular 
industry-specific events and transactions would be presented in a statement of 
activities, as required in Section 958-225-45. They are included for illustrative 
purposes and are not intended to prescribe specific statement titles, formats, or 
line-item labels (for example, operating measure). An NFP has the flexibility to 
choose the financial statement presentation that best communicates how the entity 
views its operations, as long as all reporting requirements in Section 958-225-45 
are met. 

 

> > > Example 1A: Private Foundation 
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958-205-55-21B In the Example presented below, grant-making and 
programmatic investing are reported as part of operations. In contrast, returns 

on investment from activities undertaken for the purpose of generating a total 
return are not part of operations and, therefore, are excluded from both the 
operating excess (deficit) of a not-for-profit entity before transfers and the 
operating excess (deficit) of a not-for-profit entity after transfers. Flexibility 

exists for sequencing of the operating activities and nonoperating activities 
sections on the face of the statement of activities. In this illustration, nonoperating 
activities are presented before the operating activities section, primarily because 
investment returns are the significant source of revenue for a private foundation. 
Other assumptions made in the illustration below include: 

 

a.  The private foundation’s governing board does not utilize board 
designations, appropriations, or similar transfers for management of the 
entity’s operations and funding. 

b.    The requirement to report expenses by both nature and function in one 

location is provided on the face of the statement of activities; thus, a 
functional expense schedule, a note disclosure, or a statement of 
functional expenditures is not needed. 

c.    Internal salaries and benefits that have been netted against investment 

return are excluded from the salaries and benefits information presented 
on the face of the statement of activities and are disclosed in the 
investment note. 

d.    The private foundation has no net assets with donor restrictions. 

e.   The private foundation chose to disclose the components of the net 
investment return on the face of the statement of activities, although such 
disclosure is not required. 

 

958-205-55-21C An example of a statement of activities for a private foundation 

follows. 
 

[For ease of readability, the illustration is not underlined as new text.] 
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Net realized appreciation on long-term investments $  6,210 
Net unrealized appreciation on long-term investments 11,825 
Income on long-term investments 8,700 
Other external and direct internal investment expenses   (850) 

Investment return, net 25,885 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Nonoperating activity: 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Excise tax: 

Not-for-Profit Entity—Private Foundation 

Statement of Activities 

Year Ended June 30, 20X3 

Current (124) 
Deferred   (237) 
Increase from nonoperating activities   25,524   

 

Operating activity: 

Revenues: 

Programmatic-related investment return 

Expenses: 

Program expenses: 

 

 
 
2,500 

Grants 13,750 
Salaries and benefits 3,025 
Supplies and travel 2,055 
Office and occupancy 2,010 
Services and professional fees   1,250   

 22,090 
Administrative and support expenses:  

Salaries and benefits 1,130 
Supplies and travel 790 
Office and occupancy 710 
Services and professional fees   590   

   3,220   
Total expenses 25,310 

Operating expenses in excess of revenues (22,810) 
 

Increase in net assets 

Net assets at beginning of year 

Net assets at end of year 

2,714 

  262,160   

$  264,874 
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> > > Example 1B: Business-Oriented Health Care Entity 
 

958-205-55-21D The Example presented below is formatted as a single-column, 

two-statement approach that presents a statement of operations, with the required 
operating excess (deficit) of a not-for-profit entity after transfers presented 

as the last line item on that statement, and a second statement of changes in net 
assets that reports the remaining activities for the period. The first line that appears 
on the second statement is the last line that appears on the first statement. This 
presentation choice is not required for any particular not-for-profit entity (NFP) and 
is not intended to illustrate requirements beyond those included in Section 958- 
225-45. An NFP is allowed flexibility in choosing the presentation that best 
communicates its activities for the period. Assumptions made in the illustration 
below include: 

 

a.    The only board designation, appropriation, or similar transfer used by the 
entity’s governing board is the transfer out of operations for the amount 
of the gifted property, plant, and equipment placed in service. Although 
notes are not included, the entity also would qualitatively disclose the 
purpose, amounts, and types of transfers used by the entity if not evident 
from the face of the statement. 

b.   Expenses are presented by nature on the face of the statement of 
activities. The requirement to report operating expenses by both nature 
and function in one location could be provided in a note or as a separate 
statement. 

c.    The   illustrative  statement  of   activities   assumes,  for  presentation 
purposes, that Topic 606 on revenue from contracts with customers has 
been  applied.  The  health  care  entity  has  assessed  its  contractual 
allowances and discounts as being price concessions; thus, patient 
revenue is presented net of contractual allowances and discounts. Bad- 

debt expense also is presented in accordance with Topic 606 and, thus, 
is not presented as a reduction of revenue but, instead, as an operating 
expense. 

d.    The entity has chosen to present classifications of net assets resulting 

from expirations of restrictions in the aggregate in its statement of 
operations and statement of change in net assets, while providing 
additional detail in a note. 

e.    Included in the expiration of restrictions is $1,350 of property, plant, and 
equipment that was placed in service. 

 

958-205-55-21E An example of a statement of activities for a health care entity 

follows. 
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[For ease of readability, the illustration is not underlined as new text.] 
 
 

Not-for-Profit Entity—Health Care Entity 

Statement of Operations 

Year Ended June 30, 20X3 

(in thousands) 

 

 
Operating revenues and support: 

 
 
 

 
Without Donor 

Restrictions 

Patient revenue, net of contractual allowances and discounts $ 660,230 
Premium revenue 33,342 
Other operating revenue 21,780 
Contributions 1,216 
Donated property, plant, and equipment 1,940 
Expiration of restrictions   6,145   

Total operating revenue and support 724,653 
 

Operating expenses: 

Salaries and benefits 305,900 
Purchased services 257,550 
Supplies 84,820 
Depreciation and amortization 32,040 
Bad-debt expense 19,777 
Other   2,500   

Total operating expenses 702,587 
Operating excess, before transfers 22,066 

 
Transfers to/(from) operating activities: 

Gifted property, plant, and equipment placed in service 

Operating excess, after transfers 

 
(3,290) 

$ 18,776 
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[For ease of readability, the illustration is not underlined as new text.] 
 
 

Not-for-Profit Entity—Health Care Entity 

Statement of Changes in Net Assets 

Year Ended June 30, 20X3 

(in thousands) 

 

 
Without Donor Restrictions:  

Operating excess, after transfers $ 18,776 
 

Nonoperating activity: 
 

Investment return, net 9,302 
Interest expense (7,350) 
Pension-related changes other than net periodic pension costs 2,300 

Transfers (to)/from operating activities: 

Gifted property, plant, and equipment placed in service 
 
  3,290   

Increase from nonoperating activities 
 

  7,542   

Increase in net assets without donor restrictions 26,318 
 
With Donor Restrictions:  

 

Contributions 
 

2,390 
Expiration of restrictions (6,145) 
Investment return, net   5,152   

Increase in net assets with donor restrictions 1,397 
 
Increase in net assets 

 
  27,715   

Net assets at beginning of year   270,250   
Net assets at end of year $ 297,965 
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> > > Example 1C: University 
 

958-205-55-21F The Example presented below is formatted as a columnar or 

multicolumn, single-statement approach that presents a column for each net asset 
category (net assets without donor restrictions and net assets with donor 
restrictions) and adds an optional total column. This format clearly presents 
expiration of donor restrictions that result in the reclassification of net assets 

between the two net asset classes. This presentation choice is not required for any 
particular NFP and is not intended to illustrate requirements beyond those included 
in Section 958-225-45. An NFP is allowed flexibility in choosing the presentation 
that best communicates its activities for the period. As required, the appropriation 
of investment returns from the quasi-endowment fund is reflected as a transfer, 
whereas the appropriation of investment returns from the donor-restricted 
endowment fund is reflected as net assets released from restrictions. Assumptions 
made in the illustration below include: 

 

a.    Total amount appropriated by the governing board was $23,000, of which 

$8,000 had no purpose restrictions and was immediately released from 
restrictions. The remaining $15,000 had other donor restrictions, of which 
only $10,000 was satisfied. The remaining $5,000 appropriated has not 
yet been reclassified from net assets without donor restrictions (additional 
detail would be presented in an endowment roll-forward disclosure, such 
as the illustrative disclosure presented in paragraph 958-205-55-41). 

b.    In accordance with paragraph 958-225-45-10B, an NFP is required to 
disclose details on those board designations, appropriations, and similar 

transfers that are aggregated on the face of the statement of activities, 
which, at a minimum, are required to be aggregated to transfers to and 
transfers from operating activities. 

 

Aggregate of transfers out of current-period operations: 

Gifted property, plant, and equipment placed in service 

Bequests received and designated for investment in  

 

 
$   22,450 

quasi-endowment    5,400 
 

 
Transfer to current-period operations: 

Investment returns appropriated from quasi-endowment 

$   27,850 
 

 
$   21,945 

 

 

c.   Expenses are presented by function on the face of the statement of 
activities. The requirement to report expenses by both nature and function 
in one location could be provided in a note or as a separate statement. 

d.    The  University  chose  not  to  present  donor-restricted  contributions 
whose restrictions are met in the same reporting period in the net assets 
without donor restrictions category, as allowed in paragraph 958-605-45- 
4. 
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e.    The   illustrative  statement  of   activities   assumes,  for  presentation 
purposes, that Topic 606 has been applied. Scholarships, fellowships, 
and other student aid from University sources are considered price 
concessions and, therefore, included in tuition discount. 

 

958-205-55-21G An example of a statement of activities for a university follows. 
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[For ease of readability, the illustration is not underlined as new text.] 
 
 

Not-for-Profit Entity—University 

Statement of Activities 

Year Ended June 30, 20X3 

(in thousands) 

Without Donor 

Restrictions 

With Donor 

Restrictions Total 

Tuition and fees, net of tuition discount of $143,250 $ 370,215 $ 370,215 

Government grants 15,380 15,380 

Contributions, grants, and bequests 28,860 $ 19,400 48,260 

Auxiliary services and sales 

Interest on student and employee loans 

 
Net assets released from restrictions: 

Satisfaction of program restrictions 

Satisfaction of equipment acquisition restrictions 

Expiration of time restrictions 

Appropriation of endowment returns with purpose restrictions satisfied 

Appropriation of endowment returns without purpose restrictions 

 
Total revenue and support 

 
Expenses: 

Instruction and academic support 

Student services 

Research 

Management and general 

Fundraising 

Total operating expenses 

 
Excess operating revenues and support over expenses, before transfers 

 
Transfers to/(from) operating activities: 

Transfer to operating activities 

Aggregate of transfers from operating activities 

 
Excess operating revenues and support over expenses, after transfers 

 
Investment return, net 

Interest expense 

 
Transfers (to)/from operating activities: 

Transfer to operating activities 

Aggregate of transfers from operating activities 

 
Change in net assets 

Net assets at beginning of year 

11,800 11,800 

  8,560   8,560 

434,815 

 
27,000 (27,000) 

12,100 (12,100) 

9,200 (9,200) 

10,000 (10,000) 

  8,000   (8,000) 

  66,300   

501,115 

 

 
213,100 213,100 

75,680 75,680 

70,940 70,940 

50,100 50,100 

  22,150   22,150 

431,970 

 
69,145 

 

 
21,945  21,945 

(27,850) (27,850) 

 
63,240 

 
39,050 50,270 89,320 

(7,220)   (7,220) 

 
(21,945) (21,945) 

27,850 27,850 

 
100,975 3,370 104,345 

468,400 260,500 728,900 

Net assets at end of year $ 569,375 $ 263,870 $ 833,245 

 

 
 

> > Example 2: Donor-Restricted Endowment Fund 
 

958-205-55-22 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X-XX. 

This Example illustrates the classification prescribed by paragraphs 958-205-45- 
13 through 45-27 and paragraphs 958-205-45-33 through 45-35 of a donor- 
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restricted endowment fund subject to a version of the Uniform Management 

Institutional Funds Act of 1972. 
 

958-205-55-23 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.At the beginning of Year 1, Not-for-Profit Entity B received a gift of $1,000,000. 
The donor specified that the gift be used to create an endowment fund that will be 
invested in perpetuity with income to be used for the support of Program A. The 
investments purchased with the gift earned $30,000 of investment income. Not- 
for-Profit Entity B spent that income plus an additional $20,000 of unrestricted 
resources on Program A during the year. At the end of the year, the fair value of 

the investments was $1,047,000. 
 

958-205-55-24 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X-XX. 

Transactions for Year 1 are classified as increases or decreases in permanently 
restricted net assets, temporarily restricted net assets, or unrestricted net assets 
as follows. 

 
Net Assets 

 
Transactions 

Activity of Program A 

Board-designated resources(a)
 

Investment income 

 
Unrestricted 

 
$  20,000 

Temporarily 

Restricted 

 

 
$  30,000 

Permanently 

Restricted  Total 

 
$  20,000 

  30,000 

Expenses 

Release restriction (b)
 

  (50,000)    (50,000) 

  30,000        (30,000) 

Subtotal   -         -     - 
  

Investments 

Gift 

Gains  (c)
 

 
  47,000 

$   1,000,000      1,000,000 

  47,000 

Release restriction (b)
   20,000          (20,000)    

Subtotal   20,000           27,000              1,000,000              1,047,000  

End of year $  20,000 $  27,000 $   1,000,000 $  1,047,000 

 
(a)   The governing board designates $20,000 of unrestricted resources of Not-for-Profit Entity B to be spent in  

support of Program A. 

(b)   When $50,000 is spent in support of Program A, restrictions are released on the $30,000 of income and  

$20,000 of temporarily restricted gains according to the provisions of this Subtopic. The restrictions on the  

gains expire even though the governing board chose to use unrestricted resources rather than sell some  

investments and use the proceeds for Program A. 
 

(c)  The $47,000 gain is restricted to the same purpose as the income because state law permits appreciation to be 

appropriated for the uses and purposes for which the endowment fund was established. 

 

 

958-205-55-25 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.On January 1 of Year 2, in accordance with its spending policy, the governing 
board of Not-for-Profit Entity B sold some investments for $25,000 and spent the 
proceeds on Program A. The remaining investments earned $30,000 of investment 
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income, which Not-for-Profit Entity B also spent on Program A. At the end of the 
year, the fair value of the investments was $1,097,000. 

 

958-205-55-26  Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.Transactions for Year 2 are classified as follows. 
 

Net Assets 

 
Transactions 

Activity of Program A 

Spending policy (a)
 

 
Unrestricted 

Temporarily 

Restricted 
 

 
$  25,000 

Permanently 

Restricted Total 
 

 
$  25,000 

Investment income 

Expenses 

 
$  (55,000) 

  30,000   30,000 

  (55,000) 

Release restriction   55,000    (55,000)   -   

Subtotal   -     -     -   

Investments  
Spending policy (a)     (25,000)      (25,000) 
Gains     75,000      75,000 
Beginning of year   20,000     27,000      $   1,000,000      $   1,047,000  
End of year $  20,000  $  77,000  $  1,000,000  $  1,097,000 

 

(a) When the governing board sells investments and uses the proceeds for the donor's specified purpose, the  

portion of the endowment fund that by law is not expendable (historic dollar value) does not change. Neither the  

decision by the governing board to appropriate net appreciation nor the sale of the investments changes the  

class of net assets in which the appropriated amount is reported. The $25,000 is classified as temporarily  

restricted net assets until the restriction is met by spending on Program A.  

 
 

958-205-55-27 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X-XX. 

On January 1 of Year 3, in accordance with its spending policy, the governing 
board of Not-for-Profit Entity B sold some investments for $28,000 and spent the 
proceeds on Program A. The remaining investments earned $30,000 of investment 
income, which Not-for-Profit Entity B also spent on Program A. At the end of the 
year, the fair value of the investments was $975,000. 

 

958-205-55-28 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X-XX. 

Transactions for Year 3 are classified as follows. 
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Net Assets 

 
Transactions 

 
Unrestricted 

Temporarily 

Restricted 

Permanently 

Restricted  Total 

 

Activity of Program A 

Spending policy 

 
$  28,000 

 
$  28,000 

Investment income 

Expenses 

 
$  (58,000) 

  30,000    30,000 

  (58,000) 

Release restriction   58,000            (58,000)   -   

Subtotal   -          -     -   

 
Investments 

Spending policy 

Losses  
(a) 

Beginning of year 

End of year 
(b)

 

 

 
  (45,000) 

  20,000 

$  (25,000) 

 

 
  (28,000) 

  (49,000) 

  77,000 

$  - 

 
 

 
$     1,000,000 

$     1,000,000 

 

 
  (28,000) 

  (94,000) 

  1,097,000 

$  975,000 
 

(a) According to the provisions of paragraph 958-205-45-22, the decline in the fair value of the assets of the  

endowment fund reduces temporarily restricted net assets by $49,000. The remaining loss reduces unrestricted  

net assets. 

(b) According to the provisions of paragraph 958-205-50-2, Not-for-Profit Entity B would disclose the $25,000  deficiency 

between the fair value of the investments of the endowment fund at the end of the year and the level  required by 

donor stipulations or law. If Not-for-Profit Entity B had other donor-restricted endowment funds in deficit  positions, it 

would disclose the aggregate amount of the deficiencies. It is generally understood that at least the  amount of the 

original gift(s) and any required accumulations is not expendable, although the value of the  investments purchased 

may occasionally fall below that amount. Future appreciation of the investments generally restores the value to the 

required level. 

 

958-205-55-29 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.On January 1 of Year 4, the governing board of Not-for-Profit Entity B could not 
apply its spending policy because the fair value of the investments was less than 
the historic dollar value of the fund; thus, no appreciation was available for 
expenditure. The investments earned income of $27,000, which Not-for-Profit 
Entity B spent on Program A. At the end of the year, the fair value of the 
investments was $1,005,000. 

 

958-205-55-30 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.Transactions for Year 4 are classified as follows. 
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Net Assets 

 
Transactions 

Activity of Program A 

Investment income 

Expenses 

 
Unrestricted 

 

 
$  (27,000) 

Temporarily 

Restricted 

 
$  27,000 

Permanently 

Restricted  Total 

 
$  27,000 

  (27,000) 

Release restriction   27,000            (27,000)   -   

Subtotal   -          -     -   

Investments 

Gains  
(a)

   25,000   5,000   30,000 

Beginning of year   (25,000)   - 
  

  $      1,000,000    975,000  

End of year $  - $  5,000 $      1,000,000 $      1,005,000 

 

(a) According to the provisions of paragraph 958-205-45-24, because losses have reduced the assets of a donor- 

restricted endowment fund below the level required by donor stipulations  or law ($1,000,000),  the gains ($25,000)  

that restore the fair value of the assets of the endowment fund to the required level are classified as increases in 

unrestricted net assets. The remaining gains ($5,000) are available to be spent on Program A. After the fair value of 

the assets of the endowment fund equals the required level, gains are again available for expenditure, and those 

gains that are restricted by the donor are classified as increases in temporarily restricted net assets. 

 
 

> > Example 3: Endowment Disclosures 

 
958-205-55-31 This Example illustrates application of the disclosure guidance in 

paragraphs 958-205-50-1A through 50-2 by an NFP (NFP A) subject to an enacted 
version of the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act of 2006 
even though that disclosure guidance applies whether or not an NFP is subject to 
an enacted version of that law. 

 

958-205-55-32 This Example makes all of the following assumptions: 
 

a. NFP A is issuing a full set of financial statements for both the current fiscal 
year, 200Y, and the previous fiscal year, 200X. An NFP is required to 
disclose the information in paragraph 958-205-50-1B for each period for 
which it presents financial statements; however, for simplicity, the 
disclosures provide information for a single period, 200Y. 

b. NFP A has a sizable endowment. 
c. At the beginning of 200X,Before 200Y, an enacted version of the Uniform 

Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act of 2006 became effective 
for the State to whose law NFP A is subject. 

d. Subparagraph  superseded  by  Accounting  Standards  Update  201X- 
XX.The Board of Trustees has interpreted the new law as requiring the 

preservation of the original gift amount of the donor-restricted endowment 
funds absent explicit donor stipulations to the contrary. 

e. None of the funds have donor stipulations that override the restriction 

described in subsection 4(a) of the law, which the enacted version in the 
State included verbatim: “unless stated otherwise in the gift instrument, 
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the assets in an endowment fund are donor-restricted assets until 
appropriated for expenditure by the institution.” 

f. Subparagraph  superseded  by  Accounting  Standards  Update  201X- 

XX.The NFP had previously been operating under an enacted version of 
the Uniform Management of Institutional Funds Act. 

g.  Subparagraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 
XX.The change in law prompted a change in the net asset classification 
of NFP A’s endowment, as depicted in the following paragraph. 

 

958-205-55-33 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.The table in paragraph 958-205-55-34 makes all of the following assumptions 
about restrictions placed on the net assets represented in NFP A’s endowment as 
of the beginning of the year 200X: 

 

a.    Item A represents the portion of donor-restricted perpetual endowment 
funds that is deemed to be permanently restricted either by explicit donor 
stipulation or by law. 

b.    Item B represents the portion of donor-restricted term endowment funds 
that is deemed to be restricted over the donor-specified period of the 
endowment either by explicit donor stipulation or by law. 

c.    Item  C  represents  the  remaining  portion  of  the  donor-restricted 

endowment funds that has not yet been appropriated for expenditure and 
is subject to the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act 
of 2006’s time restriction with donor-imposed purpose restrictions that 
have not yet been met. 

d.  Item D represents the remaining portion of the donor-restricted 
endowment funds that has not yet been appropriated for expenditure and 
is subject to the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act 
of  2006’s  time  restriction  with  donor-imposed  purpose  restrictions 
previously deemed to have been met under paragraph 958-205-45-11. 

e.  Item E represents the remaining portion of the donor-restricted 
endowment funds that has not yet been appropriated for expenditure and 
is subject to the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act 

of 2006’s time restriction without donor-imposed purpose restrictions. 
f.    Item F represents board-designated endowment funds without donor- 

imposed purpose or time restrictions. 
 

958-205-55-34 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.This Example’s assumptions about restrictions—as categorized in the 
preceding paragraph—placed on the net assets represented in NFP A’s 
endowment as of the beginning of the year 200X follow. Those assumptions are 
presented for two scenarios: One under which NFP A is not subject to enacted 
version of the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act of 2006 and 
the other under which NFP A is subject to an enacted version of that law. 
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Net Assets in the Endowment as of 

the Beginning of the Year 200X 

 
Net Asset Classification NFP A Is Not Subject to  

Enacted Version 

NFP A Is Subject to Enacted Version 

Donor-restricted endowment 

funds 

Description  Balance  Description  Balance  Reclassification  

Adjustment 

 
Permanently restricted  Item A $     93,398 Item A $   93,398 $  - 

Temporarily restricted  Items B & C    14,369    Items B, C, D &       43,107    28,738 

E 

Unrestricted  Items D & E     28,738    None   -   $  (28,738) 

Total donor-restricted 

funds 

Board-designated  

endowment funds 

Unrestricted 

      136,505     136,505 

 
 
 
Item F   7,184   Item F          7,184  

 

 
 
 
$  - 

Total board-designated funds    7,184         7,184 

Total endowment $   143,689 $ 143,689 

 
958-205-55-35 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.Assumptions about NFP A’s endowment-related activities in the year 200X 

follow. 
 

 
 
 
 

Investment return 

 

Board- 

Donor-Restricted  Designated 

Endowment  Endowment 

Funds  Funds  Total 

Investment income $  2,587 $  287 $  2,874 

Net appreciation   7,786    835     8,621  

Total investment return (a)
 

Contributions to perpetual 

 

  10,373 
 

  1,122 
 

  11,495 

endowment 
 

Amounts appropriated for  

expenditure 

Transfer to remove assets 

from board-designated endowment  

funds 
 

Total change in 

endowment funds 

  2,000    -    2,000 
 

 
  (6,825)    (359)    (7,184) 

 

 
  -     (1,000)    (1,000) 

$  5,548 $  (237) $  5,311 
 
 

(a)    Of the 200X investment return from donor-restricted endowment funds, $275 must be  

retained permanently in accordance with explicit donor stipulations to maintain the purchasing  

power of those funds. 
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958-205-55-36 Assumptions about NFP A’s endowment-related activities in the 

year 200Y follow. 
 

 
 
 
 

Investment return 

 

Board- 

Donor-Restricted  Designated 

Endowment  Endowment 

Funds  Funds  Total 

Investment income $  2,682 $  298 $    2,980 

Net depreciation 
(a)  

  (2,310)    (288)         (2,598) 

Total investment Investment return, net
(a)(b)

 

Contributions to donor-restricted endowment  

fundperpetual endowment 
 

Amounts appropriated for expenditure
(a)

 

 

Transfer to create board-designated endowment 

funds 

 

372  10  382 

2,000       -  2,000 

(7,077)  (373)  (7,450) 

  -     500     500   

Total change in endowment funds $  (4,705) $  137 $  (4,568) 
 

 
(a) Included within investment return, net is $125 of 200Y net depreciation that occurred in new donor- 

restricted endowment funds, causingthat caused the fair value of those funds to be less than the 

original gift amount. In addition, so as not to suspend certain programs, NFP A's Board deemed it 

prudent to continue to appropriate $75 to those programs. 

 
(b)  Of the 200Y investment return from donor-restricted endowment funds, $286 must be retained  

permanently in accordance with explicit donor stipulations to maintain the purchasing power of  

those funds. 

 

 
958-205-55-37 NFP A’s disclosure of its endowment follows. 

FOOTNOTE X: ENDOWMENT 

NFP A’s endowment consists of approximately 100 individual funds established 
for a variety of purposes. Its endowment includes both {add glossary link}donor- 
restricted endowment funds{add glossary link} and funds designated by the 

Board of Trustees to function as endowments. As required by GAAP, net assets 
associated with endowment funds, including funds designated by the Board of 
Trustees to function as endowments, are classified and reported based on the 
existence or absence of {add glossary link}donor-imposed restrictions{add 
glossary link}. 

 

958-205-55-38 NFP A’s disclosure of its interpretation of the law or laws that 
underlie NFP A’s net asset classification of {add glossary link}donor-restricted 
endowment funds{add glossary link} follows as required by paragraph 958-205- 

50-1B(a). 
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Interpretation of Relevant Law 
 

The Board of Trustees of NFP A has interpretedis subject to the State 
Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act (SPMIFA) and, thus, 
classifies amounts in its donor-restricted endowment funds as net assets 
with donor restrictions until the Board of Trustees appropriates such 

amounts for expenditureas requiring the preservation of the original gift 
amount of the donor-restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor 
stipulations to the contrary. The Board of Trustees of NFP A has interpreted 
SPMIFA as not requiring the maintenance of purchasing power of the original 
gift amount contributed to an endowment fund, unless a donor stipulates the 
contrary. As a result of this interpretation, when reviewing its donor-restricted 
endowment funds, NFP A considers a fund to be underwater when the fair 
value of the fund is less than the sum ofNFP A classifies as permanently 
restricted net assets (a) the original value of initial and subsequent gift 
amountsgifts donated to the fundpermanent endowment, (b) the original 
value of subsequent gifts to the permanent endowment, and (c) and (b) any 
accumulations to the fund that are required to be maintained in 
perpetuitypermanent endowment made in accordance with the direction of 
the applicable donor gift instrument at the time the accumulation is added to 
the fund. The remaining portion of the donor-restricted endowment fund that 
is not classified in permanently restricted net assets is classified as 
temporarily restricted net assets until those amounts are appropriated for 
expenditure by the organization in a manner consistent with the standard of 
prudence prescribed by SPMIFA. In Additionally, in accordance with 
SPMIFA, NFP A considers the following factors in making a determination to 
appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds: 

 

(1)  The duration and preservation of the fund 
 

(2)  The purposes of the organization and the donor-restricted endowment 
fund 

 

(3)  General economic conditions 
 

(4)  The possible effect of inflation and deflation 
 

(5)  The  expected  total  return  from  income  and  the  appreciation  of 
investments 

 

(6)  Other resources of the organization 
 

(7)  The investment policies of NFP A. 

 
958-205-55-39 NFP A’s disclosure of its endowment net asset composition by type 

of fund as of June 30, 200Y, follows as required by paragraph 958-205-50-1B(d). 
Note that the $200 deficit in unrestricted assets represents the amounts by which 
the fair value of certain donor-restricted endowment funds were below the amount 
required to be retained permanently. 
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200Y 

Endowment Net Asset Composition by Type of Fund 

as of June 30, 200Y 

 
 

Unrestricted 

Temporarily 

Restricted 

Permanently 

Restricted Total 

 
Donor-restricted endowment 

funds 

Board-designated endowment 

 

 
$  (200) 11

 

 

 
$  39,589 

 

 
$  97,959 

 

 
$  137,348 

funds   7,084    -     -     7,084  

Total funds $  6,884 $  39,589 $  97,959 $  144,432 

 
11   $(200) = (125) + (75) 

 
[For ease of readability, the illustration is not underlined as new text.] 

 
200Y 

Endowment Net Asset Composition by Type of Fund as of June 30, 200Y 

 
Without 

Donor 

Restrictions 

 
With Donor 

Restrictions  Total 

Board-designated endowment funds 

Donor-restricted endowment funds: 

$  7,084  $ -  $    7,084 

Perpetual 97,759  97,759 

Term   39,589     39,589   

Total funds $  7,084 $  137,348 $ 144,432 
 

 

958-205-55-40 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.For the purpose of illustration, the NFP in the example in paragraphs 958-205- 
55-34  through  55-39  is  subject  to  a state law that  its  governing  board  has 
interpreted as requiring the preservation of the original gift amount of the donor- 
restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor stipulations to the contrary. If, on 
the other hand, an NFP were subject to a state law that its governing board 

interpreted as requiring the maintenance of purchasing power for donor-restricted 
endowment funds, then the NFP would apply the guidance in paragraph 958-205- 
45-21A. 

 

958-205-55-41 NFP A’s disclosure of changes in endowment net assets a 

reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the endowment, in total and 
by net asset classes, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 200Y, follows as required 
by paragraph 958-205-50-1B(e). 
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Changes in Endowment Net Assets 
 

for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 200Y 

 
 
 

Endowment net assets, beginning of  

 
Unrestricted 

Temporarily 

Restricted 

Permanently 

Restricted  Total 

year 
 

Investment  return: 

$  6,947 $  46,380 $  95,673 $   149,000 

 

Investment  income    298    2,396    286    2,980 

Net depreciation  (realized and 

unrealized)  
  (413) 

12  
  (2,185) 

13    
  -       (2,598) 

Total investment  return   (115)   211   286   382 

Contributions 

Appropriation of endowment assets  

for expenditure 
 

Other changes: 

  -    -    2,000    2,000 

 
  (448) 

14  
  (7,002) 

15      
  -    (7,450) 

 
Transfers  to create board- 

designated endowment  funds 

 

 
  500   

 

 
  -    -     500   

Endowment  net assets, end of year $  6,884 $  39,589 $  97,959 $   144,432 
 

 
12 $(413) = (288) + (125) 

13 $(2,185) = (2,310) + 125 

14 $(448) = (373) + (75) 

15 $(7,002) = (7,077) + 75 
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[For ease of readability, the illustration is not underlined as new text.] 
 

 
Changes in Endowment Net Assets 

for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 200Y 

 
Without 

Donor 

Restrictions 

 
With Donor 

Restrictions Total 

Endowment net assets, beginning of year $ 6,947 $ 142,053 $ 149,000 

Investment return, net 

Contributions 
 

Appropriation of endowment assets for 

expenditure 

Other changes: 

10 372 382 

- 2,000 2,000 
 

 
(373) (7,077) (7,450) 

 

Transfers to create board-designated 

endowment funds   500     -     500   

Endowment net assets, end of year $ 7,084 $ 137,348 $ 144,432 

 
 
 

958-205-55-42 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.In this Example the changes in unrestricted net assets included $125 of 
depreciation on investments and $75 of appropriations for expenditure for donor- 
restricted endowment funds in which there was a deficiency as of June 30, 200Y, 
with respect to the amount required to be retained in perpetuity. 

 

958-205-55-43 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.Investment returns classified as changes in permanently restricted net assets 
in the illustrative table in paragraph 958-205-55-41 represent only those amounts 
required to be retained permanently as a result of explicit donor stipulations. To 
the extent that actual investment income attributable to funds with such stipulations 
was less than $286, NFP A would reclassify to permanently restricted net assets 
a portion of the temporarily restricted net assets associated with those funds and, 
to the extent there are insufficient temporarily restricted net assets, then 
unrestricted net assets. That reclassification would be displayed separately from 
investment return in the illustrative table. If unrestricted net assets are reclassified, 
this would result in a presentation in the endowment net asset composition table 
that is similar to that associated with the situation described in the preceding 
paragraph. 

 

958-205-55-44 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.NFP A’s disclosure of its endowment net asset composition by type of fund as 
of June 30, 200X, follows. 
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200X 

Endowment  Net Asset Composition  by Type of Fund 
 

as of June 30, 200X 

 
 

Unrestricted 

Temporarily 

Restricted 

Permanently 

Restricted  Total 
 

Donor-restricted endowment 

funds 

Board-designated endowment  

 

 
$  - 

 

 
$  46,380 

 

 
$  95,673 

 

 
$   142,053 

funds   6,947    -     -     6,947  

Total funds $  6,947 $  46,380 $  95,673 $   149,000 

 

 
958-205-55-45 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.NFP A’s disclosure of changes in endowment net assets for the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 200X, follows. 

 

Change in Endowment Net Assets for the Fiscal  

Year Ended June 30, 200X 

 
 

 
Endowment net assets, beginning of  

 
 Unrestricted 

 Temporarily 

Restricted  

 Permanently 

Restricted    Total 

year 
 

Net asset reclassification based on  

$  35,922 $  14,369 $  93,398 $   143,689 

change in law 
 

Endowment net assets after  

reclassification 

Investment  return: 

  (28,738)   28,738    -     -   

 
  7,184    43,107    93,398       143,689 

Investment  income    287    2,587    -    2,874 
 

Net appreciation  (realized and 

unrealized)   835     7,511    275     8,621  

Total investment  return   1,122   10,098   275   11,495 

Contributions 
 

Appropriation of endowment assets  

for expenditure 

Other changes: 
 

Transfers  to remove board 

  -    -    2,000    2,000 

 
  (359)    (6,825)    -    (7,184) 

designated endowment  funds   (1,000)    -      -        (1,000) 
Endowment  net assets, end of year $  6,947  $  46,380  $  95,673  $   149,000 

 

958-205-55-46 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.In the illustrative table in the preceding paragraph, investment returns classified 
as changes in permanently restricted net assets represent only those amounts 
required to be retained permanently as a result of explicit donor stipulations. 
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958-205-55-47 NFP A’s presentation under paragraphs 958-210-45-9 through 45- 

10 and disclosure under paragraph 958-210-50-3 follows. 
 

Description of Amounts Classified as Net Assets with Donor RestrictionsPermanently Restricted Net Assets and  

Temporarily Restricted Net Assets (Endowment Only) 

 

 
Net Assets with Donor RestrictionsPermanently Restricted Net Assets 

 
200Y  200X 

(1) 
 
Original donor-restricted endowment gift amount and amounts required to 

be retained by donorThe portion of perpetual endowment funds that is  

required to be retained permanently either by explicit donor stipulation or  

by SPMIFA 

Total endowment funds classified as permanently restricted  

 
 
 
  $  97,959     $      95,673  

net assets 

Temporarily Restricted Net Assets 

$  97,959 $     95,673 

(1)(2)  Term endowment funds 

(2)(3)  The portion of perpetual endowment funds subject to a time restriction 

under SPMIFA: 

$  4,388 $  5,058 

Without purpose restrictions 

With purpose restrictions 

Total endowment funds classified as net assets with donor  

19,902 20,102    22,965 

  15,099       18,357  

restrictionstemporarily restricted net assets $137,348 39,589 $     46,380 

 

 
958-205-55-48 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.The illustrative disclosure in the preceding paragraph includes only the 
permanently and temporarily restricted net assets within NFP A’s endowment. A 
typical disclosure would be presented outside an endowment note disclosure and 
include all of the net assets classified in the permanently and temporarily restricted 
net asset classes. The amounts contained in the specific lines within the 
temporarily restricted section of that disclosure are purely for illustrative purposes; 
additional information beyond that assumed in paragraphs 958-205-55-34 through 
55-37 would be needed to determine those amounts. In addition, in a typical 
presentation under paragraphs 958-210-45-9 through 45-10 and disclosure under 
paragraph 958-210-50-3, an NFP would provide a further breakdown of the types 

of purpose restrictions (for example, for scholarships, research, community 
service). The balances related to the description in paragraph 958-205-55-33(d) 
would be not only time restricted but also purpose restricted. 

 

958-205-55-49 NFP A’s disclosure under paragraph 958-205-50-2 follows. 
 

Underwater Endowment Funds with Deficiencies 
 

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual {add 
glossary link}donor-restricted endowment funds{add glossary link} may 

fall below the level that the donor or SPMIFA requires NFP A to retain as a 
fund of perpetual duration. In accordance with GAAP, deficiencies 
Deficiencies  of this nature that are reported in unrestricted net assets were 
$200 as of June 30, 200Y exist in three donor-restricted endowment funds, 



102 

 

 

 
 

which together have an original value of $3,500, a current fair value of 
$3,300, and a deficiency of $200 as of June 30, 200Y. These deficiencies 
resulted from unfavorable market fluctuations that occurred shortly after the 

investment of new permanently restricted contributions for donor-restricted 
endowment funds and continued appropriation for certain programs that was 
deemed prudent by the Board of Trustees. There were no such deficiencies 
as of June 30, 200X. 

 

958-205-55-50 NFP A’s disclosure under paragraph 958-205-50-1B(c)(1) follows. 
 

Return Objectives and Risk Parameters 
 

NFP A has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets 
that attempt to provide a predictable stream of funding to programs 
supported by its endowment while seeking to maintain the purchasing power 
of the endowment assets. Endowment assets include those assets of donor- 
restricted funds that the organization must hold in perpetuity or for a donor- 
specified period(s) as well as board-designated funds. Under this policy, as 
approved by the Board of Trustees, the endowment assets are invested in a 
manner that is intended to produce results that exceed the price and yield 
results of the S&P 500 index while assuming a moderate level of investment 
risk. NFP A expects its endowment funds, over time, to provide an average 
rate of return of approximately 89 percent annually. Actual returns in any 
given year may vary from this amount. 

 

958-205-55-51 NFP A’s disclosure under paragraph 958-205-50-1B(c)(3) follows. 
 

Strategies Employed for Achieving Objectives 
 

To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, NFP A relies on a total 
return strategy in which investment returns are achieved through both capital 
appreciation (realized and unrealized) and current yield (interest and 
dividends). NFP A targets a diversified asset allocation that places a greater 
emphasis on equity-based investments to achieve its long-term return 
objectives within prudent risk constraints. 

 

958-205-55-52 NFP A’s disclosure under paragraph 958-205-50-1B(c)(2) follows. 
 

Spending Policy and How the Investment Objectives Relate to Spending 
Policy 

 

NFP A has a policy of appropriating for distribution each year 5 percent of its 
endowment fund’s average fair value over the prior 12 quarters through the 
calendar year-end preceding the fiscal year in which the distribution is 
planned. In establishing this policy, NFP A considered the long-term 
expected return on its endowment. Accordingly, over the long term, NFP A 
expects the current spending policy to allow its endowment to grow at an 
average of 4 percent3 percent annually. This is consistent with NFP A’s 
objective to maintain the purchasing power of the endowment assets held in 
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perpetuity or for a specified term as well as to provide additional real growth 
through new gifts and investment return. NFP A has a policy that permits 
spending from underwater endowment funds depending on the degree to 

which the fund is underwater, unless otherwise precluded by donor intent or 
relevant laws and regulations. The Governing Board appropriated for 
expenditure $75 from underwater endowment funds during the year, which 
represents 3 percent of the 12-quarter moving average, not the 5 percent it 
generally draws from its endowment. 

 

> > Example 4: Endowment Fund Disclosures Variation 
 

958-205-55-53 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.This Example makes the assumption that an NFP, NFP B, is subject to an 
enacted version of the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act of 
2006 that its governing board interpreted as requiring NFP B to maintain the 
purchasing power of its donor-restricted endowment funds. NFP B’s disclosure 
under paragraph 958-205-50-1B follows. 

 

Interpretation of Relevant Law 
 

The Board of Trustees of NFP B has interpreted the State Prudent 
Management of Institutional Funds Act (the Act) as requiring the preservation 
of the purchasing power (real value) of the donor-restricted endowment funds 
absent explicit donor stipulations to the contrary. As a result of this 
interpretation, NFP B classifies as permanently restricted net assets (1) the 
original value of gifts donated to the permanent endowment, (2) the original 
value of subsequent gifts to the permanent endowment, (3) accumulations 
to the permanent endowment made in accordance with the direction of the 
applicable donor gift instrument at the time the accumulation is added to the 
fund, and (4) the portion of investment return added to the permanent 
endowment to maintain its purchasing power. For purposes of determining 
that portion, each year NFP B adjusts permanently restricted net assets by 
the change in the Consumer Price Index for that year. If the endowment 
assets earn investment returns beyond the amount necessary to maintain 
the endowment assets’ real value, that excess is available for appropriation 
and, therefore, classified as temporarily restricted net assets until 
appropriated by the Board for expenditure. In accordance with the Act, NFP 
B considers the following factors in making a determination to appropriate or 
accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds: 

 

(1)  The duration and preservation of the fund 
 

(2)  The purposes of NFP B and the donor-restricted endowment fund 
 

(3)  General economic conditions 
 

(4)  The possible effect of inflation and deflation 
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(5)  The expected total return from income and the appreciation of 
investments 

 

(6)  Other resources of NFP B 
 

(7)  The investment policies of NFP B. 

 

Amendments to Subtopic 958-210 
 

16.   Amend paragraphs 958-210-45-1, 958-210-45-4, 958-210-45-6, and 958- 
210-45-8 through 45-11 and add paragraph 958-210-45-7A, with a link to transition 
paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Not-for-Profit Entities—Balance Sheet 

 
Other Presentation Matters 

 
> Totals and Format 

 
958-210-45-1 A statement of financial position shall focus on the not-for-profit 
entity (NFP) as a whole and shall report all of the following amounts: 

 

a. Total assets 
b. Total liabilities 
c. Total net assets 
d. Net assets with donor restrictionsPermanently restricted net assets 
e. Net  assets  without  donor  restrictionsTemporarily  restricted  net 

assets 

f. Subparagraph  superseded  by  Accounting  Standards  Update  201X- 
XX.Unrestricted net assets. 

 

958-210-45-2 This Subtopic does not preclude display of interfund items in a 

statement of financial position; rather, its requirement to display total assets and 
liabilities results in certain practical limits on how interfund items are displayed in 
a financial statement. For example, because receivables and payables between 
fund groups are not entity assets or liabilities, a statement of financial position shall 
clearly label and arrange those interfund items to eliminate their amounts when 
displaying total assets or liabilities. 

 

958-210-45-3 This Subtopic does not emphasize or preclude specific statement 

formats. It permits a left-to-right or top-to-bottom balanced format as well as single- 
column, multicolumn, single-page, or multipage formats. 

 
> Classification of Assets and Liabilities 
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958-210-45-4 A statement of financial position, including accompanying notes to 
financial statements, provides relevant information about liquidity, financial 
flexibility, and the interrelationship of an NFP’s assets and liabilities. That 

information generally is provided by aggregating assets and liabilities that possess 
similar characteristics into reasonably homogeneous groups that include the 
effects of {add glossary link}donor-imposed restrictions{add glossary link} as 

well as other contractual restrictions. 
 

958-210-45-5 Classifying and aggregating items with similar characteristics into 

reasonably homogeneous groups and separating items with differing 
characteristics is a basic reporting practice that increases the usefulness of 
information. For example, entities generally report individual items of assets in 
homogeneous groups, such as cash and cash equivalents; accounts and notes 
receivable from patients, students, members, and other recipients of services; 
inventories of materials and supplies; deposits and prepayments for rent, 
insurance, and other services; marketable securities and other investment assets 
held for long-term purposes; and land, buildings, equipment, and other long-lived 
assets used to provide goods and services. Likewise, cash collections of 
receivables from patients, students, or other service recipients may differ 
significantly in continuity, stability, and risk from cash collections of pledges made 
to a special-purpose fundraising campaign. Classifying and reporting those 
receivables and collections of receivables as separate groups of assets and of 
cash inflows facilitates financial statement analysis aimed at objectives such as 
predicting amounts, timing, and uncertainty of future cash flows. 

 

958-210-45-6 Assets may be restricted by donors. For example, land could be 

restricted to use as a public park. Generally, however, restrictions apply to net 
assets, not to specific assets. Assets need not be disaggregated on the basis of 
the presence of {add glossary link}donor-imposed restrictions{add glossary 
link} on their use; for example, cash available for unrestricted current use and 

without donor restrictions need not be reported separately from cash received with 
donor-imposed restrictions that is also available for current use. However, cash or 
other assets received with a {remove glossary link}donor-imposed 
restriction{remove glossary link} that limits their use to long-term purposes shall 

not be classified with cash or other assets that have no donor restrictions are 
unrestricted and are available for current use. The kind of asset whose use is 
limited either by a donor-imposed restriction or by governing board designations 
shall be described in the notes to the financial statements if itsthe nature of the 
restriction (that is, amount and purpose)  is not clear from the description on the 
face of the statement of financial position. 

 

958-210-45-7 If not disclosed in the notes to financial statements, the following 

information shall be displayed on the face of the statement of financial position: 
 

a.    Relevant information about the nature and amount of limitations on the 
use of cash and cash equivalents (such as cash held on deposit as a 
compensating balance) 
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b. Contractual limitations on the use of particular assets. 
 

958-210-45-7A An NFP shall provide certain additional information useful in 

assessing its liquidity position in a note disclosure that includes both quantitative 

and qualitative information about an entity’s liquidity position (see paragraph 958- 
210-50-1A). 

 

958-210-45-8 Additional informationInformation about liquidity shall be provided by 

any of the following: 
 

a.    Sequencing assets according to their nearness of conversion to cash and 
sequencing liabilities according to the nearness of their maturity and 
resulting use of cash 

b. Classifying assets and liabilities as current and noncurrent, as defined by 

Subtopic 210-10 (required by paragraph 954-210-45-1 for statements of 
financial position prepared by not-for-profit, business-oriented health care 
entities) 

c. Disclosing  in  notes  to  financial  statements  any  additional   relevant 

information about the liquidity or maturity of assets and liabilities, 
including restrictions on the use of particular assets. 

 
> Classification of Net Assets 

 
958-210-45-9 The amounts for each of the twothree classes of net assets—with 

donor restrictions and without donor restrictionspermanently restricted, temporarily 
restricted, and unrestricted—are based on the existence or absence of {add 
glossary link}donor-imposed restrictions{add glossary link}. Information about 

the nature and amounts of different types of donor-imposed restrictionspermanent 
restrictions or temporary restrictions shall be provided either by reporting their 

amounts on the face of the statement or by including relevant details in notes to 
financial statements. Additionally, separateSeparate line items may be reported 
within  net assets with donor restrictionspermanently restricted net assets or in 

notes to financial statements to distinguish between various types of donor- 
imposed restrictions, such aspermanent restrictions for both of the following 
holdings: 

 

a.    Assets, such as land or works of art, donated with stipulations that they 
be used for a specified purpose, be preserved, and not be sold. 

b.   Assets donated with stipulations that they be invested to provide a 
permanent source of income. These result from gifts and bequests that 
create permanent endowment fundsa donor-restricted endowment that 

is perpetual in nature. 

c.    Support of particular operating activities. 
d.    Investment for a specified term. 
e.    Use in a specified future period. 
f.  Acquisition of long-lived assets. 



10
7 

 

 

 
 

958-210-45-10  Similarly, separate line items may be reported within temporarily 

restricted net assets or in notes to financial statements to distinguish between the 
following temporary restrictions: 

 

a.    Support of particular operating activities 
b.    Investment for a specified term 
c.    Use in a specified future period 
d.    Acquisition of long-lived assets. 

 

A donor-imposed restrictionDonors’ temporary restrictions may require that 

resources be used in a later period or after a specified date (time restrictions), or 
that resources be used for a specified purpose (purpose restrictions), or both. For 
example, gifts of cash and other assets with stipulations that they be invested to 
provide a source of income for a specified term and that the income be used for a 
specified purpose are both time and purpose restricted. Those gifts often are called 
{add glossary link}term endowments{add glossary link}. 

 

958-210-45-11 Information about self-imposed limits also ismay be useful, 

including information about voluntary resolutions by the governing board of an 
entity, such as resolutions to designate a portion of its  net assets without donor 
restrictionsunrestricted net assets to function as an endowment (sometimes 
called a {add glossary link}board-designated endowment fund{add glossary 
link}) or to designate a portion for a specific future expenditure (called  board- 
designated net assetsdesignated net assets). Information about the amounts 

and purposes of board designations of net assets without donor restrictions shall 
be provided That information may be provided in notes to or on the face of financial 
statements in accordance with paragraph 958-210-50-3. (See Example 1 
[paragraph 958-210-55-3] for an illustration of this guidance.) 

 

17.   Amend paragraphs 958-210-50-1 through 50-3 and add paragraph 958-210- 
50-1A, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Disclosure 

 
958-210-50-1 A not-for-profit entity (NFP) shall disclose in notes to financial 
statements relevant information about the liquidity or maturity of assets and 

liabilities, including restrictions and self-imposed limits on the use of particular 
items, in addition to information provided on the face of the statement of financial 
position, if shown, in accordance with paragraph 958-210-45-8unless that 
information is provided on the face of the statement of financial position (see 
paragraph 958-210-45-8). Specific disclosure requirements to meet that objective 
include the requirements in this Subtopic. 

 

958-210-50-1A An NFP shall disclose the following in the notes to financial 

statements: 
 

a.    Quantitative information useful in assessing an entity’s liquidity position 
that shall include the following information: 
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1.    The total amount of financial assets. 

2.   Amounts that are not available to meet cash needs within a self- 
defined time horizon that corresponds with the time horizon used by 
the NFP for managing its liquidity (for example, 30, 60, or 90 days) 
because of either of the following: 
i External limits 
ii.  Internal designations, appropriations, and transfers made by the 

NFP’s governing board. 
3.    The total amount of financial liabilities that are due within the same 

self-defined time horizon used in (2) above. 
b.    Qualitative information about how the entity manages its liquidity position 

also shall be disclosed. For example, an entity may disclose any of the 
following types of information that is relevant to how an entity manages 
its liquidity: 
1.    Strategy for addressing entity-wide risks that may affect liquidity, 

including its use of lines of credit. 
2.    Policy for establishing liquidity reserves. 
3.    Basis for determining the time horizon used for managing its liquidity. 

 

See an example note disclosure in paragraph 958-205-55-21. 
 

958-210-50-2 An NFP shall disclose all ofthe following, if present, in the notes to 

financial statements and may include that information in the qualitative disclosures 
in accordance with paragraph 958-210-50-1A(b): 

 

a.  Unusual circumstances, such as special borrowing arrangements, 
requirements imposed by resource providers that cash be held in 
separate accounts, and known significant liquidity problems 

b.    The fact that the NFP has not maintained appropriate amounts of cash 
and cash equivalents to comply with {add glossary link}donor-imposed 
restrictions{add glossary link} (see paragraph 958-450-50-3) 

c.    Information about significant limits resulting from contractual agreements 
with suppliers, creditors, and others, including the existence of loan 
covenants. 

 

958-210-50-3 Section 958-210-45 discusses the following items that are required 

to be included in the notes to financial statements if they are not provided on the 
face of the statement of financial position: 

 

a. A description of the kind of asset whose use is limited (see paragraph 
958-210-45-6) 

b.  Information about the nature and amount of limitations on the use of cash 
and cash equivalents (see paragraph 958-210-45-7[a]) 

c. Contractual limitations on the use of particular assets (see paragraph 
958-210-45-7[b]) 

d.    Information about the nature and amounts of different types of permanent 
restrictions that affect how and when, if ever, the resources (net assets) 
can be used (see paragraph 958-210-45-9) 
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e.  Subparagraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 
XX.Information about the nature and amounts of different types of 
temporary restrictions (see paragraph 958-210-45-10). 

f.    Information about additional limitations placed on net assets, such as 
information about the amounts and purposes of board designations of net 
assets  without  donor  restrictions  required  in  accordance  with 

paragraph 958-10-45-11. 
 

18.   Amend paragraphs 958-210-55-3 through 55-4, with a link to transition 
paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Implementation Guidance and Illustrations 

 
> Illustrations 

 
> > Example 1: Format of the Net Asset Section 

 
958-210-55-3 As illustrated in paragraph 958-205-55-9, this Subtopic encourages 
the use of the terms  net assets with donor restrictions and net assets without 
donor restrictionsunrestricted, temporarily restricted, and permanently 
restricted net assets; however, other labels exist. For example, equity may be 

used for net assets, and other or not donor-restricted may be used with care to 
distinguish net assets with donor restrictions from net assets without donor 
restrictionsunrestricted net assets from the temporarily and permanently restricted 
classes of net assets. For example, the net asset section might be arranged as 
follows. 

 

With donor restrictionsDonor restricted: 

Perpetual in naturePermanently 

Purpose restrictedTemporarily 

 
$XXX 

XXX 

For periods after 20X1  XXX 
 

Without donor restrictionsOther: 

Designated by the Board for [purpose ] 

Undesignated 

$XXX 

  XXX    XXX 

Net assets    $XXX 
 

 

958-210-55-4 At a minimum, paragraph 958-210-45-1 requires that the amounts 
for each of the twothree classes of net assets—net assets with donor 
restrictions and net assets without donor restrictionsunrestricted net assets, 

temporarily restricted net assets, and permanently restricted net assets—and the 
total of net assets be reported in a statement of financial position. The captions 
used to describe those amounts must correspond with their meanings. 
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Amendments to Subtopic 958-225 
 

19.   Amend paragraphs 958-225-45-1, 958-225-45-3 through 45-8, 958-225-45- 
11, 958-225-45-13 through 45-14, and 958-225-45-17, add paragraphs 958-225- 
45-3A, 958-225-45-8A through 45-8C, 958-225-45-10A through 45-10B, and 958- 
225-45-17A through 45-19 and their related heading, and  supersede paragraphs 

958-225-45-9 through 45-10, and 958-225-45-12, with a link to transition 
paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Not-for-Profit Entities—Income Statement 

 
Other Presentation Matters 

 
> Totals and Format 

 
958-225-45-1 A statement of activities provided by a not-for-profit entity (NFP) 

shall focus on the entity as a whole and shall report the following amounts for the 
period: 

 

a. The change in net assets 
b. The  change  in  net  assets  with  donor  restrictionspermanently 

restricted net assets 

c.    The  change  in  net  assets  without  donor  restrictionstemporarily 
restricted net assets 

d.  Subparagraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 
XX.The change in unrestricted net assets. 

e.   Operating revenues and support in excess of (less than) operating 
expenses before governing board designations, appropriations, and 
similar transfers if such transfers are utilized (an operating excess 
(deficit) of a not-for-profit entity before transfers) 

f.    Operating revenues and support in excess of (less than) operating 
expenses after governing board designations, appropriations, and similar 
transfers (an operating excess (deficit) of a not-for-profit entity after 
transfers). 

 

958-225-45-2 The change in net assets shall articulate to the net assets or equity 

reported in the statement of financial position and it shall be referred to using a 
descriptive term such as change in net assets or change in equity. 

 

958-225-45-3 Revenues, expenses, gains, and losses increase or decrease net 

assets and shall be classified as provided in paragraphs 958-225-45-4 through 45- 
11A 45-8.  Reclassification of net assetsReclassifications, such as expirations 
of {add glossary link}donor-imposed restrictions{add glossary link}, shall be 

reported as separate items. 
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958-225-45-3A An NFP may present its statement of activities as either one or two 

statements. If two statements are presented (for example, a statement of 
operations and a statement of changes in net assets), the first statement must 
present, at a minimum, the operating excess (deficit) of a not-for-profit entity 
after transfers. The second statement must provide the information necessary to 

derive total change in net assets. 
 

> Classification of Revenues, Expenses, Gains, and Losses 

 
958-225-45-4 Information about revenues, expenses, gains, losses, and 
reclassification of net assetsreclassifications generally is provided by 

aggregating items that possess similar characteristics into reasonably 
homogeneous groups. 

 

958-225-45-5 A statement of activities shall report revenues as increases in  net 
assets without donor restrictionsunrestricted net assets unless the use of the 
assets received is limited by {add glossary link}donor-imposed restrictions{add 
glossary link}. For example, fees from rendering services and income from 

investments are typically for general purposes of the NFPgenerally are 
unrestricted; however, income from donor-restricted permanent  perpetual or term 
endowments may be donor restricted and  generally would  increase  net 
assets with donor restrictionseither temporarily restricted net assets or 

permanently restricted net assets. 
 

958-225-45-6 Pursuant to the Contributions Received Subsections of Subtopic 

958-605, in the absence of a donor’s explicit stipulation or circumstances 
surrounding the receipt of the contribution that make clear the donor’s implicit 

restriction on use, contributions are reported as unrestricted revenues or gains 
without donor restrictions (unrestricted support), which increase net assets 
without donor restrictionsunrestricted net assets. The classification of 

contributions received as revenues or gains depends on whether the transactions 
are part of the NFP’s ongoing major or central activities (revenues), or are 
peripheral or incidental to the NFP (gains). Donor-restricted contributions are 
reported as restricted revenues or gains (donor-restricted supportrestricted 
support), which increase net assets with donor restrictionstemporarily 

restricted net assets or permanently restricted net assets depending on the type 
of restriction. However, donor-restricted contributions whose restrictions are met 
in the same reporting period may be reported as unrestricted support in net assets 
without donor restrictions, provided that an NFP has a similar policy for reporting 
investment gains and income, reports consistently from period to period, and 
discloses its accounting policy. 

 

958-225-45-7 A statement of activities shall report expenses as decreases in  net 
assets without donor restrictionsunrestricted net assets, with the exception of 

investment  expenses,  which  shall  be  netted  against  investment  return  and 
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reported in the net asset category in which the net investment return is reported 
(see Subtopic 958-720). 

 

958-225-45-8 A statement of activities shall report gains and losses recognized on 
investments and other assets (or liabilities) as increases or decreases in net 
assets without donor restrictionsunrestricted net assets unless their use is 

temporarily or permanently restricted by explicit donor stipulations or by law that 
extends donor restrictions. For example, net gains on investment assets, to the 
extent recognized in financial statements, are reported as increases in net assets 
without donor restrictionsunrestricted net assets unless their use is restricted to a 
specified purpose or future period or by law that extends donor restrictions. See 
Section 958-320-45 for additional guidance about reporting investment gains and 
losses, and paragraphs 958-205-45-13 through 45-13H45-27 for additional 
guidance about reporting gains and losses on endowment funds. See paragraph 
958-310-45-3 for additional guidance about bad debt expenses and losses. 

 

958-225-45-8A A statement of activities shall report all revenues, expenses, gains, 

losses, and other changes in net assets as either operating activities or 
nonoperating activities. The operating activities section shall report all changes in 
resources (net assets) that meet both of the following: 

 

a.    Mission dimension: Resources that result from or are directed at carrying 
out an NFP’s purpose for existence 

b.    Availability  dimension:  Resources  are  available  for  current-period 
activities, considering both external and internal limitations. 

 

Those activities that are not directly related to carrying out an NFP’s purpose for 
existence (for example, general investing and financing activities) do not meet the 
mission dimension and shall be classified as nonoperating activities. The 
resources from activities that are unavailable for the current period (for example, 
donor-restricted support or governing board designations, appropriations, or 

similar transfers, which are described in paragraph 958-225-45-10B) do not meet 
the availability dimension and also shall be classified as nonoperating activities. 
All nonoperating activities, other than those that are a result of governing board 
action, shall be excluded from both the operating excess (deficit) of a not-for- 
profit entity before transfers and the operating excess (deficit) of a not-for- 
profit entity after transfers. See paragraph 958-225-45-10A through 45-10B for 

additional guidance on presentation of governing board designations, 
appropriations, and similar transfers. 

 

958-225-45-8B Classifying revenues, expenses, gains, and losses within classes 

of net assets and as an operating or a nonoperating activity  does not preclude 
incorporating additional classifications within a statement of activities. For 
example, within a class or classes of changes in net assets, an NFP may classify 
items as follows: 

 

a. Subparagraph  superseded  by  Accounting  Standards  Update  201X- 
XX.Operating and nonoperating 
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b. Expendable and nonexpendable 
c. Recognized and unrecognized 
d. Recurring and nonrecurring 
e. In other ways. [Content amended and moved from paragraph 958- 

225-45-9] 

 
958-225-45-8C Classification of an item as revenues, expenses, gains, or losses 

does not determine whether the item is considered inside or outside of the 
operating measure; rather, the two dimensions of mission and availability 
contribute to this determination. 

 

> MeasureMeasures of Operations 
 

958-225-45-9 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.Classifying revenues, expenses, gains, and losses within classes of net assets 
does not preclude incorporating additional classifications within a statement of 
activities. For example, within a class or classes of changes in net assets, an NFP 
may classify items as follows: 

 

a.    Operating and nonoperating 
b.    Expendable and nonexpendable 
c.    Recognized and unrecognized 
d.    Recurring and nonrecurring 
e.    In other ways.  [Content amended and moved to paragraph 958-225- 

45-8B] 

 
958-225-45-10 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.This Subtopic neither encourages nor discourages those further classifications. 
However, because terms such as operating income, operating profit, operating 
surplus, operating deficit, and results of operations are used with different 
meanings, if an intermediate measure of operations (for example, excess or deficit 
of  operating  revenues  over  expenses)  is  reported,  it  shall  be  in  a  financia l 
statement that, at a minimum, reports the change in unrestricted net assets for the 
period. Example 1 (see paragraph 958-225-55-5) illustrates a statement of 
unrestricted revenues, expenses, and other changes in unrestricted net assets that 
subdivides all transactions and other events and circumstances to make an 
operating and nonoperating distinction. 

 

958-225-45-10A As outlined in paragraph 958-225-45-8A, an NFP shall report all 

resource inflows that are for the mission and available for the current period as 
operating revenue in the statement of activities. If an NFP’s governing board (or 
its authorized designees) designates, appropriates, or similarly transfers a portion 
of those resources (net assets) for use in a future period, effectively making the 
resources unavailable for current operations, the NFP shall report a transfer out of 
the operating activities section to reflect the portion of resources no longer 
available.  Conversely,  if  the NFP’s  governing board  makes  available  certain 
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nonoperating returns or previously transferred amounts to support fiscal needs of 
current operations (for example, use of a spending rate from a board-designated 
endowment fund), the NFP shall report a transfer into the operating activities 

section to reflect the portion of resources made available for current-period 
operations. 

 

958-225-45-10B An entity shall report governing board designations, 

appropriations, and similar transfers, if used by the NFP, in accordance with the 

following presentation requirements: 
 

a.   All transfers in and out of operations shall be reported in a separate, 
discrete section on the statement of activities. 

b.    All transfers shall be reported after the operating excess (deficit) of a 
not-for-profit entity before transfers and before the operating excess 
(deficit) of a not-for-profit entity after transfers. 

c.    At a minimum, an NFP shall present the aggregate of transfers out of 
operating activities separate from the aggregate of transfers into 
operating activities; additionally, all transfers need to be reflected outside 
of the operating activities section. 

d.    If all transfers are not displayed as discrete line items on the face of the 
statement  of  activities,  an  NFP  shall provide  a note disclosure that 

provides details on amounts and types of transfers that are presented on 
an aggregated basis on the face of the statement of activities. 

e.   An NFP shall qualitatively describe in a note disclosure the purpose, 
amounts, and types of transfers that are used by the entity’s governing 

board or their designees to manage operations (for example, whether 
transfers are done because of standing board policies, as one-time 
decisions, or for other reasons). 

 

958-225-45-11 Some limitations on an NFP’s use of an intermediate measure of 

operations are imposed by other Subtopics. If a subtotal such as incomeIncome 
from operations is presented, it shall include the following amountsamounts, if 
recognized: 

 

a. An impairment loss recognized for a long-lived asset (asset group) to be 
held and used, pursuant to paragraph 360-10-45-4 

b. Costs associated with an exit or disposal activity that does not involve a 
discontinued operation, pursuant to paragraph 420-10-45-3 

c. A gain or loss recognized on the sale of a long-lived asset (disposal 
group) that is not a component of an entity,  entity that qualifies for 

discontinued operations treatment, as defined in Subtopic 205-20, and 
pursuant to paragraph 360-10-45-5. 

 

958-225-45-12 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.Pursuant to paragraph 958-225-50-1, if an NFP’s use of the term operations is 

not apparent from the details provided on the face of the statement, a note to 
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financial  statements  shall  describe  the  nature  of  the  reported  measure  of 
operations or the items excluded from operations. 

 

> Reclassifications 

 
958-225-45-13 {add glossary link}Reclassifications of net assets{add glossary 
link}—that is, simultaneous increases in one net asset class and decreases in 

another—shall be made if any of the following events occur: 
 

a. The NFP fulfills the purposes for which the net assets were restricted. 
b.    {add  glossary  link}Donor-imposed  restrictions{add  glossary  link} 

expire with the passage of time or with the death of a split-interest 
agreement beneficiary (if the net assets are not otherwise restricted). 

c.  A donor withdraws, or court action removes, previously imposed 
restrictions. 

d. A   donor   imposes   restrictions   on    net   assets   without   donor 
restrictionsotherwise unrestricted net assets. For example, a donor may 
make a restricted {add glossary link}contribution{add glossary link} 

that is conditioned on the NFP restricting a stated amount of its net assets 
without donor restrictionsunrestricted net assets. Such restrictions that 
are not reversible without donors’ consent result in a reclassification of 
net assets without donor restrictionsunrestricted net assets to net assets 
with donor restrictionsrestricted net assets. 

 

See paragraphs 958-205-45-9 through 45-12 for additional information about the 
expiration of donor-imposed restrictions. 

 
> Gross versus Net Reporting of Amounts 

 
958-225-45-14 To help explain the relationships of an NFP’s ongoing major or 

central operations and activities, a statement of activities generally shall report the 
gross amounts of revenues and expenses. However, investment return (related to 
total return investing and not programmatic investing) shallrevenues may be 

reported net of related expenses, including external and direct internalsuch as 
custodial fees and internal and external investment advisory costs, provided that 
the amount of the expenses is disclosed either on the face of the statement of 
activities or in notes to financial statements. In accordance with paragraph 958- 
320-45-4, the net investment return shall be presented, at a minimum, as a 
separate line item within nonoperating activity on the statement of activities and 
shall be reported separately from any governing board designation, appropriation, 
or similar transfer to designate a portion of the endowment or other investments 
as support for operations. 

 

958-225-45-15 A statement of activities may report gains and losses as net 

amounts if they result from peripheral or incidental transactions or from other 
events and circumstances that may be largely beyond the control of the NFP and 
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its management. Information about their net amounts generally is adequate to 
understand the NFP’s activities. For example, an entity that sells land and buildings 
no longer needed for its ongoing activities commonly reports that transaction as a 
net gain or loss, rather than as gross revenues for the sales value and expense for 
the carrying value of the land and buildings sold. The net amount of those 
peripheral transactions, used with information in a statement of cash flows, usually 
is adequate to help assess how an entity uses its resources and how managers 
discharge their stewardship responsibilities. 

 

958-225-45-16 The frequency of the events and the significance of the gross 

revenues and expenses distinguish major or central events from peripheral or 
incidental events. Events are ongoing major and central activities if they are 
normally part of an NFP’s strategy and it normally carries on such activities or if 
the event’s gross revenues or expenses are significant in relation to the NFP’s 
annual budget. Events are peripheral or incidental if they are not an integral part 
of an NFP’s usual activities or if their gross revenues or expenses are not 
significant in relation to the NFP’s annual budget. Accordingly, similar events may 
be reported differently by different NFPs based on the NFP’s overall activities. 

 

958-225-45-17 An NFP may report net amounts for its special events if they result 

from peripheral or incidental transactions. However, so-called special events often 
arecan be ongoing and major activities; if so, an NFP shall report the gross 
revenues and expenses of those activities. Costs netted against receipts from 
peripheral or incidental special events shall be limited to direct costs. See Example 
4 (paragraph 958-225-55-11958-225-55-10) for three possible methods of 
complying with this requirement. 

 

958-225-45-17A In accordance with paragraph 958-225-45-10B, an NFP shall 

present all operating revenues and support before reductions for amounts 
designated by the governing board for use in future periods. Accordingly, an NFP 
shall not report revenue and support net of those amounts transferred. 

 

> Equity Transfers 
 

958-225-45-18 Equity transfers are reported as a separate line item. Those 

transfers shall be reported as an operating activity unless the resources from the 
transfers are donor-restricted or otherwise not for current-period use in carrying 
out the NFP’s purpose for existence.separately as changes in net assets, are 
excluded from the performance indicator, and Equity transfers  do not result in 

any step-up in basis of the underlying assets transferred. However, a service 
received from personnel of an affiliate that directly benefits the recipient NFPnot- 

for-profit, business-oriented health care entity and for which the affiliate does not 
charge the recipient NFPentity may be recorded at the fair value of that service in 
the circumstances indicated in paragraph 958-720-30-3. Paragraph 958-20-55- 
2B954-225-55-1 describes the difference between an equity transfer and an equity 
transaction. [Content amended as shown and moved from paragraph 954-225- 
45-2] 
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958-225-45-19 The increase in net assets associated with services received from 

personnel of an affiliate that directly benefit the recipient NFP not-for-profit, 
business-oriented health care entity and for which the affiliate does not charge the 
recipient entityNFP shall be reported as an equity transfer, regardless of whether 
those services are received from personnel of a not-for-profit affiliate or any other 
affiliate. The corresponding decrease in net assets or the creation or enhancement 
of an asset resulting from the use of services received from personnel of an affiliate 
shall be reported similar to how other such expenses or assets are reported. 
[Content amended as shown and moved from paragraph 954-225-45-2A] 

 

20.   Amend paragraph 958-225-50-1, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10- 
65-1, as follows: 

 
Disclosure 

 
958-225-50-1 A not-for-profit entity (NFP) shall disclose the following information 

in the notes to financial statements: 
 

a.    Subparagraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X-XX.If 
an NFP’s use of the term operations is not apparent from the details 

provided on the face of the statement of activities, a description of the 
nature of the reported measure of operations or the items excluded from 
operations 

b.  Subparagraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 
XX.The amount of investment-related expenses, such as custodial fees 
and investment advisory fees, netted against investment revenues if that 

amount is not disclosed on the face of the statement of activities pursuant 
to paragraph 958-225-45-14. 

c.    If not provided on the face of the statement of activities or as a separate 
statement, all expenses in one location. All operating expenses shall be 
presented  by  both  natural  expense  classification  and  functional 
expense classification. Investment expenses that are netted against 

investment return need not be included, and other nonoperating 
expenses (for example, interest and other financing expenses) need not 
be presented by function. An NFP shall disclose the amount of internal 
salaries and benefits costs netted against investment returns, if any, 
related to investment activities that have been netted against the 
investment return. 

d.    A qualitative description of the methods used to allocate costs among 
program and support functions. (See paragraph 958-720-50-1.) 

 

21.   Amend paragraphs 958-225-55-2, 958-225-55-4, 958-225-55-7, 958-225- 
55-9, and 958-225-55-12 through 55-15 and supersede paragraphs 958-225-55-5 
through 55-6 and their related heading, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10- 
65-1, as follows: 
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Implementation Guidance and Illustrations 
 

958-225-55-1 This Section, which is an integral part of the requirements of this 

Subtopic, provides general guidance to be used in the presentation of a statement 
of activities by a not-for-profit entity (NFP). 

 
> Implementation Guidance 

 
> > Entitywide Totals versus Disaggregated Information 

 
958-225-55-2 Entitywide totals are not necessary for individual line items of 

revenues, expenses, gains, or losses. Information about reasonably 
homogeneous components of revenues, such as unrestricted contributions 

without donor restrictions that are available to support current expenses and 
donor-restricted contributions that are restricted to acquiringto be used to acquire 
land and buildings, generally is more meaningful than the aggregated total of those 
components. 

 

958-225-55-3 Disaggregated information that permits users of financial information 

to relate components of revenues to components of expenses also is often 
preferable to information provided by their aggregated amounts. For example, 
information that permits analysis of the levels of revenues from tuition in relation 
to expenses for instruction and other academic services and of revenues from 
room and board fees in relation to expenses for housing and food services 
generally is more meaningful than totals of aggregated items of revenues, such as 
student tuition and fees, or aggregated items of expenses, such as salaries, heat, 
electricity, or supplies. Those who prepare financial statements generally are best 
able to make judgments about the extent to which financial statements or notes to 
financial statements should provide disaggregated information about various items 
of revenues or expenses and this Subtopic need not limit those judgments. 

 
> Illustrations 

 
958-225-55-4 In addition to the following illustrations, guidance in paragraphs 958- 

205-55-10 through 55-17 illustrates three formats of statementsa statement of 
activities. Paragraph 958-205-55-5 provides the facts and transactions that are 
reflected in thosethat illustrative statementstatements. Paragraphs 958-205-55- 
21A through 55-21G also provide illustrations of how particular industry-specific 

events and transactions could be presented in a statement of activities. 
 

> > Example 1: Intermediate Measure of Operations 
 

958-225-55-5  Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X-XX. 

This Example illustrates a statement of unrestricted revenues, expenses, and other 
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changes in unrestricted net assets that subdivides all transactions and other 

events and circumstances to make an operating and nonoperating distinction 
pursuant to paragraph 958-225-45-9. This Example uses part 1 of 2 of Format C 
in paragraph 958-205-55-15 to show a measure of operations—change in 
unrestricted net assets from operations. 

 

958-225-55-6 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.The shaded areas depict the constraints imposed by this Subtopic and by 
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) to report appropriately labeled 
subtotals for changes in classes of net assets before the effects of discontinued 
operating segments, if any. The unshaded areas depict areas within the statement 
for which there is latitude to sequence and classify items of revenues and 
expenses. Other formats also may be used. For example, the single -statement 
Format B approach of paragraph 958-205-55-14 may be helpful in describing an 
NFP’s ongoing major or central operations if that NFP’s view of operating activities 
includes receiving donor-restricted revenues from contributions and investment 
income. 
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Other Not-for-Profit Organization 

 Statement of Unrestricted Revenues, Expenses, and 

 Other Changes in Unrestricted Net Assets 

 Year Ended June 30, 19X1 

 (in thousands) 

 
Operating revenues and support: 

Fees from providing services 

Operating support 

Net assets released from restrictions 

Total operating revenues and support 

 
$ X,XXX 

X,XXX 

   X,XXX 

  XX,XXX 

 
Operating expenses: 

Programs 

Management and general 

Fund raising 

Total operating expenses 

 
XX,XXX 

X,XXX 

   X,XXX 

   XX,XXX 

Change in unrestricted net assets from operations  X,XXX 

 
Other changes: 

[Items considered to be nonoperating ] 

 
Change in net assets before effects of discontinued operating  

segments 

Discontinued operations 

Change in net assets 

Net assets at beginning of year 

Net assets at end of year 

 
  X,XXX 

 

 
XX,XXX 

X,XXX 

XX,XXX 

  XXX,XXX 

$XXX,XXX 
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> > Example 2: Discontinued Operations 

 
958-225-55-7 This Example illustrates the application of paragraph 958-205-45-5, 

as generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) requires the display of an 
appropriately labeled subtotal for change in a class of net assets before the effects 
of a discontinued operation (see paragraphparagraphs 205-20-45-1A through 45– 
1D). For instance, using the columnar format, a statement of activities would report 
the effects of a discontinued operation, assuming the operation primarily carried 

out the purpose of the NFP, as follows.Format B of paragraph 958-205-55-14, a 
statement of activities would report the effects of a discontinued operation as 
follows. 

 
Unrestricted 

Temporarily 

Restricted 

Permanently 

Restricted  Total 
 

Change in net assets before  

discontinued operations 

 
$  11,558 

 
$  (1,128) 

 
$  5,020 

 
$    15,450 

Discontinued operations (Note X)     XXX      XXX      XXX      XXX   

Change in net assets   $  XX,XXX   $   (X,XXX)   $ X,XXX   $ XX,XXX 
 

 
 

Without Donor  

Restrictions 

With Donor  

Restrictions Total 

Discontinued operations (Note X)  $  XXX  $  XXX  $  XXX 

Operating excess before transfers    11,558    3,892    15,450 

Transfers   XXX   XXX   XXX 

Operating excess after transfers $ XX,XXX $ (X,XXX) $ XX,XXX 

 
 
 

> > Example 3: Displaying Fundraising Efforts 

 
958-225-55-8 This Example provides three possible methods of displaying 

fundraising efforts in the revenue section of the statement of activities, while still 
conforming to the requirements of paragraph 958-605-45-10. Methods 2 and 3 
display the total amounts raised. 

 

958-225-55-9 Entity A raises $6,000 of {add glossary link}contributions{add 
glossary link}, $100 of other support, and $4,000 accounted for as agent, 
trustee, or intermediary transactions because donors have specified 
beneficiaries without granting variance power. Of the $4,000 accounted for as 

agent, trustee, or intermediary transactions, Entity A pays out $3,600 to specified 
beneficiaries and retains $400 as its administrative fee. 

 

958-225-55-10 Each of the methods reports Entity A’s revenues ($6,500) in a way 

that is both easily understood by users of the financial statements and 

representationally faithful. 
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Method 1 

Contributions 

Other support 

 

 
$ 6,000 

  100   

Total support 6,100 
 

Administrative fees retained on amounts designated by donors 

for specific organizations 

Total support and revenue 

Method 2 

Contributions 

Other support 

  400   

$ 6,500 
 

 
$ 6,000 

  100   

Total support 6,100 

Other revenue: 

Amounts designated by donors for specific organizations $ 4,000 

Less: Amounts held for or remitted to those organizations   3,600   
 

Administrative fees retained on amounts designated by 

donors for specific organizations   400   

Total support and revenue 

Method 3 

Total amounts raised 
(a)

 

$ 6,500 
 

 
$   10,000 

 

Less: Amounts designated by donors for specific organizations 
 

  4,000   

Total contributions 6,000 

Other revenue: 

Other support 100 
 

Administrative fees retained on amounts designated by 

donors for specific organizations   400   

Total support and revenue $ 6,500 

 
(a)   Other terms, such as campaign results or campaign efforts, may be used. 

 
> > Example 4: Displaying Special Events 

 

958-225-55-11 This Example illustrates the guidance in paragraph 958-225-45-17. 

It provides three possible methods to display in the statement of activities a special 

event that is an ongoing and major activity. 
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958-225-55-12 Cases A, B, and C share the following assumptions: 
 

a.    Not-for-Profit Entity B (NFP B) has a special event that is an ongoing and 
major activity with ticket revenue of $100. 

b. The activity does not meet the audience criterion in paragraphs 958-720- 

45-48 through 45-49, and, therefore, all costs of the activity, other than 
the direct donor benefits, should be reported as fundraising. 

c. The event includes a dinner that costs NFP B $25 and that has a fair 

value of $30. 
d.   In addition, NFP B incurs other direct costs of the event of $15 in 

connection with promoting and conducting the event, including 
incremental direct costs incurred in transactions with independent third 
parties and the payroll and payroll-related costs for the activities of 
employees who are directly associated with, and devote time to, the 
event. The other direct costs are unrelated to the direct benefits to donors 
and, accordingly, should not be included as costs of benefits to donors. 
The other direct costs include $5 that otherwise might be considered 
management and general costs if they had been incurred in a different 
activity, and fundraising costs of $10. 

e.   In addition, NFP B has all of the following transactions, which are 
unrelated to the special event: 
1. Unrestricted contributionsContributions without donor restrictions 

of $200 
2. Program expenses of $60 

3. Management and general expenses of $20 
4. Fundraising expenses of $20. 

 
> > > Case A: Direct Benefits to Donors Displayed on a Line below Gross 
Revenue from the Special Event 

 
958-225-55-13 NFP B may report the gross revenues of special events and other 

fundraising activities with the cost of direct benefits to donors (meals and facilities 
rental) displayed as a line item deducted from the special event revenues, as 
follows: 
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Changes in net assets without donor restrictions:unrestricted net  

assets: 

Contributions 

Special event revenue 

Less: Costs of direct benefits to donors 

Net revenues from special events 

Contributions and net revenues from special events 

Other expenses: 

 

 
 
 
100 

(25) 

 

 
 
$  200 
 

 
 

75 

275 

Program 60 
Management and general 20 
Fundraising 35 

Total other expenses 115 
Operating excess (deficit) before transfers Increase in unrestricted net  

assets 
 

$  160 
 

 
> > > Case B: Direct Benefits to Donors Displayed as a Line with Other 
Expenses 

 
958-225-55-14 NFP B may report the gross revenues of special events and other 

fundraising activities with the cost of direct benefits to donors (meals and facilities 
rental) displayed in the same section of the statement of activities as are other 
programs or supporting services and allocated, if necessary, among those various 
functions, as follows: 

 

Changes in net assets without donor 

restrictions:unrestricted net assets: 

Revenues: 

Contributions $    200 
Special event revenue 100 
Total revenues 300 

Expenses: 

Program 60 
Costs of direct benefits to donors 25 
Management and general 20 
Fundraising 35 

Total other expenses 140 
 

Operating excess (deficit) before 

transfersIncrease  in unrestricted net 

assets 

 

 
 
$    160 
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> > > Case C: Special Event Revenues Reported as Part Exchange and Part 
Contribution 

 
958-225-55-15 NFP B may report the gross revenue from special events and other 

fundraising activities as part exchange (for the fair value the participant received) 
and part {add glossary link}contribution{add glossary link} (for the excess of 

the payment over that fair value), as follows: 
 

Changes in net assets without donor  

restrictions:unrestricted net assets: 

Contributions 

Dinner sales 

Less: Costs of direct benefits to donors 

Gross profit on special events 

Contributions and net revenues from special events 

Other expenses: 

Program 

Management and general 

Fundraising 

 
 

30 

(25) 

 

$  270 
 
 
 

5 

275 
 

 
60 

20 

35 

Total other expenses 115 

Operating excess (deficit) before transfers  Increase in 

unrestricted net assets $  160 
 

 

Amendments to Subtopic 958-230 
 

22.   Amend paragraph 958-230-05-1, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10- 
65-1, as follows: 

 
Not-for-Profit Entities—Statement of Cash Flows 

 
Overview and Background 

 
958-230-05-1  This Subtopic providesThis Subtopic uses Master Glossary terms 
that are specific to not-for-profit entities (NFPs) and provides additional 
implementation guidance related to the statement of cash flows for  not-for-profit 
entities (NFPs)NFPs. See Topic 230 for general guidance on the preparation of a 

statement of cash flows, including certain disclosures and requirements if an NFP 
also chooses to report net operating cash flows indirectly (that is, by adjusting 
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changes in net assets of an NFP to reconcile that amount to net operating cash 
flow). 

 

958-230-05-2 The primary purpose of a statement of cash flows is to provide 

relevant information about the cash receipts and cash payments of an entity during 
a period. Topic 230 discusses how that information helps investors, creditors, and 
others and establishes standards for the information to be provided in a statement 
of cash flows. 

 

23.   Add Section 958-230-45, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as 
follows: 

 
Other Presentation Matters 

 

General 
 

> Classification 

 

958-230-45-1 A not-for-profit entity (NFP) shall follow the guidance provided in 

Topic 230, except for the statement of cash flow classifications described in 
paragraphs 958-230-45-2 through 45-7. 

 

> > Investing Cash Flows 

 

958-230-45-2 Cash receipts from returns on nonprogrammatic loans, other debt 

instruments of other entities, and equity securities—interest and dividends—are 
investing cash flows of an NFP. 

 

> > Financing Cash Flows 

 

958-230-45-3 The classification of the following financing cash flows of a not- 
for-profit entity is different from the requirements in Topic 230 because that Topic 

is not specific to NFPs: 
 

a.    Cash payments to lenders and other creditors for interest 
b.    Cash contributions restricted for long-term (nonprogrammatic) investing 

(for example, cash gifts from donors to be invested in the endowment 
fund). 

 

> > Operating Cash Flows 

 

958-230-45-4 The classification of the following operating cash flows of a not- 
for-profit entity is different from the requirements in Topic 230 because that Topic 

is not specific to NFPs: 



12
7 

 

 

 
 

a.    Receipts from sales of property, plant, or equipment or other productive 
assets. 

b.    Cash receipts received by an NFP from contributions that by donor 

stipulation are restricted for the purposes of acquiring, constructing, or 
improving property, plant, or equipment, or other long-lived assets 
(including acquiring or maintaining collection items, whether or not they 
are capitalized). 

c.    Payments at the time of purchase or soon before or after purchase to 
acquire  property,  plant,  or  equipment  or  other  productive  assets, 
including  interest  capitalized  as  part  of  the  cost  of  those  assets. 
Generally, only advance payments, the down payment, or other amounts 
paid at the time of purchase or soon before or after the purchase of 
property, plant, or equipment or other productive assets are operating 

cash outflows. However, incurring directly related debt to the seller is a 
financing transaction (see paragraphs 230-10-45-14 through 45-15), and 

subsequent payments of principal on that debt thus are financing cash 
outflows. 

d.    Cash receipts or payments associated with programmatic investing. 

e.    Cash receipts of contributions, other than those that are donor restricted 
for investments (which are financing cash flows of an NFP). 

f.  Cash flows from purchases and sales of collection items, whether or not 
they are capitalized. 

 

> > Acquisitions and Sales of Certain Securities and Loans 

 

958-230-45-5 Cash receipts resulting from the sale of donated financial assets 
(for example, donated debt or equity instruments) by NFPs that upon receipt were 
directed without any NFP-imposed limitations for sale and were converted nearly 
immediately into cash shall be classified as operating cash flows. If, however, the 
donor restricted the use of the contributed resource to a long-term purpose of the 
nature of those described in paragraph 230-10-45-14(c), then those cash receipts 
meeting all the conditions in this paragraph shall be classified as a financing 
activity. [Content moved from paragraph 230-10-45-21A] 

 
> > Reporting Operating, Investing, and Financing Cash Flows 

 

958-230-45-6 In reporting operating cash flows, an NFP is required to report major 

classes of gross cash receipts and gross cash payments and their arithmetic 
sum—the net cash flow from operating activities (the direct method), as discussed 
in paragraph 230-10-45-25. An NFP shall, at a minimum, separately report the 
following classes of operating cash receipts and payments: 

 

a.    Cash collected from customers, including lessees, licensees, and the like. 
b.    Receipts from sales of property, plant, or equipment or other productive 

assets. 
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c.    Receipts of contributions from donors for any purpose other than those 
that would be classified as financing cash flows of a not-for-profit 
entity. 

d.    Receipts of contributions that by donor stipulation are restricted for the 
purposes of acquiring, constructing, or improving property, plant, or 
equipment, other long-lived assets, or acquiring or maintaining 
collections. 

e.   Cash paid to employees and other suppliers of goods or services, 
including suppliers of insurance, advertising, and the like. 

f.  Income taxes paid. 

g.    Payments at the time of purchase or soon before or after purchase to 
acquire  property,  plant,  or  equipment  or  other  productive  assets, 
including  interest  capitalized  as  part  of  the  cost  of  those  assets. 
Generally, only advance payments, the down payment, or other amounts 
paid at the time of purchase or soon before or after purchase of property, 

plant, or equipment or other productive assets are operating cash 
outflows. However, incurring directly related debt to the seller is a 
financing transaction (see paragraphs 230-10-45-14 through 45-15), and 
subsequent payments of principal on that debt thus are financing cash 
outflows. 

h.    Other operating cash payments, if any. 
 

> Reconciliation of Change in Net Assets and Net Cash Flow from 

Operating Activities 
 

958-230-45-7 In addition to reporting under the direct method, an NFP may also 

report net operating cash flow indirectly by adjusting change in net assets of an 
NFP to reconcile that amount to net operating cash flow. That reconciliation 
requires adjusting changes in net assets of an NFP to remove both of the following: 

 

a.    The effects of all deferrals of past operating cash receipts and payments 
and all accruals of expected future operating cash receipts and payments. 
For example, the effects of deferrals include changes during the period in 
inventory, deferred income, and property, plant, and equipment for 
acquisitions, dispositions, and depreciation, and the like. The effects of 
accruals include changes during the period in receivables and payables. 

b.    All items that are included in change in net assets of an NFP that do not 
affect net cash provided from, or used for, operating activities. For 
example,  this  includes  all  items  whose  cash  effects  are  related  to 
investing or financing cash flows, such as the cash used to acquire and 
proceeds from sales of long-term investment securities (which relate to 
investing cash flows), and receipts of cash contributions to establish an 

endowment and payments of interest costs (which relate to financing 
cash flows). 
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958-230-45-8 If an NFP chooses to report the reconciliation of change in net assets 

to net operating cash flow, it may report that information within the statement of 
cash flows, in a separate schedule, or in a note disclosure. 

 

958-230-45-9 If the reconciliation is presented in the statement of cash flows, all 

adjustments to change in net assets of an NFP to determine net operating cash 
flow shall be clearly identified as reconciling items. 

 

> Presentation of a Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
 

958-230-45-10 If an NFP and a business entity consolidate their standalone 

financial statements, the proper presentation and classification requirements for 
the statement of cash flows in the consolidated financial statements shall be 
determined by whether the parent (reporting) entity is an NFP or a business entity. 

 

24.   Add Section 958-230-50, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as 
follows: 

 
Disclosure 

 

General 
 

> Noncash Operating, Investing, and Financing Activities 

 

958-230-50-1 Information about certain significant operating activities and all 

investing and financing activities of an NFP during a period that affect recognized 
assets or liabilities but that do not result in cash receipts or cash payments in the 
period shall be disclosed. Significant noncash operating activities generally are 
those transactions and other events that have the potential to have a significant 
effect on future cash flows, examples of which are included in paragraph 958-230- 
50-2. Those disclosures may be either narrative or summarized in a schedule, and 
they shall clearly relate the cash and noncash aspects of transactions involving 
similar items. 

 

958-230-50-2 Examples of significant noncash operating activities and noncash 

investing and financing transactions are acquiring land, buildings, and similar long- 
lived assets used in carrying out an NFP’s activities by gift or by assuming directly 
related liabilities, such as purchasing a building by incurring a mortgage to the 
seller; obtaining a long-lived asset (right of use) by entering into a capital lease; 
forgiveness of long-term debt by a creditor or contributor; receiving donated 
securities, real estate, and other investment assets that are held for long-term 
investment; and exchanging other significant noncash assets (for example, patent 
and royalty rights) or liabilities for other noncash assets or liabilities. 

 

958-230-50-3 Some transactions are part cash and part noncash; only the cash 

portion shall be reported in the statement of cash flows. 
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958-230-50-4 If there are only a few such noncash transactions, it may be 

convenient to include them on the same page as the statement of cash flows. 
Otherwise, the transactions may be reported elsewhere in the financial statements, 
clearly referenced to the statement of cash flows. 

 

25.  Amend paragraphs 958-230-55-2, 958-230-55-4, and 958-230-55-6 and 
supersede paragraph 958-230-55-3 and its related heading and paragraphs 958- 
230-55-5  through  55-5A  and their  related  headings,  with  a  link  to  transition 

paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Implementation Guidance and Illustrations 

 
> Implementation Guidance 

 
958-230-55-1 This Section, which is an integral part of the requirements of this 
Subtopic, provides general guidance to be used by not-for-profit entities (NFPs) 

in the preparation of a statement of cash flows. 

 
> > Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
958-230-55-2 Not all assets of NFPs that meet the definition of cash equivalents 

are cash equivalents for purposes of preparing statements of financial position and 
cash flows. Restrictions can prevent them from being included as cash equivalents 
even if they otherwise qualify. For example, short-term highly liquid investments 
are not cash equivalents if they are purchased with resources that have {add 
glossary link}donor-imposed restrictions{add glossary link} that limit their use 

to long-term investment. 

 
> > Cash Received with a Donor-Imposed Restriction That Limits Its Use to 

Long-Term Purposes 

 
958-230-55-3 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.When an NFP reports cash received (or cash receipts from the sale of donated 
financial assets that upon receipt were directed without any NFP-imposed 

limitations for sale and were converted nearly immediately into cash as discussed 
in paragraph 230-10-45-21A) with a donor-imposed restriction that limits its use 

to long-term purposes in conformity with paragraph 958-210-45-6, an adjustment 
is necessary for the statement of cash flows to reconcile beginning and ending 
cash and cash equivalents. For instance, in accordance with Topic 230, such a 
cash receipt that is restricted for the purchase of equipment shall be reported as a 
cash flow from financing activities (using a caption such as contributions 

restricted for purchasing equipment), and it shall be simultaneously reported as a 
cash outflow from investing activities (using a caption such as purchase of assets 
restricted to investment in property and equipment or, if the equipment was 
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purchased in the same period, purchase of equipment). An adjustment to reconcile 
the change in net assets to net cash used or provided by operating activities would 
also be needed if the contributed asset is not classified as cash or cash equivalents 
on the statement of financial position. When the equipment is purchased in a 
subsequent period, both the proceeds from the sale of assets restricted to 
investment in the equipment and the purchase of the equipment shall be reported 
as cash flows from investing activities. 

 

> > Agency Transactions 

 
958-230-55-4 Cash received and paid in agency transactions shall be reported 
as  operating cash flows of a not-for-profit entity  cash flows from 

operating activities  in a statement of cash flows. If the statement of cash flows is 
presented using the indirect method, cashCash received and paid in such 
transactions is permitted to be reported either gross or net. 

 
> > Noncash Investing and Financing Activities 

 

958-230-55-5 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.Separate disclosure of noncash investing and financing activities (for example, 
receiving contributions of buildings, securities, or recognized collection items) is 
required by paragraph 230-10-50-3. 

 

> > Collections 

 

958-230-55-5A  Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.Cash flows from purchases, sales, and insurance recoveries of unrecognized, 
noncapitalized collection items shall be reported as investing activities in a 
statement of cash flows. 

 

> Illustrations 

 
958-230-55-6 Guidance in paragraphs 958-205-55-18 through 55-2055-19 

illustrates both  the direct and indirect methodsmethod of reporting operating  cash 
flows from operating activities in a statement of cash flows. Paragraph 958-205- 

55-5 provides the facts and transactions that are reflected in those illustrative 
statements. 

 

Amendments to Subtopic 958-310 
 

26.   Amend paragraphs 958-310-45-2 through 45-3, with a link to transition 
paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 
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Not-for-Profit Entities—Receivables 
 
Other Presentation Matters 

 
> Contributions Receivable—Statement of Financial Position 

 
958-310-45-1 Contributions receivable shall be reported net of the discount that 
arises if measuring a promise to give at present value. The discount shall be 

separately disclosed by reporting it as a deduction from contributions receivable 
either on the face of a statement of financial position or in the notes to financial 
statements. 

 
> Contributions Receivable—Statement of Activities 

 
958-310-45-2 If an unconditional promise to give is measured using present 
value techniques, a not-for-profit entity (NFP) shall report the subsequent 
accrual of the interest element recognized under paragraph 958-310-35-6 as an 
increase in net assets with donor restrictionseither temporarily or permanently 
restricted net assets if the underlying promise to give is donor restricted. 

 

958-310-45-3 Decreases recognized under paragraph 958-310-35-7 shall be 

reported as expenses or losses (bad debt) in the net asset class in which the net 
assets are represented. Because all expenses are reported in the unrestricted net 
assetnet asset without donor restrictions class, those decreases shall be 
reported   as   losses   if   they   are   decreases   in    net   assets   with   donor 
restrictionstemporarily restricted net assets or permanently restricted net 

assets. 
 

Amendments to Subtopic 958-320 
 

27.   Amend paragraphs 958-320-45-1, 958-320-45-3 through 45-4, the heading 
preceding paragraph 958-320-45-6, and 958-320-45-7 through 45-9, supersede 
paragraphs 958-320-45-2 and 958-320-45-6, and add paragraphs 958-320-45-4A 
through 45-4B, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Not-for-Profit Entities—Investments—Debt and Equity 
Securities 

 
Other Presentation Matters 

 
> Reporting Investment Gains, Losses, and Income 
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958-320-45-1 Pursuant to paragraph 958-225-45-8, gains and losses on 

investments and dividends, interest, and other investment income shall be 
reported in the statement of activities as increases or decreases in  net assets 
without donor restrictionsunrestricted net assets unless their use is limited by 
donor-imposed restrictions or by law that extends donor restrictions, in which 
case those amounts shall be reported as increases or decreases in net assets 
with donor restrictionstemporarily or permanently restricted by explicit donor 

stipulations or by law. 
 

958-320-45-2 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.Pursuant to paragraph 958-225-45-5, dividend, interest, and other investment 
income shall be reported in the period earned as increases in unrestricted net 
assets unless the use of the assets received is limited by donor-imposed 
restrictions. Donor-restricted investment income shall be reported as an increase 
in temporarily restricted net assets or permanently restricted net assets, 

depending on the type of restriction. 
 

958-320-45-3 Gains and investment income that are limited to specific uses by 

{add glossary link}donor-imposed restrictions{add glossary link} may be 
reported as increases in  net assets without donor restrictionsunrestricted net 

assets if the restrictions are met in the same reporting period as the gains and 
income are recognized, provided that the not-for-profit entity (NFP) has a similar 
policy for reporting contributions received (see paragraphs 958-605-45-3 through 

45-5), reports consistently from period to period, and discloses its accounting 
policy. 

 

958-320-45-4    Pursuant   to   paragraphs   958-225-45-14   and   958-225-50-1, 

investment revenuesInvestment returns shallmay be reported net of related 
external and direct internal investment expenses and shall be presented at a 
minimum as one line item in the nonoperating section of the statement of 
activities.expenses, such as custodial fees and investment advisory fees, provided 
that the amount of the expenses is disclosed either on the face of the statement of 
activities or in notes to financial statements. 

 

958-320-45-4A Investment revenues, expenses, gains, and losses that result from 
programmatic investing shall be reported as operating activity in the statement 

of activities. 
 

958-320-45-4B Pursuant to paragraph 958-225-45-8A, investment revenues, 

expenses, gains, and losses that result from nonprogrammatic investment activity, 
such as “mission-blind” or total return investing, shall be reported as nonoperating 
activity in the statement of activities. 

 

958-320-45-5 Gains and losses on the investments of a donor-restricted 
endowment fund are classified in accordance with paragraphs 958-205-45-13 

through 45-35. 

 
> Presentation in a Statement of Activities with an Operating Measure 
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958-320-45-6 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.Some NFPs, primarily health care entities, would like to compare their results 
to business entities in the same industry. An NFP with those comparability 
concerns may report in a manner similar to business entities by classifying 
securities as available for sale or held to maturity as described in paragraphs 320- 
10-25-1 through 25-6 and excluding the unrealized gains and losses on those 
securities (which are recognized in accordance with Subtopic 958-320) from an 
operating measure within the statement of activities. Not-for-profit, business- 
oriented health care entities, however, are required to exclude certain gains and 
losses from a performance measure (see paragraph 954-320-45-1). 

 

958-320-45-7 In general, amounts reported in an NFP’s financial statements shall 

be based on the nature of the underlying transactions rather than on budgetary 
designations. Governing board designations, appropriations, and similar transfers 
shall be presented in accordance with paragraph 958-225-45-10B. 

 

958-320-45-8 Investment returns appropriated for spending to support current- 

period operations shall be presented in accordance with the requirements in 
paragraph 958-225-45-10B. Amounts of investment return based on budgetary 
designations may be displayed because the necessary constraints are provided 
by the disclosures required by paragraph 958-320-50-1 and paragraphs 958-225- 
45-9 through 45-12 (including the requirement that an operating measure, if 
reported, must appear in a financial statement that, at a minimum, reports the 
change in unrestricted net assets for the period). 

 

958-320-45-9 Some NFPs, in managing their endowment funds, use a spending- 
rate or total return policy. Those policies consider total investment return— 

investment income (interest, dividends, rents, and so forth) plus net realized and 
unrealized gains (or minus net losses). Typically, spending-rate or total return 
policies emphasize the use of prudence and a rational and systematic formula to 
determine the portion of cumulative investment return that can be used to support 
operations of the current period and the protection of endowment gifts from a loss 
of purchasing power as a consideration in determining the formula to be used. 
Example 1 (see paragraph 958-320-55-4) illustrates a statement of activities and 
example disclosures of an NFP that uses a spending-rate policy to include only a 
portion of its investment return in its operating measure activities (as required by 
paragraph 958-225-45-8A) by using governing board appropriations. Those 
governing board appropriations shall be presented in accordance with paragraph 
958-205-45-10B and shall not be netted against the net investment return. 

 

28.   Supersede  paragraph  958-320-50-1,  with  a  link  to  transition  paragraph 
958-10-65-1, as follows: 
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Disclosure 
 

958-320-50-1 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 
XX.For each period for which a statement of activities is presented, a not-for- 
profit entity (NFP) shall disclose the following information: 

 

a.    The   composition   of  investment   return  including,   at  a   minimum, 
investment income, net realized gains or losses on investments reported 
at other than fair value, and net gains or losses on investments reported 

at fair value. 
b.    A reconciliation of investment return to amounts reported in the statement 

of  activities  if  investment  return  is  separated  into  operating  and 

nonoperating amounts, together with a description of the policy used to 
determine the amount that is included in the measure of operations and 
a discussion of circumstances leading to a change, if any, in that policy. 
The reconciliation need not be provided if an NFP includes all investment 
return in its measure of operations or excludes it from that measure 
entirely. 

c.   Pursuant to paragraphs 958-225-45-14 and 958-225-50-1, investment 
revenues may be reported net of related expenses, such as custodial fees 

and investment advisory fees, provided that the amount of the expenses 
is disclosed either on the face of the statement of activities or in notes to 
financial statements. 

 

See Example 1 (paragraph 958-320-55-9) for an illustration of the disclosures 
required by this paragraph. 

 

29.   Amend paragraphs 958-320-55-4 and 958-320-55-6 through 55-7 and their 
related heading, supersede paragraphs 958-320-55-5 and 958-320-55-8 through 
55-10, and add paragraph 958-320-55-11, with a link to transition paragraph 958- 
10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Implementation Guidance and Illustrations 

 
> Illustrations 

 
> > Example 1: An NFP that Separates Investment Return Into Operating 
and Nonoperating Amounts Reporting of Investment Return 

 

958-320-55-4 This Example illustrates the disclosures required by paragraph 958- 

320-50-1958-320-50-2 and a statement of activities that reports  a portion of 
investment return within a measure of operationsin accordance with paragraphs 
958-320-45-1 through 45-5. 

 

958-320-55-5  Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.This Example is illustrative only; it does not indicate a preferred method of 
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reporting investment return or defining operations (see paragraph 958-225-45-9). 
An NFP may separate investment return into operating and nonoperating amounts 
in ways that it believes will provide meaningful information to users of its financial 
statements. Distinctions may be based on any of the following: 

 

a.    The nature of the underlying transactions, such as classifying realized 
amounts as operating and unrealized amounts as nonoperating 

b.    Budgetary designations, such as classifying amounts computed under a 
spending-rate or total return policy as operating and the remainder of 

investment return as nonoperating 
c.    The reporting requirements for categories of investments used in Topic 

320, such as classifying investment income, realized gains and losses, 
unrealized  gains  and  losses  on  trading  securities,  and  other-than- 
temporary impairment losses on securities (that is, all items included in 
net income of a business entity) as operating and classifying the 
remainder of investment return as nonoperating 

d.  Other characteristics that provide information that is relevant and 
understandable to donors, creditors, and other users of financial 
statements. 

 

958-320-55-6 This Example has the following assumptions: 
 

a.  Not-for-Profit Entity A (NFP A) invests cash in excess of daily 
requirements in short-term investments; during the year, those 
investments earned $1,275. 

b. Most long-term investments of NFP A’s endowments are held in an 

investment pool, which earned income of $11,270 and had net gains of 
$15,450. 

c. Certain  endowments  are  separately  invested  because  of  donors’ 
requirements. The investments of those endowments earned income of 

$1,000 and increased in value by $1,500. 
d.    One donor required that the net gains be added to the original endowment 

gift; that endowment’s investment in the pool increased in value by $180. 
e.    NFP A’s internal salaries and benefits  that  were netted against the 

investment return totaled $300. This amount would be disclosed in 
accordance with paragraph 958-225-50-1. The disclosure is not required 
to be in a certain location; thus, the amount is not disclosed on the face 
of the statement of activities in paragraph 958-320-55-7. 

f.  NFP A released from restrictions the full amount of net assets with 
donor restrictions that were appropriated from the donor-restricted 
endowment fund ($4,500) because the entity spent the funds for the 

required purpose. 
g.    NFP A’s governing board appropriated for expenditure $1,025 from its 

short-term investments. 
h.    NFP A had $25 of gross programmatic investing income. The expenses 

related to the programmatic activity are included in operating expenses. 
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958-320-55-7 A statement of activities of NFP A is illustrated as follows.illustrates 

the presentation requirements for the following items: 
 

a.   Programmatic investing return (for example, a private foundation’s 

subsidized loans to charities in need or student and faculty loans at a 
university) 

b.    “Mission-blind” or total return investment return 
c.    Appropriation of amounts from NFP A’s quasi-endowment 

d.   Appropriation and release of amounts from NFP A’s donor-restricted 
endowment. 
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Not-for-Profit  Entity A 

Statement of Activities 

Year Ended June 30, 19X1 

 
 

 
Operating revenues, gains, and other 

support: 

 
Unrestricted 

Temporarily 

Restricted 

Permanently 

Restricted  Total 

Contributions 

Fees 

Investment return designated for 

$X,XXX  $ X,XXX  $XX,XXX 

 X,XXX   X,XXX 

current operations   11,025   4,500  15,525 

Other 

Net assets released from  

restrictions 
 

Total operating revenues,  

gains, and other support 

Operating expenses and losses: 

Program A 

  XXX    XXX 

 
  XX,XXX    ( XX,XXX)  

  XX,XXX     (X,XXX)     XX,XXX  

XX,XXX     XX,XXX 

Program B 

Program C 

Management  and general 

 X,XXX 

 X,XXX 

 X,XXX 

 X,XXX 

 X,XXX 

 X,XXX 

Fundraising 

Total operating expenses 

Change in net assets  

   X,XXX      X,XXX  

  XX,XXX       XX,XXX  

from operations   X,XXX  (X,XXX)   X,XXX 

Other changes: 

Investment return in excess of 

amounts designated for current  

operations   10,992    3,798 $  180  14,970 

[Other items considered to  X,XXX   X,XXX   X,XXX 

be nonoperating]     XXX      XXX      XXX          XXX  

Change in net assets $XX,XXX  $ X,XXX  $ XXX  $XX,XXX 
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[For ease of readability, the illustration is not underlined as new text.] 

 
Not-for-Profit Entity A 

Statement of Activities 

Year Ended June 30, 20X1 

 

 
 

Revenues, gains, and other support: 

 
Without Donor 

Restrictions 

 
With Donor 

Restrictions Total 

Contributions 

Fees 

Programmatic investing return 

Other 

Net assets released from restrictions 

Investment return appropriated and released for current 

operations from donor-restricted endowment 

[Other net assets released from restrictions] 

Total operating revenues, gains, and other support 

Expenses: 

Program A 

Program B 

Program C 

Management and general 

Fundraising 

Total operating expenses 

Operating revenues in excess of expenses, before transfers 

 
Board designations, appropriations, and similar transfers to 

operations: 

Investment returns appropriated from quasi-endowment 

Operating revenues in excess of expenses, after 

$X,XXX $ X,XXX $XX,XXX 

X,XXX      X,XXX 

25 

XXX XXX 

 
 

4,500 (4,500) 

  X,XXX   (X,XXX)    

  XX,XXX       XX,XXX   

 
XX,XXX 

X,XXX 

X,XXX 

X,XXX 

  X,XXX   

  XX,XXX   

X,XXX 

 
 
  1,025   

transfers XX,XXX 

Other changes: 

Investment return, net 

[Other items considered to be nonoperating] 

Board designations, appropriations, and similar transfers from 

nonoperating: 

Investment returns appropriated for current operations from 

quasi-endowment 

Change in net assets 

1,275 29,220 30,495 

X,XXX X,XXX X,XXX 

 
 
 

(1,025) 

$XX,XXX $ X,XXX $XX,XXX 

 
958-320-55-8 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X-XX. 

NFP A would add the following illustrative text to its note to financial statements 
that describes the measure of operations. 

 

The board of trustees designates only a portion of NFP A’s cumulative 
investment return for support of current operations; the remainder is retained 
to support operations of future years and to offset potential market declines. 
The  amount  computed  under  the  endowment  spending  policy  of  the 
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investment pool and all investment income earned by investing cash in 
excess of daily requirements are used to support current operations. 

 

958-320-55-9  Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X-XX. 

The following illustrative text and schedule would be added to a note to financial 
statements about investments to provide the information about the composition of 
return and the reconciliation of investment return required by paragraph 958 -320- 

50-1. 
 

State law allows the board to appropriate so much of the net appreciation as 
is prudent considering NFP A’s long- and short-term needs, present and 
anticipated financial requirements, expected total return on its investments, 
price level trends, and general economic conditions. Under NFP A’s 
endowment spending policy, 5 percent of the average of the fair value at the 

end of the previous 3 years is appropriated to support current operations. 
The following schedule summarizes the investment return and its 
classification in the statement of activities. 

 

 
Unrestricted 

 
Temporarily 

Restricted 

 
Permanently 

Restricted  Total 
 

Dividends, interest, and rents (net of  

expenses of $565) 

 
$  8,400 

 
$  3,870 

 
$ 12,270 

Net realized and unrealized gains   12,342    4,428    $  180         16,950  

Return on long-term investments    20,742    8,298    180      29,220 

Interest on short-term investments   1,275             1,275  

Total return on investments    22,017    8,298    180      30,495 
 

Investment return designated for current 

operations 

Investment return in excess of amounts 

  (11,025)    (4,500)          (15,525) 

designated for current operations $  10,992 $  3,798 $  180 $ 14,970 

 

958-320-55-10 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.Often, as in the preceding schedule, the amount of investment return 
designated for current operations is less than the total return on investments for 
the year. An NFP may be able to designate an amount for the support of operations 
even if the total investment return for the year is less than the amount computed 
under a spending-rate policy; for example, when the NFP designates part of its 
cumulative investment return from prior years to support its current operations. In 
that case, the operating and nonoperating amounts should be labeled to faithfully 
represent their natures. For example, the amount excluded from operations, which 
is negative, might be labeled investment return reduced by the portion of 
cumulative net appreciation designated for current operations. 

 

958-320-55-11 In accordance with requirements listed in paragraph 958-320-50- 

2, an NFP would disclose the aggregate carrying amount of investments by major 
types and may choose to combine these disclosure requirements with fair value 
level hierarchy disclosures, as required in Topic 820 on fair value measurement. 
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[For ease of readability, the illustration is not underlined as new text.] 
 
 

 
Quoted Prices in 

Active Markets 

20X3 

Significant Other 

Observable 

Inputs 

 
Significant 

Unobservable 

Inputs 

 
Investments 

Cash equivalents held by investment 

(Level I) (Level II) (Level III) 20X3 Total 

managers $ 19,366 $ 19,366 

U.S. common and preferred stocks 48,350 $ 

International common and preferred 

12,840 61,190 

stocks 20,624 51,349 71,973 

Fixed income 17,222 23,698 40,920 

Equity funds $ 40,371 40,371 

Hedge funds 26,248 26,248 

Private equity 39,090 39,090 

Real estate 33,520 33,520 

Pooled endorsement 

Split interest agreements 

105,562 87,887 139,229 332,678 

U.S. common and preferred stocks 10,635  2,335    12,970 
Fixed income 3,415  3,220    6,635 

Total investments $ 119,612  $ 93,442  $ 139,229  $ 352,283 

 
Amendments to Subtopic 958-325 

 
30.   Supersede paragraph 958-325-45-2 and its related heading, with a link to 
transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Not-for-Profit Entities—Investments—Other 

 
Other Presentation Matters 

 
958-325-45-1 The reporting standards of Section 958-320-45 apply to other 

investments and the investment return generated by other investments held by 
not-for-profit entities (NFPs). 

 
> Institutions of Higher Education 

 

958-325-45-2 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.The statement of activities of an institution of higher education shall set forth 
the total performance (that is, investment income and realized and unrealized 
gains and losses) of the other investment portfolio unless that information is 
disclosed in the notes. 
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31.   Supersede paragraph 958-325-50-6 and its related heading, with a link to 
transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Disclosure 

 
> Institutions of Higher Education 

 

958-325-50-6 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.Pursuant to paragraph 958-325-45-2, institutions of higher education shall 
disclose the total performance (that is, investment income and realized and 
unrealized gains and losses) of the other investment portfolio if that information is 
not presented on the face of the statement of activities. 

 

Addition of Subtopic 958-350 
 

32.   Add Subtopic 958-350, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as 
follows: 

 
Not-for-Profit Entities—Intangibles—Goodwill and Other 

 

Overview and Background 
 

General 
 

958-350-05-1 This Subtopic provides guidance about intangibles, including 
goodwill, held by not-for-profit entities (NFPs). It includes standards of financial 

accounting and reporting that require NFPs to present impairment losses of 
goodwill as an operating activity if certain conditions are met. 

 

Scope and Scope Exceptions 
 

General 
 

958-350-15-1 This Subtopic follows the same Scope and Scope Exceptions as 

outlined in the Overall Subtopic (see Section 958-10-15). 
 

Other Presentation Matters 
 

General 
 

> Impairment 
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958-350-45-1 An NFP shall present the aggregate amount of goodwill impairment 

losses as an operating activity in a separate line item in the statement of activities 
if the acquisition was undertaken to carry out the NFP’s purpose for existence. If 
the acquisition was not undertaken to carry out the NFP’s purpose for existence, 
the impairment loss shall be recognized outside of operating activities. 

 

Amendments to Subtopic 958-360 
 

33.   Amend paragraph 958-360-35-8, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10- 
65-1, as follows: 

 
Not-for-Profit Entities—Property, Plant, and Equipment 

 
Subsequent Measurement 

 
> Impairment 

 

958-360-35-8 When grouping assets for impairment testing as described in 

paragraphs 360-10-35-23 through 35-28, an NFP that relies in part on 
contributions to maintain its assets may need to consider those contributions in 

determining the appropriate cash flows to compare with the carrying amount of an 
asset. If future unrestricted contributions without donor restrictions to the entity as 
a whole are not considered, the sum of the expected future cash flows may be 
negative or positive but less than the carrying amount of the asset. For example, 
the costs of administering a museum may exceed the admission fees charged, but 
the museum may fund the cash flow deficit with contributions without donor 
restrictionsunrestricted contributions. 

 

34.   Amend paragraph 958-360-40-1, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10- 
65-1, as follows: 

 
Derecognition 

 
> Disposal of a Long-Lived Asset before the End of Its Useful Life 

 
958-360-40-1 A long-lived asset that is subject to an accounting policy implying 

time restrictions on the use of contributed long-lived assets  might be disposed of 
before the end of its useful life. In those situations, the gain or loss on the disposal 
of  that  asset  shall  be  reported  as  a  change  in   net  assets  without  donor 
restrictionsunrestricted net assets  within the operating excess (deficit) of a 
not-for-profit   entity   before   transfers,   and   a    reclassification   of   net 
assetsreclassification shall be reported for any remaining net assets with donor 
restrictionstemporarily restricted net assets. 
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35.   Amend paragraphs 958-360-45-1, 958-360-45-3, and 958-360-45-5 through 
45-6, supersede paragraph 958-360-45-2, and add paragraphs 958-360-45-1A 

and 958-360-45-7 through 45-8, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as 
follows: 

 
Other Presentation Matters 

 
> Reclassification upon Expiration of Donor-Imposed Restrictions 

 
958-360-45-1 If the property, plant, and equipment item being depreciated was 
contributed to the not-for-profit entity (NFP) with an explicita donor-imposed 
restriction on the length of time of the item’s use, net assets with donor 
restrictionstemporarily restricted net assets shall, over time, be reclassified as 
net assets without donor restrictionsunrestricted net assets in a statement of 
activities as those restrictions expire. (For how to report a  reclassification of net 
assetsreclassification, see paragraph 958-225-45-3.) The amount reclassified 

may or may not be equal to the amount of the related depreciation. The amount to 
be reclassified shall be based on the length of time indicated by the donor-imposed 
restrictions, if restrictions exist, while the amount of depreciation shall be based on 
the useful economic life of the asset. For example, a computer with an estimated 
useful economic life of five years may be contributed by a donor and restricted for 
a specific use by the NFP for three years. Absent donor stipulations specifying how 
long donated assets must be used, restrictions on long-lived assets, if any, or cash 
to acquire long-lived assets expire when the assets are placed in service, as 
required by paragraph 958-205-45-12. 

 

958-360-45-1A The following contributions shall be reclassified from net assets 
with donor restrictions to net assets without donor restrictions (within the 

operating activity section of the statement of activities) when the acquired or 
constructed property, plant, or equipment is placed in service: 

 

a.    Purpose-restricted contributions of property, plant, or equipment that are 
without donor-imposed stipulations specifying how long the donated 
asset must be used 

b.   Contributions of cash restricted for the acquisition or construction of 
property, plant, or equipment. 

 

The entire amount of the contribution of property, plant, or equipment or cash shall 
be reclassified at the time the asset is placed in service. There may be 
circumstances in which a donor restriction might extend beyond the point at which 
the property, plant, or equipment is placed in service. For example, a donor might 
specify that a donation restricted for the acquisition of property, plant, or equipment 
must continue to be used for a narrower purpose than general activities of the NFP. 
In such circumstances, the restriction would expire over the period of time that the 
asset is to be used. 
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958-360-45-2  Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X-XX. 

Reclassifications are also necessary if an NFP has adopted an accounting policy 
that implies a time restriction on contributions of property, plant, and equipment 

that expires over the useful life of the contributed assets. (See paragraph 958-605- 

45-6.) 
 

> Works of Art, Historical Treasures, and Similar Assets 

 
> > Statement of Financial Position 

 
958-360-45-3 If an NFP does not recognize and capitalize its collections or 

capitalizes its collections prospectively, a line item shall be shown on the face of 
the statement of financial position that refers to the disclosures about collections 
required by paragraph 958-360-50-6. That line item shall be dated if collections 
are capitalized prospectively, for example, collections acquired since January 1, 
1995 20X1 (Note X). If an NFP adopts a policy of capitalizing collections, a 
statement of financial position shall include the total amount capitalized on a 
separate line item, entitled collections or collection items. 

 

958-360-45-4 The amount capitalized for works of art, historical treasures, and 

similar assets that do not meet the definition of a collection shall be disclosed 
separately on the face of the statement of financial position or in the notes. 

 
> > Statement of Activities 

 
958-360-45-5 An NFP that does not recognize and capitalize its collections shall 

report all of the following as on operating activity on the face of its statement of 
activities, separately from revenues, expenses, gains, and losses: 

 

a. Costs  of  collection  items  purchased  with  resources  without  donor 
restrictionsas a decrease in the appropriate class of net assets 

b. Proceeds from sale of collection items acquired with resources without 
donor restrictionsas an increase in the appropriate class of net assets 

c. Proceeds from insurance recoveries of lost or destroyed collection items 

acquired with resources without donor restrictionsas an increase in the 
appropriate class of net assets. 

 

Similarly, an entity that capitalizes its collections prospectively shall report 
proceeds from sales and insurance recoveries of items not previously capitalized 
separately from revenues, expenses, gains, and losses as an operating activity, 
assuming the collections were initially acquired with resources without donor 
restrictions. 

 

958-360-45-6 Example 1 (see paragraph 958-360-55-2) illustrates a statement of 

activities that satisfies these requirementsthe requirements in paragraph 958-360- 
45-5. 
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958-360-45-7 In accordance with paragraph 958-225-45-8A, an NFP shall report 
gifts of long-lived assets without donor-imposed restrictions as revenue in the 

operating activity section in the statement of activities, because that inflow of 
resources meets both the mission dimension and availability dimension. If the 
gifted long-lived asset is not monetized (liquidated), an NFP shall report a transfer 
out of operating activities for the entire amount of the gifted long -lived asset and 
into nonoperating activities because the inherent long-term nature of the gifted 
asset makes the asset not fully available to be used for current operations. 
Presentation of board transfers shall be reported in accordance with paragraph 
958-225-45-10B. Examples 1, 1B, and 1C (see paragraphs 958-205-55-13, 958- 

205-55-21E, and 958-205-55-21G) illustrate statements of activities that satisfy 
these requirements. 

 

958-360-45-8 Purpose-restricted contributions of property, plant, or equipment 

and contributions of cash restricted for the acquisition or construction of long-lived 
assets are reclassified when the restrictions are met in accordance with paragraph 
958-360-45-1. Similar to the requirement in paragraph 958-360-45-7, an NFP shall 
report a transfer out of current operations for the entire amount of the purpose- 
restricted donated asset or the cash gift used to acquire or construct a long-lived 
asset to reflect the amount that is not fully available to be used for current 
operations. Presentation of board transfers shall be reported in accordance with 
paragraph 958-225-45-10B, reflecting that the assets are not able to be fully 
utilized in the current period. 

 

36.   Amend paragraph 958-360-50-1, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10- 
65-1, as follows: 

 
Disclosure 

 
> Accounting Policies 

 
958-360-50-1 A not-for-profit entity (NFP) shall disclose the following accounting 

policies: 
 

a. That   the   entity   reports   donor-restricted   supportdonor-restricted 
contributions whose restrictions are met in the same reporting period as 
support within net assets without donor restrictionsunrestricted 
support pursuant to paragraph 958-605-45-4 if that policy is adopted 

b.  Subparagraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 
XX.Whether or not the entity implies a time restriction that expires over 
the useful life of the donated assets if those long-lived assets are received 
without stipulations about how long the donated asset must be used or 
are acquired with gifts of cash or other assets restricted for those 
acquisitions 

c. The capitalization policy adopted 
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d. The  capitalization  policy  for  collections  (capitalization,  prospective 

capitalization, or no capitalization) 
e. The basis of valuation of property, plant, and equipment—for example, 

cost for purchased items and fair value for contributed items. 
 

37.   Amend paragraph 958-360-55-2, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10- 
65-1, as follows: 

 
Implementation Guidance and Illustrations 

 
958-360-55-1 This Section, which is an integral part of the requirements of this 
Subtopic, provides general guidance to be used by a not-for-profit entity (NFP) 

in reporting property, plant, and equipment. 

 
> Illustrations 

 
> > Example 1: Statement of Activities for Collection Items Not Capitalized 

 
958-360-55-2 Certain transactions involving collection items are required by 

paragraph 958-360-45-5 to be reported within the operating section of the 
statement of activities separately from items of revenues, gains, expenses, and 
losses. The following illustrates one possible format that may be used to satisfy 
those financial disclosure provisions. Additionally, paragraph 958-205-55-10 
contains illustrations of several formats of statements of activities that might be 
adapted to comply with those provisions. 

 
Organization M  

Statement of Activities 

 For the Year Ended June 30, 19XX 

 
 

Unrestricted 

Temporarily 

Restricted 

Permanently 

Restricted  Total 

Revenues  and other support XXX  XXX  XXX  XXX 

Gain on sale of art that is not held in a collection 

Net assets released from restrictions 

  1        1 

  XXX         (XXX)          

Total revenues, gains, and other support   XXX          XX         XXX          XXX   

Expenses 

Change in net assets before changes related to  

collection items not capitalized 
 

Change in net assets related to collection items not  

capitalized: 

  XXX                      XXX   

 
   XX          XX         XXX          XXX   

Proceeds  from sale of collection items    5    10      15 

Proceeds from insurance recoveries on  

destroyed  collection items    1        1 

Collection  items purchased  but not capitalized       (25)       (25) 

  5             (14)         (9) 

Change in net assets    XX   XX  XXX  XXX 
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[For ease of readability, the illustration is not underlined as new text.] 

 
Organization M 

Statement of Activities 

For the Year Ended June 30, 20X1 

 
Without 

Donor 

Restrictions 

 
With Donor 

Restrictions Total 

Revenues and other support 

Gain on sale of art that is not held in a collection 

Net assets released from restrictions 

$ XXX $ XXX $ XXX 

1 1 

  XXX   (XXX) 

Total revenues, gains, and other support   XXX   

Expenses   XXX   

 

Noncapitalized collection items: 

Proceeds from sale of collection items 5 10 15 

Proceeds from insurance recoveries on destroyed 

collection items 1 1 

Collection items purchased but not capitalized      (25)       (25) 

5 (14) (9) 

Operating revenues and expenses, before transfers XX 

Transfers (to)/from nonoperating XX XX 

Operating revenues and expenses, after transfers XXX 

Investment return, net XX XX XX 

Transfers (to)/from operating (XX) (XX) 

Change in net assets $ XX $ XXX $ XXX 

 

 
 

Amendments to Subtopic 958-605 
 

38.   Amend paragraphs 958-605-25-23 through 25-24, with a link to transition 
paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Not-for-Profit Entities—Revenue Recognition 

 
Recognition 

 
Transfers of Assets to a Not-for-Profit Entity or Charitable Trust that 
Raises or Holds Contributions for Others 

 

> Intermediary 
 

958-605-25-23 If an intermediary receives cash or other financial assets, it shall 

recognize its liability to the specified beneficiary concurrent with its recognition of 
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the assets received from the donor. If an intermediary receives nonfinancial 
assets, it is permitted, but not required, to recognize its liability and those assets 

provided that the intermediary reports consistently from period to period and 
discloses its accounting policy. In rare circumstances, an NFP may choose to 
present its assets and liabilities by net asset class, in which case those assets and 
liabilities attributable to the agency transaction would be reported in the net assets 
without donor restrictions class. 

 

> Agent 
 

958-605-25-24 Except as described in the following paragraphparagraphs 958- 
605-24-25 and paragraph  958-605-25-27, a recipient entity that accepts assets 

from a donor and agrees to use those assets on behalf of or transfer those assets, 
the return on investment of those assets, or both to a specified beneficiary is not a 
donee. It shall recognize its liability to the specified beneficiary concurrent with its 
recognition of cash or other financial assets received from the donor. Except as 
described in those paragraphs, a recipient entity that receives nonfinancial assets 
is permitted, but not required, to recognize its liability and those assets provided 
that the recipient entity reports consistently from period to period and discloses its 
accounting policy. Similar to the guidance in paragraph 958-605-25-23, those 
assets and liabilities would be reported in the net assets without donor restrictions 
class. 

 

39.   Amend paragraph 958-605-35-3, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10- 
65-1, as follows: 

 
Subsequent Measurement 

 
Transfers of Assets to a Not-for-Profit Entity or Charitable Trust that 
Raises or Holds Contributions for Others 

 
> Specified Beneficiary 

 
958-605-35-3 If the beneficiary has an unconditional right to receive all or a portion 

of the specified cash flows from a charitable trust or other identifiable pool of 
assets, the beneficiary shall subsequently remeasure that beneficial interest at fair 
value (see paragraph 958-30-35-10). The fair value of a perpetual trust held by 
a third party generally can be measured using the fair value of the assets of the 

trust at the date of remeasurement, unless facts and circumstances indicate that 
the fair value of the beneficial interest differs from the fair value of the assets 
contributed to the trust. Annual distributions from a perpetual trust held by a third 
party are reported as investment incomedistributions from a perpetual trust and 
shall be presented as an operating activity in the statement of activities if there are 
no other donor restrictions remaining to be satisfied. 
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40.   Amend paragraphs 958-605-45-1, 958-605-45-3 through 45-8, with a link to 
transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Other Presentation Matters 

 
958-605-45-1 Resources received in exchange transactions shall be classified as 
unrestricted revenuesand net assets, in the net assets without donor 
restrictions category, even in circumstances in which resource providers place 

limitations on the use of the resources. For example, resources received from 
governments in exchange transactions in which those governments have placed 
limitations on the use of the resources shall be reported as unrestricted revenues 
and net assets, in the net assets without donor restrictions category, because 
those limitations are not {add glossary link}donor-imposed restrictions{add 
glossary link} on contributions. See paragraph 958-210-50-2 for additional 

information about significant contractual limitations. 
 

958-605-45-2 If the not-for-profit entity (NFP) regularly provides discounts (such 

as financial aid for students that is not reported as an expense, reduced fees for 
services, or free services) to certain recipients of its goods or services, revenues 
shall be reported net of those discounts (see also paragraphs 958-720-25-7 and 
958-720-45-23). Net revenue may be reported as a single line item in a statement 
of activities, or the gross revenue is permitted to be reported less the related 

discount, provided that the discount is displayed immediately beneath the revenue. 
 
 

Pending Content: 
 

Transition Date: (P) December 15, 2016; (N) December 15, 2018 Transition 
Guidance: 606-10-65-1 

 
Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09. 

 

Contributions Received 
 

958-605-45-3 Contributions received by not-for-profit entities (NFPs) shall be 
reported as restricted support or unrestricted support. An NFP shall distinguish 
between {add glossary link}contributions{add glossary link} received with 
donor-imposed restrictions and those received without donor restrictions. The 
former shall be reported as donor-restricted support that increases net assets 
with donor restrictions. The latter shall be reported as support that increases net 

assets without donor restrictionspermanent restrictions, those received with 
temporary restrictions, and those received without donor-imposed restrictions. 

Contributions without donor-imposed restrictions shall be reported as unrestricted 
support that increases unrestricted net assets. 

 

958-605-45-4 Restricted support increases permanently restricted net assets or 
temporarily restricted net assets. A restriction on an NFP’s use of the assets 

https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL51723511-112943%26objid%3D51660479
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL51753044-112943%26objid%3D51660479
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contributed results either from a donor’s explicit stipulation or from circumstances 
surrounding the receipt of the {add glossary link}contribution{add glossary link} 

that make clear the donor’s implicit restriction on use. Contributions with donor- 
imposed restrictions shall be reported as restricted support; however, donor- 
restrictedDonor-restricted contributions whose restrictions are met in the same 
reporting period may be reported as support within net assets without donor 
restrictionsunrestricted support provided that an NFP has a similar policy for 
reporting investment gains and income (see paragraph 958-320-45-3), reports 
consistently from period to period, and discloses its accounting policy. 

 

958-605-45-5 Receipts of unconditional promises to give with payments due in 
future periods shall be reported as donor-restricted supportrestricted support 

unless explicit donor stipulations or circumstances surrounding the receipt of a 
promise make clear that the donor intended it to be used to support activities of 
the current period. It is reasonable to assume that by specifying future payment 
dates, donors indicate that their gifts are to support activities in each period in 
which a payment is scheduled. For example, receipts of unconditional promises to 
give   cash   in   future   years   generally   increase    net   assets   with   donor 
restrictionstemporarily restricted net assets. 

 

958-605-45-6 Gifts of long-lived assets received without stipulations about how 

long or for what purpose the donated asset must be used shall be reported as 
revenue without donor restrictions.restricted support if it is an NFP’s accounting 
policy to imply a time restriction that expires over the useful life of the donated 
assets. NFPs that adopt a policy of implying time restrictions also shall imply a time 
restriction on Conversely, long-lived assets acquired with gifts of cash or other 
assets restricted for those acquisitions shall initially be reported as donor- 
restricted support and shall be released from restrictions by reclassifying net 
assets with donor restrictions to net assets without donor restrictions when 

the asset is placed in service, in accordance with paragraph 958-360-45-1A, 
unless the donor also has placed a time or purpose restriction on the use of the 
long-lived asset, in which case the release occurs over the life of the time restriction 
or as the purpose restriction has been met. The release from restrictions shall be 
presented as an operating activity in the statement of activities.In the absence of 
that policy and other donor-imposed restrictions on use of the asset, gifts of long- 
lived assets shall be reported as unrestricted support. (Pursuant to paragraph 954- 
205-45-9 for954-205-45-9, not-for-profit health care entities and paragraph 958- 

205-45-12 for all other NFPs, all entities are not permitted to imply a time restriction 
that expires over the useful life of a long-lived asset.) 

 

958-605-45-7  Pursuant  to  paragraph  958-225-45-3,   reclassification  of  net 
assetsreclassifications for expirations of {add glossary link}donor-imposed 
restrictions{add glossary link} are reported separately from other transactions. 

 
Transfers of Assets to a Not-for-Profit Entity or Charitable Trust that 
Raises or Holds Contributions for Others 
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> Interest in a Perpetual Trust 

 
958-605-45-8 A specified beneficiary shall classify the contribution of a perpetual 
interest in a trust held by a third party as permanently restricted supportdonor- 
restricted support that is permanent in nature, because the trust is similar to a 
donor-restricted  permanent endowment  endowment that is perpetual in nature 
and  that the not-for-profit entity (NFP) does not control, rather than a multiyear 
promise to give. Changes in the fair value of the net assets held in trust by others 

shall be reported as a nonoperating activity, because those changes in value are 
effectively unavailable by the donor to the NFP. Any distributions from the trust 
that are free of purpose or time restrictions shall be reported as net assets without 
donor restrictions. Any distributions from the trust that are restricted for a 
particular time or purpose shall be reported as net assets with donor restrictions 

and released from restrictions as operating support when the time has elapsed or 
the purpose has been met by the NFP. 

 

41.   Amend paragraph 958-605-50-2 and supersede paragraph 958-605-50-3, 
with a link to transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Disclosure 

 
Contributions Received 

 
> Contributed Services 

 
958-605-50-1 An entity that receives contributed services shall describe the 

programs or activities for which those services were used, including the nature and 
extent of contributed services received for the period and the amount recognized 
as revenues for the period. Entities are encouraged to disclose the fair value of 

contributed services received but not recognized as revenues if that is practicable. 
The nature and extent of contributed services received can be described by 
nonmonetary information, such as the number and trends of donated hours 
received or service outputs provided by volunteer efforts, or other monetary 
information, such as the dollar amount of contributions raised by volunteers. 

Disclosure of contributed services is required regardless of whether the services 
received are recognized as revenue in the financial statements. 

 
> Accounting Policies 

 
958-605-50-2 When a not-for-profit entity (NFP) reports {add glossary 
link}contributions{add glossary link} with {add glossary link}donor-imposed 
restrictions{add glossary link} as support within net assets without donor 
restrictionsunrestricted support in accordance with paragraph 958-605-45-4, it 

shall disclose its accounting policy. 
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958-605-50-3  Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X-XX. 

Pursuant to paragraph 958-360-50-1, an entity shall disclose its accounting policy 
for implying time restrictions on gifts of long-lived assets and cash to acquire long- 
lived assets. 

 

42.   Amend paragraphs 958-605-55-21 through 55-25, 958-605-55-34, 958-605- 
55-37 through 55-38, 958-605-55-48, 958-605-55-61, 958-605-55-85 through 55- 
87, 958-605-55-98, 958-605-55-100, 958-605-55-105, 958-605-55-107, and 958- 

605-55-110, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

Implementation Guidance and Illustrations 

Contributions Received 

> Implementation Guidance 

 
> > Promises to Give 

 
958-605-55-18 A promise to give is a written or oral agreement to contribute cash 

or other assets to another entity. The Contributions Received Subsections of this 
Subtopic avoid using the term pledge because that term is used to describe not 
only promises to give but also plans or intentions to give that are not promises. 
There are other terms used to describe promises to give such as subscriptions, 
awards, appropriations, or grants. A communication received from a potential 
donor must be carefully evaluated to determine if it is a promise to give, since a 
communication that clearly is not a promise is not recognized in the financial 
statements. 

 

958-605-55-19 Pursuant to paragraph 958-605-25-8, to be recognized in financial 

statements there must be sufficient evidence in the form of verifiable 
documentation that a promise to give was made and received. That requirement 
does not preclude recognition of verifiable oral promises, such as those 
documented by tape recordings, written registers, or other means that permit 
subsequent verification. 

 

958-605-55-20 Promises to give services generally involve personal services that, 

if not explicitly conditional, are often implicitly conditioned upon the future and 
uncertain availability of specific individuals whose services have been promised. 

 

958-605-55-21 Certain promises become unconditional in stages because they 

are dependent on several or a series of conditions—milestones—rather than on a 
single future and uncertain event and are recognized in increments as each of the 
conditions is met. Similarly, other promises are conditioned on promisees’ incurring 
certain qualifying expenses (or costs). Those promises become unconditional and 
are recognized to the extent that the expenses are incurred. A portion of those 
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{add glossary link}contributions{add glossary link} shall be recognized as 

revenue as each of those stages is met. 
 

958-605-55-22 The present value of the future cash flows is one valuation 
technique for measuring the fair value of {add glossary link}contributions{add 
glossary link} arising from unconditional promises to give cash; other valuation 

techniques also are available, as described in Topic 820. The following table 
illustrates the use of present value techniques for initial recognition and 
measurement of unconditional promises to give cash that are expected to be 
collected one year or more after the financial statement date. 

 

Initial Recognition of Unconditional Promises to Give Cash 
 

Facts 

Assume that a not-for-profit entity receives a promise (or promises from a group of 

homogeneous donors) to give $100 in five years, that the anticipated future cash flows 

from the promise(s) are $70, and that the present value of the future cash flows is $50. 

 

Solution 

dr.  Contributions Receivable $ 70 

cr. Contribution Revenue—Donor-Restricted SupportTemporarily 

Restricted $ 50 

cr. Discount on Contributions Receivable $ 20 

(To report contributions receivable and revenue using a present value technique to 

measure fair value.) 
 

Note: Some entities may use a subsidiary ledger to retain information concerning the 

$100 face amount of contributions promised in order to monitor collections of 

contributions promised. 

 
> > Contributions of Use of Property, Utilities, or Advertising Time 

 
958-605-55-23 The use of property, utilities, or advertising time are considered to 

be forms of contributed assets, rather than contributed services. Pursuant to 
paragraph 958-605-25-2, an NFP would recognize the fair value of the use of 
property, utilities, or advertising time as both revenue and expense in the period 
received and used. Fair value could be estimated by using billing rates normally 
charged to other customers under similar circumstances. Whether those {add 
glossary link}contributions{add glossary link} should be reported is unaffected 

by whether the NFP could afford to purchase the utilities or facilities at their fair 
value. If the transaction is an unconditional promise to give electric, telephone, or 
other utilities for a specified number of periods, the promise should be reported as 
a {add glossary link}contribution receivable{add glossary link} and as  donor- 
restricted  supportrestricted  support  that  increases   net  assets  with  donor 
restrictionstemporarily restricted net assets, pursuant to paragraph 958-605-25- 

8. 
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958-605-55-24 Unconditional promises to give the use of long-lived assets (such 

as a building or other facilities) for a specified number of periods in which the donor 
retains legal title to the long-lived asset may be received in connection with leases 
or may be similar to leases but have no lease payments. For example, an NFP 
may use facilities under a lease agreement that calls for lease payments at 
amounts below the fair rental value of the property. In circumstances in which an 
NFP receives an unconditional promise to give for a specified number of periods, 
the promise should be reported as revenue and as a {add glossary 
link}contribution receivable{add glossary link} for the difference between the fair 

rental value of the property and the stated amount of the lease payments. In other 
words, if a donor promises that the NFP can use a facility for 10 years, the NFP 
has received a multiyear promise to give and should report the fair value of that 
promise as a contribution with a donor-imposed restrictioncontribution revenue 

in Year 1. Amounts reported as contributions shall not exceed the fair value of the 
long-lived asset at the time the NFP receives the unconditional promise to give. 
The contribution receivable may be described in the financial statements based on 
the item whose use is being contributed, such as a building, rather than as 
contributions receivable. 

 

958-605-55-25 Property and equipment used in exchange transactions (other than 

lease transactions), such as federal contracts, in which the resource provider 
retains legal title during the term of the arrangement should be reported as a {add 
glossary link}contribution{add glossary link} at fair value at the date received by 

the NFP only if it is probable that the NFP will be permitted to keep the assets 
when the arrangement terminates. 

 
> Illustrations 

 
> > Example 1: Contribution of Real Property 

 
958-605-55-32 This Example illustrates the application of the recognition and 

measurement principles of paragraphs 958-605-25-2 and 958-605-30-2. 
 

958-605-55-33 Mission A, a religious NFP, receives a building (including the land 

on which it was constructed) as a gift from a local corporation with the 
understanding that the building will be used principally as an education and training 
center for Mission A’s members or for any other purpose consistent with Mission 
A’s plans. 

 

958-605-55-34 Mission A would recognize the contributed property as an asset 

and as support and measure that property at its fair value (see paragraph 958- 
605-30-2). Information necessary to estimate the fair value of that property could 
be obtained from various sources, including amounts recently paid for similar 
properties in the locality, and estimates of its replacement cost adjusted to reflect 
the price that would be received for the contributed property. This {add glossary 
link}contribution{add      glossary      link}      is      revenue      without      donor 
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restrictionsunrestricted support because the donated assets may be used for 

any purpose and Mission A does not have a policy of implying time restrictions on 
gifts of long-lived assets (see paragraph 958-605-45-6). The fair value of the gifted 
asset would be reported as operating revenue in the statement of activities and, if 
the asset is placed in service (presumed in this scenario), the NFP would report a 
transfer out of current operations for the entire amount of the gifted asset to reflect 
that the long-lived asset is not fully available to be used for current-period 
operations. If Mission A’s policy is to imply a time restriction, the contribution is 
temporarily restricted support and the restriction expires over the useful life of 

the building. 
 

> > Example 2: Contribution of Work of Art 

 
958-605-55-35 This Example illustrates the application of the recognition and 

measurement principles of paragraph 958-605-25-19. 
 

958-605-55-36 Museum B, which preserves its collections as described in 

paragraph 958-605-25-19, receives a gift of a valuable painting from a donor. The 
donor obtained an independent appraisal of the fair value of the painting for tax 
purposes and furnished a copy to the museum. The museum staff evaluated the 
painting to determine its authenticity and worthiness for addition to the museum’s 
collection. The staff recommended that the gift be accepted, adding that it was not 
aware of any evidence contradicting the fair value provided by the donor and the 
donor’s appraiser. 

 

958-605-55-37 If Museum B capitalizes its collections, Museum B would recognize 

the fair value of the contributed work of art received as revenue and capitalize it as 
an asset at its fair value (see paragraph 958-605-25-19). If Museum B does not 
capitalize its collections, Museum B is precluded from recognizing the {add 
glossary link}contribution{add glossary link} (see that paragraph) and would 

provide the information required by paragraphs 958-360-45-3 and 958-360-45-5. 
 

958-605-55-38 If Museum B accepted the painting with the donor’s understanding 

that it would be sold rather than added to its collection, Museum B would recognize 
the {add glossary link}contribution{add glossary link} of the painting received 

as revenue without donor restrictions  unrestricted revenue and as an asset at its 
fair value (see paragraphs 958-605-30-2 and 958-605-45-6). 

 
> > Example 5: Contribution of Use of Property 

 
958-605-55-45 This Example illustrates the application of the recognition and 

measurement principles of paragraphs 958-605-25-2 and 958-605-30-2. 
 

958-605-55-46 Charity E receives the free use of 10,000 square feet of prime office 

space provided by a local entity. The local entity has informed Charity E that it 
intends to continue providing the space as long as it is available, and although it 
expects it would be able to give the charity 30 days advance notice, it may 



15
7 

 

 

 
 

discontinue providing the space at any time. The local entity normally rents similar 
space for $14 to $16 annually per square foot, the going market rate for office 
space in the area. Charity E decides to accept this gift—the free use of office 
space—to conduct its daily central administrative activities. 

 

958-605-55-47 The simultaneous receipt and use of facilities is a form of 

contributed assets and not services. Charity E would recognize the fair value of 
the contributed use of facilities as both revenue and expense in the period it is 
received and used (see paragraph 958-605-30-2). 

 

958-605-55-48 If the local entity explicitly and unconditionally promises the use of 

the facility for a specified period of time (for example, five years), the promise would 
be an unconditional promise to give. In that case, Charity E would recognize the 
receipt of the unconditional promise as a receivable and as donor-restricted 
supportrestricted support at its fair value. The donor would recognize the 

unconditional promise when made as a payable and an expense at its fair value 
(see paragraph 720-25-25-1). 

 

> > Example 9: Contribution of Board of Trustee Services 
 

958-605-55-61 A member of the board of trustees of Civic Organization I is a 

lawyer and from time to time in the capacity of a trustee provides advice on general 
business matters, including questions about business opportunities and risks and 
ethical, moral, and legal matters. The advice provided on legal matters is provided 
as a trustee in the role of a trustee, not as a lawyer, and the opinions generally are 
limited to routine matters. Generally, the lawyer suggests that Civic Organization I 
seek the opinion of its attorneys on substantive or complex legal questions. All of 
Civic Organization I’s trustees serve without compensation, and most trustees 
have specialized expertise (for example, a chief executive officer, a minister, a 
physician, a professor, and a public accountant) that makes their advice valuable 
to Civic Organization I. The trustee-lawyer also serves without compensation as a 
trustee for two other charitable organizations. 

 

Transfers of Assets to a Not-for-Profit Entity or Charitable Trust 
That Raises or Holds Contributions for Others 

 
> Illustrations 

 
> > Example 4: Recipient Entity Is a Federated Fundraising Organization 

 
958-605-55-83 This Example illustrates the guidance in paragraphs 958-605-25- 

24 through 25-25. 
 

958-605-55-84 Federated Fundraising Organization D provides three choices to 

donors in its annual workplace campaign. Donors can give without restriction, 
direct their gifts to one of four community needs identified by Federated 
Fundraising Organization D, or specify that their gifts be transferred to an NFP of 
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their choice. The campaign literature informs donors that if they choose to specify 
an NFP to which their gift should be transferred, the NFP must be a social welfare 
organization within the community that has tax-exempt status under Internal 
Revenue Code Section 501(c)(3). The campaign literature also provides a 
schedule of the administrative fees that will be deducted from all gifts that are to 
be transferred to the donor’s chosen beneficiary. 

 

958-605-55-85 Federated Fundraising Organization D would recognize the 

following transactions: 
 

a. It would recognize the fair values of the unrestricted gifts without donor 
restrictions as {add glossary link}contribution{add glossary link} 
revenue that increases net assets without donor 
restrictionsunrestricted net assets. 

b. It would recognize the fair values of the gifts targeted to the four specified 
community needs as contribution revenue that increases net assets with 
donor restrictionstemporarily restricted net assets. 

c. It would recognize the fair values of gifts that are to be transferred to 
beneficiaries chosen by the donors as increases in its assets and as 
liabilities to those specified beneficiaries (see paragraph 958-605-25-24). 

d. It would recognize as revenue the administrative fees withheld from 

amounts to be transferred to the donors’ chosen beneficiary. 
 

However, if some of the gifts that are intended for specified beneficiaries are gifts 
of nonfinancial assets, Federated Fundraising Organization D would recognize 
those nonfinancial assets and its liability to transfer them to the specified 
beneficiaries if that were its policy; otherwise, it would recognize neither the 
nonfinancial assets nor a liability (see paragraph 958-605-25-24). 

 

958-605-55-86 The beneficiaries chosen by the donors would recognize the fair 
value of the transferred assets as {add glossary link}contribution{add glossary 
link} revenue in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 958-605-45-6 for 
unconditional promises to give. Thus, the revenue would increase  net assets 
with donor restrictionstemporarily restricted net assets or net assets without 
donor restrictions, depending on the existence or absence of donor-imposed 
restrictionsunless the donor specified a permanent restriction or it was clear 

that the donor intended the gift to support activities of the current period. In 
accordance with paragraph 958-225-45-14, the beneficiaries would report the 
gross amounts of the gifts as contribution revenue and the administrative fees 
withheld by Federated Fundraising Organization D as expenses. The net amount 
would be recognized as a receivable (see paragraph 958-605-25-28). 

 

958-605-55-87 Instead of conducting the campaign as described in this Example, 

Federated Fundraising Organization D’s campaign literature, including the form 
that donors use to specify a beneficiary, clearly states that if donors choose to give 
and specify a beneficiary, the allocation committee has the authority to redirect 
their gifts if the committee perceives needs elsewhere in the community that are 
greater. By giving under those terms, donors explicitly grant Federated Fundraising 
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Organization D variance power. Thus, Federated Fundraising Organization D 
would recognize an unrestricteda {add glossary link}contribution{add glossary 
link}  without donor-imposed restrictions  (see paragraph 958-605-25-25), and 

the specified beneficiaries would be precluded from recognizing their potential for 
future distributions from the assets (see paragraph 958-605-25-31). 

 
> > Example 7: Donor Establishes a Charitable Trust 

 
958-605-55-96 This Example illustrates the guidance in paragraph 958-605-15-9. 

 

958-605-55-97 Individual transfers assets to National Bank J to establish an 

irrevocable charitable trust for the sole benefit of Museum I. National Bank J will 
serve as trustee. Individual sets forth in the trust agreement the policies that direct 
the economic activities of the trust. The trust term is five years. Each year, the 
income received on the investments of the trust will be distributed to Museum I. At 
the end of Year 5, the corpus of the trust (original assets and net appreciation on 
those assets) will be paid to Museum I. 

 

958-605-55-98 The Contribution Received Subsections of this Subtopic do not 

establish standards for the trustee, National Bank J (see paragraph 958-605-15- 
9). Because Museum I is unable to influence the operating or financial decisions 
of the trustee, Museum I and National Bank are not financially interrelated entities. 
Therefore, Museum I would recognize its asset (a beneficial interest in the trust) 
and contribution revenue that increases net assets with donor 
restrictionstemporarily  restricted  net  assets  (see  paragraph  958-605-35-3). 

Museum I would measure its beneficial interest at fair value. That value generally 
can be measured by the fair value of the assets contributed to the trust. 

 
> > Example 8: Specified Beneficiary Is a Member Organization 

 
958-605-55-99 This Example illustrates the guidance in paragraph 958-20-15-2. 

 

958-605-55-100 Some foundations and associations raise {add glossary 
link}contributions{add glossary link} for a large number of unaffiliated NFPs, 

often referred to as member organizations. By virtue of their numbers, those 
member organizations generally do not individually influence the operating and 
financial decisions of the foundation (or association). Thus, any one member 
organization and the foundation (or association) are not financially interrelated 
entities (see paragraph 958-20-15-2[a]). Because the entities are not financially 
interrelated, the foundation (or association) recognizes a liability if a donor to the 
foundation (or association) specifies that the gift should be transferred to a 
particular member organization (see paragraph 958-605-25-4). The specified 
member organization would recognize a receivable and contribution revenue that 
increases net assets with donor restrictions or net assets without donor 
restrictions, depending on the existence or absence of donor-imposed 
restrictionstemporarily  restricted  net  assets  unless  the  donor  specified  a 
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permanent restriction or it was clear that the donor intended the gift to support 
activities of the current period. 

 

> > Example 9: Transfer of a Nonfinancial Asset 

 
958-605-55-101 This Example illustrates the guidance in paragraph 958-605-25- 

4. 
 

958-605-55-102 Individual transfers a car to Federated Fundraising Organization 

K and requests that the car be transferred to Local Daycare Center L. Individual 
specifies that Federated Fundraising Organization K may use the car for one year 
before transferring it to Local Daycare Center L. Local Daycare Center L is a 
member organization of Federated Fundraising Organization K, but that status 
does not confer any ability to actively participate in the policymaking processes of 
Federated Fundraising Organization K. 

 

958-605-55-103 Because Federated Fundraising Organization K and Local 

Daycare Center L are not financially interrelated entities, Federated Fundraising 
Organization K would recognize the car as an asset and a liability to Local Daycare 
Center L if its policy were to recognize nonfinancial assets; otherwise, it would 
recognize neither the nonfinancial assets nor a liability (see paragraph 958-605- 
25-24). 

 

958-605-55-104 If, instead of refusing the gift of the use of the car, Federated 

Fundraising Organization K decides to use it for a year before transferring it to 
Local Daycare Center L, Federated Fundraising Organization K would recognize 
the fair value of the gift of one-year’s use of the car in accordance with paragraph 
958-605-30-2. The use of a car is a contributed asset and not a contributed service. 

 

958-605-55-105 Local Daycare Center L would recognize a receivable and {add 
glossary link}contribution{add glossary link} revenue that increases net assets 
with donor restrictionstemporarily restricted net assets (see paragraph 958-605- 
25-30). It would measure the contribution received at the fair value of the car; 
however, if Federated Fundraising Organization L chooses to use the car for a 
year before transferring it, the fair value would be reduced accordingly. 

 
> > Example 10: Resource Provider Names Itself As the Specified 
Beneficiary 

 
958-605-55-106 This Example illustrates the guidance in paragraph 958-605-25- 

33. 
 

958-605-55-107 Symphony Orchestra M receives a large unrestricted gift without 

donor restrictions of securities from Individual. Because it has no investment 
expertise, Symphony Orchestra M transfers the securities to Community 
Foundation N to establish an endowment fund. The agreement between 

Symphony Orchestra M and Community Foundation N states that the transfer is 
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irrevocable and that the transferred assets will not be returned to Symphony 
Orchestra M. However, Community Foundation N will make annual distributions of 
the income earned on the endowment fund, subject to Community Foundation N’s 
spending policy. The agreement also permits Community Foundation N to 
substitute another beneficiary in the place of Symphony Orchestra M if Symphony 
Orchestra M ceases to exist or if the governing board of Community Foundation N 
votes that support of Symphony Orchestra M either is no longer necessary or is 
inconsistent with the needs of the community. (That is, Symphony Orchestra M 
explicitly grants variance power to Community Foundation N.) The agreement 
does not permit either entity to appoint members to the other entity’s governing 
board or otherwise participate in the policymaking processes of the other. 

 

958-605-55-108 Community Foundation N would recognize the fair value of the 

transferred securities as an increase in investments and a liability to Symphony 
Orchestra M because Symphony Orchestra M transferred assets to Community 
Foundation N and specified itself as beneficiary (see paragraph 958-605-25- 
33(d)). The transfer is not an equity transaction because Community Foundation 
N and Symphony Orchestra M are not financially interrelated entities (see 
paragraph 958-20-25-4(b)). Symphony Orchestra M is unable to influence the 
operating or financial decisions of Community Foundation N (see paragraph 958- 
20-15-2(a)). 

 

958-605-55-109 Symphony Orchestra M would recognize the fair value of the gift 

of securities from Individual as contribution revenue. When it transfers the 
securities to Community Foundation N, it would recognize the transfer as a 
decrease in investments and an increase in an asset, for example, as a beneficial 
interest in assets held by Community Foundation N (see paragraph 958-605-25- 
33(d)). Also, Symphony Orchestra M would disclose in its financial statements the 
identity  of  Community  Foundation  N,  the  terms  under  which  Community 

Foundation N will distribute amounts to Symphony Orchestra M, a description of 
the variance power granted to Community Foundation N, and the aggregate 
amount reported in the statement of financial position and how that amount is 
described (see paragraph 958-605-50-6). 

 

958-605-55-110 If a resource provider transfers assets to a recipient entity and 
specifies itself or its affiliate as the beneficiary, a presumption that the transfer is 
reciprocal, and therefore not a {add glossary link}contribution{add glossary 
link}, is necessary even if the resource provider explicitly grants the recipient entity 

variance power. Thus, Symphony Orchestra M would recognize an asset and 
Community Foundation N would recognize a liability because the transaction is 
deemed to be reciprocal. Symphony Orchestra M transfers its securities to 
Community Foundation N in exchange for future distributions. Community 
Foundation N, by its acceptance of the transfer, agrees that at the time of the 
transfer distributions to Symphony Orchestra M are capable of fulfillment and 
consistent with the foundation’s mission. Although the fair value of those future 
distributions may not be commensurate with the fair value of the securities given 
up (because Symphony Orchestra M is at risk of cessation of the distributions), the 
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transaction is accounted for as though those values are commensurate. In 
comparison, the donors to Community Foundation F in Example 5 (see paragraph 
958-605-55-88) explicitly grant variance power to Community Foundation F in a 
nonreciprocal transfer. In that Example, it is clear that the donors have made a 

contribution because they retain no beneficial interests in the transferred assets. 
Because the donors in that Example explicitly grant variance power to Community 
Foundation F, it, rather than City Botanical Society E, is the recipient of that 
contribution. 

 

Amendments to Subtopic 958-715 
 

43.   Amend paragraph 958-715-25-1, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10- 

65-1, as follows: 

 
Not-for-Profit Entities—Compensation—Retirement Benefits 

 
Recognition 

 
958-715-25-1 When a not-for-profit entity (NFP) applies the recognition 

provisions of the following paragraph, the references to net gains or losses, prior 
service costs or credits, and transition asset or obligation in accumulated other 
comprehensive income shall instead be to the gains or losses, the prior service 
costs or credits, and the transition asset or obligation that have been recognized 
as changes in  net assets without donor restrictions, outside of the operating 
activities section of the statement of activities,unrestricted net assets arising from 

a defined benefit plan (or a postretirement benefit plan) but not yet reclassified as 
components of net periodic pension cost (or net periodic postretirement benefit 
cost): 

 

a. Paragraph 715-30-25-4. 

 
44.   Amend paragraphs 958-715-35-1 through 35-5, with a link to transition 
paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Subsequent Measurement 

 
958-715-35-1 When a not-for-profit entity (NFP) applies the subsequent 

measurement provisions of the following Sections, the references to the prior 
service costs or credits included in accumulated other comprehensive income shall 
instead be to the prior service costs or credits that have been recognized as 
changes  in   net  assets  without  donor  restrictionsunrestricted  net  assets 

arising from a defined benefit plan (or a postretirement benefit plan) but not yet 
reclassified as components of net periodic pension cost (or net periodic 
postretirement benefit cost): 
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a. Section 715-30-35 
b. Section 715-60-35. 

 

958-715-35-2 When an NFP applies the subsequent measurement guidance in the 

following Sections, the references to gains and/or losses included in accumulated 
other comprehensive income shall instead be to the gains and/or losses that have 
been recognized as changes in net assets without donor 
restrictionsunrestricted  net assets   arising  from  a  defined  benefit  plan  (or a 

postretirement benefit plan) but not yet reclassified as components of net periodic 
pension cost (or net periodic postretirement benefit cost): 

 

a. Section 715-30-35 
b. Section 715-60-35. 

 

958-715-35-3 When an NFP applies the subsequent measurement provisions of 

the following Sections, the references to the transition obligation or asset 
remaining in accumulated other comprehensive income shall instead be to the 
transition obligation or asset that has been recognized as a change in  net assets 
without donor restrictionsunrestricted net assets  arising from a defined benefit 

plan (or a postretirement benefit plan) but not yet reclassified as a component of 
net periodic pension cost (or net periodic postretirement benefit cost): 

 

a. Section 715-30-35 
b. Section 715-60-35. 

 

958-715-35-4 When an NFP applies the subsequent measurement provisions of 

the following paragraphs, references to amounts previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income shall be instead to amounts that have been recognized as 
a change in net assets without donor restrictionsunrestricted net assets arising 

from a defined benefit plan (or a postretirement benefit plan) but not yet reclassified 
as components of net periodic pension cost (or net periodic postretirement benefit 
cost): 

 

a. Paragraph 715-30-35-65 
b. Paragraph 715-60-35-127. 

 

958-715-35-5 When an NFP applies the subsequent measurement provisions of 

paragraph 715-30-35-25(a), references to the net balance included in accumulated 
other comprehensive income shall be instead to the net balance that has been 
recognized as a change in net assets without donor restrictionsunrestricted net 

assets arising from a defined benefit plan but not yet reclassified as components 
of net periodic pension cost. 

 

958-715-35-6 When an NFP applies the subsequent measurement guidance in 

paragraph 715-30-35-21, the gains and losses that are not recognized immediately 
as a component of net periodic pension cost shall be recognized in accordance 
with paragraph 958-715-45-1. 
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958-715-35-7 Not-for-profit employers that do not report other comprehensive 

income in accordance with the provisions of Topic 220, shall apply the provisions 
of paragraphs 715-30-35-79 through 35-91 and 715-30-35-92 through 35-96 in an 
analogous manner that is appropriate for their method of reporting financial 
performance and financial position. 

 

45.   Amend paragraphs 958-715-45-1 through 45-2, with a link to transition 
paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Other Presentation Matters 

 
958-715-45-1 A not-for-profit entity (NFP) shall recognize as a separate line item 
or items within changes in unrestricted net assetsoutside of operating activities 
within changes in net assets without donor restrictions, apart from expenses, 

the gains or losses and the prior service costs or credits that would be recognized 
in other comprehensive income pursuant to the following Sections: 

 

a. Section 715-30-35 
b. Section 715-60-35. 

 

Consistent with paragraphs 958-225-45-9 through 45-12, this Subtopic does not 
prescribe whether the separate line item or items shall be included within or outside 
an intermediate measure of operations or performance indicator, if one is 
presented. 

 

958-715-45-2 An NFP shall reclassify a portion of the net gain or loss and prior 

service costs or credits previously recognized in a separate line item or items and 
a portion of the transition asset or obligation remaining from the initial application 
of Topic 715 as follows: 

 

a. To net periodic pension cost, pursuant to the recognition and amortization 
provisions of paragraphs 715-30-35-3 through 35-28 

b. To net period postretirement benefit cost, pursuant to the recognition and 

amortization provisions of paragraphs 715-60-35-7 through 35-40. 
 

The contra adjustment or adjustments shall be reported in the same line item or 
items within changes in unrestricted net assetsoutside of operating activities within 
changes in net assets without donor restrictions, apart from expenses, as the 

initially recognized amounts. Net periodic postretirement benefit cost and net 
periodic pension cost shall be reported by functional expense 
classificationfunctional classification pursuant to paragraph 958-720-45-2. 

 

46.   Amend paragraph 958-715-50-1, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10- 
65-1, as follows: 
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Disclosure 
 

958-715-50-1 Not-for-profit entities (NFPs) shall make the following substitutions 

when applying the disclosure requirements of Section 715-20-50: 
 

a. The references to the net gain or loss, net prior service cost or credit, and 
net transition asset or obligation recognized in other comprehensive 
income in paragraphs 715-20-50-1(i) and 715-20-50-5(h) shall instead be 
to such amounts recognized as changes in unrestricted net 
assetsoutside of operating activities within changes in net assets 
without donor restrictions arising from a defined benefit plan but not 

yet included in net periodic benefit cost. 
b.    The references to reclassification adjustments of other comprehensive 

income in paragraphs 715-20-50-1(i) and 715-20-50-5(h) shall instead be 
to reclassifications to net periodic benefit cost of amounts previously 
recognized as changes in unrestricted net assetsoutside of operating 
activities within changes in net assets without donor restrictions arising 
from a defined benefit plan but not included in net periodic benefit cost 
when they arose. 

c. The references to the net gain or loss, net prior service cost or credit, and 
net  transition  asset  or  obligation  recognized  in  accumulated  other 
comprehensive income in the following paragraphs shall instead be to 
such amounts that have been recognized as changes in unrestricted net 
assetsoutside of operating activities within changes in net assets without 

donor  restrictions  arising  from  a  defined  benefit  plan  but  not  yet 
reclassified as components of net periodic benefit cost: 
1. Paragraph 715-20-50-5(i) 
2. Paragraph 715-20-50-1(j) 
3. Paragraph 715-20-50-5(n) 

4. Paragraph 715-20-50-1(s). 
d. The  references  to  results  of  operations  (including  items  of  other 

comprehensive  income) in paragraphs 715-20-50-1  and 715-20-50-5 
shall instead be to changes in net    assets    without    donor 

restrictionsunrestricted net assets and the references to a statement of 
income in those paragraphs shall instead be to a statement of activities. 

 

47.   Amend paragraphs 958-715-55-4 through 55-6 and supersede 958-715-55- 
7 through 55-8, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Implementation Guidance and Illustrations 

 
> Illustrations 

 
> > Example 1: Reporting Net Periodic Pension Cost and Changes in a 
Plan’s Funded Status 
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958-715-55-3 This Example illustrates the guidance in Sections 958-715-35 and 

958-715-45. 
 

958-715-55-4 Not-for-Profit Entity A’s (NFP A’s) actuary prepares a 12-month 

projection of net periodic pension cost for July 1, 20X72007, to June 30, 20X82008. 

The  funded status  of  NFP A’s  defined  benefit pension plan as  of June 30, 
20X72007, and June 30, 20X82008, and amounts to be recognized as 
components of net periodic pension cost are shown in the following paragraph. 

The cumulative net loss not yet recognized as a component of net periodic pension 
cost is less than 10 percent of the greater of the projected benefit obligation and 
the market-related value of plan assets. No plan amendments affect the period 

from July 1, 20X72007, to June 30, 20X82008. Assumptions about benefit 
payments and contributions made by NFP A have not been included in this 

Example. During the fiscal year ending June 30, 20X82008, NFP A does the 
following: 

 

a. Recognizes the additional net loss as a change in  net assets without 

donor restrictionsunrestricted net assets  and a change in the liability 

that reflects the underfunded status of the plan 
b. Recognizes the amortization of the transition obligation as a component 

of net periodic pension cost 
c. Recognizes the amortization of prior service cost as a component of net 

periodic pension cost 
d. Recognizes net periodic pension cost for 20X82008, reported within the 

appropriate functional expense categories. 
 

958-715-55-5 These facts are illustrated in the following table. 
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$    (3,670)  $  (3,600) 
  2,510      2,385   

$    (1,160)  $  (1,215) 

 

Service cost $  110 
Interest cost 120 
Expected return on plan assets (125) 
Amortization of prior service cost 100 
Amortization of net (gain) loss - 
Amortization of transition obligation   40   

 

 
 
 

6/30/076/30/X7  6/30/086/30/X8 

(in thousands) 

 

Projected benefit obligation 

Plan assets at fair value 

Funded status 

 
Items not yet recognized as a component of net periodic 

pension cost: 

Transition obligation $  240  $  200 
Prior service cost 275  175 
Net loss   315      365   
 $  830  $  740 

 

Components of projected 12 months' net periodic pension 

cost for fiscal year 20X82008: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Net periodic pension cost $  245 
 

 
 

958-715-55-6 For the year ending June 30, 20X82008, NFP A recognizes the 

amortizations of the transition obligation and prior service cost as components of 
net periodic pension cost and recognizes the additional loss arising during the 
year. The journal entries are as follows: 

 

a. Recognize the additional loss in  net assets without donor 
restrictions.unrestricted net assets. 

 

Net loss not yet recognized in net periodic pension cost  50 

Liability for pension benefits  50 
 

b. Recognize the amortization of the transition obligation in net periodic 
pension cost. 

 
Net periodic pension cost (functionalized) 40 

Transition obligation not yet recognized in net periodic 

pension cost 40 
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c. Recognize the amortization of prior service cost in net periodic pension 
cost. 

 

Net periodic pension cost (functionalized) 

Prior service cost not yet recognized in net periodic 

100 

pension cost  100 
 

d. Recognize service cost, interest cost, and the expected return on plan 
assets in net periodic pension cost. 

 
Net periodic pension cost (functionalized) 105  

(a)
 

Liability for pension benefits  105 

 
(a) Equals $110 service cost + $120 interest cost – $125 expected return 

on plan assets. 
 

In its statement of activities, NFP A chooses towould present one combined 
separate line item outside of operating activities within changes in net assets 
without donor restrictions  (encompassing the net loss arising during the year and 
the amortizations of the transition obligation and prior service cost) apart from 
expenses. NFP A would disclose the components of that combined line item in the 
notes to financial statements, pursuant to paragraph 958-715-50-1(i). 

 

958-715-55-7 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.The following statement of activities reflects the presentation of the combined 
line item if NFP A chooses to present it outside its intermediate measure of 
operations. 
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Not-for-Profit  Entity A 

Statement of Activities 

Year Ended June 30, 2008 

(in thousands) 

 
 

Operating: 

Revenues, gains, and other support: 

Private contributions,  other than bequests 

 
Unrestricted 

 
 
 $  60,000 

 
Temporarily 

Restricted 

 
 
 $  14,200 

 
Permanently 

Restricted  Total 

 
 

 $  74,200 

Bequests   17,000    17,000 

Government grants   9,000   9,000 

 
Investment income used for operating activities   11,500    1,000    12,500 

Sales of educational materials   2,000   2,000 

Other   2,000    2,000 

Net assets released from restrictions   17,000   (17,000)  - 

Total revenues, gains, and other support   109,500         7,200    116,700  

 
Expenses: 

Program services: 

Research and medical support   58,000    58,000 
Public education   9,000    9,000 
Community service   15,000    15,000 

Total program services   82,000     82,000  
Supporting services: 

Fund raising   15,000    15,000 
Management  and general   9,000    9,000 

Total supporting services   24,000    24,000 
Total expenses   106,000  

   
  106,000  

Increase in net assets from operating activities 

Nonoperating: 

Investment income in excess of amount used for 

  3,500    7,200    10,700 

operating activities 

Contributions  for endowment funds 

Pension-related changes other than net periodic  

pension cost 

  1,500 

 

 
90

(a)
 

 
$  15,000 

  1,500 

  15,000 

 
  90 

Increase in net assets   5,090    7,200    15,000    27,290 

Net assets, beginning of year 

Net assets, end of year 

  147,110 

$  152,200 

  48,800 

$  56,000 

  30,000 

$  45,000 

  225,910 

$  253,200 

 
(a) Equals $40 amortization of transition obligation + $100 amortization of prior service cost - $50 net loss. 

 

 

958-715-55-8 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.The following statement of activities reflects the presentation of the combined 
separate line item if, alternatively, NFP A chooses to present it within its 
intermediate measure of operations. This alternative would not be available to NFP 
A if it were within the scope of Topic 954, and presented a performance indicator 
pursuant to the provisions of paragraphs 954-225-45-4 through 45-7. 
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Not-for-Profit Entity A 

Statement of Activities 

Year Ended June 30, 2008 

(in thousands) 

 

 
Operating: 

Revenues, gains, and other support: 

Private contributions, other than bequests 

 

 
Unrestricted 

 
 
$  60,000 

 
Temporarily 

Restricted 

 
 
$  14,200 

 
Permanently 

Restricted  Total 

 
 

$  74,200 

Bequests   17,000    17,000 

Government grants   9,000   9,000 

 

Investment income used for operating activities   11,500    1,000    12,500 

Sales of educational materials   2,000   2,000 

Other   2,000    2,000 

Net assets released from restrictions   17,000   (17,000)  - 

Total revenues, gains, and other support   109,500         7,200    116,700  

 
Expenses: 

Program services: 

Research and medical support   58,000    58,000 
Public education   9,000    9,000 
Community service   15,000    15,000 

Total program services   82,000     82,000  
Supporting services: 

Fund raising 

Management and general 

 
  15,000 

  9,000 

 
  15,000 

  9,000 

Total supporting services    24,000    24,000 

Total expenses    106,000    106,000 

Pension-related changes other than net periodic  

pension cost 
90

(a)
   90 

Increase in net assets from operating activities 

Nonoperating: 

  3,590    7,200    10,610 

Investment income in excess of amount used for 

operating activities 

Contributions for endowment funds 

 
  1,500 

 
 
 $  15,000 

 
  1,500 

  15,000 

Increase in net assets   5,090    7,200    15,000    27,290 

Net assets, beginning of year 

Net assets, end of year 

  147,110 

$  152,200 

  48,800 

$  56,000 

  30,000 

$  45,000 

  225,910 

$  253,200 

 
(a) Equals $40 amortization of transition obligation + $100 amortization of prior service cost - $50 net loss. 

 

Amendments to Subtopic 958-720 
 

48.   Amend paragraphs 958-720-45-1 through 45-3, 958-720-45-7 through 45-8, 

958-720-45-15 and its related heading, and 958-720-45-24, add paragraphs 958- 
720-45-2A and 958-720-45-23A and its related heading, and supersede paragraph 
958-720-45-16, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Not-for-Profit Entities—Other Expenses 

 
Other Presentation Matters 
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958-720-45-1 This Subsection provides guidance on the reporting of expenses 
incurred by not-for-profit entities (NFPs) using the following classifications: 

 

a. Functional classification of expenses 
b. Reporting of expenses by their nature and functionNatural classification 

of expenses 
c. Classification of particular costs. 

 

For additional guidance on reporting under these classifications see Section 958- 
205-45. 

 
> Functional Classification of Expenses 

 
958-720-45-2 To help donors, creditors, and others in assessing an NFP’s service 

efforts, including the costs of its services and how it uses resources, a statement 
of activities or notes to financial statements shall provide information about 
expenses   reported   by   their    functional   expense   classificationfunctional 
classification, such as major classes of program services and supporting 
activities, for example: 

 

a. Program services 
b. Supporting activities, which often include one or more of the following: 

1. {add   glossary   link}Management   and   general   activities{add 
glossary link} 

2. {add glossary link}Fundraising activities{add glossary link} 

3. {add   glossary   link}Membership   development   activities{add 
glossary link}. 

 

958-720-45-2A Activities that represent direct conduct or direct supervision of 

program or support activities would require allocation. Additionally, certain costs 
benefit more than one function and, therefore, shall be allocated. For example, 
information technology generally can be identified as benefitting various functions, 
such as accounting and financial reporting, human resources, fundraising, and 
program delivery. Information technology costs generally would therefore be 
allocated among the functions receiving direct benefit. 

 

> > Program Services 

 
958-720-45-3 Program services are the activities that result in goods and services 

being distributed to beneficiaries, customers, or members that fulfill the purposes 
or mission for which the NFP exists. Those services are the major purpose for and 
the major output of the NFP and often relate to several major programs. For 
example, a large university may have programs for student instruction, research, 
and patient care, among others. Similarly, a health and welfare entity may have 
programs for health or family services, research, disaster relief, and public 
education, among others. A federated fundraising entity’s programs may include 
making {add glossary link}contributions{add glossary link} to NFPs supported 
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by the federated fundraising entity. Paragraphs 280-10-50-1 through 50-19, 
although not required of NFPs, may be helpful in determining what constitutes 
major classes of programs and supporting activities. 

 

958-720-45-4 Information about an NFP’s major programs (or segments) can be 

enhanced by reporting the interrelationships of program expenses and program 
revenues. For example, a university might report expenses for its instruction and 
other academic services with related revenues from student tuition and expenses 
for its housing and food services with related revenues from room and board fees. 

Related nonmonetary information about program inputs, outputs, and results also 
is helpful; for example, information about applications, acceptances, admissions, 
enrollment and occupancy rates, and degrees granted. Generally, reporting that 
kind of information is feasible only in supplementary information or management 
explanations or by other methods of financial reporting. 

 

958-720-45-5 The components of total program expenses shall be evident from 

the details provided on the face of the statement of activities, unless the notes to 
financial statements provide the information in paragraph 958-720-50-1(b). 

 

> > Supporting Activities 
 

958-720-45-6 Supporting activities are all activities of an NFP other than program 

services. Generally, supporting activities include the following activities: 
 

a. Management and general activities 
b. Fundraising activities 
c. Membership development activities. 

 
> > > Management and General Activities 

 
958-720-45-7 {add glossary link}Management and general activities{add 
glossary link} include the following: 

 

a. Oversight 
b. Business management 

c. General recordkeeping and payroll 
d. Budgeting 
e. Financing, including unallocated interest costs pursuant to paragraph 

958-720-45-24 
f. Soliciting funds other than contributions and membership dues, for 

example, the costs associated with: 
1. Promoting the sale of goods or services to customers, including 

advertising costs 
2. Responding  to  government,  foundation,  and  other  requests  for 

proposals for customer-sponsored contracts for goods and services 
3. Administering   government,   foundation,   and   similar   customer- 

sponsored contracts, including billing and collecting fees and grant 
and contract financial reporting. 
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g. Disseminating information to inform the public of the NFP’s stewardship 
of contributed funds 

h. Making announcements concerning appointments 

i. Producing and disseminating the annual report 
j. Subparagraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update No. 2012- 

04. 
jj. Recruiting and employee benefits activities (human resources) 

k. All other management and administration except for direct conduct of 
program services (see paragraphs 958-720-45-3 through 45-5), 
fundraising activities (see paragraphs 958-720-45-9 through 45-10), or 
membership development activities (see paragraphs 958-720-45-11 
through 45-14). See paragraphs 958-720-55-171 through 55-172 for 
examples as to which activities would constitute direct conduct or 
supervision of program or support functions and an example footnote 
disclosure on the cost allocation method used to allocate costs among 
functions. 

 

958-720-45-8 The costs of oversight and management usually include the salaries 

and expenses of the governing board, the chief executive officer of the NFP, and 
the supporting staff. If such staff spend a portion of their time directly supervising 
program services or categories of other supporting services, however, their 
salaries and expenses shall be allocated among those functions (see paragraph 
958-720-45-2A). 

 

> Reporting of Expenses by Nature and FunctionNatural Classification of 

Expenses 
 

958-720-45-15 Voluntary health and welfare entitiesAll NFPs shall report 

information about all expenses in one location on the face of the statement of 
activities, as a schedule in the notes to financial statements, or in a separate 
financial statement, as discussed in paragraph 958-205-45-6. All operating 
expenses shall be presented  by  both  their functional classificationfunctional 
expense classification andas well as information about expenses by their natural 
expense classification, such as salaries, rent, electricity, supplies, depreciation, 

awards and grants to others, and professional fees, in a matrix format in a separate 
financial statement—the statement of functional expenses (see paragraph 958- 
205-45-6). To the extent that operating expenses are reported by other than their 
natural classification (such as salaries included in cost of goods sold or facility 
rental costs of special events reported as direct benefits to donors), they shall be 

reported by their natural classification in the functional expense analysis. For 
example, salaries, wages, and fringe benefits that are included as part of the cost 
of goods sold on the statement of activities shall be included with other salaries, 
wages, and fringe benefits in the functional analysis. Nonoperating expenses (for 

example, interest and other financing expenses) are neither required nor precluded 
from being presented by function. External and direct internal investment expenses 
that have been netted against investment return need not be included in the 
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functional expense analysis, other than a disclosure of the amount of internal 
salaries and benefits related to those investment activities, if any, that have been 
netted against investment return. See paragraph 958-205-55-21 for an example of 
how to report expenses by nature and function. 

 

958-720-45-16 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.Other NFPs are encouraged, but not required, to provide information about 
expenses by their natural expense classification. 

 

> Classification of Particular Costs 

 
> > Support Costs 

 

958-720-45-23A Support costs (such as management and general, fundraising, 

and membership development) are considered to be incurred to carry out the 
NFP’s purpose for existence. Those costs shall be classified as operating activities 
and included in the operating excess (deficit) of a not-for-profit entity before 
transfers, unless the costs are incurred for nonoperating purposes (for example, 

non-programmatic investing or financing expenses). 
 

> > Interest Costs 

 
958-720-45-24 Interest costs, including interest on a building’s mortgage, are 

considered nonoperating expenses and, thus, shall beare not required to be 
allocated or presented by functionto specific programs or supporting services to 
the extent possible. Interest costs that cannot be allocated shall be reported as 
part of the management and general function. 

 

49.   Amend paragraph 958-720-50-1, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10- 
65-1, as follows: 

 
Disclosure 

 
958-720-50-1 The financial statements of a not-for-profit entity (NFP) shall 

disclose all of the following information: 
 

a. Total fundraising expenses. 
b. Total  program  expenses  and  information  about  why  total  program 

expenses disclosed in the notes do not articulate with the statement of 
activities. Pursuant to paragraph 958-720-45-5, this disclosure is only 
required if the components of total program expenses are not evident 
from the details provided on the face of the statement of activities (for 
example, if cost of sales is not identified as either program or supporting 
services). 
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c. The amount of income tax expense and the nature of the activities that 
generated the taxes, which is only required if the NFP incurs income tax 
expense. 

d.    A description of the methods used to allocate costs among program and 
support functions. See paragraph 958-720-55-172 or Example 1 in 
Section 958-205-55 for an example of a note disclosure on the cost 
allocation methods used. 

 

50.   Amend paragraph 958-720-55-104, the heading preceding paragraph 958- 
720-55-166, and paragraphs 958-720-55-167 and 958-720-55-169 and add 
paragraphs 958-720-55-171 through 55-176 and their related headings, with a link 
to transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Implementation Guidance and Illustrations 

 
Accounting for Costs of Activities that Include Fundraising 

 
> Illustrations 

 
> > Example 9: Distribution of the Annual Report 

 

958-720-55-104 Not-for-Profit Entity I (NFP I) is a university that distributes its 

annual report, which includes reports on mission accomplishments, to those who 
have made significant contributions over the previous year, its board of trustees, 
and its employees. The annual report is primarily prepared by management and 
general personnel, such as the accounting department and executive staff. The 
activity is coordinated by the public relations department. Internal management 
memoranda indicate that the purpose of the annual report is to report on how 
management discharged its stewardship responsibilities, including the university’s 
overall performance, goals, financial position, cash flows, and results of 
operations. Included in the package containing the annual report are requests for 
contributions and donor reply cards. 

 
> > Example 20: Illustrative Disclosures for the Allocation of Joint Costs 

 

958-720-55-166  The  disclosures  discussed  in  paragraph  958-720-50-2  are 

illustrated in the following Cases: 
 

a. Narrative format (Case A) 
b. Tabular format (Case B). 

 
> > > Case A: Narrative Format 

 
958-720-55-167 The following shows the required and encouraged information in 

narrative format. 
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Note X. Allocation of Joint Costs 
 

In 19XX, Not-for-Profit Entity T conducted activities that included requests for 
{add glossary link}contributions{add glossary link}, as well as program and 

management and general components. Those activities included direct mail 
campaigns, special events, and a telethon. The costs of conducting those 
activities included a total of $310,000 of joint costs, which are not specifically 
attributable to particular components of the activities (joint costs). [Joint costs 
for each kind of activity were $50,000, $150,000, and $110,000 respectively.] 
These joint costs were allocated as follows. 

 

Fund raising 

Program A 

Program B 

Management and general 

$   180,000 

80,000 

40,000 

  10,000   

Total $   310,000 
 

 

958-720-55-168 Note that the bracketed sentence is a disclosure that is 

encouraged but not required. 

 
> > > Case B: Tabular Format 

 
958-720-55-169 The following reports that information in tabular format, as well as 
information concerning joint costs incurred for each kind of activity by  functional 
expense classificationfunctional classification, which is neither required nor 

encouraged, but which is not prohibited. 
 

Note X. Allocation of Joint Costs 
 

In 19XX, Not-for-Profit Entity T conducted activities that included appeals for 
{add glossary link}contributions{add glossary link} and incurred joint costs 
of $310,000. These activities included direct mail campaigns, special events, 
and a telethon. Joint costs were allocated as follows. 

 

 
Direct Mail 

Special 

Events  Telethon  Total 

Fund raising 

Program A 

Program B 

$    40,000  $  50,000  $  90,000  $  180,000 

10,000  65,000  5,000  80,000 

25,000  15,000  40,000 

Management and general    10,000      10,000   

Total  $    50,000  $   150,000  $   110,000  $  310,000 
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958-720-55-170 Note that shading is used to highlight information that is neither 

required nor encouraged, but which is not prohibited. However, NFPs may prefer 
to disclose it. Disclosing the total joint costs for each kind of activity ($50,000, 

$150,000, and $110,000) is encouraged but not required. 
 

> Accounting for Allocable Costs for Direct Conduct or Direct Supervision 
 

> > Example 21: Illustrative Disclosures of Methods Used for the Allocation 
of Expenses from Management and General 

 

958-720-55-171 The following cases represent certain activities to illustrate direct 

conduct and direct supervision of program or support activities and, therefore, 
should be allocated to the program or support function or functions that receive a 
benefit. 

 

> > > Case A: CEO Allocation 
 

958-720-55-172 The broad responsibilities of a Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 

generally include administrative and programmatic oversight. At NFP A, the CEO 
spends a portion of time directly overseeing the research program. Additionally, a 
portion of time is spent with current and potential donors on fundraising cultivation 
activities. A portion of the CEO’s compensation and benefits and other expenses 
would be allocated to the research program and to the fundraising function 
representing the portion of time spent on those activities because they reflect direct 
conduct or direct supervision. If the remainder of the CEO’s time is spent indirectly 
supervising the other areas of NFP A, including the administrative areas, those 
activities would not constitute direct conduct or direct supervision, and the ratable 
portion of compensation and benefit amounts would remain in management and 
general activities. 

 

> > > Case B: CFO Allocation 
 

958-720-55-173 The Chief Financial Officer (CFO) at NFP B has primary 

responsibility for (a) accounting and reporting, (b) short-term budgeting and long- 
term financial planning, (c) cash management, and (d) direct oversight of the NFP’s 
endowment. A portion of the CFO’s compensation and benefits and other 
expenses would be allocated to management and general activities for the 

accounting and reporting and the short-term budgeting and long-term financial 
planning functions because they benefit the overall organization. A portion also 
would be allocated to nonoperating expenses for the cash management activities 
for which there is direct conduct or direct supervision of that activity. Finally, a 
portion also would be allocated to investment expenses for management of the 
investment strategy of the endowment and would be netted against investment 
return. However, any portion of time spent supervising the accounting for 
investments or other fiduciary oversight would not be allocated to investment 
expenses because that time is related to an accounting and general management 
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activity that benefits the overall organization and should be allocated to 
management and general activities. 

 

> > > Case C: Human Resources Department Allocation 
 

958-720-55-174 The human resources department at NFP C generally is involved 

in the recruitment of all personnel of the NFP. If NFP C hired an employee to work 
in Program A, the human resources department’s related costs would not be 
allocated to that program. Rather, those costs would remain a component of 
management and general activities, because the human resources 

department’s efforts to hire an employee for a particular function are not deemed 
to be direct conduct or direct supervision of programmatic activity. 

 

> > > Case D: Grant Accounting and Reporting Allocation 
 

958-720-55-175 NFP D receives federal grants and employs an accountant who 

is responsible for grant accounting and reporting. In some cases, under the terms 
of the grant agreement, a fiscal report is required to be filed that details expenses 
incurred and charged against the grant. The fiscal report is not part of the direct 
conduct or direct supervision of the grant but rather is an accounting function. 
Therefore, the grant accountant’s compensation and benefits would not be 
allocated to the programmatic area. However, a scientific report prepared by a 
principal investigator who is responsible for the research activity would be 
indicative of direct conduct and/or direct supervision of the grant activity, and the 
principal investigator’s compensation and benefits would be allocated to the grant. 

 

> > > Required Disclosure 
 

958-720-55-176 In accordance with the examples presented in paragraphs 958- 

720-55-172 through 55-175, an NFP would be required to assess which activities 
constitute direct conduct or direct supervision of a program or support function and, 
therefore, would require allocation of costs. The information required to be 
disclosed by paragraph 958-720-50-1(d) would be the cost allocation method used 
to allocate costs of activities identifiable with one or more program, fundraising, or 
membership-development activities, an example of which is illustrated as follows. 

 

Note X. Methods Used for Allocation of Expenses from Management and 
General Activities 

 

The financial statements report certain categories of expenses that are 
attributable to one or more program or supporting functions of the 
Organization. Those expenses include depreciation and amortization, the 
president’s office, communications department, and information technology 
department. Depreciation is allocated based on a square footage basis, the 
president’s office is allocated based on a time and cost study of where efforts 
are made, certain costs of the communications department are allocated 
based on the benefit received, and the information technology department is 
allocated based on a cost study of specific technology utilized. 
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Amendments to Subtopic 958-805 
 

51.  Amend paragraphs 958-805-25-27 and 958-805-25-29, with a link to 
transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Not-for-Profit Entities—Business Combinations 

 
Recognition 

 
Acquisition by a Not-for-Profit Entity 

 
> Recognizing Goodwill Acquired or a Contribution Received, Including 
Consideration Transferred 

 
958-805-25-27 An NFP acquirer applies the guidance in this Subsection instead 

of Subtopic 805-30 for the recognition of the following items: 
 

a. Goodwill acquired, whether recognized as an asset or as an immediate 
charge to the statement of activities 

b. A {add glossary link}contribution{add glossary link} received in an 

acquisition 
c. Consideration transferred, including contingent consideration. 

 
> > Goodwill Acquired, Whether Recognized as an Asset or as an 
Immediate Charge to the Statement of Activities 

 
958-805-25-28 Unless the operations of the acquiree are expected to be 
predominantly supported by contributions and returns on investments (see 
paragraphs 958-805-25-29 through 25-30), an NFP acquirer shall recognize 
goodwill as of the acquisition date, measured in accordance with paragraph 
958-805-30-6. 

 

958-805-25-29 If the operations of the acquiree as part of the combined entity 
are expected to be predominantly supported by contributions and returns on 
investments, an NFP acquirer shall recognize a separate charge in its 
statement of activities as an operating activity (within the {add glossary link} 
operating excess [deficit] of a not-for-profit entity before transfers)  {add glossary 
link} as of the acquisition date, measured in accordance with paragraph 958- 

805-30-6, rather than goodwill. If the acquisition was not undertaken to carry 
out  the  NFP’ s  purpose  for  existence,  it shall be  recognized  outside  of 
operating activities. Predominantly supported by means that contributions 

and returns on investments are expected to be significantly more than the 
total of all other sources of revenues. 
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958-805-25-30 An NFP acquirer shall consider all relevant qualitative and 

quantitative factors in determining the expected nature of the predominant source 
of support for an acquiree’s operations as part of the combined entity. For example, 
an NFP acquirer shall consider qualitative and quantitative information about all 
forms of contributed support, including contributions that are precluded from being 
recognized or are not required to be recognized in the financial statements (such 
as certain contributed services and collection items and conditional promises to 
give). 

 

52.   Amend paragraphs 958-805-45-5 through 45-11, with a link to transition 
paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Other Presentation Matters 

 
Acquisition by a Not-for-Profit Entity 

 

958-805-45-3 The financial statements of an acquirer (the combined entity) 
shall report an acquisition by a not-for-profit entity as activity of the period in 
which it occurs. 

 
> Statement of Activities 

 
958-805-45-4 A not-for-profit entity (NFP) acquirer shall report the excess 

amount recognized in accordance with the guidance in paragraph 958-805-25-29 
as a separate line item on the face of its statement of activities. The separate line 
item shall be appropriately described, for example, as excess of consideration paid 
over net assets acquired in acquisition of Entity AB (or as excess of liabilities 
assumed over assets acquired in acquisition of Entity AB). Example 5 (see 

paragraphs 958-805-55-59 through 55-61) illustrates one way an acquirer might 
present that amount in its statement of activities. 

 

958-805-45-5 An NFP acquirer shall report the inherent contribution recognized 

in accordance with paragraph 958-805-25-31 as a separate line item on the face 
of the statement of activities. The inherent contribution shall be classified as an 
operating activity if the acquisition is to primarily carry out the purpose of the NFP. 
The separate line item shall be appropriately described, for example, as excess of 
assets acquired over liabilities assumed in donation of Entity XY or as contribution 
received in donation of Entity XY. In another situation, that excess might be 
described as excess of fair value of net assets acquired over consideration paid in 
acquisition of Entity XY. 

 

958-805-45-6 An NFP acquirer shall classify the {add glossary link}inherent 
contribution{add glossary link} received presented in accordance with the 

preceding paragraph on the basis of the type of donor  restrictions imposed on the 
related net assets. In classifying those net assets, an acquirer shall do both of the 
following: 
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a. Include restrictions imposed on the net assets of the acquiree by a donor 
before the acquisition and those imposed by the donor of the business 
or nonprofit activity acquired, if any, in accordance with Section 958- 

605-45. 
b. Report donor-restricted {add glossary link}contributions{add glossary 

link}   as   donor-restricted  supportrestricted  support   even   if   the 

restrictions are met in the same reporting period in which the acquisition 
occurs. That is, the acquirer shall not apply the reporting exception in 
paragraph 958-605-45-4 to net assets with donor restrictionsrestricted 

net assets acquired in an acquisition. 
 

958-805-45-7 Thus, the {add glossary link}inherent contribution{add glossary 
link} received may increase permanently restricted net assets, temporarily 
restricted net assets, unrestricted net assetsnet assets with donor 
restrictions, net assets without donor restrictions, or some combination of 

those items. Example 6 (see paragraphs 958-805-55-62 through 55-67) illustrates 
the application of the preceding paragraph’s guidance on reporting donor- 
imposed restrictions on an inherent contribution received. 

 

958-805-45-8 An NFP acquirer that transfers assets as consideration for an 

acquired nonprofit activity or business shall assess whether that transaction 
satisfies a {add glossary link}donor-imposed restriction{add glossary link} (see 

the following paragraph) or otherwise results in a change in its net asset 
classifications (see paragraph 958-805-45-10). 

 

958-805-45-9 For example, transferring consideration in an acquisition might 
satisfy a {add glossary link}donor-imposed restriction{add glossary link} on the 

acquirer’s net assets that were restricted for acquisition of land, buildings, works 
of art, or other long-lived assets if the acquiree has the qualifying assets. If so, the 
acquirer may either report the expiration of those restrictions separately or 
aggregate and report them together with other similar expirations of donor- 
imposed restrictions during the period in which the acquisition occurs. 

 

958-805-45-10 If transferring consideration results in changes in net asset 

classifications other than those described in the preceding paragraph, an NFP 
acquirer  shall  report  those  changes  separately  from  both  any  other 
reclassification of net assetsreclassifications and any expiration of those 

restrictions during the period in which the acquisition occurs. For example, an 
acquirer that transfers as consideration its unrestricted  assets with no associated 
donor restrictions and acquires assets from the acquiree that have permanent or 
temporary donor restrictions shall recognize a reclassification of net assets  in its 
statement of activities. 

 
> Statement of Cash Flows 

 
958-805-45-11 An NFP acquirer shall report the entire amount of any net cash flow 

related to an acquisition (cash paid as consideration, if any, less acquired cash of 
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the acquiree) in the statement of cash flows as an  investing activityoperating 
cash flow of a not-for-profit entity if the acquisition is to primarily carry out the 

NFP’s purpose for existence. Conversely, if the entity was primarily acquired as an 
investment, the net cash flow would be reported in the statement of cash flows as 
an investing cash flow of a not-for-profit entity. Example 7 (see paragraphs 

958-805-55-68 through 55-70) illustrates this requirement. 
 

53.   Amend paragraphs 958-805-50-3 and 958-805-50-8, with a link to transition 
paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Disclosure 

 
Merger of Not-for-Profit Entities 

 

958-805-50-1 The new not-for-profit entity (NFP) shall disclose information that 
enables users of its financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial 
effect of the merger of not-for-profit entities that resulted in its formation. 

 

958-805-50-2 To meet the objective in the preceding paragraph, the new NFP shall 

disclose the following information for the merger that resulted in its formation: 
 

a. The name and a description of each merging entity 
b. The merger date 

c. The primary reasons for the merger 
d. Both of the following for each merging entity: 

1. The amounts recognized as of the merger date for each major class 
of assets and liabilities and each class of net assets 

2. The nature and amounts, if applicable, of any significant assets (for 
example, conditional promises receivable or collections) or liabilities 

(for example, conditional promises payable) not otherwise required 
to be recognized under generally accepted accounting principles 
(GAAP). 

e. The nature and amount of any significant adjustments made to conform 
the individual accounting policies of the merging entities or to eliminate 
intra-entity balances. 

 

958-805-50-3 If the new NFP is a public entity and the merger occurs at other 

than the beginning of an annual reporting period (that is, if its initial financial 
statements thus cover less than an annual reporting period), the new NFP shall 
disclose all of the following supplemental pro forma information: 

 

a. Revenue for the current reporting period as though the merger date had 
been the beginning of the annual reporting period 

b. Changes in  net assets without donor restrictions and changes in net 
assets with donor restrictionsunrestricted net assets, changes in 

temporarily  restricted  net  assets,  and  changes  in  permanently 
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restricted net assets for the current reporting period as though the 

merger date had been the beginning of the annual reporting periodperiod. 
c.    Operating excess (deficit) of a not-for-profit entity before transfers 

and the operating excess (deficit) of a not-for-profit entity after 
transfers attributable to the acquiree since the acquisition date that is 

included in the statement of activities for the reporting period 
d.    Operating excess (deficit) of a not-for-profit entity before transfers and the 

operating excess (deficit) of a not-for-profit entity after transfers as though 
the acquisition date for all acquisitions that occurred during the current 
year had occurred at the beginning of the annual reporting period 

e.    Items required in (c) for the prior annual reporting period if the acquirer 
presents comparative financial statements 

f.  Nature and amount of any material nonrecurring pro forma adjustments 
directly attributable to the acquisitions included in the reported pro forma 
before transfers into operating excess. 

 

958-805-50-4 If the new NFP is a public entity and it presents comparative financial 

information in the annual reporting period following the year in which the merger 
occurs, it shall disclose the supplemental pro forma information in the preceding 
paragraph for the comparable prior reporting period as though the merger date 
had been the beginning of that prior annual reporting period. 

 

958-805-50-5 If disclosure of any of the information required by paragraphs 958- 

805-50-3 through 50-4 is impracticable, the new NFP shall disclose that fact and 
explain why the disclosure is impracticable. The term impracticable has the same 
meaning as impracticability in paragraph 250-10-45-9. 

 

958-805-50-6 If the specific disclosures required by this Subsection do not meet 

the objective in paragraph 958-805-50-1, the new NFP shall disclose whatever 
additional information is necessary to meet that objective. 

 

Acquisition by a Not-for-Profit Entity 
 

958-805-50-7 To meet the objective in the paragraph 805-10-50-1, an NFP 

acquirer shall disclose the information required by paragraph 805-10-50-2(a) 

through (g). 
 

958-805-50-8 Instead of disclosing the information in paragraph 805-10-50-2(h), 
an NFP acquirer that is a public entity shall disclose all of the following information 

for each acquisition that occurs during the reporting period: 
 

a. Revenues attributable to the acquiree since the acquisition date that are 

included in the statement of activities for the reporting period 
b. Changes in  net assets without donor restrictions and changes in net 

assets with donor restrictionsunrestricted net assets, changes in 
temporarily restricted net assets, and changes in permanently 
restricted net assets attributable to the acquiree since the acquisition 

date that are included in the statement of activities for the reporting period 
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c. The revenues of the combined entity as though the acquisition date for 
all acquisitions that occurred during the current year had been at the 
beginning of the annual reporting period (supplemental pro forma 
information) 

d. Changes in net assets without donor restrictions and changes in net 
assets with donor restrictionsunrestricted net assets, changes in 
temporarily restricted net assets, and changes in permanently restricted 

net assets as though the acquisition date for all acquisitions that occurred 
during the current year had been at the beginning of the annual reporting 
period (supplemental pro forma information) 

e. The  nature  and  amount  of  any  material,  nonrecurring  pro  forma 
adjustments  directly attributable  to  the  acquisition(s)  included  in  the 
reported pro forma revenues and changes in net assets without donor 

restrictions and changes in net assets with donor restrictionsunrestricted 
net assets, changes in temporarily restricted net assets, and changes in 
permanently restricted net assets (supplemental pro forma information). 

 

54.   Amend paragraphs 958-805-55-36 through 55-38, 958-805-55-51, 958-805- 
55-53, 958-805-55-60 through 55-61, 958-805-55-64 through 55-67, and 958-805- 
55-69, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Implementation Guidance and Illustrations 

 
Merger of Not-for-Profit Entities 

 
> Illustrations 

 
> > Example 1: Disclosures for a Merger 

 
958-805-55-32 This Example illustrates some of the disclosures required for a 
merger of not-for-profit entities in paragraphs 958-805-50-1 through 50-6. The 
Example assumes that three not-for-profit entities (NFPs) merge to create a new 
NFP. NFP F, NFP G, and NFP H merge to create NFP I, which is a public entity. 

 

958-805-55-33 Although this Example presents the illustrative notes separately, 

NFP I might present the disclosures illustrated in a single note. The required 
supplemental information is presented in a separate schedule outside the notes. 
This Example illustrates the following disclosures: 

 

a. Description of the merger 
b. Significant asset not required to be recognized 
c. Conforming accounting policies 
d. Major classes of assets, liabilities, and net assets 
e. Required supplemental information. 

 
> > > Description of the Merger 
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958-805-55-34  The  following  note  illustrates  the  disclosures  required  by 

paragraphs 958-805-50-2(a) through (c). 
 

NFP I was formed on June 15, 20X1, as the result of a merger of three local 
not-for-profit entities—NFP F, NFP G, and NFP H. All three entities shared 
the common mission of supporting youth education. Through their merger, 
the entities seek to further their common mission by substantially improving 
their after-school youth programs in the region and their capability to assist 
youth in need. They also seek to achieve economies of scale and other 
synergies through integrating their services. 

 
> > > Significant Asset Not Required to Be Recognized 

 
958-805-55-35 The following note illustrates the disclosures required by paragraph 

958-805-50-2(d)(2). 
 

At June 15, 20X1, NFP F had a conditional promise receivable of $1.4 million 
from a donor to be used to construct a new after-school youth facility. The 
promise is conditioned upon NFP F raising an equivalent amount from others 
by the end of 20X4 to be used for construction of the facility. At the merger 
date, NFP F had raised $420,000. NFP I expects to successfully raise the 
remaining amount by the end of 20X4 

 
> > > Conforming Accounting Policies 

 
958-805-55-36 The following note illustrates the disclosure required by paragraph 

958-805-50-2(e). 
 

Of NFP F’s temporarily restricted net assets at the merger date, $789,000 
related to its accounting policy of implying a time restriction on gifts of long- 
lived assets over the useful life of the donated assets. NFP G and NFP H 
had elected not to imply a time restriction on those types of gifts, and NFP I 
has conformed its policy to that of NFP G and NFP H. Thus, the time 
restriction on NFP F’s donated long-lived assets was removed, which 
increased  the  opening  balance  of  NFP  I’s  unrestricted  net  assets  by 
$789,000.NFP  G  and  NFP  H  have  a  policy  to  report  donor-restricted 
contributions whose restrictions are met in the same reporting period as 
support within net assets without donor restrictions. NFP F reports donor- 
restricted contributions whose restrictions are met in the same reporting 
period as donor-restricted support and subsequently releases the donor- 

restricted net assets when the restrictions are met. NFP I has conformed its 
policy to that of NFP G and NFP H. The accounting policy difference affects 
only the statement of activities; thus, no adjustment to the opening balance 
of NFP I’s net asset classes is necessary. 
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With donor restrictionsPermanently  
restricted 48,834 37,987 86,409 58,209 28,895 12,929 

 
789 

 
- 163,349 109,125 

Temporarily restricted       10,847       28,200       15,966  789  -   54,224 
Without donor restrictionsUnrestricted   8,916     27,335     8,591      -    789     45,631 

al net assets $   57,750 $ 113,744 $   37,486  -  - $     208,980 
 

 

 
 

> > > Major Classes of Assets, Liabilities, and Net Assets 

 
958-805-55-37 The following note illustrates the disclosures required by paragraph 

958-805-50-2(d),  and  also  shows  the  reclassification  discussed  in  the  note 
illustrated in the preceding paragraph. 

 

 
Major Classes of Assets 

June 15, 20X1 (amounts 

in thousands) 

 

 
Adjustments 

 
 
 
Total 

 
Assets 

NFP F NFP G NFP H Debit Credit (NFP I) 

Cash and short-term investments $     4,127 $     7,213 $     3,179 - - $ 14,519 

Contributions receivable 

Allowance for uncollectibles 

Contributionsoreceivable, net 

Land, buildings, andoequipment 

Accumulatedodepreciation 

Land, buildings, and equipment, net 

Long-termoinvestments 

Liabilities 
 

Accounts payable and accrued 

expenses 

Grants payable 

Long-term debt 

Net assets 

3,053 5,102 2,736 - - 10,851 

295 524 157 - - 976 

2,758 4,578 2,539 - -   9,875   

43,337 59,021 15,875 - - 118,233 

  (8,458)        (9,935)        (1,990)        -       -        (20,383) 

  34,879          49,086          13,885          -        -          97,850   

54,987 108,234 42,004 - - 205,225 

- - 

 
3,128 6,412 3,333 - - 12,873 

2,893 3,765 2,232 - - 8,890 

32,980 45,190 18,556 - - 96,726 

 
 

 
Tot 

 

 

> > > Case E: Required Supplemental Information 

 
958-805-55-38 The following supplemental information is required by paragraph 

958-805-50-3. If NFP I presents comparative financial information in the annual 
reporting period following the year in which the merger occurs, the supplemental 
pro forma information would be presented in the financial report of that year as 
well. 
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Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited) 

The following information is not audited. 
 

NFP I’s revenue and changes in  net assets without donor restrictions and net assets with donor  

restrictionsunrestricted net assets, temporarily restricted net assets, and permanently restricted net  

assets for the year ending December 31, 20X1, as if the merger had occurred at January 1, 20X1, 

are: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Supplemental pro forma 

information for 

1/1/20X1–12/31/20X1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Revenue 

 
 
$ 17,139 

Change in Net 

Assets  

without  

Donor  

Restrictions 

Unrestricted  

Net Assets 

 

 
$  5,715 

Change in 

Net Assets  

with Donor  

Restrictions 

Temporarily 

Restricted  

Net Assets 

 

 
$ (2,575) (2,922) 

 
 

 
Change in  

Permanently 

Restricted  

Net Assets 

 

 
$  347 

 

 

Acquisition by a Not-for-Profit Entity 

 
> Illustrations 

 
> > Example 2: Collection Items Received in an Acquisition—Contribution 
or Purchase 

 

958-805-55-51 This Example illustrates application of the guidance in paragraphs 

958-805-25-23 through 25-24. Museum D, which has a policy of not capitalizing its 
{add glossary link}collections{add glossary link}, acquires Museum C. To effect 
the acquisition, Museum D agrees to transfer cash consideration of $1,600 to a 
foundation designated by Museum C. As part of the acquisition, Museum D 
acquires 800 paintings owned by Museum C. Museum D adds all of Museum C’s 
paintings to its collection. The fair values of Museum C’s assets and liabilities other 
than collection items at the acquisition date follow. 

 

Cash $ 100 

Accounts receivable 50 

Contributions receivable 75 

Property, plant, and equipment 675 

Liabilities assumed   (200) 
Identifiable net assets other than collections $ 700 
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958-805-55-52 It is unclear whether the collection items were contributed or 

purchased because the fair value of the consideration transferred is $1,600, which 
exceeds the aggregate of the identifiable net assets acquired (excluding the 
collection items) of $700. The excess $900 paid could be attributable entirely to 
either the collection items or goodwill, or part could be attributed to the cost of the 
collection items and part to goodwill. 

 

958-805-55-53 In this circumstance, if Museum D determines that the acquisition- 

date fair values of the collection items are far greater than $900, it would presume 
that $900 of the excess relates to the cost of the purchased collection items and 
that the remainder of the excess relates to contributed collection items. Consistent 
with how purchased collections are reported in paragraph 958-360-45-5, that $900 
cost would be reported as a decrease as an operating activity in the appropriate 
class of net assets in the statement of activities in the period of the acquisition. No 
goodwill or contribution revenue would be recognized. 

 

958-805-55-54 If Museum D instead determines that the acquisition-date fair 

values of the collection items are less than $900, for example, $300, it could not 
presume that the entire $900 excess relates to the collection. Rather, Museum D 
would attribute that lesser amount to the cost of the purchased collection items 
and attribute the remaining portion of the excess ($600) to goodwill in accordance 
with paragraph 958-805-25-28. (The acquiree, Museum C, as part of the combined 
entity, is expected to obtain so much of its support from sources other than 
contributions and returns on investments that it does not qualify to immediately 
charge to the statement of activities the amount that otherwise is recognized as 
goodwill.) 

 
> > Example 5: Acquiree Expected in the Combined Entity to Be 
Predominantly Supported by Contributions and Returns on Investment 

 
958-805-55-59 This Example illustrates one way in which a not-for-profit entity 

(NFP) might implement the requirements of paragraphs 958-805-25-29 and 958- 
805-45-4. On February 10, 20X0, NFP G, a religious not-for-profit entity, purchases 
100 percent of the ownership  interests  in Restaurant  H for  consideration  of 
$525,000. On the acquisition date, the amount of the net identifiable assets of 

Restaurant H recognized and measured in accordance with this Subtopic was 
$410,000. NFP G acquired Restaurant H for the purpose of converting it to a soup 
kitchen. 

 

958-805-55-60 Management of NFP G expects the soup kitchen resulting from the 
conversion of Restaurant H to be predominantly supported by {add glossary 
link}contributions{add glossary link} and returns on investments. Specifically, 

the operating costs of the soup kitchen are expected to be funded by NFP G’s 
existing contribution base. The following table illustrates how NFP G might satisfy 
the requirements of paragraph 958-805-45-4 for presenting the separate charge 
to the statement of activities at the acquisition date. 

https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL6799600-166096%26objid%3D7663828
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL6799601-166096%26objid%3D7663828
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NFP G Statement of 

Activities 

For the Year Ended December 31, 20X0 

(presented in thousands) 

 
Without  

Donor  

Restrictions 

Unrestricted 

With Donor  

Restrictions 

Temporarily 

Restricted 

 

 
Permanently 

Restricted 

Revenue, gains, and other support $ 8,640 $6,790 6,510 $  280 

Net assets released from restrictions 

Total revenues, gains, and other support 
 

Expenses 

Operating excessChange in net assets before changes 

  5,820   (5,820) - 

14,460 970 690      280 

(13,115)  -  - 

related to acquisition of Restaurant H and transfers 

Excess of consideration transferred over net 

1,345 690   280 

assets acquired in acquisition of Restaurant H (Note X) (115) - - 

Operating excess, before transfersChange in net assets $ 1,230 $  690 $  280 

 
958-805-55-61 NFP G might satisfy the requirements of paragraphs 805-10-50- 

2(a) through (d) and paragraph 958-805-50-11(a) as shown in the illustrative note 
below. 

 

Note X: Acquisition of Restaurant H 
 

On February 10, 20X0, NFP G acquired Restaurant H, a local restaurant, which it 
converted into a soup kitchen. NFP G acquired Restaurant H as part of furthering 
its mission to care for the needy. The acquisition was effected by purchasing 100 
percent of the ownership interests in Restaurant H. 

 

Because the operations of the soup kitchen are expected to be predominantly 
supported by {add glossary link}contributions{add glossary link} and returns on 

investments, NFP G has recognized the excess of the consideration transferred 
over the net assets acquired as a separate charge in its statement of activities 
rather than as goodwill. NFP G paid consideration of $525,000 for Restaurant H. 
On the acquisition date, the net identifiable assets of Restaurant H were $410,000. 
The excess of the amount paid over the net identifiable assets acquired represents 
the value of Restaurant H’s assembled workforce, which is not recognized as a 
separate intangible asset, and the value of Restaurant H’s earnings potential as a 
restaurant to other potential buyers. 

 
> > Example 6: Donor Restriction on a Contribution Received 

 
958-805-55-62 This Example illustrates application of the guidance in paragraphs 

958-805-25-31, 958-805-30-8 through 30-9, and 958-805-45-5 through 45-7. The 
Example has the following Cases: 
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a. The  inherent  contribution  is  not  subject  to  additional  restrictions 

(Case A) 
b. The inherent contribution is subject to additional restrictions (Case B). 

 

958-805-55-63 Cases A and B share the following assumptions. 
 

958-805-55-64 Charity I acquires Charity J. Charity I transfers no consideration in 

exchange for Charity J. The acquisition was achieved by, in effect, a gift of Charity 
J to Charity I. The fair values of Charity J’s assets and liabilities, including {add 
glossary link}donor-imposed restrictions{add glossary link}, at the acquisition 

date follow. 
 

Cash 
 
$  75 

 
Net assets without donor restrictionsUnrestricted  $ 

 
550 

Contributions receivable  225 

Long-term investments  500 

Plant, property, and equipment   430   

 net assets 

Net assets with donor restrictionsTemporarily 

 restricted net assets 

 
450 250 

Total assets 1,230  Permanently restricted net assets    200 

Accounts payable  (65)  Total net assets 

Mortgage  (165) 

Total liabilities  (230) 

$    1,000 

Total net assets $ 1,000 

 

958-805-55-65 Charity I recognizes a $1,000 {add glossary link}contribution{add 
glossary link} received in the acquisition (the excess of the acquisition date 

values of the identifiable assets acquired over the acquisition date values of the 
liabilities assumed). Charity I classifies the inherent contribution received 
according to the type of {add glossary link}donor-imposed restrictions{add 
glossary link}, including any imposed by the donor of the business or nonprofit 

activity acquired. An inherent contribution received as the result of an acquisition 
effected primarily to carry out the purpose of the NFP would be classified as an 
operating activity on the NFP’s statement of activities, assuming no donor 
restrictions exist. 

 

> > > Case A: The Inherent Contribution Is Not Subject to Additional 

Restrictions 

 
958-805-55-66 Based on donor restrictions on Charity J’s net assets at the 

acquisition date, net assets with a fair value of $250 and $200450 were classified 
as with donor restrictionstemporarily restricted and permanently restricted net 
assets, respectively. In this Example, Charity J is, in effect, the donor of the 
acquired nonprofit activity, and it imposes no additional donor restrictions. To 
recognize the fiduciary responsibilities to the donors of Charity J that are assumed 
when Charity J’s assets and liabilities are acquired, Charity I would classify 
changes to its net assets as follows. 
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Increase in net assets without donor restrictions unrestricted net assets: 

Contribution received in the acquisition of Charity J $ 550 

 
Increase in net assets with donor restrictionstemporarily restricted net assets: 

Contribution received in the acquisition of Charity J $450 250 

 
Increase in permanently restricted net assets: 

Contribution received in the acquisition of Charity J   $  200 

 

> > > Case B: The Inherent Contribution Is Subject to Additional 
Restrictions 

 
958-805-55-67 Charity J is a subsidiary of Parent before the acquisition by Charity 

I. As a condition of the acquisition, Parent’s governing board requires that Charity 
I use $175 of  net assets without donor restrictionsunrestricted net assets for 

future capital improvements to the facility acquired. The requirement is irrevocable 
and is not self-imposed. To recognize the fiduciary responsibilities to the donors of 
Charity J that are assumed when Charity J’s assets and liabilities are acquired, 
Charity I would classify changes to its net assets as follows. 

 

Increase in net assets without donor restrictions unrestricted net assets: 

Contribution received in the acquisition of Charity J  $  375 

 
Increase in net assets with donor restrictions temporarily restricted net assets: 

Contribution received in the acquisition of Charity J  $625 425 

 
Increase in permanently restricted net assets: 

Contribution received in the acquisition of Charity J   $  200 

 
 

> > Example 7: Illustration of an Acquisition in a Statement of Cash Flows 

 
958-805-55-68 This Example illustrates application of the guidance in paragraphs 

958-805-45-11 and 958-805-50-15. Entity X, an NFP, acquires Entity S from Entity 
S’s parent. As part of the acquisition, Entity S’s parent requires that Entity X 
transfer consideration of $300 to a third-party community foundation. The fair 
values of Entity S’s assets and liabilities at the acquisition date are as follows. 
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Cash $ 25 

Contributions receivable 155 

Property, plant, and equipment 900 

Long-term note payable   (375) 
Net assets acquired $ 705 

 
 

958-805-55-69 Entity X reports the acquisition as a single line as investing cash 
flows of a not-for-profit entityin the investing activities section of the statement 

of cash flows, assuming the acquisition is enacted primarily for the 
nonprogrammatic investment purposes of the NFP, as follows: 

 

Payment for acquisition of Entity S, net of cash acquired $    (275) 

 

958-805-55-70  Entity  X  discloses  the  following  additional  information  in  a 

supplemental schedule of investing and financing activities: 
 

 

The Entity acquired Entity S by transferring cash of $300. In conjunction with the 

acquisition, liabilities were assumed and a contribution was received from Entity 

S's parent as follows: 

Fair value of assets acquired $ 1,080 

Cash transferred to community foundation (300) 

Liabilities assumed   (375) 

Contribution received in acquisition of Entity S $ 405 
 

Amendments to Subtopic 958-810 
 

55.   Amend paragraphs 958-810-50-3 and 958-810-50-5, with a link to transition 
paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Not-for-Profit Entities—Consolidation 

 
Disclosure 

 
958-810-50-1 If consolidated financial statements are presented, the reporting 

entity (parent) shall disclose any restrictions made by entities outside of the 
reporting entity on distributions from the controlled not-for-profit entity (NFP) 

(subsidiary) to the parent and any resulting unavailability of the net assets of the 
subsidiary for use by the parent. 
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958-810-50-2 If, as described in paragraph 958-810-25-4, an NFP (the reporting 

entity) controls a related but separate NFP through a form other than majority 
ownership interest, sole corporate membership, or majority voting interest in the 
board of the other entity and has an economic interest in that other NFP, the 

reporting entity shall disclose all of the following information if it does not present 
consolidated financial statements: 

 

a. Identification of the other NFP and the nature of its relationship with the 
reporting entity that results in control 

b. Summarized financial data of the other NFP, which shall include the 
following information: 
1. Total assets, liabilities, net assets, revenue, and expenses 

2. Resources that are held for the benefit of the reporting entity or that 
are under its control. 

c. The disclosures required by paragraphs 850-10-50-1 through 50-6. 
 

958-810-50-3 The existence of control or an {add glossary link}economic 
interest{add glossary link}, but not both, as described in paragraph 958-810-25- 

5, requires the disclosures in paragraphs 850-10-50-1 through 50-6. (The 
existence of an economic interest does not necessarily cause the entities to be 
related parties. However, the disclosures in those paragraphs are required if an 

economic interest exists.) 

 
> Disclosures for Noncontrolling Interests 

 
958-810-50-4 An NFP (parent) that has one or more consolidated subsidiaries with 
a noncontrolling interest shall provide a schedule of changes in consolidated net 

assets attributable to the parent and the noncontrolling interest either in notes to 
the consolidated financial statements or on the face of financial statements, if 
practicable. That schedule shall reconcile beginning and ending balances of the 
parent’s controlling interest and the noncontrolling interests for each class of net 
assets for which a noncontrolling interest exists during the reporting period. 

 

958-810-50-5 The schedule required by the preceding paragraph shall, at a 

minimum, include: 
 

a. Subparagraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X-XX.A 
performance indicator, if the entity is a not-for-profit, business-oriented 
health care entity (see Section 954-10-15) 

b. Amounts of discontinued operations 
c. Subparagraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 2015-01. 

d. Changes in ownership interests in a subsidiary, including investments by 
and distributions to noncontrolling interests acting in their capacity as 
owners, which shall be reported separate from any revenues, expenses, 

gains, or losses and outside any measure of operations, if reported 
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e. An aggregate amount of all other changes in  net assets without donor 
restrictions and net assets with donor restrictionsunrestricted net 

assets (or other net asset classes, if restricted) for the period. 
 

958-810-50-6 Paragraph 958-810-55-25 illustrates the required disclosures using 

a reconciling schedule in notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
 

56.   Amend paragraphs 958-810-55-18 through 55-23 and 958-810-55-25 and its 
related heading and supersede paragraph 958-810-55-24 and its related heading, 
with a link to transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Implementation Guidance and Illustrations 

 
> Illustrations 

 
> > Example 1: Subsidiary with a Noncontrolling Interest 

 
958-810-55-17 This Example illustrates one way in which the consolidated 

financial statements of an NFP might satisfy the presentation and disclosure 
requirements for noncontrolling interests in a consolidated subsidiary and 
subsequent changes in ownership interests of that subsidiary. This Example uses 
simplified assumptions and highly aggregated amounts to illustrate how to apply 
the provisions of Topic 810 and Subtopic 958-810. 

 

958-810-55-18 For example, the consolidated statement of financial position in 

paragraph 958-810-55-23 shows relatively few highly aggregated amounts of 
assets and liabilities, and the consolidated statement of operations and other 
changes in net assets without donor restrictionsunrestricted net assets in 

paragraph 958-810-55-24 shows relatively few highly aggregated amounts of 
revenues and expenses rather than details such as expenses by function or 
nature. The consolidated statement of financial position also does not classify 
assets and liabilities, which is required for a not-for-profit, business-oriented health 
care entity by paragraph 954-210-45-1. This Example also omits a statement of 
cash flows, which does not bear on the presentation and disclosure requirements 
for noncontrolling interests. 

 

958-810-55-19 Formats or levels of detail other than those presented in this 

Example may be appropriate for other situations. For example, the related net 
assets and noncontrolling interest would be presented in  net assets with donor 
restrictionstemporarily or permanently restricted net assets if donor-imposed 
restrictions on the use of the subsidiary’s net assets existed in this Example (see 

paragraph 958-810-45-1). 

 
> > > Assumptions 

 
958-810-55-20 The following assumptions are applicable to all years: 
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a. Hospital A, a tax-exempt NFP has one subsidiary, Subsidiary A. That 
ownership interest in Subsidiary A was purchased; there are no {add 
glossary link}donor-imposed restrictions{add glossary link} on the use 

of Subsidiary A’s net assets. 
b. Subsidiary A is an investor-owned entity that is subject to income taxes. 

The tax rate for all years is 40 percent. 

c. Subsidiary A has 10,000 shares of common stock outstanding and does 
not pay dividends. 

 

958-810-55-21 The following assumptions are applicable to 20X2: 
 

a. On January 1, 20X2, Hospital A sells 2,000 of its 10,000 shares in 
Subsidiary A to an unrelated entity for $50,000 in cash, reducing its 
ownership interest from 100 percent to 80 percent. Immediately before 
the sale, Subsidiary A’s equity was as follows. 

 

Subsidiary A 
 

Common stock $ 25,000 
Paid-in capital 50,000 

Retained earnings 125,000 

Accumulated other comprehensive income   5,000   
Total equity $ 205,000 

 
 

b. The  accumulated  other  comprehensive  income  balance  of  $5,000 
represents an unrealized gain on a portfolio of securities purchased by 
Subsidiary A for $100,000, which it classifies as available-for-sale 
securities at the carrying amount of $105,000 and are the only investment 
securities of the consolidated group. 

c.    The  sale  of  Subsidiary  A’s  shares  is  accounted  for  as  an  equity 
transaction (within net assets without donor restrictionsunrestricted 
net assets) in the consolidated financial statements of Hospital A, as 
follows: 
1.    A noncontrolling interest is recognized in net assets without donor 

restrictionsunrestricted net assets in the amount of $41,000 
($205,000 × 20 percent). 

2.  Net assets without donor restrictionsUnrestricted net assets 
attributable to Hospital A are increased by $9,000, calculated as the 
difference between the cash received ($50,000) and the carrying 
amount of the noncontrolling interest ($41,000). 

3. The  top-level  (consolidated)  journal  entry  to  record  the  sale  of 
Subsidiary A’s shares to the noncontrolling shareholder is as follows: 
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Cash 
 

Net assets without donor restrictionsUnrestricted net  

assets (noncontrolling interest) 
 

Net assets without donor restrictionsUnrestricted net  

$ 50,000  

 
$ 41,000 

assets (Hospital A)  9,000 
 

d. For the year ended December 31, 20X2, the amount of Subsidiary A’s net 
income included in the consolidated financial statements is $20,000, 
which included a net loss for discontinued operations of $7,000. 

 

958-810-55-22 The following assumptions are applicable to 20X3: 
 

a. On January 1, 20X3, Hospital A purchases 1,000 shares in Subsidiary A 
from the noncontrolling shareholders (50 percent of the noncontrolling 
interest) for $30,000 cash, increasing its ownership interest from 80 
percent to 90 percent. Immediately before that purchase, the carrying 
amount of the noncontrolling interest in Subsidiary A was $48,000. The 
purchase of shares from the noncontrolling shareholders is accounted for 
as an equity transaction in the consolidated financial statements, as 
follows: 
1. The noncontrolling interest balance within net assets without donor 

restrictionsunrestricted net assets is reduced by $24,000 ($48,000 

× 50 percent interest acquired by Hospital A). 
2. Net   assets   without   donor   restrictionsUnrestricted   net   assets 

attributable to Hospital A are decreased by $6,000, calculated as the 
difference between the cash paid ($30,000) and the adjustment to 
the carrying amount of the noncontrolling interest ($24,000). 

3. The top-level (consolidated) journal entry to record that purchase of 

Subsidiary A’s shares from the noncontrolling shareholders is as 
follows: 

 
Net assets without donor restrictionsUnrestricted net  

assets (noncontrolling interest) 

Net assets without donor restrictionsUnrestricted net  

assets (Hospital A) 

Cash 

 

$  24,000 

 
6,000 

 
 
 
 
 
$ 30,000 

 

b. For the year ended December 31, 20X3, the amount of Subsidiary A’s net 
income included in the consolidated financial statements is $15,000. 

 
> > > Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

 
958-810-55-23 The following consolidated statement of financial position 

illustrates the requirement in paragraph 958-810-45-1 that Hospital A present the 
noncontrolling interest in the consolidated statement of financial position within net 
assets, but separately from the parent’s net assets. 
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 20X3  20X2 

 
ets: 

Cash 

 

 
$  570,000 

  

 
$  475,000 

Accounts receivable 125,000  110,000 
Investment securities 125,000  120,000 
Plant and equipment   220,000      235,000   

Total assets $  1,040,000  $  940,000 

bilities: 

Total liabilities 

assets without donor restrictionsUnrestricted net  

 
  $  555,000   

  
  $  459,000   

ets: 

Hospital A 
 

459,000 
  

433,000 
Noncontrolling interests in Subsidiary A 

Total net assets without donor  

restrictionsunrestricted net assets 

  26,000   

 
  485,000   

   48,000   

 
  481,000   

Total liabilities and net assets $  1,040,000  $  940,000 

 

 
 
 

Hospital A 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

As of December 31 
 

 
 
 

Ass 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Lia 

 
Net 

ass 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

> > > Consolidated Statement of Operations and Other Changes in 

Unrestricted Net Assets 
 

958-810-55-24 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.The following consolidated statement of operations and other changes in 
unrestricted net assets illustrates how the requirements in paragraph 958-80-50- 

5(a) for disclosure of the amounts of a performance indicator of a health care entity 
for an excess of revenues over expenses from continuing operations and in 
paragraph 958-810-50-5(b) for discontinued operations might be presented on the 
face of a consolidated statement of operations and other changes in net assets. 
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Hospital A 

Consolidated Statement of Operations and Other 

Changes in Unrestricted Net Assets 

Year Ended December 31 

 
 
 
 
20X3  20X2 

 

Unrestricted revenues, gains, and other support: 

Net patient service revenue 

 
$    390,000 

 
$    355,000 

Contributions    5,000    5,000 

Net assets released from donors' restrictions used for operations    -        - 

     Total revenues, gains, and 

other support          395,000        360,000 

Patient care and other operating expenses         366,000              337,000  

Excess of revenues over expenses (from continuing operations)    29,000    23,000 

Discontinued operations of Subsidiary A, net 

Change in net unrealized gains and losses on other than trading securities 

  - 

  5,000 

  (7,000) 

  15,000 

Sale of Subsidiary A shares to noncontrolling shareholders    -    50,000 

Purchase of Subsidiary A shares from noncontrolling shareholders     (30,000)   -   

Increase in unrestricted net assets $  4,000 $      81,000 

 
 

> > > Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements: Changes in 
Consolidated Net Assets without Donor RestrictionsUnrestricted Net 
Assets Attributable to the Parent’s Controlling Financial Interest and to 
Noncontrolling Interests in Subsidiaries 

 
958-810-55-25 The following note depicts the changes in consolidated net assets 

attributable to the controlling financial interest of Hospital A (parent) and the 
noncontrolling interests. It illustrates the requirements in paragraph 958-810-50-4 
that an NFP present a schedule that reconciles the beginning and the end of the 
period carrying amounts of the parent’s controlling interest and the noncontrolling 
interests for each class of net assets for which a noncontrolling interest exists. This 
note also illustrates the disclosure requirements in paragraphs 958-810-50-5(a), 
paragraph 958-810-50-5(b) and (d) through (e), and 958-810-50-5(d) for the 
amounts of a performance indicator of a health care entity (which is equivale nt to 
income from continuing operations), for the amounts of  discontinued operations, 
and other changes in ownership interests in a subsidiary.subsidiary, and the 
aggregate amount of all other changes in net assets without donor restrictions 
and net assets with donor restrictions for the period. 
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Hospital A 

Notes to Consolidated Financial  Statements 

Changes in Consolidated Unrestricted Net Assets Attributable to Hospital A and 

Transfers  (to) from the Noncontrolling Interest 

Year Ended December 31 

 

 
Controlling  Noncontrolling  

 

 
Balance January 1, 20X2 

  Total   Interest Interest 
 

$      400,000 
 

$      400,000 
 

$  - 
Excess of revenues  over expenses  (from continuing  operations)   23,000   17,600   5,400 
Discontinued operations, net of tax   (7,000)   (5,600)   (1,400) 
Change in net unrealized  gains and losses on other than trading 

securities 
 

  15,000 
 

  12,000 
 

  3,000 
Sale of Subsidiary  A shares to noncontrolling shareholders   50,000   9,000   41,000 

Change in net assets   81,000    33,000    48,000  
Balance December  31, 20X2   $       481,000    $       433,000    $  48,000  

Excess of revenues  over expenses  from continuing  operations   29,000   27,500   1,500 
Change in net unrealized  gains and losses on other than trading 

securities 
 

  5,000 
 

  4,500 
 

  500 
Purchase of Subsidiary  A shares from noncontrolling shareholders   (30,000)   (6,000)   (24,000) 

Change in net assets   4,000    26,000    (22,000) 
Balance December  31, 20X3 $      485,000 $      459,000 $  26,000 

 

[For ease of readability, the illustration is not underlined as new text.] 
 

Hospital A 

Notes to Consolidated Financial  Statements 

Changes in Consolidated Net Assets without Donor Restrictions Attributable to 

Hospital A and Transfers  (to) from the Noncontrolling Interest 

Year Ended December 31 

 

 
 
 
 
Balance January 1, 20X2 

 
       Total   

 Controlling 

Interest 
 Noncontrolling 

Interest 
 
  $   400,000    

 
  $    400,000    

 
  $  -   

Operating  excess, before discontinued operations 23,000  17,600  5,400 
Discontinued operations, net of tax   (7,000)    (5,600)    (1,400) 
Operating  excess, after discontinued operations 16,000  12,000  4,000 
Sale of Subsidiary  A shares to noncontrolling shareholders 50,000  9,000  41,000 
Other changes  in net assets without donor restrictions   15,000      12,000      3,000   

Change in net assets   81,000      33,000      48,000   
Balance December  31, 20X2 481,000  433,000  48,000 

Operating  excess 29,000     
Purchase of Subsidiary  A shares from noncontrolling shareholders (30,000)  (6,000)  (24,000) 
Other changes  in net assets without donor restrictions   5,000      32,000      2,000   

Change in net assets   4,000      26,000      (22,000) 
Balance December  31, 20X3 $   485,000  $    459,000  $  26,000 
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Amendments to Subtopic 954-205 
 

57.   Supersede paragraphs 954-205-45-8 through 45-9 and their related heading, 
with a link to transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Health Care Entities—Presentation of Financial Statements 

 
Other Presentation Matters 

 
> Expirations of Donor-Imposed Restrictions 

 

954-205-45-8 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.A not-for-profit, business-oriented health care entity shall recognize the 
expiration of a donor-imposed restriction on a contribution in the period in which 

the restriction expires, as described in paragraphs 958-205-45-9 through 45-12, 
with the exception described in the following paragraph. 

 

954-205-45-9 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.The expiration of donor-imposed restrictions on long-lived assets shall be 
recognized when the asset is placed in service (rather than as depreciated as 
permitted by paragraph 958-205-45-12). Thus, if contributions of long-lived assets 
with explicit donor restrictions are reported as temporarily restricted support an 
NFP provider reports expirations of those donor restrictions when the stipulation is 
fulfilled and the assets are placed in service. Similarly, donations of cash or other 
assets that must be used to acquire long-lived assets are reported as temporarily 
restricted support in the period received, and expirations of those donor restrictions 
are reported when the acquired long-lived assets are placed in service and donor- 
imposed restrictions are satisfied. 

 

Amendments to Subtopic 954-210 
 

58.  Amend paragraph 954-210-45-2 and its related heading, with a link to 
transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Health Care Entities—Balance Sheet 

 
Other Presentation Matters 

 
954-210-45-1 Health care entities, including not-for-profit, business-oriented 

health care entities, shall classify assets and liabilities as current and noncurrent 
as discussed in Section 210-10-45. However, rather than presenting a classified 
balance sheet, a continuing care retirement community instead may sequence 
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assets according to their nearness of conversion to cash and may sequence 
liabilities according to the nearness of the maturity and resulting use of cash. 

 
> Net Assets without Donor RestrictionsUnrestricted Net Assets 

 

954-210-45-2 Net assets without donor restrictionsUnrestricted net assets of 

not-for-profit, business-oriented health care entities include assets whose use is 
contractually limited, such as the following: 

 

a. Proceeds of debt issues and funds of the not-for-profit, business-oriented 
health care entity deposited with a trustee and limited to use in 
accordance with the requirements of an indenture or a similar agreement. 

b. Other assets limited to use for identified purposes through an agreement 
between the not-for-profit, business-oriented health care entity and an 
outside party other than a donor or grantor. Examples include assets set 
aside under debt agreements, assets set aside under self-insurance (risk- 
retention) funding arrangements, and assets set aside to meet statutory 
reserve requirements (such as those required under state lawlaws and 
regulations   for   many   health   maintenance   organizations).   (See 

paragraph 954-810-45-4.) 
 

59.   Supersede paragraph 954-210-50-1 and its related heading, with a link to 
transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Disclosure 

 
> Expirations of Donor-Imposed Restrictions 

 

954-210-50-1 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.Not-for-profit, business oriented health care entities are not required to make 
the disclosure required by paragraph 958-605-50-3 because, pursuant to 
paragraph 954-205-45-9, health care entities are prohibited from implying a time 
restriction that expires over the useful life of a donated long-lived asset. 

 

Amendments to Subtopic 954-225 
 

60.   Supersede Subtopic 954-225, Health Care Entities—Income Statement, with 
a link to transition paragraph 958-10-65-1. [Paragraphs 954-225-45-2 through 
45-2A amended and moved to paragraphs 958-225-45-18 through 45-19; 
paragraph 954-225-55-1 amended and moved to paragraph 958-20-55-2B] 
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Amendments to Subtopic 954-305 
 

61.   Amend   paragraphs   954-305-45-1   and   954-305-45-3   and   supersede 
paragraph 954-305-45-4 and its related heading, with a link to transition paragraph 
958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Health Care Entities—Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
Other Presentation Matters 

 
954-305-45-1 Cash and claims to cash that meet any of the following conditions 

shall be reported separately and shall be excluded from current assets: 
 

a. They  are  restricted  as  to  withdrawal  or  use  for  other  than  current 
operations. 

b. They are designated for expenditure in the acquisition or construction of 
noncurrent assets. 

c. They are required to be segregated for the liquidation of long-term debts. 
d. They are limited to use for long-term purposes by a {add glossary 

link}donor-imposed restriction{add glossary link}. 
 

954-305-45-2 Paragraph not used. 

 
> Guidance Applicable to Not-for-Profit, Business-Oriented Health Care 
Entities Only 

 
954-305-45-3 For fiduciary purposes, separate checking or savings accounts may 

be maintained for restricted donations with donor restrictions. However, unless 
required by paragraph 954-305-45-1, such accounts are not reported on a line 
separate from other cash and cash equivalents because donor restrictions 
generally relate to limitations on the use of net assets rather than on the use of 
specific assets. A columnar presentation that highlights the threetwo classes of net 
assets (that is, without donor restrictions and with donor restrictionspermanently 
restricted, temporarily restricted, and unrestricted) is not precluded if the totals for 
the reporting entity as a whole are displayed. 

 
> Agency Funds 

 

954-305-45-4 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.Health care entities may receive and hold assets owned by others under 
agency relationships; for example, they may perform billing and collection services 
for physicians. In accepting responsibility for those assets, an entity incurs a 
liability to the principal under the agency relationship to return the assets in the 
future or, if authorized, to disburse them to another party on behalf of the principal. 
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If held by not-for-profit, business-oriented healthcare entities, such agency funds 
shall be reported as unrestricted assets. 

 

Amendments to Subtopic 954-320 
 

62.   Supersede Subtopic 954-320, Health Care Entities—Investments—Debt and 
Equity Securities, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10-65-1. 

 

Amendments to Subtopic 954-740 
 

63.   Supersede Subtopic 954-740, Health Care Entities—Income Taxes, with a 
link to transition paragraph 958-10-65-1. 

 

Amendments to Subtopic 954-805 
 

64.   Supersede Subtopic 954-805, Health Care Entities—Business 
Combinations, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10-65-1. 

 

Amendments to Subtopic 954-810 
 

65.   Supersede paragraph 954-810-50-2 and its related heading, with a link to 
transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Health Care Entities—Consolidation 

 
Disclosure 

 
> Medical Malpractice Trust Fund 

 
954-810-50-1 The existence of the trust fund and whether it is irrevocable shall be 

disclosed in the financial statements. 

 
> Noncontrolling Interests 

 

954-810-50-2  Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X-XX. 

A not-for-profit, business-oriented health care entity shall include the performance 
indicator in the schedule required by paragraphs 958-810-50-4 through 50-5. 
Paragraph 958-810-55-25 illustrates the required disclosure using a reconciling 
schedule in notes to the consolidated financial statements. 



204 

 

 

 
 

Amendments to Subtopic 954-815 
 

66.   Supersede  Subtopic  954-815,  Health  Care  Entities—Derivatives  and 
Hedging, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10-65-1. 

 

Amendments to Subtopic 954-825 
 

67.   Supersede Subtopic 954-825, Health Care Entities—Financial Instruments, 
with a link to transition paragraph 958-10-65-1. 

 

Amendments to Subtopic 230-10 
 

68.   Amend paragraph 230-10-15-2, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10- 
65-1, as follows: 

 
Statement of Cash Flows—Overall 

 
Scope and Scope Exceptions 

 
> Overall Guidance 

 
230-10-15-1 The Scope Section of the Overall Subtopic establishes the pervasive 

scope for the Statement of Cash Flows Topic. 

 
> Entities 

 
230-10-15-2 The guidance in the Statement of Cash Flows Topic applies to all 

entities, including both business entities and not-for-profit entities (NFPs), with 
specific exceptions noted below and specific NFP considerations noted in Subtopic 
958-230. The phrase investors, creditors, and others includes donors. The terms 
income statement and net income apply to a business entity; the terms statement 
of activities and change in net assets apply to an NFP. 

 

69.   Amend paragraphs 230-10-45-10, 230-10-45-12, 230-10-45-14, 230-10-45- 
17, 230-10-45-25, 230-10-45-28 through 45-30, and 230-10-45-32 and supersede 
paragraph 230-10-45-21A, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as 
follows: 

 
Other Presentation Matters 

 
> Classification 
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230-10-45-10 A statement of cash flows shall classify cash receipts and cash 

payments as resulting from investing, financing, or operating activities. Not-for- 
profit entities (NFPs) shall classify certain items differently from business entities. 
Those classifications can be found in Subtopic 958-230. 

 

> > Cash Flows from Investing Activities 

 
230-10-45-11 Cash flows from purchases, sales, and maturities of available-for- 
sale securities shall be classified as cash flows from investing activities and 

reported gross in the statement of cash flows. 
 

230-10-45-12 All of the following are cash inflows from investing activities: 
 

a.    Receipts from collections or sales of loans made by the entity and of other 
entities’ debt instruments (other than cash equivalents, certain debt 
instruments that are acquired specifically for resale as discussed in 
paragraph 230-10-45-21, and certain donated debt instruments received 
by not-for-profit entities (NFPs)NFPs as discussed in paragraph 230-10- 
45-21A) 

b.   Receipts from sales of equity instruments of other entities (other than 
certain equity instruments carried in a trading account as described in 
paragraph 230-10-45-19 and certain donated equity instruments received 
by NFPs as discussed in paragraph 230-10-45-21A) and from returns of 
investment in those instruments 

c.  Receipts from sales of property, plant, and equipment and other 
productive assets 

d. Subparagraph not used 

e. Receipts from sales of loans that were not specifically acquired for resale. 
That is, if loans were acquired as investments, cash receipts from sales 
of those loans shall be classified as investing cash inflows regardless of 
a change in the purpose for holding those loans. 

 

For purposes of this paragraph, receipts from disposing of loans, debt or equity 
instruments, or property, plant, and equipment include directly related proceeds of 
insurance settlements, such as the proceeds of insurance on a building that is 
damaged or destroyed. 

 

230-10-45-13 All of the following are cash outflows for investing activities: 
 

a.    Disbursements for loans made by the entity and payments to acquire debt 
instruments of other entities (other than cash equivalents and certain debt 
instruments that are acquired specifically for resale as discussed in 
paragraph 230-10-45-21) 

b.   Payments to acquire equity instruments of other entities (other than 
certain equity instruments carried in a trading account as described in 
paragraphs 230-10-45-18 through 45-19) 



206 

 

 

 
 

c.    Payments at the time of purchase or soon before or after purchase to 
acquire property, plant, and equipment and other productive assets, 
including interest capitalized as part of the cost of those assets. 
Generally, only advance payments, the down payment, or other amounts 
paid at the time of purchase or soon before or after purchase of property, 
plant, and equipment and other productive assets are investing cash 
outflows. However, incurring directly related debt to the seller is a 
financing transaction (see paragraphs 230-10-45-14 through 45-15), and 
subsequent payments of principal on that debt thus are financing cash 
outflows. 

 
> > Cash Flows from Financing Activities 

 
230-10-45-14 All of the following are cash inflows from financing activities: 

 

a. Proceeds from issuing equity instruments 
b.    Proceeds from issuing bonds, mortgages, notes, and from other short- or 

long-term borrowing 
c. Receipts from {add glossary link}contributions{add glossary link} and 

investment income that by donor stipulation are restricted for the 
purposes of acquiring, constructing, or improving property, plant, 
equipment, or other long-lived assets or establishing or increasing a 
donor-restricted endowment fundpermanent endowment or term 

endowment 
d.   Proceeds received from derivative instruments that include financing 

elements at inception, whether the proceeds were received at inception 

or over the term of the derivative instrument, other than a financing 
element inherently included in an at-the-market derivative instrument with 
no prepayments 

e. Cash retained as a result of the tax deductibility of increases in the value 
of equity instruments issued under share-based payment arrangements 
that are not included in the cost of goods or services that is recognizable 
for financial reporting purposes. For this purpose, excess tax benefits 
shall be determined on an individual award (or portion thereof) basis. 

 

230-10-45-15 All of the following are cash outflows for financing activities: 
 

a.    Payments of dividends or other distributions to owners, including outlays 
to reacquire the entity’s equity instruments. 

b. Repayments of amounts borrowed. 
c.    Other  principal  payments  to creditors who  have extended long-term 

credit.  See  paragraph  230-10-45-13(c),  which  indicates  that  most 
principal payments on seller-financed debt directly related to a purchase 

of property, plant, and equipment or other productive assets are financing 
cash outflows. 
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d.   Distributions to counterparties of derivative instruments that include 
financing elements at inception, other than a financing element inherently 
included in an at-the-market derivative instrument with no prepayments. 
The distributions may be either at inception or over the term of the 
derivative instrument. 

e. Payments for debt issue costs. 

 
> > Cash Flows from Operating Activities 

 
230-10-45-16 All of the following are cash inflows from operating activities: 

 

a.    Cash receipts from sales of goods or services, including receipts from 
collection or sale of accounts and both short- and long-term notes 
receivable from customers arising from those sales. The term goods 

includes certain loans and other debt and equity instruments of other 
entities that are acquired specifically for resale, as discussed in 
paragraph 230-10-45-21. 

b.   Cash receipts from returns on loans, other debt instruments of other 
entities, and equity securities—interest and dividends. 

c. All other cash receipts that do not stem from transactions defined as 
investing or financing activities, such as amounts received to settle 
lawsuits; proceeds of insurance settlements except for those that are 
directly related to investing or financing activities, such as from 
destruction of a building; and refunds from suppliers. 

 

230-10-45-17 All of the following are cash outflows for operating activities: 
 

a.    Cash payments to acquire materials for manufacture or goods for resale, 
including principal payments on accounts and both short- and long-term 
notes payable to suppliers for those materials or goods. The term goods 
includes certain loans and other debt and equity instruments of other 
entities that are acquired specifically for resale, as discussed in 
paragraph 230-10-45-21. 

b.   Cash payments to other suppliers and employees for other goods or 
services. 

c. Cash payments to governments for taxes, duties, fines, and other fees or 

penalties and the cash that would have been paid for income taxes if 
increases in the value of equity instruments issued under share-based 
payment arrangements that are not included in the cost of goods or 
services recognizable for financial reporting purposes also had not been 
deductible in determining taxable income. (This is the same amount 
reported as a financing cash inflow pursuant to paragraph 230-10-45- 
14(e).) 

d. Cash payments to lenders and other creditors for interest. 
e. Cash payment made to settle an asset retirement obligation. 
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f. All other cash payments that do not stem from transactions defined as 
investing or financing activities, such as payments to settle lawsuits, cash 
{add glossary link}contributions{add glossary link} to charities, and 

cash refunds to customers. 

 
> > Acquisitions and Sales of Certain Securities and Loans 

 
230-10-45-21A  Paragraph  superseded  by  Accounting  Standards  Update  No. 
2015-XX.Cash receipts resulting from the sale of donated financial assets (for 

example, donated debt or equity instruments) by NFPs that upon receipt were 
directed without any NFP-imposed limitations for sale and were converted nearly 
immediately into cash shall be classified as operating cash flows. If, however, the 
donor restricted the use of the contributed resource to a long-term purpose of the 
nature of those described in paragraph 230-10-45-14(c), then those cash receipts 
meeting all the conditions in this paragraph shall be classified as a financing 
activity. [Content moved to paragraph 958-230-45-5] 

 

> > Reporting Operating, Investing, and Financing Activities 

 
230-10-45-25 In reporting cash flows from operating activities, entities other than 

NFPs are encouraged and NFPs are required to report major classes of gross cash 
receipts and gross cash payments and their arithmetic sum—the net cash flow 
from operating activities (the direct method). (Paragraphs 230-10-55-1 through 55- 
4 and paragraph 230-10-55-21, respectively, discuss and illustrate a method by 
which those major classes of gross operating cash receipts and payments 
generally may be determined indirectly.) NFPs shall, at a minimum, separately 
report the classes of operating cash receipts and payments listed in paragraph 
958-230-45-8, instead of the operating cash receipts and payments listed in (a) 
through (g) below. Entities other than NFPs that do souse the direct method shall, 
at a minimum, separately report the following classes of operating cash receipts 
and payments: 

 

a. Cash collected from customers, including lessees, licensees, and the like 
b. Interest and dividends received. Interest and dividends that are donor 

restricted for long-term purposes as included in the list of financing 
activities and paragraph 230-10-45-14(c) are not part of operating cash 

receipts. 
c. Other operating cash receipts, if any 
d.   Cash paid to employees and other suppliers of goods or services, 

including suppliers of insurance, advertising, and the like 
e. Interest paid 

f. Income taxes paid and separately, the cash that would have been paid 
for income taxes if increases in the value of equity instruments issued 
under share-based payment arrangements that are not included as a cost 
of goods or services recognizable for accounting purposes also had not 
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been deductible in determining taxable income (see Section 230-10-45- 
14(e)) 

g. Other operating cash payments, if any. 
 

Entities are encouraged to provide further breakdowns of operating cash receipts 
and payments that they consider meaningful and feasible. For example, a retailer 
or manufacturer might decide to further divide cash paid to employees and 
suppliers (category (d) in the preceding paragraph) into payments for costs of 
inventory and payments for selling, general, and administrative expenses. 

 

230-10-45-26 Except for items described in paragraphs 230-10-45-8 through 45- 

9, both investing cash inflows and outflows and financing cash inflows and outflows 
shall be reported separately in a statement of cash flows—for example, outlays for 
acquisitions of property, plant, and equipment shall be reported separately from 
proceeds from sales of property, plant, and equipment; proceeds of borrowings 
shall be reported separately from repayments of debt; and proceeds from issuing 
stock shall be reported separately from outlays to reacquire the entity’s stock. 

 
> Reconciliation of Net Income and Net Cash Flow from Operating 
Activities 

 
230-10-45-28 Entities that choose not to provide information about major classes 

of operating cash receipts and payments by the direct method as encouraged in 
paragraph 230-10-45-25 shall determine and report the same amount for net cash 
flow from operating activities indirectly by adjusting net income of a business entity 
or change in net assets of a not-for-profit entity (NFP)  to reconcile it to net cash 
flow from operating activities (the indirect or reconciliation method). That requires 
adjusting net income of a business entity or change in net assets of an NFP to 
remove both of the following: 

 

a.    The effects of all deferrals of past operating cash receipts and payments, 
such as changes during the period in inventory, deferred income, and the 
like, and all accruals of expected future operating cash receipts and 
payments, such as changes during the period in receivables and 
payables. Adjustments to net income of a business entity or change in 
net assets of an NFP to determine net cash flow from operating activities 
shall reflect accruals for interest earned but not received and interest 
incurred but not paid. Those accruals may be reflected in the statement 
of financial position in changes in assets and liabilities that relate to 
investing or financing activities, such as loans or deposits. However, 
interest credited directly to a deposit account that has the general 
characteristics of cash is a cash outflow of the payor and a cash inflow 

of the payee when the entry is made 
b.    All items that are included in net income of a business entity or change in 

net assets of an NFP  that do not affect net cash provided from, or used 
for,  operating  activities such as  depreciation  of  property, plant,  and 
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equipment and amortization of finite-life intangible assets. This includes 
all items whose cash effects are related to investing or financing cash 
flows, such as gains or losses on sales of property, plant, and equipment 
and discontinued operations (which relate to investing activities), and 
gains or losses on extinguishment of debt (which relate to financing 
activities). 

 

230-10-45-29 The reconciliation of net income of a business entity or change in 

net assets of an NFP to net cash flow from operating activities described in 
paragraph 230-10-45-28 shall be provided regardless of whether the direct or 
indirect method of reporting net cash flow from operating activities is used. NFPs 
are not required to provide a reconciliation of change in net assets to net cash flow 
from operating activities but may choose to present the reconciliation. Additional 
guidance for NFPs is found in Subtopic 958-230. ThatThe reconciliation shall 
separately report all major classes of reconciling items. For example, major 
classes of deferrals of past operating cash receipts and payments and accruals of 
expected future operating cash receipts and payments, including, at a minimum, 
changes during the period in receivables pertaining to operating activities, in 
inventory, and in payables pertaining to operating activities, shall be separately 
reported. Entities are encouraged to provide further breakdowns of those 
categories that they consider meaningful. For example, changes in receivables 
from customers for an entity’s sale of goods or services might be reported 
separately from changes in other operating receivables. 

 

230-10-45-30 If the direct method of reporting net cash flow from operating 

activities is used, the reconciliation of net income of a business entity or change in 
net assets of an NFP to net cash flow from operating activities shall be provided in 
a separate schedule. 

 

230-10-45-31 If the indirect method is used, the reconciliation may be either 

reported within the statement of cash flows or provided in a separate schedule, 
with the statement of cash flows reporting only the net cash flow from operating 
activities. 

 

230-10-45-32 If the reconciliation is presented in the statement of cash flows, all 

adjustments to net income of a business entity or change in net assets of an NFP 
to determine net cash flow from operating activities shall be clearly identified as 
reconciling items. 

 

70.   Amend paragraph 230-10-50-3, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10- 
65-1, as follows: 

 
Disclosure 

 
> Cash Equivalents Policy 
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230-10-50-1 An entity shall disclose its policy for determining which items are 
treated as cash equivalents. Any change to that policy is a change in accounting 

principle that shall be effected by restating financial statements for earlier years 
presented for comparative purposes. 

 
> Interest and Income Taxes Paid 

 
230-10-50-2 If the indirect method is used, amounts of interest paid (net of 

amounts capitalized) and income taxes paid during the period shall be disclosed. 

 
> Noncash Investing and Financing Activities 

 
230-10-50-3 Information about all investing and financing activities of an entity 

during a period that affect recognized assets or liabilities but that do not result in 
cash receipts or cash payments in the period shall be disclosed. Those disclosures 

may be either narrative or summarized in a schedule, and they shall clearly relate 
the cash and noncash aspects of transactions involving similar items. Not-for-profit 
entities shall refer to Section 958-230-50 for the required disclosures related to 
noncash operating, investing, and financing activities. 

 

230-10-50-4 Examples of noncash investing and financing transactions are 

converting debt to equity; acquiring assets by assuming directly related liabilities, 
such as purchasing a building by incurring a mortgage to the seller; obtaining an 
asset by entering into a capital lease; obtaining a building or investment asset by 
receiving a gift; and exchanging noncash assets or liabilities for other noncash 
assets or liabilities. 

 

230-10-50-5 Some transactions are part cash and part noncash; only the cash 

portion shall be reported in the statement of cash flows. 
 

230-10-50-6 If there are only a few such noncash transactions, it may be 

convenient to include them on the same page as the statement of cash flows. 
Otherwise, the transactions may be reported elsewhere in the financial statements, 
clearly referenced to the statement of cash flows. 

 
Amendments to Subtopic 250-10 

 
71.   Amend paragraphs 250-10-50-1, 250-10-50-3 through 50-4, and 250-10-50- 
6, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Accounting Changes and Error Corrections—Overall 

 
Disclosure 

 
> Accounting Changes 
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> > Change in Accounting Principle 

 
250-10-50-1 An entity shall disclose all of the following in the fiscal period in which 
a change in accounting principle is made: 

 

a.    The nature of and reason for the change in accounting principle, including 
an explanation of why the newly adopted accounting principle is 
preferable. 

b. The method of applying the change, including all of the following: 

1.  A description of the prior-period information that has been 
retrospectively adjusted, if any. 

2.    The effect of the change on income from continuing operations, net 
income (or other appropriate captions of changes in the applicable 
net assets, in addition to the operating excess (deficit) of a not- 
for-profit  entity  before  transfers  and  the  operating  excess 
(deficit) of a not-for-profit entity after transfers or performance 

indicator), any other affected financial statement line item, and any 
affected per-share amounts for the current period and any prior 
periods retrospectively adjusted. Presentation of the effect on 
financial statement subtotals and totals other than income from 
continuing operations and net income (or other appropriate captions 
of changes in the applicable net assets or the operating excess 
(deficit) of a not-for-profit entity before and after transfers or 
performance indicator) is not required. 

3.    The cumulative effect of the change on retained earnings or other 
components of equity or net assets in the statement of financial 
position as of the beginning of the earliest period presented. The 
cumulative effect of the change on net assets in an NFP’s statement 
of activities shall be presented outside of operating activities. 

4. If retrospective application to all prior periods is impracticable, 

disclosure of the reasons therefore, and a description of the 
alternative method used to report the change (see paragraphs 250- 
10-45-5 through 45-7). 

c. If indirect effects of a change in accounting principle are recognized 

both of the following shall be disclosed: 
1.   A description of the indirect effects of a change in accounting 

principle, including the amounts that have been recognized in the 
current period, and the related per-share amounts, if applicable 

2.   Unless impracticable, the amount of the total recognized indirect 
effects  of  the  accounting  change  and  the  related  per-share 
amounts, if applicable, that are attributable to each prior period 
presented. Compliance with this disclosure requirement is 
practicable unless an entity cannot comply with it after making every 
reasonable effort to do so. 

https://asc.fasb.org/glossarysection%26trid%3D2122404%26id%3DSL2254578-107794
https://asc.fasb.org/glossarysection%26trid%3D2122404%26id%3DSL2254582-107794
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL2129230-107794%26objid%3D56949863
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL2129230-107794%26objid%3D56949863
https://asc.fasb.org/glossarysection%26trid%3D2122404%26id%3DSL2254586-107794
https://asc.fasb.org/glossarysection%26trid%3D2122404%26id%3DSL2254590-107794
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Financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat the disclosures 
required by this paragraph. If a change in accounting principle has no material 
effect in the period of change but is reasonably certain to have a material effect in 
later periods, the disclosures required by (a) shall be provided whenever the 
financial statements of the period of change are presented. 

 

250-10-50-2 An entity that issues interim financial statements shall provide the 

required disclosures in the financial statements of both the interim period of the 

change and the annual period of the change. 
 

250-10-50-3 In the fiscal year in which a new accounting principle is adopted, 

financial information reported for interim periods after the date of adoption shall 
disclose the effect of the change on income from continuing operations, net income 
(or other appropriate captions of changes in the applicable net assets or 
performance indicator), and related per-share amounts, if applicable, for those 
post-change interim periods. 

 
> > Change in Accounting Estimate 

 
250-10-50-4 The effect on income from continuing operations, net income (or other 
appropriate captions of changes in the applicable net assets or the operating 
excess (deficit) of a not-for-profit entity before transfers and the operating 
excess (deficit) of a not-for-profit entity after transfersor performance 

indicator), and any related per-share amounts of the current period shall be 
disclosed for a change in estimate that affects several future periods, such as a 
change in service lives of depreciable assets. Disclosure of those effects is not 
necessary for estimates made each period in the ordinary course of accounting for 
items such as uncollectible accounts or inventory obsolescence; however, 
disclosure is required if the effect of a change in the estimate is material. When an 
entity effects a change in estimate by changing an accounting principle, the 
disclosures required by paragraphs 250-10-50-1 through 50-3 also are required. If 
a change in estimate does not have a material effect in the period of change but is 
reasonably certain to have a material effect in later periods, a description of that 
change in estimate shall be disclosed whenever the financial statements of the 
period of change are presented. 

 
> > > Change in Estimate Used in Valuation Technique 

 
250-10-50-5 The disclosure provisions of this Subtopic for a change in 
accounting estimate are not required for revisions resulting from a change in a 

valuation technique used to measure fair value or its application when the resulting 
measurement is fair value in accordance with Topic 820. 

 
> > Change in Reporting Entity 

https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL2131976-107794%26objid%3D56949863
https://asc.fasb.org/glossarysection%26trid%3D2122404%26id%3DSL2254594-107794
https://asc.fasb.org/glossarysection%26trid%3D2122404%26id%3DSL2254594-107794
https://asc.fasb.org/glossarysection%26trid%3D2122404%26id%3DSL2254594-107794
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL28360131-107794%26objid%3D56949863
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250-10-50-6 When there has been a change in the reporting entity, the financial 

statements of the period of the change shall describe the nature of the change and 
the reason for it. In addition, the effect of the change on income from continuing 
operations, net income (or other appropriate captions of changes in the applicable 
net assets or the operating excess (deficit) of a not-for-profit entity before 
transfers and the operating excess (deficit) of a not-for-profit entity after 
transfersor performance indicator), other comprehensive income, and any related 

per-share amounts shall be disclosed for all periods presented. Financial 
statements of subsequent periods need not repeat the disclosures required by this 
paragraph. If a change in reporting entity does not have a material effect in the 
period of change but is reasonably certain to have a material effect in later periods, 
the nature of and reason for the change shall be disclosed whenever the financial 
statements of the period of change are presented. (Sections 805-10-50, 805-20- 
50, 805-30-50, and 805-740-50 describe the manner of reporting and the 
disclosures required for a business combination.) 

 

Amendments to Subtopic 310-30 
 

72.   Amend paragraph 310-30-15-2, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10- 
65-1, as follows: 

 
Receivables—Loans and Debt Securities Acquired with 
Deteriorated Credit Quality 

 
Scope and Scope Exceptions 

 
> Entities 

 
310-30-15-1 The guidance in this Subtopic applies to all nongovernmental entities, 

including not-for-profit entities (NFPs), that acquire loans (investors). 

 
> Transactions 

 
310-30-15-2 The guidance in this Subtopic applies to all loans with evidence of 
deterioration of credit quality since origination acquired by completion of a 
transfer for which it is probable, at acquisition, that the investor will be unable to 
collect all contractually required payments receivable, except for any of the 

following: 
 

a.    Loans that are measured at fair value if all changes in fair value are 

included in earnings or, for an NFP, loans that are measured at fair value 
if all changes in fair value are included in the statement of activities and 
included  in  the  performance  indicator  if  a  performance  indicator  is 

https://asc.fasb.org/glossarysection%26trid%3D2122404%26id%3DSL2254598-107794
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL2901137-107794%26objid%3D56949863
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL2901137-107794%26objid%3D56949863
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL2901138-107794%26objid%3D56949863
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL2901138-107794%26objid%3D56949863
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL2901140-107794%26objid%3D56949863
https://asc.fasb.org/glossarysection%26trid%3D2196863%26id%3DSL6770565-111538
https://asc.fasb.org/glossarysection%26trid%3D2196863%26id%3DSL6770565-111538
https://asc.fasb.org/glossarysection%26trid%3D2196863%26id%3DSL6770565-111538
https://asc.fasb.org/glossarysection%26trid%3D2196863%26id%3DSL6770556-111538
https://asc.fasb.org/glossarysection%26trid%3D2196863%26id%3DSL6770548-111538
https://asc.fasb.org/glossarysection%26trid%3D2196863%26id%3DSL6770629-111538
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presented. Examples include those loans classified as trading securities 
under Topic 320 and Subtopic 948-310. 

b. Mortgage loans classified as held for sale under paragraph 948-310-35- 

1. 
c.    Leases as defined in Topic 840. Only contracts that are classified by the 

purchaser as leases under that Topic meet this exclusion. The distinction 
between purchasing a lease and purchasing a stream of cash flows must 
be drawn to determine applicability of this Section. 

d. Loans acquired in a business combination accounted for at historical cost, 
including business combinations of two or more NFPs, the acquisition of 
a for-profit business entity by an NFP, and combinations of two or more 
mutual entities. 

e.    Loans held by liquidating banks (financial reporting by liquidating banks 
is discussed in Topic 942). 

f.     Revolving credit agreements, such as credit cards and home equity 
loans, if at the acquisition date the borrower has revolving privileges. 

g. Loans that are a transferor’s interests (see Subtopic 325-40). 

 

Amendments to Subtopic 320-10 
 

73.   Amend paragraph 320-10-35-17, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10- 
65-1, as follows: 

 
Investments—Debt and Equity Securities—Overall 

 
Subsequent Measurement 

 
> Impairment of Individual Available-for-Sale and Held-to-Maturity 
Securities 

 
> > Scope of Impairment Guidance 

 
320-10-35-17 The guidance that follows on impairment of individual available-for- 

sale and held-to-maturity securities applies for investments in all of the following: 
 

a.    Debt and equity securities that are within the scope of this Subtopic, with 
the following clarifications: 
1. As  indicated  in  paragraph  944-325-35-1,  insurance  entities  are 

required to report equity securities at fair value even if they do not 
meet the scope criteria in paragraph 320-10-15-5. Therefore, the 
following guidance would apply to all equity securities held by 
insurance entities. 

2. Entities shall not look through the form of their investment to the 
nature  of  the  securities  held  by  an  investee.  For  example,  an 

https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL6770654-111538%26objid%3D27045933
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL6770655-111538%26objid%3D27045933
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL6770656-111538%26objid%3D27045933
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL6770656-111538%26objid%3D27045933
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL6770657-111538%26objid%3D27045933
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL6770658-111538%26objid%3D27045933
https://asc.fasb.org/glossarysection%26trid%3D2196863%26id%3DSL6770543-111538
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL6770659-111538%26objid%3D27045933
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL6283616-111560%26objid%3D27723805
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL6283617-111560%26objid%3D27723805
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investment in shares of a mutual fund that invests primarily in debt 
securities would be assessed for impairment as an equity security 

under Section 320-10-35. 

3.  A bifurcated host instrument under Subtopic 815-15 would be 
evaluated for other-than-temporary impairment in accordance with 
the guidance in Section 320-10-35 if the bifurcated host instrument 
meets the scope of this guidance. 

b.  Subparagraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 
XX.Debt and equity securities that are within the scope of Subtopic 958- 
320 and that are held by an entity that reports a performance indicator as 
defined in paragraphs 954-225-45-4 through 45-7 

c.   Equity securities that are not subject to the scope of this Topic and 
Subtopic 958-320 and not accounted for under the equity method 
pursuant to Topic 323 and related interpretations (referred to as cost- 
method investments). 

 

Throughout this Section, the term earnings shall be read as performance indicator, 
and other comprehensive income shall be read as outside the performance 
indicator for debt securities that are within the scope of Subtopic 958-320. 

 

Amendments to Subtopic 325-30 
 

74.   Amend paragraph 325-30-35-12, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10- 
65-1, as follows: 

 
Investments—Other—Investments in Insurance Contracts 

 
Subsequent Measurement 

 
Life Settlement Contracts 

 
> Fair Value Method 

 
325-30-35-12 In subsequent periods, the investor shall remeasure the investment 

in a life settlement contract at fair value in its entirety at each reporting period and 
shall recognize changes in fair value in earnings (or other performance indicators 
for entities other than not-for-profit entities that do not report earnings) in the period 
in which the changes occur. Not-for-profit entities shall recognize changes in fair 
value in accordance with the description of operating activities in paragraph 958- 
225-45-8A. 

 

75.   Amend paragraph 325-30-40-1A, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10- 
65-1, as follows: 

https://asc.fasb.org/glossarysection%26trid%3D2196938%26id%3DSL6283471-111560
https://asc.fasb.org/glossarysection%26trid%3D2196938%26id%3DSL6283471-111560
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL6283619-111560%26objid%3D27723805
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL6283621-111560%26objid%3D27723805
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL6283622-111560%26objid%3D27723805
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL6283624-111560%26objid%3D27723805
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL6283624-111560%26objid%3D27723805
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL6283625-111560%26objid%3D27723805
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL6283627-111560%26objid%3D27723805
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL6283628-111560%26objid%3D27723805
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL6283629-111560%26objid%3D27723805
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Derecognition 
 
Life Settlement Contracts 

 
> Exchange of Mutual Membership Interests for Stock in a Demutualization 

 
325-30-40-1 Any gain on an exchange of mutual membership interests for stock in 

a demutualization shall be recognized in income from continuing operations. 

 
> Investment Method 

 
325-30-40-1A Upon the death of the insured, the investor shall recognize in 

earnings (or other performance indicators for entities other than not-for-profit 
entities that do not report earnings) the difference between the carrying amount of 
a life settlement contract and the life insurance proceeds of the underlying life 
insurance policy. Not-for-profit entities shall recognize the difference between the 

carrying amount of a life settlement contract and the life insurance proceeds of the 
underlying life insurance policy in accordance with the description of operating 
activities in paragraph 958-225-45-8A. 

 

76.   Amend paragraph 325-30-45-2, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10- 
65-1, as follows: 

 
Other Presentation Matters 

 
Life Settlement Contracts 

 
> Statement of Financial Position 

 
325-30-45-1 An investor shall report its investments that are remeasured at fair 

value on the face of the statement of financial position separately from those 
accounted for under the investment method. To accomplish that separate 
reporting, an investor shall do either of the following: 

 

a.    Display separate line items on the statement of financial position for the 
fair value method and investment method carrying amounts 

b.    Present the aggregate of those fair value method and investment method 
carrying amounts and parenthetically disclose the amount of those 
investments accounted for under the fair value method included in the 
aggregate amount. 
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> Income Statement 

 
325-30-45-2 The investor shall classify the amount recognized upon the death of 

the insured in accordance with paragraph 325-30-35-9 in earnings (or other 
performance indicators for entities other than not-for-profit entities that do not 
report earnings). Not-for-profit entities shall classify the amount recognized upon 
the death of the insured in accordance with the description of operating activities 
in paragraph 958-225-45-8A. 

 

Amendments to Subtopic 360-10 
 

77.   Amend paragraph 360-10-45-2, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10- 
65-1, as follows: 

 
Property, Plant, and Equipment—Overall 

 
Other Presentation Matters 

 
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets 

 
360-10-45-2   This   Subsection   presents   guidance   for   the   presentation   of 
impairment or disposal of long-lived assets or asset groups that are classified as: 

 
a. Held and used 
b. Held for sale 
c. To be disposed of other than by sale. 

 

Not-for-profit entities shall refer to Subtopic 958-225 for additional guidance on 
classifying, as an operating activity, the impairment loss of a long-lived asset group 
and the gain or loss on the sale of a long-lived asset. 

 

Amendments to Subtopic 810-10 
 

78.   Amend paragraph 810-10-55-4C and 810-10-55-4E, with a link to transition 
paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

 
Consolidation—Overall 

 
Implementation Guidance and Illustrations 

 
> > Example 1: Changes in a Parent’s Ownership Interest in a Subsidiary 
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> > > Case A: Change Results in Recognition of Noncontrolling Interest 

 
810-10-55-4C Subsidiary A has 10,000 shares of common stock outstanding, all 

of which are owned by its parent, Entity ABC. The carrying amount of Subsidiary 
A’s equity is $200,000. Entity ABC sells 2,000 of its shares in Subsidiary A to an 
unrelated entity for $50,000 in cash, reducing its ownership interest from 100 
percent to 80 percent. That transaction is accounted for by recognizing a 
noncontrolling interest in the amount of $40,000 ($200,000 × 20 percent). The 
$10,000 excess of the cash received ($50,000) over the adjustment to the carrying 
amount of the noncontrolling interest ($40,000) is recognized as an increase in 
additional paid-in capital attributable to Entity ABC. If the parent is a not-for-profit 
entity (NFP), the $10,000 increase in additional paid-in capital in this Example is 

recognized instead as an increase in net assets, generally of the 
unrestrictedwithout donor restriction class. Example 1 (see paragraphs 958-810- 
55-17 through 55-25) provides additional guidance for NFPs. 

 
> > > Case B: Change Results in Increase in Noncontrolling Interest 

 
810-10-55-4D Subsidiary A has 10,000 shares of common stock outstanding. Of 

those shares, 9,000 are owned by its parent, Entity ABC, and 1,000 are owned by 
other shareholders (a noncontrolling interest in Subsidiary A). The carrying amount 
of Subsidiary A’s equity is $300,000. Of that amount, $270,000 is attributable to 
Entity ABC, and $30,000 is a noncontrolling interest in Subsidiary A. Subsidiary A 
issues 2,000 previously unissued shares to a third party for $120,000 in cash, 
reducing Entity ABC’s ownership interest in Subsidiary A from 90 percent to 75 
percent (9,000 shares owned by Entity ABC ÷ 12,000 issued shares). 

 

810-10-55-4E Even though the percentage of Entity ABC’s ownership interest in 

Subsidiary A is reduced when Subsidiary A issues shares to the third party, Entity 
ABC’s investment in Subsidiary A increases to $315,000, calculated as 75 percent 
of Subsidiary A’s equity of $420,000 ($300,000 + $120,000). Therefore, Entity ABC 
recognizes a $45,000 increase in its investment in Subsidiary A ($315,000 – 
$270,000) and a corresponding increase in its additional paid-in capital (that is, the 
additional paid-in capital attributable to Entity ABC). In addition, the noncontrolling 
interest is increased to $105,000, calculated as 25 percent of $420,000. If the 

parent is an NFP, the $45,000 increase in additional paid-in capital in this example 
is recognized instead as an increase in net assets, generally of the 
unrestrictedwithout donor restriction class. Example 1 (see paragraphs 958-810- 
55-17 through 55-25) provides additional guidance for NFPs. 

 

Amendments to Subtopic 815-10 
 

79.   Supersede paragraph 815-10-50-4G and its related heading, with a link to 
transition paragraph 958-10-65-1, as follows: 

https://asc.fasb.org/glossarysection%26trid%3D2559556%26id%3DSL6799491-111686
https://asc.fasb.org/glossarysection%26trid%3D2559556%26id%3DSL6799491-111686
https://asc.fasb.org/glossarysection%26trid%3D2559556%26id%3DSL6799491-111686
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL6796418-111686%26objid%3D35736750
https://asc.fasb.org/link%26sourceid%3DSL6796418-111686%26objid%3D35736750
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Derivatives and Hedging—Overall 
 
Disclosure 

 
> > Application by Not-for-Profit Entities 

 
815-10-50-4G Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 

XX.For purposes of the disclosure requirements beginning in paragraph 815-10- 
50-4A, not-for-profit entities within the scope of Topic 954 should present a 
similarly formatted table. Those entities shall refer to amounts within their 
performance  indicator,  instead  of  in  income,  and  amounts  outside  their 

performance indicator, instead of in other comprehensive income. Not-for-profit 
entities not within the scope of Topic 954 shall disclose the gain or loss recognized 
in changes in net assets using a similar format. All not-for-profit entities also would 
indicate which class or classes of net assets (unrestricted, temporarily restricted, 

or permanently restricted) are affected. 
 

Amendments to Subtopic 825-10 
 

80.   Amend paragraph 825-10-15-7, with a link to transition paragraph 958-10- 
65-1, as follows: 

 
Financial Instruments—Overall 

Scope and Scope Exceptions 

Fair Value Option 

> Other Considerations 

 
> > Application by Not-for-Profit Entities 

 
825-10-15-7 Not-for-profit entities (NFPs) shall apply the provisions of the Fair 

Value Option Subsections with the following modifications: 
 

a.    References to an income statement shall be replaced with references to 
a statement of activities, statement of changes in net assets, or statement 
of operations. 

b.    References to earnings shall be replaced with references to changes in 
net assets, except as indicated in (c) and shall be recorded as either 
operating or nonoperating activities in accordance with paragraph 958- 

225-45-8A. 
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c.   Subparagraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update 201X- 
XX.Paragraph 954-825-45-1 explains that health care entities subject to 
Topic 954 shall report unrealized gains and losses on items for which the 
fair value option has been elected within the performance indicator or as 
a part of discontinued operations, as appropriate. Unlike other NFPs, 
health care entities subject to that Topic present performance indicators 
analogous to income from continuing operations. Consistent with the 
provisions of Subtopic 958-10, NFPs may present such gains and losses 
either within or outside other intermediate measures of operations unless 
such gains or losses are part of discontinued operations. This includes 
intermediate measures of operations presented by NFPs other than 
health care entities and any additional intermediate measures of 
operations presented within the performance indicator by not-for-profit 
health care entities. 

d.    The disclosure requirements in paragraph 825-10-50-30 shall apply not 
only with respect to the effect on operating activities as required by 
paragraph 958-225-45-8A, performance indicators or other intermediate 
measures of operations, if presented, but also with respect to the effect 
on the change in each of the net asset classes (unrestricted, temporarily 

restricted, and permanently restrictedwithout donor restrictions and with 
donor restrictions), as applicable. 

 

The amendments in this proposed Update were approved for publication by five 
members of the Financial Accounting Standards Board. Messrs. Golden and 

Kroeker voted against publication of the amendments. Their alternative views are 
set out at the end of the basis for conclusions. 

 

Members of the Financial Accounting Standards Board: 

 
Russell G. Golden, Chairman 
James L. Kroeker, Vice Chairman 

Daryl E. Buck 
Thomas J. Linsmeier 
R. Harold Schroeder 

Marc A. Siegel 
Lawrence W. Smith 
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Introduction 
 

BC1.     The following summarizes the Board’s considerations in reaching the 
conclusions in this proposed Update. It includes reasons for accepting certain 
approaches and rejecting others. Individual Board members gave greater weight 
to some factors than to others. 

 

BC2.     The proposed amendments in this Update would improve financial 
reporting guidance for not-for-profit entities (NFPs) that is provided by Topics 958, 
Not-for-Profit Entities, and 954, Health Care Entities. For the most part, the current 
reporting  guidance  was  established  in  1993  when  the  Board  issued  FASB 
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Statement No. 117, Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Organizations. Many 

stakeholders, especially members of the FASB’s Not-for-Profit Advisory 
Committee (NAC), suggest that it is time to refresh those reporting standards to 
make further improvements designed to meet the needs of creditors, donors, 
grantors, and others who rely on GAAP-compliant financial statements in making 
their lending, granting, and similar resource allocation decisions. 

 

Background Information 
 

BC3.      Topic 958 provides guidance for the presentation of financial statements 
by not-for-profit entities, particularly Subtopics 958-205, Not-for-Profit Entities— 
Presentation of Financial Statements; 958-210, Not-for-Profit Entities—Balance 
Sheet; 958-225, Not-for-Profit Entities—Income Statement; and 958-230, Not-for- 
Profit Entities—Statement of Cash Flows. Topic 954 provides additional guidance 
that applies to NFPs that are business-oriented health care entities. Much of the 
reporting guidance provided by Statement 117 became effective for larger NFPs 
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1994, and one year later for smaller 
NFPs. Other than a few limited technical corrections, clarifications, and 
amendments to provide interpretative guidance, the main provisions of Statement 
117 have remained unchanged. 

 

BC4.      Statement 117 changed NFP financial reporting in several significant 
ways. Previously, financial statements for different NFPs varied in both their form 
and content. For example, most hospitals and trade associations provided 
statements of financial position and statements of activities that reported their 
financial positions and results of operations for the entities as a whole. However, 
universities, museums, religious organizations, and many other NFPs provided 
financial statements that reported the financial position and changes in financial 
position of individual fund groups rather than the financial position and results of 
operations of the entity as a whole. Moreover, different types of NFPs reported on 
different fund groups and included different kinds of financial statements within 
their sets of financial statements. For example, some NFPs included statements 
of cash flows or functional expenses but others did not. 

 

BC5.      To address the diverse practices that preceded Statement 117, the Board 
decided to focus its efforts on the most fundamental reporting issues that are 
essential in meeting the reporting objectives applicable to all NFPs. That included 
determining what constitutes a full set of financial statements and whether the 
focus should be the entity as a whole or specific fund groups. The Board concluded 
that a full set of financial statements of NFPs consists of a statement of financial 
position (balance sheet), a statement of activities, a statement of cash flows, and 
accompanying notes to financial statements and that the focus should be on the 
entity as a whole. 

 

BC6.      Considering the significance of the fundamental changes being proposed 
at  that  time,  the  Board  also  decided  that  Statement  117  should  focus  on 
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presentation requirements for information that generally are no more stringent than 
requirements for business entities. For example, some stakeholders had 
suggested that the statement of activities should be divided in two parts, a 
statement of operations and a statement of other changes in net assets. However, 
it was observed that there were significant differences among NFPs in the use of 
the term operations, and distinctions based on operations tended to be arbitrary. 
The Board noted that attempting to define operations for business enterprises also 
proved problematic and, at that time, found no compelling reason to prescribe 
more specific display standards for NFPs. 

 

BC7.     Similarly, some stakeholders suggested that a statement of functional 
expenses, which reports expenses by both function and nature, should be required 
of NFPs, particularly those supported by public contributions. At that time, such a 
statement was required for voluntary health and welfare organizations. The Board 
acknowledged that those specialized requirements were not inconsistent with the 
requirements of Statement 117, and to address the concerns of stakeholders about 
the potential loss of useful information, the Board decided to retain that 
requirement for voluntary health and welfare entities. However, the Board 
concluded that “before extending that requirement to other organizations, further 
study is necessary to determine whether other cost-beneficial means of reporting 
information useful in associating expenses with service efforts might be developed” 
(Statement 117, paragraph 64). 

 

BC8.     The requirements of Statement 117, despite the limited focus and 
approach taken in developing those requirements, resulted in significant changes 
and improvements in both the comparability and understandability of financial 
reporting by NFPs. Those requirements also resulted in more useful information 
for creditors, donors, and other users of financial statements who rely on that 
information for their lending, giving, and other resource allocation decisions. 
Nonetheless, Statement 117 left some issues unresolved and open for further 
study and voluntary development through best practices. 

 

BC9.      More recently, in October 2009, the FASB established the NAC. The NAC 
is a standing committee of approximately 17 members (and 2 official observers) 
who have a keen interest in and experience with NFPs. Its members include 
preparers, auditors, and other users of NFP financial statements who work closely 
with the Board in an advisory capacity to ensure that perspectives from the not- 
for-profit sector are effectively communicated to the FASB on a timely basis in 
connection with the development of financial accounting and reporting guidance. 
In addition to assisting the FASB and its staff with communication and outreach 
activities, the principal responsibilities of the NAC include providing focused input 
and feedback relating to the following: 

 

a. The need for and relative priority of proposed projects 
b. Conceptual and practical implications of proposals under development in 

active projects (for example, accounting for financial instruments, leases, 
and disclosure framework) 
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c. Practice  issues,  including  implementation  issues  arising  from  new 
standards and potential areas for improvement pertinent to the NFP 
sector 

d. Long-term issues important to the NFP sector 
e. Other matters for which the FASB may seek guidance. 

 

BC10.    Among other things, the NAC was asked to advise on the effectiveness 
of the current NFP financial reporting model. To assist the NAC’s efforts, a 
standing Not-for-Profit Resource Group was formed, and, in 2010, members of that 
resource group were surveyed and asked to identify aspects of GAAP for NFPs 
most in need of the FASB’s attention. At the time, that resource group had 111 
members and has since grown to approximately 250 members who continue to 
provide support to the NAC as needed. Survey respondents and NAC members 
identified several issues. Some issues were related to specific technical 
accounting matters (for example, accounting for joint costs and accounting for 
temporarily restricted gifts, including pledges and certain government grants) and 
others were related to financial statement presentation matters (for example, 
distinguishing capital flows from operating flows and concerns about the degree of 
flexibility and complexity). Still other respondents noted that there are no issues 
requiring immediate attention. 

 

BC11.    During 2010 and 2011, the NAC considered how best to improve the NFP 
financial reporting model. At the September 2010 and February 2011 meetings, 
NAC members identified several ways significant improvements could be made to 
the information currently provided to creditors, donors, and others. The NAC 
formed three subgroups to further study ways to improve the following: 

 

a. Reporting on financial performance through the statement of activities 
and statement of cash flows 

b. Other  means  of  financial communications for telling  an NFP’s story 

beyond those financial statements 
c. Reporting on financial health, including liquidity, through the statement of 

financial position, notes, or both. 
 

BC12.    At the September 2011 meeting, NAC members further discussed and 
considered the work of each of its subgroups and developed recommendations 
that were discussed with the FASB. As reported in the highlights of that meeting, 
the NAC suggested that the Board consider adding projects to address four areas 
in need of improvement. The objectives would be the following: 

 

a.    To improve the current net asset classification scheme, in conjunction 
with improving how liquidity is portrayed in an NFP’s statement of 
financial position and related notes. 

b.    To improve the statement of activities and statement of cash flows to 
more   clearly   communicate   financial   performance   through   better 

disaggregation and classification of information within the statement of 
activities and better cohesiveness between the statements. The NAC’s 
suggestions included the following, among others: 
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1. Maintaining emphasis on the presence or absence of restrictions in 
the presentation model for the statement of activities, but allowing 
NFPs the ability to emphasize or deemphasize certain elements, 
depending on the nature of their operations, especially their revenue 
mix 

2. Requiring the presentation of an operating measure in the statement 
of activities 

3. Encouraging or requiring NFPs to divide the statement of activities 
into a statement that is focused on current-period operations and a 
statement with other changes in net assets, to further emphasize 
operating results 

4. Encouraging or requiring some form of line-of-business (segment) 
reporting, at least for larger or more complex NFPs, perhaps in 
conjunction with the commentary and analysis contemplated in item 
(c) 

5. Improving the statement of cash flows by better linking operating 
cash flows to the operating section in the statement of activities. 

c. To develop a framework for an NFP’s directors and management to 
provide  commentary  and  analysis  about  the  organization’s  financial 

health, operations, and liquidity. That commentary would identify major 
changes and historical trends, both positive and negative, and the 
analysis would add valuable context and understanding to the financial 
statements and notes. The framework and its objective would be directed 

at helping the NFP tell its story financially, including in relation to its 
programmatic outputs, to better communicate with its stakeholders. 

d. To review existing NFP-specific disclosure requirements to streamline 
where possible and otherwise improve their relevance and 
understandability. This could include identifying current disclosure 
requirements that might be better suited for the commentary and analysis 

contemplated in item (c). 
 
Objectives, Scope, Benefits, and Costs 

 
Objectives 

 

BC13.    On November 9, 2011, a standard-setting project and a research project 
were added to the FASB agenda. Their objectives encompassed the suggestions 
received from the NAC. 

 

BC14.    The Board noted that it shared the NAC’s belief that existing standards 
for financial statements of NFPs are sound but can be updated and improved in 
several important ways. The Board decided that it was time to revisit and consider 
potential improvements to the reporting standards for the two-decades-old NFP 
financial reporting model. However, the Board decided that further research on 
other   financial  communications   outside  of   financial   statements   (such  as 
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management’s discussion and analysis) was needed before Board members 
would be able to assess whether that type of reporting should be taken up as a 
standard-setting project.1 

 

BC15.   This proposed Update and its amendments result from the Board’s 
reexamination of the existing reporting standards for financial statement 
presentation by NFPs. Its objectives are limited and focused on improving the 
following: 

 

a. The net asset classification scheme 
b. The    presentation    of    information    in    financial    statements    and 

accompanying notes that is useful in assessing an NFP’s liquidity, 
financial performance, and cash flows. 

 

Scope 
 

BC16.  The proposed amendments do not address requirements for the 
recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities or revenues, expenses, 
gains, and losses. Rather, they focus on how those items are presented and 
disclosed, such as how they are classified, aggregated, and disaggregated. They 
also address and eliminate optional guidance for recognizing a reclassification for 
the expiration of a donor-imposed restriction related to gifts of cash or other assets 
that are to be used for the construction or acquisition of long-lived assets. 

 

Benefits and Costs 
 

BC17.    Based on the research and stakeholder input received to date, the Board 
believes that the expected benefits of the proposed provisions considered 
collectively justify the perceived costs that they may impose. Of course, assessing 
the costs and benefits of issuing new guidance is unavoidably more qualitative 
than quantitative because there is no method to objectively measure the costs to 
implement new guidance or to quantify the value of improved information in 
financial statements. Before issuing final guidance, however, the Board continues 
to seek input through this proposed Update and other means that will help in 
reassessing the potential costs and benefits of the proposed amendments. 

 

 
 
 

1The research project was added to study other means of communication, such as 
management commentary, that NFPs can voluntarily use in telling their financial story. The 
staff research found that such communications were most prevalent in the health care and 
higher education sectors, as well as among larger NFPs; however, they varied greatly and it 
was noted that improvements could be made in their quality and consistency. Those findings 
were discussed with members of the project resource group and with the NAC at its 
September 2012 meeting. At its January 29, 2014 meeting, the Board voted to reorganize its 
agenda and removed this research project as well as several other unrelated projects from 
its agenda. 
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BC18.    At this time, the Board’s view about the overall benefits and costs stems 
primarily from its research and discussions with stakeholders. That includes 
discussions with members of the NAC, members of the FASB’s project resource 
group, members of the National Association of College and University Business 
Officers’ (NACUBO) Accounting Principles Committee, the Healthcare Financial 
Management Association’s Principles and Practices Board, the American Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants’ (AICPA) Expert Panels for NFPs and for Health 
Care Entities, and other stakeholder groups and individuals with experience with 
various types of NFPs that issue financial statements and creditors, donors, 
grantors, and others that rely on financial statements of NFPs. Those outreach 
activities focused on the usefulness of the information—improvements in its 
relevance, understandability, and the extent to which it faithfully represents what it 
purports to represent—and the costs that stakeholders are likely to incur to prepare 
and use that information. Outreach discussions included gathering feedback about 
the application of alternatives under consideration to particular industry groups, 
such as colleges and universities, hospital systems, community foundations, 
private foundations, charities, and others. 

 

BC19.    In addition, at the September 2014 meeting, NAC members devoted the 
majority of their time to a discussion of the expected benefits and perceived costs 
of the near-final tentative decisions reached at that time. The NAC’s input, 
including subsequent feedback from individual members of the NAC and the 
project resource group on specific proposed provisions, also was helpful to the 
Board and led to further deliberations and certain revisions that helped reduce the 
complexities and costs of the particular proposed provisions of this Update. 

 

BC20.    At that September NAC meeting, a few NAC members also questioned 
whether the Board should delay making certain of the proposed improvements to 
financial reporting for NFPs until the Board makes further progress on its research 
efforts on reporting financial performance for business entities. The Board 
understands that comparability across all entities is desirable, but Board members, 
as well as a consensus of the NAC, noted that the objectives of financial reporting 
of NFPs differ from those of business entities in significant ways. In addition, the 
purpose of the statement of activities of NFPs (presentation of all changes in each 
net asset class) differs from the purpose of the statement(s) of financial 
performance for business entities (presentation only of certain changes in retained 
earnings and accumulated other comprehensive income). These differences 
provide a basis for justifying differences between financial statement presentation 
and disclosures for NFPs and business entities. Board members also noted that 
the NAC previously had advised the Board that existing presentation and 
disclosure requirements for NFPs did not adequately meet the needs of creditors, 
donors, and grant makers and, thus, the benefit and cost considerations for 
changes proposed by this Update differ in significant ways from their consideration 
for business entities. A majority of the Board believes that there are sufficient 
differences between NFPs and business entities that make it cost-beneficial to 
seek  stakeholder  feedback  on  the  proposed  amendments  without  further 
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developments in the research efforts on reporting financial performance, as well 
as in the Board’s research efforts on classifying activities in the statement of cash 
flows for business entities. The Board expects, however, that information gained 
from public commentary on the proposed amendments in this Update will help 
inform the two research efforts for business entities and vice-versa, and it is 
committed to considering the interaction of the projects before proceeding to 
finalize the proposed guidance for NFPs. 

 

BC21.    The  paragraphs  that  follow  discuss  each  of  the  major  proposed 
provisions. That discussion includes cost and benefit considerations for the 
specific proposed amendment as well as the relevant (a) outreach with 
stakeholders performed during the FASB’s research and deliberations, (b) 
alternatives considered, and (c) the Board’s reasons for accepting some 
alternatives and rejecting others. The proposed requirements that are most likely 
to provide significant improvements to financial reporting by NFPs are from (1) 
simplifying the net asset classifications and improving the related terminology and 
disclosures, (2) requiring information useful in assessing liquidity, (3) requiring 
more standardized intermediate measures of operations, and (4) improving the 
understandability of information about an NFP’s cash flows, particularly cash flows 
from operations. Each of those requirements improves the way existing information 
is aggregated and classified. Based on information gathered to date, those 
improvements do not appear to require significant changes to existing accounting 
systems to provide that information. 

 

Net Asset Classification Scheme and Related Terminology 
 

BC22.   The Board decided to propose replacing the current requirement to 
present on the face of the statement of financial position the amount for each of 
three classes of net assets—unrestricted, temporarily restricted, and permanently 
restricted. Instead, in addition to the currently required display of the amount of net 
assets, the proposed amendment would require NFPs to present the amounts for 
two classes of net assets: net assets with donor restrictions and net assets without 
donor restrictions. 

 

BC23.    The Board believes that the proposed amendment and its more precise 
terminology would improve financial reporting in several ways. First, combining the 
permanently restricted and temporarily restricted classes would reduce 
complexity. Second, the previous distinction between those two classes has 
become blurred because changes in laws, among other things, now permit entities, 
within the bounds of prudence, to spend from a permanently restricted endowment 
even though the amount of the endowment has fallen below the original amount of 
the endowed gift. Thus, the Board expects that eliminating the current distinction 
would avoid misunderstanding about the use of the notion of permanence. Third, 
the Board believes more detailed distinctions about the nature and types of donor- 
imposed restrictions, including more relevant information about how they affect the 
availability of resources, can be provided more effectively in notes to financial 
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statements and, thus, increase the understandability of information about the part 
of net assets that is restricted by donor stipulations. Accordingly, the proposed 
amendments would retain the current requirements of paragraph 958-210-50-3(d) 
through (e) to provide information about the nature and amounts of different types 
of donor-imposed restrictions and underscore the importance of information about 
how those restrictions affect the use of resources. To provide that information, 
NFPs could present disaggregated, descriptive line items on the face of the 
statement of financial position or aggregated amounts on the face with the details 
in notes to financial statements. Most important, the enhanced disclosure would 
help to ensure that creditors, donors, and other users would not lose relevant 
information regardless of the presentation methods chosen. 

 

BC24.   The Board also decided to revise the classification of the aggregate 
amount by which donor-restricted endowment funds are underwater (the amount 
by which a fund has fallen below its original gift or historical dollar amount). The 
proposed amendments would no longer require that the underwater amount be 
disaggregated within the overall endowment fund amount and separately classified 
in net assets without donor restrictions. Rather, the entire amount of the donor- 
restricted endowment fund would be classified as part of net assets with donor 
restrictions. Since the issuance of Statement 117, substantially all states now have 
adopted versions of the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act 
(UPMIFA), which, unlike prior laws, no longer precludes any spending from an 

endowment fund when its amount falls below its historical dollar amount.2  Rather, 
in the absence of further donor stipulations that preclude spending, NFPs may, 
within the bounds of prudence, spend from endowment funds even if the amount 
has fallen below the original gift or historical dollar amount. Many stakeholders 
have told the Board that continuing to report the underwater portion of donor- 
restricted endowments in a without-donor-restriction (unrestricted) category, 
especially in the current post-UPMIFA era, is confusing to both preparers and 
users of financial statements. The Board agreed and concluded that it would be 
more understandable and helpful to classify the full amount of donor-restricted 
endowment funds within the class of net assets with donor restrictions and to 
propose enhanced disclosures for underwater endowment funds. 

 
 
 
 

2UPMIFA allows such spending, in part, by removing the concept of historic dollar value and 
the corresponding requirement for an NFP to cease all (or some) spending from an 
endowment fund when the fair value of the fund falls below that threshold. Notwithstanding 
that removal, the Board understands that NFPs still commonly use the original gift amount 
(or other level required by the donor) as an important data point for the governing board’s 
spending approach to its endowment, and that the notion of an “underwater endowment,” 
including the term itself, is still commonly used in the sector. Thus, the Board believes that 
disclosures in this area continue to provide useful information for creditors, donors, and 
others in understanding an NFP’s ability to continue to provide services, especially in the 
near-term, and is proposing to enhance those disclosures. (See also paragraph BC32.) 
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BC25.    The Board also decided to revise the terminology that describes net 
assets that are not subject to donor-imposed stipulations. Stakeholders have told 
the Board that too often donors and others have misunderstood the term 
unrestricted net assets. That class of net assets is defined as “the part of net assets 
of a not-for-profit entity (NFP) that is neither permanently restricted nor temporarily 
restricted by donor-imposed stipulations” (Master Glossary). However, despite its 
definition, the term unrestricted implies, and some users have thought, that part of 

net assets is without contractual, legal, or any other type of restriction. As a result, 
creditors, donors, and other users could reach the wrong conclusion about an 
entity’s financial position, particularly its financial flexibility and liquidity. Although 
the proposed change in terminology for that class of net assets does not change 
the substance of its definition, the Board believes the revised terminology would 
bring greater understanding. 

 

BC26.    The Board also considered, but decided not to require, other classification 
schemes. Those other classification schemes could distinguish net assets on the 
basis of (a) restrictions that would include legal restrictions, contractual restrictions, 
or both, or (b) the particular purposes for which net resources are available or 
expected to be used (for example, operations, investment in plant, or long-term 
investment). However, outreach with stakeholders revealed that the distinction 
based on external restrictions imposed by donors continues to be relevant and 
useful to (1) creditors, who are particularly interested in information about the 
availability of resources to meet cash demands, and (2) donors, grantors, and 
others who are interested in assessing when and how resources can (cannot) be 
used toward achieving the NFP’s mission. Accordingly, the Board decided to 
update, but not overhaul, the net asset classification scheme. 

 

Information Useful in Assessing Liquidity 
 

BC27.    NFPs, like other entities, are exposed to many types of risks. Those risks 
include, among others, reputation risk, concentration risk, and risks associated 
with financial instruments—credit risk, interest rate risk, and liquidity risk. Users of 
financial statements have told the Board that understanding an entity’s exposures 
to risks that are inherent in financial instruments and the ways in which reporting 
entities manage these risks is integral to making informed investing, lending, 
giving, and other capital allocation decisions. 

 

BC28.    NAC members and other NFP stakeholders have noted several ways in 
which the information that NFPs provide to users could be improved, particularly 
about their exposures to liquidity risk and how they manage that risk. They 
observed that credit rating agencies and others find it particularly difficult to assess 
liquidity—in part because an NFP’s assets may appear to be liquid on the basis of 
their nature—but restrictions imposed by contracts, laws, and donor stipulations 
may make an otherwise liquid asset unavailable for purposes of meeting near-term 
cash demands. The prevalence of donor-imposed restrictions and lack of clarity 
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about whether and how those restrictions affect the liquidity of assets add to an 
already difficult assessment. 

 

BC29.    Thus, a major objective for the proposed amendments is to improve the 
quality of information users need to help them assess an NFP’s liquidity and how 
it manages its exposure to liquidity risk. The Board considered various ways in 
which standards for that information might be improved. That included 
consideration of one or more of the following alternatives: 

 

a. Require a classified (for example, current and noncurrent) statement of 
financial position 

b. Require separate presentation of assets whose use is limited, similar to 
the requirement of paragraph 954-210-45-4 for business-oriented health 
care entities 

c. Require information relating to liquidity to be added to and integrated 
within notes that are currently required for specific assets (for example, 
investment securities and contributions receivable) 

d. Require  information  about  how  the  entity  manages  liquidity  and 
quantitative and qualitative information about the liquidity of assets and 
near-term demands for cash to satisfy existing obligations as of the 
reporting date 

e. Require a combination of two or more of the above alternatives. 
 

BC30.    The Board observed that each of the above alternatives could provide 
information that is incrementally useful but not sufficient for a full understanding 
and assessment of an NFP’s liquidity. That is, greater appreciation of an entity’s 
management of, and exposure to, liquidity risk may require forward-looking 
information and management discussion of its plans and ability to raise capital and 
liquid resources, reduce cash outflows, or both, in the event of circumstances that 
generally are not foreseeable. That type of discussion, while helpful, generally 
goes beyond the boundaries of financial reporting for an NFP’s activities for the 
current period and financial position as of the end of the period. That commentary 
generally is provided outside GAAP-based financial statements, particularly 
audited financial statements. 

 

BC31.   Nonetheless, the Board believes certain financial information can be 
provided at the end of the period that would be helpful to creditors, donors, and 
other users in assessing the potential liquidity of an NFP. Of the alternatives 
considered, the Board believes that alternative (d) of paragraph BC29 would be 
the most effective way to provide the needed information in a way that is 
understandable, useful, and auditable and would not require new systems or 
impose significant costs on NFPs. That is, NFPs would be required to provide 
information about how the entity manages liquidity and quantitative and qualitative 
information about the liquidity of assets and near-term demands for cash to satisfy 
existing obligations as of the reporting date. More specifically, that would include 
information about (a) the amount of financial assets at the end of the period, (b) the 
amount that, because of limitations, is not available to meet cash needs in the near 
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term, (c) the amount of financial liabilities that require cash in the near term, and 
(d) the way an entity manages its liquidity, including the time horizon it uses in its 
management of liquidity (see paragraph 958-210-50-1A). 

 

BC32.    Some stakeholders further stated that the current underwater endowment 
disclosure does not portray the potential impact on liquidity. They noted that 
although the amount by which funds are underwater is a required disclosure, NFPs 
are not required to identify the corresponding original gift amount (or that amount 
which is required by the donor or law to be maintained). Moreover, they suggested 
that the policies an NFP may have in place to reduce or eliminate spending from 
such funds to help re-attain “above water” levels would be helpful to users that may 
not be aware of the relative degree to which such funds are underwater, of potential 
actions governing boards might take in response, and of how such actions could 
affect an NFP’s liquidity. The Board believes the following proposed enhanced 
disclosures about underwater endowment funds would provide information that 
could be helpful in assessing liquidity, particularly during those times when 

financial markets are depressed3 and liquidity becomes constrained: 
 

a. Aggregate of the original endowment gift amount (or amount or level 
required by donor stipulations or law) 

b. Aggregate fair value of the underwater endowment funds 

c. Policies or decisions to spend or not spend from underwater endowment 
funds. 

 

Improving Information about Financial Performance 
 

BC33.   NAC members suggested that improvements are needed to both the 
statement of activities and the statement of cash flows to more clearly 
communicate financial performance. As discussed in paragraph BC12, they 
suggested several ways to make such improvements. They include improving how 
information about revenues and expenses and cash inflows and outflows is 
disaggregated and classified in a statement of activities and a statement of cash 
flows, which includes improving the cohesiveness of that information between the 
two statements. 

 
 
 

 
3For example, as of December 31, 2008, a survey of 184 institutions in states that have 
adopted the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act (UPMIFA) found that 
on average, 38 percent of the dollar value of survey participants’ total endowment pool was 
underwater. That survey was conducted by the Association of Governing Boards, in 
partnership with the National Association of College and University Business Officers 
(NACUBO) and Commonfund Institute. [“AGB Report: How Institutions Manage Underwater 
Endowments,” Association of Governing Boards of Universities and Colleges, June 30, 2009, 
http://agb.org/news/2009-10/agb-report-how-institutions-manage-underwater-endowments.] 

http://agb.org/news/2009-10/agb-report-how-institutions-manage-underwater-endowments
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BC34.    Through this project, the Board undertook a study of the suggestions of 
the NAC and other stakeholders for improving the reporting of financial 
performance by NFPs. It observed that the term financial performance is widely 
used, but some stakeholders interpret it more narrowly than other stakeholders 
and the Board. As noted in FASB Concepts Statement No. 4, Objectives of 
Financial Reporting by Nonbusiness Organizations, NFPs generally: 

 

a. Have  no  single  indicator  of  performance  comparable  to  a  business 

enterprise’s profit. Thus, other indicators of performance usually are 
needed. 

b. Are not subject to the test of direct competition in markets to the extent 
that business enterprises are; thus, other kinds of controls introduced to 
compensate for the lesser influence of markets are major characteristics 
of their operations and affect the objectives of their financial reporting. 
Controls, such as formal budgets and donor restrictions on the use of 
resources, give managers a special responsibility to ensure compliance. 
Information about departures from those mandates is important in 
assessing how well managers have discharged their stewardship 
responsibilities. 

c. Provide  information  through their  financial  reporting  that  is  primarily 

financial in nature—it generally is quantified and expressed in units of 
money. However, quantitative information expressed in terms other than 
units of money and nonquantitative information may be needed to 
understand the significance of information expressed in units of money or 
to help assess an NFP’s performance. 

 

BC35.    In Concepts Statement 4, the Board noted several objectives of financial 
reporting by NFPs. Among those that relate to financial performance, the Board 
noted that financial reporting should provide information to present and potential 
resource providers and other users that is useful in the following ways: 

 

a. Making rational decisions about the allocation of resources to those 
organizations 

b. Assessing the services that an NFP provides and its ability to continue to 
provide those services 

c. Assessing how managers of an NFP have discharged their stewardship 
responsibilities and other aspects of their performance. 

 

BC36.    More specifically, regarding organizational performance, paragraphs 47– 
49 of Concepts Statement 4 add that: 

 

Financial reporting should provide information about the 
performance of an organization during a period. Periodic 
measurement of the changes in the amount and nature of the 
net resources of a nonbusiness organization and information 
about the service efforts and accomplishments of an 
organization together represent the information most useful in 
assessing its performance. 
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Financial reporting should provide information about the 
amounts and kinds of inflows and outflows of resources during 
a period. It should distinguish resource flows that change net 
resources, such as inflows of fees or contributions and outflows 
for wages and salaries, from those that do not change net 
resources, such as borrowings or purchases of buildings. It also 
should identify inflows and outflows of restricted resources. 

Financial reporting should provide information about the 
relation between inflows and outflows of resources during a 
period. Those who provide resources to a nonbusiness 
organization and others want to know how and why net 
resources changed during a period. To meet that need, financial 
reporting must distinguish between resource flows that are 

related to operations and those that are not.21 In this way, 
financial reporting may provide information that is useful in 
assessing whether the activities of a nonbusiness organization 
during a particular period have drawn upon, or have contributed 
to, past or future periods. Thus, it should show the relation of 
resources used in operations of a period to resource inflows 
available to finance those operations. Similarly, it should provide 
information about changes in resources that are not related to 
operations. [Emphasis added.] 

 
21Resource flows that are not related to operations have been described 
in various ways, for example, as “nonexpendable,” “capital,” or 
“restricted” flows. The Board’s endorsement of distinguishing these 
types of flows is not intended to prejudge future determinations of (a) the 
criteria that should be used in making this distinction and (b) how and in 
what financial statements different types of flows might be displayed. 

 

BC37.   The Board identified several ways to improve on the presentation of 
financial information in the statement of activities, the statement of cash flows, and 
accompanying notes that would further the goal of more clearly communicating an 
NFP’s financial performance. The Board believes that the proposed changes also 
are responsive to the suggestions of NAC members, which are discussed in 
paragraph BC12(b)(2), as well as suggestions from members of its project 
resource group, NACUBO, the AICPA, and other stakeholders. The primary 
improvements, which are discussed more fully in the following paragraphs, include: 

 

a.    Presenting two intermediate measures of operations—presenting on the 
face of the statement of activities two additional amounts (subtotals) that 
are based on two core principles that would help achieve the financial 
reporting objective of distinguishing between resource flows that are and 
are not related to the operations of a period 

b. Presenting operating cash flows more clearly—presenting cash flows 
provided by operating activities using the more understandable direct 



236 

 

 

 
 

method of reporting those cash flows and no longer requiring the indirect 
method of reporting 

c. Classifying cash flow items to improve understandability and consistency 

with classifications in the statement of activities—for example, classifying 
operating items in a cash flow statement in ways that are more consistent 
with the ways items of operating revenues and expenses are classified in 
the statement of activities 

d. Improving information about how an NFP uses its resources—requiring 
all NFPs (rather than just voluntary health and welfare entities) to provide 
information about their operating expenses by both nature and function, 
on the face of the statement of activities, as a separate statement, or in 
notes to financial statements, and to provide enhanced disclosures about 
the methods used to allocate costs among functions 

e. Reducing complexity on the statement of activities—no longer requiring 
on the face of the statement of activities the presentation of separate 

amounts for the revenues and other changes in each of two donor- 
restricted classes of net assets (permanent and temporary), but instead 
presenting them in a single donor-restricted classification with disclosures 
in notes to financial statements. 

 

Presenting Intermediate Measures of Operations 
 
Past Considerations 

 

BC38.   In 1980, when it issued Concepts Statement 4, the Board noted that 
“periodic measurement of the changes in the amount and nature of the net 
resources of a nonbusiness organization and information about the service efforts 
and accomplishments of an organization together represent the information most 
useful in assessing its performance” (paragraph 47). It also acknowledged that 
ideally, financial reporting “should provide information about the service 
accomplishments. . . . However, the ability to measure service accomplishments, 
particularly program results, is generally undeveloped” (paragraph 53). While 
important in assessing organizational performance, information about service 
accomplishments goes beyond the boundaries of reporting on financial 
performance. Rather, periodic measurement of changes in the amount and nature 
of net assets and information about the amounts and purposes for which resources 
are used in carrying out an NFP’s service efforts are useful ways to present 
information about financial performance. That kind of information includes 

information about the nature and function of expenses incurred in carrying out 
activities as well as information about uses of cash in acquiring assets needed to 
carry out an NFP’s activities. Broad measures, such as change in net assets, and 
intermediate measures, such as change in net assets without donor restrictions, 
also help explain the nature of the overall change in net assets. 
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BC39.    In 1993, when it issued Statement 117, the Board required, among other 
things, that all NFPs present the change in total net assets of the period as well as 
three intermediate measures: change in unrestricted net assets, change in 
temporarily restricted net assets, and change in permanently restricted net assets. 
At that time, the Board noted that it “believes those measures together with 
information about their components are essential to resource providers and others 
in evaluating an organization’s performance during the period” (paragraph 103). 
The Board also noted its considerations about “whether to require distinctions 
between ‘operating’ revenues, expenses, gains, and losses and other transactions 
that change an organization’s net assets” (paragraph 111). 

 

BC40.    At that time the Board noted the following: 
 

a. Some stakeholders suggested that the statement of activities should be 
divided into two parts, a statement of operations and a statement of other 
changes in net assets. 

b. Similarly, some stakeholders suggested there is a strong need for a 

measure of how an organization is managing or maintaining the 
resources available for its operations or its current operations. Others 
characterized that as a need for a measure similar to a business 
enterprise’s net income, operating income, or income from continuing 
operations. 

c. Stakeholders expressing those views differed, however, on how to define 
an operating measure and which revenues and expenses would be 
included  in  or  excluded  from operations.  For example,  some  would 

include in operations all gifts that are available for current-period use, 
whether they are restricted or not. Others would exclude gifts restricted 
to specified operating purposes if those purposes were not met in the 
current period. Some would exclude from operations revenues, gains, or 

losses from nonrecurring, unexpected, or unusual events such as a very 
large bequest, an insurance gain on a fire loss, or an unexpected loss 
contingency. Others would include some or all of those items. 

d. An  earlier  AICPA  task  force  effort  to  find  a  universal  definition  of 

operations in a not-for-profit environment had found differences in the use 
of that term, and the task force reported in Statement 117 that “it became 
clear  that  distinctions  based  on  operations  tend  to  be  arbitrary” 
(paragraph 66). 

e. Attempts  to  define  operations  for  business  enterprises  have  proved 
equally problematic. 

f. Most respondents to the Exposure Draft that preceded Statement 117 
suggested that the Board not define or proscribe a so-called operating 
measure for all or specific types of not-for-profit organizations. 

 

BC41.    Paragraphs  67  and  112  of  Statement  117  explained  the  following: 
 

The Board decided to neither require nor preclude a not-for- 
profit  organization  from  classifying  its  revenues,  expenses, 
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gains, and losses as operating or nonoperating within its 
statement of activities. Present standards neither require nor 
preclude a business enterprise from classifying its revenues, 
expenses, gains, and losses in that way, and the Board found 
no compelling reason to prescribe more specific display 
standards for not-for-profit organizations. 

The Board believes that change in unrestricted net assets, 
which measures whether an organization has maintained the 
part of its net assets that is fully available to support services in 
the next period, may serve as an operating measure as that term 
is used by some respondents. The Board also believes that this 

Statement provides ample latitude to sequence items of 
revenues and expenses in ways that permit organizations to 
report subtotals similar to other respondents’ descriptions of 
“operating income” or “current operating income.” Thus, this 
Statement should not inhibit an evolution toward reporting the 
so-called operating measure if all or certain kinds of not-for-profit 
organizations or industries find that measure desirable for their 
specific circumstances. [Emphasis in original.] 

 

Current Observations 
 

BC42.    Today, business entities are required to distinguish between items of net 
income and other comprehensive income, but reporting standards neither require 

nor preclude them from classifying revenues, expenses, gains, and losses as 
operating or nonoperating items within a statement of comprehensive income. 
Whether that further distinction should be required of business entities is a matter 
under consideration as part of a current FASB research project. 

 

BC43.   Most NAC members and many preparers and users of NFP financial 
statements continue to suggest that an intermediate measure of operations is 
needed. They acknowledge the difficulties in developing a universal definition of 
operations, but, for reasons similar to those stated in paragraph 49 of Concepts 
Statement 4 (previously discussed), NAC members suggest that financial reporting 
would be improved significantly if resource flows that are related to operations 
were distinguished from those that are not. 

 

BC44.    The Board observed that since the issuance of Statement 117, practice 
has evolved but diversity continues to exist. Some NFPs make an operating- 
nonoperating distinction within the activities reported in the unrestricted class of 
net assets but others do not. In addition, certain classification differences continue 
to exist among those NFPs that elected to make that distinction. Despite that, there 
is no sign of an emerging consensus among stakeholders about how to define the 
operations of an NFP. The Board agreed that financial reporting could be improved 
if it could develop a principled standard for defining intermediate measures of 
operations of NFPs. 
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BC45.    The Board also observed that although diverse views continue to exist, it 
now appears that many, if not most, stakeholders that have discussed the issue 
with the Board think that such a distinction should be made among and within the 
activities that are currently reported as part of the change in unrestricted net assets 
(which the proposed amendments call change in net assets without donor 
restrictions). That is, stakeholders now seem to agree that an operating notion 
should distinguish between resources that are and are not available to support the 
activities of the current period. The Board believes that notion about the 
importance of availability is reasonably well-aligned with the concepts expressed 
in paragraph 49 of Concepts Statement 4 (previously discussed). That is, an 
operating-nonoperating distinction can provide information “that is useful in 
assessing whether the activities of a nonbusiness organization during a particular 
period have drawn upon, or have contributed to, past or future periods. Thus, it 
should show the relation of resources used in operations of a period to resource 
inflows available to finance those operations.” 

 

BC46.    The Board also observed, however, that diverse views continue to exist 
about how to apply an availability notion. The following are among the issues that 
an availability notion raises, that is, whether that notion should: 

 

a. Be based solely on the presence or absence of external restrictions and, 
if so, only those imposed by donors 

b. Be based on both donor-imposed restrictions and explicit, internal limits 
imposed by an NFP’s governing board (including its designees) 

c. Be based on the limits in either (a) or (b) and also on contracts entered 

into by an NFP’s management 
d. Include resource inflows of the period that are used to acquire long-lived 

assets to conduct the NFP’s purposes 
e. Exclude resources used to acquire long-lived assets that were not fully 

used up in conducting the current-period operating activities—that is, 
otherwise available resource inflows are deemed not fully available for 
the current period or are deemed to have been available and made 
unavailable by the NFP’s actions 

f. Include donor-restricted contributions for the acquisition of long-lived 
assets when the restriction is met (the asset is acquired and placed in 
service) or as the long-lived asset is used up in conducting operations. 

 

BC47.   NAC members suggested that limits imposed by an NFP’s governing 
board are significant and that in many respects the governing board steps into the 
shoes of donors, the community, and the public at large. Some, however, including 
members of the FASB’s project resource group, expressed reservations about 
placing emphasis on distinctions of internal limits that a governing board imposes 
and can easily reverse. Despite their differences about how to precisely make an 
operating-nonoperating distinction, at this time, most NAC members, FASB project 
resource group members, and many other stakeholders seemingly agree that 
comparability  could  be  improved  significantly  by  requiring  the  reporting  of 
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standardized intermediate measures of operations. As a result, the proposed 
amendments would require such intermediate measures of operations. 

 

Defining Intermediate Measures of Operations 
 

BC48.   In developing a definition for distinguishing between operating and 
nonoperating revenues, expenses, gains, and losses that are without donor 
restrictions, the Board considered input received from NAC members, FASB 
project resource group members, and other stakeholders. It also considered, 
among others, guidance issued by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) for business-type activities, guidance developed as part of the former 
FASB and International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) joint project on 
financial statement presentation by business enterprises (aspects of which are 
now part of an FASB-only research project), and suggestions that NACUBO 
developed as part of an ongoing project considering financial reporting for both 
public and private institutions of higher education. 

 

BC49.    The Board also considered other approaches for making an operating- 
nonoperating distinction that had been suggested for business enterprises but 
were never adopted. They include distinguishing between activities based on 
whether transactions and other events and circumstances are the following: 

 

a. Recurring or nonrecurring 
b. Large, unusual, or both 
c. Beyond management’s control. 

 

BC50.    The Board rejected using any of those three alternatives. First, each of 
the alternatives contains aspects that can be rather subjective, which could result 
in inconsistent practices within a single NFP as well as among NFPs. Second, 
each of them can lead to auditing difficulties that could result in increased cost. 
Third, an NFP can make any of those distinctions through disclosures by providing 
details in notes or separate line items on the face of the statement of activities. 

 

BC51.    Moreover, the Board found that those distinctions can be helpful, but they 
are insufficient in furthering the objectives of helping creditors, donors, and other 
users in: 

 

a. Assessing whether the activities of a period have drawn upon, or have 
contributed to, past or future periods 

b. Understanding the relation of resources used in the operations of a period 

to resource inflows available to finance those operations. 
 

Instead, the Board believes that to achieve that objective, a standard would need 
to define or describe (a) what constitutes the operations of a particular period and 
(b) what makes resource inflows available to fund those activities. 
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Operating Activities 
 

BC52.   The Board considered several alternative ways of defining operating 
activities. For purposes of the activity statement, they include distinguishing 
between revenues, expenses, gains, and losses of the period on the basis of 
whether they are the following: 

 

a. From core or noncore activities 
b. From delivering or producing goods, rendering services, or carrying out 

activities that constitute the entity’s ongoing major or central operations, 
which is the conceptual basis for distinguishing revenues and expenses 
from gains and losses 

c. From or directed at carrying out an NFP’s purpose for existence. 
 

BC53.   The Board found some degree of merit in each of those notions and 
believes they are similar in many important respects. For example, a core-noncore 
distinction and the notion of central operations are similar in that both focus on the 
central or most important part of an entity’s operating activities; however, the Board 
observed that both of those notions run the risk of omitting important operating 
activities merely because they are not viewed by some as the central or most 
important operating activities. The Board also observed that an NFP’s operating 
activities generally are thought to be its major and ongoing activities, but many 
NFPs stand ready to adapt to changing environmental circumstances. For 
example, in a particular period an NFP may divert significant resources to meet a 
one-time emergency in its community, an unanticipated, new or short-term societal 
or human need, or a change in laws and regulations. Thus, the Board rejected the 
notions in paragraph BC52(a) and (b). 

 

BC54.    Instead, the Board decided that the notion in paragraph BC52(c) seems 
to best capture the essence of the other two alternatives without running the risk 
of omitting important activities that may be viewed by some as not being central, 
major, ongoing, or most important. The Board observed that NFPs generally have 
a clearly stated mission or reason for their existence and they conduct various 
activities that are directed at carrying out their missions or purposes. In any given 
period some purposes may be more important than others, but information about 
all of the activities conducted by an NFP in carrying out its purpose is important to 
creditors, donors, and other users of financial statements. 

 

BC55.    The Board also found that the notion in paragraph BC52(c) seems to be 
most operable because it is most likely to result in a complete, consistent, 
comparable, and thus, faithful representation of an NFP’s operating activities of a 
particular period. Most NFPs have clear missions and openly communicate their 
mission statements and purposes through a public website, solicitations for 
funding, annual reports, regulatory filings, and other communications. Many also 
include such statements in notes to their financial statements. Thus, the Board 
believes that a notion of operating activities that is well aligned with an NFP’s 
mission  or  purpose  for  its  existence  will  facilitate  the  ability  of  NFPs  to 
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communicate their financial performance in ways that are comparable among 
NFPs and would be most understandable to their stakeholders. 

 

BC56.    The Board acknowledges, however, that some guidance may be needed 
to help implement the mission or purpose notion. That is, during the FASB’s 
outreach activities, some stakeholders asserted that substantially everything an 
NFP does is directly or indirectly related to carrying out its purpose. The Board 

appreciates that point of view but notes that that viewpoint is much broader than 
what the Board intends. Including all indirect relationships is inconsistent with the 
Board’s thinking that investing, financing, and similar activities generally are not 
operating activities. 

 

BC57.    Substantially all NFPs engage in investing activities that indirectly support 
them, but they generally are not directed at carrying out their purposes for 
existence. For example, many NFPs solicit endowment gifts that are to be invested 
in perpetuity. Those gifts, like other gifts, result from the activities of the entities. 
That is, donors respond to the entities’ solicitation requests, including unsolicited 
donors, as a result of the good works and public purposes the NFPs strive to 
achieve. However, the investment of the donated assets and the investment 
returns on those assets generally are not from carrying out the NFPs’ purposes for 
existence. An exception, for example, would be for a special purpose NFP 
(charitable trust) established by a founding donor with the specific purpose of 
investing charitable resources to generate investment returns for the benefit of a 
specific NFP or group of NFPs. Unlike a typical foundation that views its grant- 
making activities as the purpose for its existence, that type of charitable trust might 
view its investing activities as the carrying out of its mission or purpose for 
existence. 

 

BC58.    The Board also decided to clarify that operating activities include so- 
called programmatic investing activities and similar activities that are part of the 
ways some NFPs carry out their purposes. Examples include subsidized and 
forgivable loans that foundations often make to help finance worthy but needy 
charities; student and faculty loans that universities typically make at below market 
rates to attract, recruit, and retain students, faculty, and other employees; and joint 
venture arrangements, partnerships, and similar strategic investments in related 
entities that health care systems typically engage in to achieve their purposes. That 
type of investing is directed at carrying out an NFP’s purpose, whereas unrelated 
investing is directed at generating investment returns. Through its outreach 
activities, the Board understands that NFPs generally distinguish their 
programmatic investing activities from other investing activities for purposes of 
internal management, tax reporting, or regulatory compliance. Some NFPs also do 
so for external financial reporting purposes. More important, the Board 
understands that making that distinction has not resulted in operability or audit 
difficulties and, thus, is not expected to require new systems or costs. 

 

BC59.    Substantially all NFPs also engage in financing activities that indirectly 
support NFPs but generally are not directed at carrying out the NFPs’ purposes for 
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existence. For example, many, if not most, NFPs borrow funds from time to time 
to manage their short-term cash needs. Universities, hospitals, museums, and 
similar entities typically borrow funds to meet their long-term needs. Such 
borrowings generally are through long-term secured or unsecured borrowings. The 
borrowing and the related interest cost certainly help finance the NFPs’ activities, 
but the interest expense itself is not incurred in or directed at carrying out the NFPs’ 
purposes for existence. Thus, interest expense related to financing activities would 
not be classified as an operating activity. 

 

BC60.   The Board also understands that NFPs classify interest expense in 
different ways. Some NFPs that make an operating-nonoperating distinction 
classify all interest as an operating expense, others classify interest as a 
nonoperating expense, and still others classify interest for short-term cash 
management activities as operating and interest related to long-term borrowing as 
nonoperating. The Board concluded that regardless of whether the interest 
expense is on a short- or long-term borrowing, that financing activity is not directed 
at carrying out the NFP’s purpose for existence, and, thus, would not be classified 
as an operating activity. To classify it otherwise could lead to confusion and 
misunderstanding. Most Board members also believe that requiring entities to 
distinguish between different types of financing activities would result in 
incremental costs and complexities without a commensurate incremental 
improvement in the usefulness of information. Other Board members, however, 
would prefer to classify both interest expense and interest income that results from 
day-to-day cash management activities as an operating expense or revenue. They 
also noted that type of interest results from day-to-day decision-making activities 
that differ significantly from investing and financing decision-making related to 
financing the operations and investing for a total return. 

 

BC61.    These proposed amendments also clarify that supporting activities, such 
as supervision, oversight, centralized services (accounting, human resources, 
purchasing), program development, membership development, and fund-raising 
are operating activities. To achieve the purposes for their existence, substantially 
all NFPs must conduct those supporting activities in carrying out their current- 
period purposes. Some stakeholders might analogize fund-raising activities and 
the related expenses to a financing activity and related interest expense. Others 
might analogize fund-raising to selling activities of a business enterprise that are a 
necessary part of their focus on selling goods and services to their customers. The 
Board understands that diverse views may exist but decided to clarify that in its 
view, fund-raising activities and development of donor relationships are operating 
activities. Those activities generally include educating donors about the NFP’s 
programs, meeting the needs of its beneficiaries, and meeting the need for 
contributions to underwrite its programs. 

 

BC62.    Lastly, to help implement the mission (or purpose) notion discussed in 
paragraphs BC54–BC56, the Board also considered several questions raised 
about its application to specific or unique transactions or events. Among them are 
the following: 
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a. Equity transfers and equity transactions—The Board decided to require 
that equity transfers between NFPs that are under common control (which 
eliminate in consolidated financial statements of the parent) and equity 
transactions between financially-interrelated entities be presented within 
the operating activity section in financial statements of NFPs, unless the 
transferred resources are not available for current-period use in carrying 
out the purpose for the entity’s existence. The Board believes it is 
reasonable to assume equity transfers (paragraphs 958-225-45-18 
through 45-19) and equity transactions (paragraphs 958-20-45-1 through 
45-2) are made to further the ability of the related NFPs to carry out the 
purpose for their existence and thus should be classified within the 
operating activity section unless those resources are not available for 
current-period use. The Board acknowledges that in current practice 
those transfers often are classified outside of operating activity by NFPs 
that  present  an  intermediate measure  of  operations  or  performance 

indicator. However, the Board concluded that such classification would 
be inconsistent with the mission and availability notions underlying this 
Update’s proposed definition of operating activities. 

b. Goodwill write-offs upon an acquisition of an entity—For similar reasons, 

the Board decided to require presentation of the immediate write-off of 
goodwill within the operating activity section. That write-off is, for cost- 
benefit reasons, required when an NFP acquires another entity and the 
operations of the acquiree as part of the combined entity are expected to 
be supported predominately by contributions and returns on investments. 
Under those circumstances, the Board believes it is reasonable to 
assume that the purpose of acquiring the entity is to carry out the NFP’s 
purpose for existence. Thus, although the write-off is an accounting 
accommodation rather than a current-period expense, it is a current- 
period event—an acquisition—that generally is undertaken to further the 
NFP’s mission. 

c. Permanent collection items not capitalized—For similar reasons, the 

Board decided to require presentation of the immediate write-off of an 
acquisition of a noncapitalized item for a permanent collection within the 
operating activity section if acquired from net assets without donor 
restrictions. That write-off (noncapitalization of works of art, historical 
treasures, and similar items) was allowed, for cost-benefit reasons, as a 
policy election if an NFP’s collection meets the qualifying criteria. The 
Board believes it is reasonable to assume that the reason an NFP 
acquires and maintains collection items is to carry out the entity’s purpose 
for existence. Thus, although the write-off is an accounting 
accommodation rather than a current-period expense, it is a current- 
period event—an acquisition—that is undertaken to further the NFP’s 
mission. 

 

In each of the above circumstances, the Board noted that to allow a classification 
based on current practices that are inconsistent with the notions that underlie the 
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operating activity definition would add unnecessary complexities and potential 
confusion for donors, creditors, and other users of financial statements. 

 

Availability of Resources for the Current Period 
 

BC63.    The Board considered several alternative ways of defining or describing 
resource inflows that are (or are not) available to fund the operating activities of 
the current period. For the purposes of the statement of activities, they include 
distinguishing between those revenues and gains (losses) of the period that meet 
the availability notion of the operating definition on the basis of whether they also 
are: 

 

a. Without unmet donor-imposed restrictions 
b. Without other unmet external contractual or legal limits 

c. Without internal limits imposed by an NFP’s governing board that limit 
their use to activities of future periods. 

 

BC64.    The Board decided that a combination of items (a) and (c) would best 
achieve the objective of communicating what makes resource inflows available to 
fund operating activities of the current period. The Board rejected item (b) because 
contractual and legal limits are too broad, not unique to NFPs, and tracking the 
reporting of such everyday occurrences would add undue complexities for NFPs 
and users of their financial statements. 

 

BC65.    The Board believes that item (a) is consistent with current practice. That 
is, all current-period revenues that are without donor restrictions are reflected as 
increases in the class of net assets without donor restrictions. In addition, donor- 
restricted support that becomes available to support current-period activities (for 
example, a time restriction expires or a donor-restriction is met during the period) 
also are reflected as increases in that class of net assets. 

 

BC66.   The Board also decided that to achieve the goal of developing more 
standardized intermediate measures of operations, it would need to eliminate 
alternative practices for recognizing the expiration of donor restrictions on 
contributed resources that must be used to acquire or construct long-lived assets. 
Currently, GAAP allows NFPs to choose, as a matter of policy, to recognize the 
expiration when the asset is (a) acquired and placed in service or (b) being used 
up (that is, in ratable amounts over the asset’s estimated useful life). The Board 
observed that when Statement 117 was issued, stakeholders held strongly 
opposite and seemingly irreconcilable views. Since then, practice has evolved to 
some degree toward the placed-in-service approach, which the proposed 
amendments would require. The Board believes that approach best reflects 
economic reality in that generally donors want to subsidize the acquisition of long- 
lived assets so that they can be put to use in conducting and often expanding an 
NFP’s programs and their intent and restriction are met when the qualifying asset 
is purchased and placed in service. The Board also clarified that it is at that time 
that the previously restricted resource flow becomes available to support the 
current-period operating activities. 
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BC67.    The Board believes that item (c) of paragraph BC63 is consistent with 
suggestions of NAC members and other stakeholders that, as discussed in 
paragraph BC47, limits that are imposed by an NFP’s governing board are 
significant and their effects on current-period operations should be reflected on the 
statement of activities. The Board agrees with that view; however, the Board also 
acknowledges the reservations expressed by some stakeholders about reflecting 
internal limits that a governing board imposes and can reverse. Those 
stakeholders are concerned that internal actions can be used to manipulate an 
intermediate measure rather than reflect how the NFP’s resources and current- 
period activities were managed during the period. They also note that their 
inclusion would limit comparability and it is unclear whether it would result in 
significant inconsistency and audit issues in practice. 

 

BC68.    The Board considered several alternative ways to achieve the desired 
reporting objective of developing one or more standardized intermediate measures 
of operations that objectively reflect how the entity is managed. The alternatives 
included allowing only governing board actions that resulted from standing policies 
that were in place at the beginning of the period and influenced the management 
of the activities of the period. Some NAC members and project resource group 
members said that is the conceptual objective; however, many of those members 
and others said that while ideal in concept, it would be extremely problematic to 
implement in practice. For example, some noted that standing policies that are 
implemented mid-year and near year-end can, at times, have profound effects on 
the management of the current-period activities and yet others may have minimal 
effects. They added that NFPs can establish standing policies that are in place at 
the beginning of a period that can have much the same effect as an action taken 
at the end of the period. For example, a governing board may have a policy of 
transferring assets to a quasi-endowment fund for any surplus in excess of a stated 
amount, whereas another NFP may simply use a routine management practice at 
its year-end. It cannot be said that one is managing an intermediate measure of 
operations and the other is not. Thus, although the Board found this alternative to 
have conceptual merit, it believes this would be unworkable in practice. 

 

BC69.   The Board, thus, considered two rather opposing alternatives and 
variations of them. They are (a) require all governing board actions to be reflected 
on the face of the statement of activities, including those taken at the end of the 
period that may have had little bearing on the management of the current-period 
activities, or (b) preclude reflecting any governing board actions on the face of the 
statement and instead reflect those actions in an analysis provided in notes to 
financial statements. The Board decided to require that an intermediate measure 
of operations reflect the effects of all governing board actions that make resources 
unavailable (or available) for current-period activities. It also decided to require that 
those actions be reflected in a transparent way by requiring that transfers to and 
from current operations resulting from governing board actions be presented in a 
discrete section of the statement of activities. It also decided to require that section 
to be presented immediately after an intermediate measure of operations before 
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transfers and immediately before an intermediate measure of operations after such 
transfers. In that way, the Board believes that the effects of governing board limits 
on current operations would be clearly shown and that the two intermediate 
measures would report the net result of the operating activities with and without 
transfers resulting from governing board actions. The Board believes that 
prescribed form of presentation will be useful to creditors, donors, and other users 
and will provide transparency that is responsive to the concerns expressed by 
some auditors and other stakeholders. 

 

BC70.    The Board did not select the alternative that would preclude reflecting any 
transfers on the face of the statement of activities. The Board found that alternative 
to be too restrictive and seemingly an overreaction to a perceived potential 
abuse—manipulation of an intermediate measure of operations. The Board is 
sensitive to that concern but also observes that the intermediate measure after 
transfers is reported within an objective, standardized measure of change in net 
assets without donor restrictions. The Board also observed, however, that when 
exploring the disclosure alternative, several members of the NAC and the project 
resource group, particularly auditors, found that disclosures about board 
designations and appropriations presented in a roll-forward format by types of 
designations are informative and could help in understanding how a governing 
board is managing the NFP. Board members also found the disclosure alternative 
helpful. Some of the Board members noted it would reduce clutter and could help 
avoid confusion, but most believe precluding all transfers from the face of the 
statement of activities would be too limiting and would defeat a major objective of 
the proposed amendments. Two Board members, however, believe that the 
degree of flexibility surrounding governing board appropriations, designations and 
similar transfers is too great and, as discussed in paragraph BC112, those 
members would preclude their presentation on the face of the statement of 
activities and prefer a disclosure-only alternative. 

 

BC71.    The Board decided that clear presentation of certain information about 
transfers on the face of the statement of activities with further disclosures in notes 
to financial statements could bring added transparency that would mitigate the 
concerns expressed by some stakeholders. Thus, the Board also decided, as 
noted in the proposed amendments in paragraph 958-225-45-10B, that if an NFP 
uses governing board designations, appropriations, and similar transfers, the entity 
should report them in accordance with the following presentation requirements: 

 

a.    All transfers should be reported in a separate, discrete section on the 
statement of activities. 

b.    All  transfers  should  be  reported  after  a  subtotal—operating  excess 
(deficit) of a not-for-profit entity—that includes operating revenues, 
support, expenses, gains, and losses and is before transfers. 

c.    At a minimum, an NFP should present on the statement of activities the 
aggregate amount of transfers out of operating activities separate from 
the aggregate amount of transfers into operating activities. 
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d.    If all transfers are not displayed as discrete line items on the face of the 
statement of activities, an NFP should provide a note disclosure that 
provides details on amounts and types of transfers that are presented on 
an aggregated basis on the face of the statement of activities. 

e.    All NFPs should qualitatively describe in a note disclosure the purpose, 
amounts, and types of transfers that are used by the entity’s governing 
board  to manage operations (for example, whether transfers are done 

because of standing board policies, as one-time decisions, or for other 
reasons). 

 

BC72.    The Board also considered the availability issues related to long-lived 
assets discussed in paragraph BC46(d) and (e). First, the Board decided that all 
current-period inflows of resources without donor-imposed restrictions should be 
reflected as available for the current period. That would include bequests and other 
gifts that a governing board decides to set aside to acquire long-lived assets or 
construct facilities, as well those gifts set aside for other purposes, such as to (a) 
function as a liquidity reserve, (b) function as a quasi-endowment fund to generate 
future income, or (c) establish a special fund for a new program activity or expand 
an existing activity. Second, the Board also decided that investment returns that 
are to be reported outside of the operating activity section can be made available 
for current operations by governing board actions that appropriate all or a portion 
of the accumulated investment returns for use in the current period. Similarly, funds 
previously designated by the governing board for a future-period activity can be 
made available by an appropriation for use during the current period. 

 

BC73.    The Board decided to require that gifts of long-lived assets without donor- 
restriction, like other gifts without restrictions, be reflected as operating revenues. 
If the NFP decides to place those gifted assets in service (rather than monetize 
them through sale), that separate action would be presented as a transfer of 
resources from operating activities resulting from the internal action that made 
resources unavailable for current-period operations. Similarly, the Board decided 
to require that expirations of donor-restrictions on gifts of cash and other assets 
restricted to acquire long-lived assets be recognized and reported as expirations 
of restrictions that increase operating resources when the asset is placed in service 
and simultaneously reported as a transfer from operations that resulted from the 
internal action that made resources unavailable for current-period operations. 

 

BC74.    The Board also considered whether, in subsequent periods, to require 
NFPs to report transfers of resources back to operating activities as long-lived 
assets acquired with donated resources are used up. The Board agreed with those 
NAC members and other stakeholders who said that would add unnecessary 
confusion, complexities, and costs to track the portion of such assets acquired with 
donated resources. The Board understands that some stakeholders believe that 
such transfers are needed to match the donated resources with the subsequent 
depreciation expense, if any. However, NAC members indicated that most NFPs 
do not manage their operations in that way. Rather, they see future revenues 
generated from fees (for example, admissions, tuition, and patient revenues) as 
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the operating revenues that support the depreciation and ongoing maintenance of 
the long-lived asset. Thus, the Board decided that there was no compelling reason 
to require transfers back to operations as those long-lived assets are used up. 

 

Presenting Operating Cash Flows More Clearly 
 

BC75.    The   Board   decided   that   information   about   an   NFP’s   financial 
performance can be improved significantly by using the direct method of reporting 
cash flows from operating activities rather than the indirect method of reporting 
those cash flows. The Board observed that cash flows from investing activities and 
from financing activities have long been presented using the direct method and 
that reporting has been well understood. It also learned through its outreach 
activities that those NFPs that voluntarily elected to use the direct method of 
reporting in addition to the required indirect method found that their governing 
board members and external stakeholders found the direct method information to 
be more intuitive, understandable, and useful for their purposes. 

 

BC76.    NAC members and other stakeholders also said that in addition to being 
useful in assessing financial performance, cash flow information can be particularly 
important and sometimes crucial in assessing cash flow trends that affect an NFP’s 
liquidity. They also said that, despite its importance, the statement of cash flows is 
underutilized. Some suggested that was attributable, in part, to the use of the more 
complex indirect method of reporting operating cash flows. Some added that if 
information presented in a statement of cash flows is not understandable, the utility 
of that statement is significantly diminished and in some cases may not be cost- 
justified. 

 

BC77.    The Board considered those comments and suggestions and conducted 
outreach to learn more about the cost of providing information using the direct 
method of reporting cash flows. In particular, the staff reached out to public 
universities that are required by GASB standards to report operating cash flows 
under both the direct and the indirect methods. It learned that the first-year 
implementation costs were primarily in the nature of training and mapping 
information available from existing systems and did not involve significant costs for 
new systems or significant ongoing costs or complexities. Moreover, most private 
colleges and universities and other NFPs that voluntarily elected to report 
operating cash flows using the direct method (along with the required information 
using the indirect method) had similar experiences and they continue to use that 
method. Those findings were similar for very large multicampus systems as well 
as mid-sized NFPs. 

 

BC78.   The Board also observed that U.S.-based NFPs generally do not 
encounter some of the costs and complexities of providing operating cash flows 
using the direct method compared with international business entities, which was 
a significant issue raised in the joint FASB and IASB financial statement 
presentation project. First, most NFPs do not have significant cash activities in 
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foreign currencies and, thus, do not have the translation complexities. Second, 
most NFPs do not engage in significant and ongoing mergers and acquisitions 
and, thus, do not have significant and ongoing system integration requirements. 
Third, the vast majority of NFPs are not subject to the same types of accelerated 
filing deadlines required by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) 
for public registrants. 

 

BC79.    The Board also noted that when Statement 117 was issued, it required 
all NFPs to provide a statement of cash flows, but at that time most had not 
previously provided that financial statement. At that time, the Board also strove not 
to impose requirements on NFPs that were more stringent than those for business 
entities. Thus, the Board encouraged but did not require NFPs to report operating 
cash flows using the direct method, because that method was not, and still is not, 
required for business entities. However, it has since learned that requiring the 
indirect method is not providing many creditors, donors, and other users of NFP 
financial statements with operating cash flow information in a format that is most 
useful for them. In addition, requiring the indirect method itself comes with costs 
and complexities that do not optimally serve the needs of users of NFP financial 
statements. The indirect method of reporting cash flows for business entities 
reconciles operating cash flows to net income, which is a financial performance 
metric not required or particularly relevant to NFPs and users of their financial 
statements. Thus, the Board decided that requiring the direct method and 
permitting, but no longer requiring, the indirect method of reporting operating cash 
flows would lead to a significant increase in the usefulness of information helpful 
in assessing financial performance and liquidity and would reduce the complexity 
of information without imposing significant costs. 

 

BC80.   Two Board members, although not opposed to the direct method of 
reporting cash flows from operating activities, would not mandate that method at 
this time. As discussed in paragraphs BC107–BC108, they would prefer that the 
Board consider whether to require the direct method of reporting cash flows as part 
of a more comprehensive consideration of financial reporting that includes both 
NFPs and business entities. 

 
Reclassifying Cash Flow Items to Improve 
Understandability 

 
BC81.    The Board agreed with members of the NAC and other stakeholders who 
suggested that information about cash flows and financial performance can be 
improved by reclassifying items in a cash flow statement in ways that are more 
consistent with the ways revenues, expenses, gains, and losses are classified in 
the statement of activities. The Board believes that using compatible classifications 
for both the statement of cash flows and the statement of activities will improve the 
understandability of the information provided in those statements and reduce 
complexity without introducing new costs. 
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BC82.    Thus, the Board decided to classify the following items of cash inflows 
and cash outflows to be compatible with the proposed required intermediate 
measures of operations and their notion that operating activities are those that are 
from or directed at carrying out an NFP’s purpose for existence: 

 

a. Cash gifts with donor-imposed restrictions that require that the cash be 
used to purchase, construct, or otherwise acquire long-lived assets for 
operating purposes from financing cash flows to operating cash flows 

b. Cash payments to purchase, construct, or otherwise acquire long-lived 
assets for operating purposes from investing cash flows to operating cash 
flows 

c. Cash proceeds from the sale of long-lived assets used for operating 
purposes from investing cash flows to operating cash flows 

d. Cash dividends and interest received (other than from programmatic 
investing) from operating cash flows to investing cash flows 

e. Cash  payments  of  interest  expense  from  operating  cash  flows  to 

financing cash flows. 
 

BC83.    The Board acknowledges, however, that those realignments help but do 
not fully (perfectly) align the definition of operating cash flows with the required 
intermediate measures of operations. For purposes of the cash flow statement, 
operating cash flows are defined as a residual—all cash flows that are not investing 
cash flows or financing cash flows. For purposes of the statement of activities, 
operating activities are defined directly based on whether the resource inflows and 
outflows are from or directed at carrying out an NFP’s purpose for existence and 
available for current-period operating activities. Nonetheless, the Board believes 
that the guidance provided by this proposed Update is robust and will improve 
comparability and understandability. However, before issuing final guidance, the 
Board continues to seek input from stakeholders through this proposed Update 
and other means that will help it determine whether cost-beneficial opportunities 
exist to further improve the alignment between the two financial statements. 

 

BC84.    The Board understands that some stakeholders would prefer to retain the 
current cash flow classifications. That may be because those classifications are 
reasonably well-aligned with internal budgeting practices, are familiar to creditors 
and other users that also use financial statements of business entities, or both. Still 
others may prefer to keep the status quo or not get ahead of similar changes that 
may be forthcoming for business entities. However, the Board noted that internal 
budgeting practices often vary and do not lend themselves to comparable external 
financial reporting and that business enterprises currently do not have a required 
operating-nonoperating distinction for their statement of comprehensive income. 

 

BC85.    Board members also acknowledge that there are two research projects 
on its agenda that are considering financial statement presentation matters. The 
first is evaluating ways to improve the relevance of information presented in the 
performance statement of business entities. That effort currently is focused on two 
areas: (1) developing a framework for determining an operating performance 
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metric and (2) distinguishing between recurring and nonrecurring or infrequently 
occurring items within the performance statement. The Board has not, as yet, 
decided whether to reactivate its standard-setting project and, if so, whether 
improving the linkage between the performance statement and statement of cash 
flows of business entities would be a project objective. To help in that latter 
consideration the Board also added a second research project to consider cash 
flow classifications for business entities. However, because there are significant 
differences in the objectives of financial reporting for NFPs and business entities 
and because there is an identified demand to improve presentation in NFP 
financial statements, most Board members believe that there are not sufficient 
reasons to delay exposure of proposed improvements to financial reporting by 
NFPs until such time as similar improvements are considered for reporting by 
business entities. 

 

BC86.    As discussed in paragraphs BC107–BC111, two Board members would 
prefer that cash flow classification requirements be considered more 
comprehensively for both NFPs and business entities. The Board, however, is 
committed to considering the interaction between these related decisions before 
finalizing cash flow guidance for NFPs or business entities. 

 

Improving Information about the Use of Resources 
 

BC87.    The Board decided that information about financial performance can be 
improved by providing greater transparency about how an NFP uses its resources 
in carrying out its purposes, particularly about expenses incurred as part of its 
service efforts. As noted in the previously quoted paragraph 47 of Concepts 
Statement 4, “changes in the amount and nature of the net resources . . . and 
information about the service efforts and accomplishments of an organization 
together represent the information most useful in assessing its performance.” 

 

BC88.   The AICPA’s Financial Reporting Executive Committee (FinREC) and 
other stakeholders asked the Board to consider whether all or only certain NFPs 
should be required to provide information about their expenses by both their nature 
and function. Presently, only voluntary health and welfare entities are required to 
provide both, and they are required to provide that analysis in a basic financial 
statement. The Board observed that whether all NFPs should provide that 
information was considered when it issued Statement 117. The Board also had 
noted in paragraph 62 of Statement 117 that information about expenses by their 
nature “often is useful and [the Board] encourages organizations to provide that 
information. However, [the Board] also believes that information about expenses 
by natural classification may not be essential in understanding the service efforts 
of all not-for-profit organizations or in assessing the ability of all organizations to 
continue to provide services.” 
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BC89.    Paragraph 64 of Statement 117 also explained why voluntary health and 
welfare organizations were required to provide information about their expenses 
by both function and nature: 

 

This Statement requires that voluntary health and welfare 
organizations continue to provide a statement that reports 
expenses by their functional and natural classifications in a 
matrix format. The Board believes that requirement is 
appropriate to prevent the loss of information that voluntary 
health and welfare organizations and users of their financial 
statements generally have found to be useful. 

 

BC90.    When it issued  Statement 117, in addition  to encouraging  NFPs  to 
provide information about expenses by their natural classification, the Board 
decided to allow organizations to report expenses on the face of the activities 
statement by either their natural or functional classification, provided that all 
entities disclosed information by their function. The Board observed that since 
issuing Statement 117, many NFPs, particularly health care providers and 
membership organizations, have elected to provide information about their 
expenses by nature on the face of the statement of activities with disclosure by 
their function in notes. Most other NFPs have elected to present expenses by 
function on the statement of activities with or without disclosure of expenses by 
nature. Still others provide an analysis by both function and nature in a matrix 
format as a basic financial statement or schedule in notes. 

 

BC91.    At the time Statement 117 was issued, the Board also had observed that 
few NFPs had elected to provide more comprehensive information showing the 
relationship of their expenses to program revenues or segments. Thus, the Board 
decided to allow for further study before extending the requirement for an analysis 
of expenses by both nature and function and left sufficient flexibility for practice to 
evolve and perhaps to develop more effective disclosures. For example, footnote 
6 to paragraph 27 of Statement 117 said: 

 

Information about an organization’s major programs (or 
segments) can be enhanced by reporting the interrelationships 
of program expenses and program revenues. For example, a 
university might report expenses for its instruction and other 
academic services with related revenues from student tuition 
and expenses for its housing and food services with related 
revenues from room and board fees. 

 

BC92.    Nonetheless, although the Board’s current project does not pursue that 
more comprehensive type of revenue and expense reporting within financial 
statements or notes, the Board believes that reporting of expenses by nature is 
useful in assessing an NFP’s service efforts and its financial performance. 
Information about expenses by their nature also can be useful in distinguishing 
relatively fixed costs from variable or discretionary costs, which can be useful in 
assessing an entity’s sustainability. In addition, the Board observed that because 
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substantially all entities track and manage their expenses by natural classifications, 
the cost to provide that information is minimal. As a result, the Board decided to 
extend to all NFPs the requirement to report operating expenses by both their 
nature and their function (and nonoperating expenses by nature with function 
permitted). It also decided to allow flexibility to present operating expense by either 
classification on the face of the statement of activities with the other in notes and 
to extend that presentation flexibility to voluntary health and welfare organizations 
by no longer requiring a separate basic statement of expenses by function and 
nature. The Board notes that would result in a more evenhanded reporting 
standard that is consistent with its precept of setting standards that are neutral 
(avoid extending preferences for particular types of entities). 

 

BC93.    The Board also decided to require all NFPs to provide in one location an 
analysis of all expenses, with operating expenses by function and nature. The 
location and format for that information are flexible, and the Board believes it likely 
would be included in notes. More important, the Board observed that donors are 
especially interested in information that is useful in assessing how an NFP uses 
its resources and its stewardship for the resources entrusted to them. Information 
that clearly shows the nature of operating expenses (for example, internal salaries 
and benefits, external professional fees, rent or building costs, heat, light, and 
power) and how they relate to an NFP’s programs and supporting activities is most 
useful for those donors’ purposes. 

 

Reducing Complexity of the Statement of Activities 
 

BC94.    The Board decided that information about financial performance can be 
improved by reducing complexity from the face of the statement of activities in 
several ways. The following are among the more significant ways not previously 
discussed that complexity would be reduced without a loss of significant 
information: 

 

a. Presenting changes in donor-restricted net assets in a single donor- 
restricted class of net assets rather than the currently required two 
classes for temporary and permanent donor restrictions and, thus, no 
longer requiring intermediate measures for the amounts of the change in 
temporarily restricted net assets and change in permanently restricted net 
assets 

b. Removing the requirement that an intermediate measure of operations 
be presented on the same statement that presents the change in net 
assets without donor restrictions (change in unrestricted net assets) 

c. Removing the requirement for business-oriented health care NFPs to 
present the performance indicator that is currently required by paragraph 
954-225-45-4 

d. Presenting investment return net of related investment expenses and 
removing the requirement to disclose those investment expenses that 
have been netted, other than internal salaries and benefits. 



25
5 

 

 

 
 

BC95.    The Board acknowledges, as it did in Statement 117, that information 
based on the presence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions and their nature 
generally is necessary to gain an adequate understanding of an NFP’s financial 
position, including its financial flexibility, and its ability to continue to render 
services. More specific information that distinguishes restrictions that are 
permanent also can be useful in determining the extent to which an organization’s 
net assets are not a source of cash for payments to present or prospective lenders, 
suppliers, or employees and, thus, are not expected to be directly available for 
providing services or paying creditors. Nonetheless, while making distinctions 
about various types of donor restrictions on resources that may impinge on an 
NFP’s ability to provide services can be useful, the Board believes such 
distinctions and changes in them often can be more effectively communicated in 
notes to financial statements. 

 

BC96.  The Board also observed that many NFPs, particularly smaller 
organizations, seldom receive gifts with permanent restrictions. In those cases, the 
changes in the permanently restricted class of net assets often are insignificant. 
Moreover, if an entity uses a columnar statement of activities, the statement often 
can have considerable unused white space and the additional column can inhibit 
the NFP’s ability to present multiperiod comparative financial information useful in 
trend analysis. 

 

BC97.   More important, as discussed in paragraphs BC22–BC24, since the 
issuance of Statement 117, the previous distinction between permanent 
restrictions and other restrictions has become blurred as a result of changes in 
laws. Among other things, state laws now permit entities, within the bounds of 
prudence, to spend from a permanently restricted endowment even if the amount 
of the endowment has fallen below the original amount of the endowed gift. Thus, 
the Board expects that eliminating the permanent distinction together with 
enhanced disclosures would avoid misunderstandings about the degree of 
permanence of a donor-imposed restriction, reduce complexity from the face of the 
statement of activities, and promote the use of comparative financial statements. 

 

BC98.  The Board also believes that complexity can be reduced and 
understanding can be enhanced by removing the requirement that if an 
intermediate measure of operations is reported, it should be in the financial 
statement that, at a minimum, also reports the change in unrestricted net assets 
for the period. Paragraphs 65–68 of Statement 117 explained that at that time the 
term operations was used in diverse ways and that although the Board agreed with 
many stakeholders that practice should be allowed to evolve, some constraints on 
flexibility were needed. The Board is now proposing standardized intermediate 
measures of operations (before and after transfers), which obviates the need for 
that former constraint. More important, the Board believes that allowing the 
statement of activities to be presented in two parts—an operating statement and a 
statement of other changes in net assets—would allow an NFP to provide greater 
clarity and transparency about its operating activities in the first statement and 
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place all other activity in the second statement. That, too, could promote the use 
of multiperiod comparative information for the operating activity. 

 

BC99.  Similarly, because all NFPs would now be required to provide 
standardized intermediate operating measures (before and after governing board 
transfers), the Board believes that there no longer is a compelling need to hold 
business-oriented health care NFPs to the higher standard that currently requires 
only those entities to present a performance indicator. The proposed amendments 
would neither preclude those entities from nor encourage them to provide that 
measure, but the Board believes that such a non-GAAP measure would add 
complexity, running the risk of confusing rather than helping users of their financial 
statements, and adding unnecessary costs to the reporting system. The Board 
understands that some entities may want to continue to report the performance 
indicator and prefer that the Board continue to provide standards for that metric, 
but the Board sees no compelling reason to maintain guidance for a metric that it 
believes might best be communicated through management commentary outside 
of financial statements. Through its outreach activities, the Board also observed 
that even though business-oriented health care NFPs are required to present a 
performance indicator, those entities often elect to make an operating- 
nonoperating distinction, which most find more useful for both their internal and 
their external reporting. As discussed in paragraph BC60 and elsewhere, these 
NFPs are among the entities reporting intermediate measures of operations that 
include or exclude differing items in their voluntarily provided operating and 
nonoperating categories. 

 

BC100. The Board also believes that complexity can be reduced and 
comparability of information can be improved by requiring investment returns 
(other than from programmatic investing) to be presented net of investment 
expenses—as a net investment return. The proposed amendments also would 
reduce costs by no longer requiring the disclosure of all investment expenses. The 
Board was asked by FinREC and other stakeholders to reconsider the 
requirements for reporting investment returns and related expenses because of 
the difficulties of identifying all investment expenses and because of diversity in 
practice in the degree to which NFPs net their investment expenses within 
investment return. The Board observed that expenses charged by external 
investment managers, such as embedded fees charged by hedge funds, mutual 
funds, and funds of funds, generally are disclosed in annual reports and proxy 
statements. However, because NFPs may move their assets in and out of such 
funds at various times during a particular reporting period, and because the fund’s 
year-end often differs from an NFP’s fiscal year-end, the Board believes the cost 
and effort to determine those fees would be impractical. That is, the Board believes 
the costs to obtain that information would exceed the benefit that it might provide 
to users of financial statements, in part because most users find the net investment 
return to be most relevant, comparable, and useful. 

 

BC101.  The Board also understands, however, that donors, creditors, and other 
users of an NFP’s financial statements generally find information about how an 
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NFP utilizes its resources, including information about its expenses, to be 
particularly useful. Thus, the Board is concerned that not requiring information 
about any investment-related expenses because of difficulties in identifying some 
investment expenses may be too great of a sacrifice of useful information. The 
Board acknowledges that (a) donors are especially interested in assessing how 
resources are used, including the extent to which they are directed at achieving an 
NFP’s mission, and (b) creditors are especially interested in understanding the 
relationships of expenses to revenues and the extent to which expenses are fixed 
or variable and the degree to which they are discretionary—that is, whether the 
expense can be readily increased or decreased to meet urgent needs and other 
short-term changes in demands. Accordingly, the Board decided to require 
disclosure of the aggregate amount of direct salaries and benefits of personnel 
involved in investing activities because generally (1) there are no difficulties in 
identifying those expenses, and (2) information about those expenses is 
particularly useful to donors, creditors, and others. The Board believes not 
requiring disclosure of all expenses but requiring disclosure for certain most 
important expenses strikes a reasonable balance between the need to provide 
useful information without imposing undue costs. 

 

Transition and Effective Date 
 

BC102.  The Board decided that the amendments in this proposed Update would 
be applied on a retrospective basis. Application to interim financial statements 
would not be required in the initial year of application, but information for those 
interim periods would be restated if reported with annual financial statements for 
that year. The year that the final Update is first applied, an NFP would disclose the 
nature of any reclassifications or restatements and their effects, if any, on changes 
in the net asset classes for each year presented. The Board observes that the 
proposed transition provisions of this proposed Update are similar to those 
required for the application of Statement 117, which also focused on matters of 
financial statement presentation. 

 

BC103.  The effective date, and whether it should be the same for all NFPs, as 
well as whether early adoption will be permitted, will be determined by the Board 
after considering stakeholders’ feedback on this proposed Update. 

 

Alternative Views 
 

BC104. Messrs. Golden and Kroeker disagree with the publication of this 
proposed Update. 

 

BC105. Messrs. Golden and Kroeker support the objective of updating and 
improving existing presentation and disclosure standards for financial statements 
of NFPs, particularly related to issues that are specific to or more uniquely 
encountered by NFPs. Specifically, they support the proposed amendments that 
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are intended to address areas of presentation and disclosure that are more 
specifically encountered by NFPs, including the following: 

 

a. Complexities surrounding the use of the currently required three classes 
of net assets 

b. Misunderstandings and confusion about restrictions or limits imposed by 
donors, laws, contracts, and governing boards, including improved 
transparency and understanding of the impact of those restrictions in 
assessing liquidity 

c. Inconsistencies in the type of information that NFPs currently provide 
about expenses of the period, because some, but not all, NFPs are 
required to provide information about operating expenses by both 
function and nature. 

 

BC106.  However, Messrs. Golden and Kroeker disagree with the publication of 
this proposed Update because a number of significant issues being addressed are 
not specific to or more uniquely encountered by NFPs. The following are examples 
of issues not unique to NFPs: 

 

a. Inconsistencies in the reporting (or lack of reporting) of intermediate 
measures of operations 

b. Proposed requirement to present operating cash flows using the direct 

method in order to reduce asserted misunderstandings and improve the 
utility of the statement of cash flows 

c. The fact that there are (or can be) differences between the reporting of 
operating performance and the reporting of operating cash flows. 

 

Requirements That Establish Differences between NFPs and 
Business Entities 

 

BC107.  Messrs. Golden and Kroeker do not support an approach of developing 
comprehensive presentation guidance related to establishing the required 
reporting of two intermediate measures of operating performance for NFPs while 
exploring essentially the same accounting issue for business enterprises (both 
public and private). Given the active and ongoing project on the Board’s research 
agenda to potentially address the same issues for business enterprises, they 
believe that the approach being taken to address a similar issue in a separate 
project that more narrowly considers only NFPs has a much higher likelihood of 
establishing different conclusions when evidence may suggest that an aligned 
approach is warranted. Messrs. Golden and Kroeker believe an important objective 
of the Board is to eliminate, rather than create, accounting and reporting 
differences that are not justified by differences in underlying facts and 
circumstances. Thus, they believe that this piecemeal approach to addressing the 
issue has a much greater potential to introduce unnecessary complexity to both 
prepares and auditors, as well as costs to users, in understanding differences that 
may be mandated by addressing the NFP reporting model separately. 
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BC108.  The reporting in the statement of cash flows is currently fundamentally 
aligned for NFPs and business enterprises. The changes introduced by the 
proposed Update would establish fundamental differences in the approach to cash 
flow reporting for NFPs when compared with reporting for business enterprises. 
Messrs. Golden and Kroeker do not believe that the nature of changes in cash, or 
other differences of NFPs when compared with other entities for which the Board 
establishes standards, is sufficient to warrant a fundamentally different approach. 
They also agree with the Board’s approach in developing Statement 117, which 
was not to impose cash flow requirements on NFPs that are more stringent than 
those established for business entities. Thus, they do not agree with a proposed 
requirement to mandate the use of the direct method of reporting cash flows from 
operations. Furthermore, they also note that the indirect method can provide a 
useful link between the statement of cash flows, the statement of activities, and 
the statement of financial position, which is a benefit that could be eliminated by 
the proposed Update. 

 

BC109.  The proposed Update would introduce a number of changes among the 
three cash flow classifications to be more compatible with the mission dimension 
of the proposed intermediate measures of operations. Messrs. Golden and 
Kroeker do not support this aspect of the proposed Update for two main reasons. 

 

BC110. First, these changes would not result in an alignment between the 
intermediate measures of operations and the reporting of cash flows from 
operations. As just one example, the changes would mandate cash payments for 
long-lived assets to be reported as an operating cash outflow, while depreciation 
on fixed assets would be reported based upon whether or not the asset is used to 
promote the mission of an NFP. Messrs. Golden and Kroeker believe that these 
changes should not be made only in the context of the reporting of cash flows for 
NFPs. Furthermore, they do not support the changes to report cash flows 
associated with the purchase and sale of long-lived assets (or the cash flows 
associated with the acquisition of another NFP) as operating cash flows rather than 
investing cash flows. Thus, they have reservations about the cohesiveness notion 
that is partially being pursued by these proposed changes. 

 

BC111. Second, these changes would establish a set of cash flow reporting 
requirements that is unique to NFPs. Thus, an NFP’s reporting of cash flows would 
differ from that of business enterprises and governmental entities. Accordingly, an 
NFP hospital would be required to report cash flows on a basis that differs from 
both for-profit hospitals and, as is the case today, governmentally-owned hospitals. 
They believe that this result is undesirable. 

 

Reporting an Operating Measure That Reflects Internally 
Imposed Limits 

 

BC112.  Messrs. Golden and Kroeker do not agree with imposing a requirement 
that would report two measures of operating performance. Specifically, they do not 
support the reporting of a second intermediate measure (and the bottom line 
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measure) of operations that reflects the effects of all limits imposed by an NFP’s 
governing board (and as required by the proposed Update, in some cases, 
management). In their view, it is inappropriate to include in operating results the 
impact of internal and arbitrary events, including discretionary items or other similar 
items that are not the result of transactions with a third party, changes in the 
measurement of assets or liabilities, or other outside events. Furthermore, at the 
extreme it would permit entities to effectively emphasize a GAAP measure of 
operating performance that they select and choose to report. While they are not 
suggesting that this is what any given NFP would do, the potential nonetheless 
would be established and, furthermore, would be required if an NFP imposes limits 
on the use of assets. As noted in paragraph BC70, the Board clearly acknowledges 
the potential manipulation of one of the intermediate measures of operations that 
would be permitted by establishing this requirement. They agree that limits that are 
imposed internally are, or can be, significant; however, they believe that the 
reporting of these actions should be provided in the notes to financial statements 
rather than on the face of the statement of activities. 
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Amendments to the XBRL Taxonomy 
 

 

The provisions of this Exposure Draft, if finalized as proposed, would not require 
changes to the U.S. GAAP Financial Reporting Taxonomy (Taxonomy). Any 
stakeholders who believe that changes to the Taxonomy are required should 
provide their comments and suggested changes through ASU Taxonomy Changes 
provided at  www.fasb.org. 

http://www.fasb.org/jsp/FASB/Page/SectionPage%26cid%3D1176160952383
http://www.fasb.org/jsp/FASB/Page/SectionPage%26cid%3D1176160952383
http://www.fasb.org/jsp/FASB/Page/SectionPage%26cid%3D1176160952383

